
Please ask for Julie Britton: Telephone (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE

WARD REPRESENTATIVES WISHING TO SPEAK ON A PARTICULAR APPLICATION ARE ASKED 
TO INFORM THE PLANNING USHER WELL IN ADVANCE OF THE MEETING AND TO ARRIVE AT 
THE MEETING BY 9.30AM

Committee - PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date & Time - TUESDAY, 28TH MAY, 2019 AT 9.30 am

Venue - ANGLIA ROOM, THE CONFERENCE SUITE, 
ELIZABETH HOUSE, DEREHAM

THE ORDER OF THE MEETING WILL VARY TO ALLOW FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING 
AND WILL NOT FOLLOW THAT OF THIS AGENDA

AS PART OF THE COUNCIL’S INCREASED USE OF NEW TECHNOLOGY 
AND PAPERLESS WORKING, NO PAPER COPIES WILL BE AVAILABLE AT 

THE MEETING

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or blog from this meeting 
by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from 
public filming etc unless the meeting resolves to go into private session.  However, the use of images or 
recordings arising from this is not under the Council’s control.  Please only audio record, film, tweet or blog 
the representative(s) of the application you are interested in and only do so if you have that person’s 
permission.  NB: The use of images or recordings arising from this is not under the Council’s control.

VOTING:

If the first vote is lost in considering an application, a new proposal will be requested (eg a 
vote for approval, if lost, does not automatically mean “refused”).  On a tied vote, the 
Chairman has a casting vote, if he/she wishes to use it.  It is necessary for summary 
reasons for approvals or refusals to be identified in each case.

Democratic Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Friday, 17 May 2019

Public Document Pack





BRECKLAND COUNCIL – PLANNING COMMITTEE

. PLANNING POLICY NOTE

THE STRENGTH OF PLANNING POLICY IN DETERMINING PLANNING APPLICATIONS

The Planning process is set up, IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST, to protect the public from the unacceptable 
planning activities of private individuals and development companies. Planning is primarily concerned to deal 
with issues of land use and the way they affect the environment.

The Council has a DUTY, through the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to prepare Local Development 
Documents (DPDs) to provide a statutory framework for planning decisions. The Development Plan for Breckland 
currently consists of a suite of documents. The primary document which sets out the overarching planning strategy 
for the District and the local planning policies is the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies document. This 
was adopted by Breckland Council on 17th December 2009 and is the local starting point in the determination of 
planning applications. Breckland Council has also adopted its Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD, on 19th 
January 2012. The document allocates specific areas of land for development and revised settlement boundaries.

Breckland’s Plan contains the Council’s planning policies, which must be consistent with Government policy which is 
currently the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and accompanying technical guidance.

The full public scrutiny of the Council’s proposals will give the Plan an exceptional weight when dealing with planning 
applications.

This shift towards a “Plan-led” planning system is a major feature of planning legislation. The Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, states that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the policies of 
the Plan, unless material considerations which are relevant to planning indicate otherwise.

The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable development. The core planning 
principles contained within the NPPF are summarised as:

 To be genuinely plan led
 To drive and support sustainable economic development
 Seek high quality design
 Conserve and enhance the natural environment
 Encourage the effective use of land
 Conserve heritage assets

Unless there are special reasons to do otherwise, planning permissions “run with the land”, and are NOT personal 
licences.

The factors to be used in determining applications will relate to the effect on the “public at large” and will NOT be 
those that refer to private interests.

Personal circumstances of applicants “will rarely” be an influencing factor, and then, only when the planning issues 
are “finely balanced”.

THEREFORE we will:
• acknowledge the strength of our policies,
• be consistent in the application of our policy, and
• if we need to adapt our policy, we should do it through the LDF process.

Decisions which are finely balanced, and which contradict policy will be recorded in detail, to explain and 
justify the decision, and the strength of the material planning reasons for doing so.

LOCAL COUNCILS

OCCASIONALLY, THERE ARE CONFLICTS WITH THE VIEWS OF THE PARISH OR TOWN COUNCIL. WHY IS 
THIS?

We ask local parish and town councils to recognise that comments received are taken into account. Where we 
disagree with those comments it will be because:

• Districts look to “wider” policies, and national, regional and county planning strategy.
 Other consultation responses may have affected our recommendation.
• There is an honest difference of opinion.



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

PART A
ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 

a) 15 March 2019 (for info)  

To note:

Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 15 
March 2019.

Mr Tim Betts from Great Ellingham Parish Council submitted 
comments following the publication of the Minutes that had been 
approved by the Planning Committee on 8 April 2019.  

On page 48/52 of the agenda pack,  the Parish Council raised 
concern about the effect the Link Road could have upon Wroo Road; 
Long Street, Chequers Lane and the ‘infamous’ staggered junction 
next to the Great Ellingham village school, with which Members were 
very familiar. Despite this representation, Transport Planning 
Associates either ignored it or were not asked to consider it in their 
various transport assessments. There was a grave danger that 
drivers, heading toward Dereham; Watton; Fakenham; Swaffham; 
etc., would choose to take the shorter route through Great Ellingham 
via Wroo Road; Long Street & Chequers Lane, rather than the more 
appropriate A11/B1077 route. This issue pertains to all vehicles but 
especially to HGVs.  No manner of signage to prevent this would work 
as this had already been proved, as the village often have HGVs 
ploughing along this route despite a 7.5Tonne restriction being in 
place. A physical prevention method must be used. Mr Betts asked 
the Committee to instruct officers to engage with NCC Highways to 
identify measures that would prevent any ‘through traffic’ from taking 
the Wroo Road; Long Street; Chequers Lane route.

NB: These amendments were approved at the Full Council 
meeting on 16 May 2019.

b) 8 April 2019 8 - 22 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 April 2019.

2. APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES 
To receive apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS 
RECEIVED 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Page(s)
herewith

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

5. REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
To consider any requests from Ward Members, officers or applicants to 
defer an application included in this agenda, so as to save any unnecessary 
waiting by members of the public attending for such applications.

6. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

7. LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) 
To receive an update.  

8. DEFERRED APPLICATIONS 23
To consider applications deferred at previous meetings including some, but 
not all, of those shown on the attached Schedule of Deferred Applications.

a) Beeston: Syers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1338/O 24 - 32 

This application was deferred at the Planning Committee on 8th April 
2019, pending statutory consultee comments from the Local Highway 
Authority and the Tree and Countryside Consultant, following 
additional information submitted by the applicant (a Tree Survey and 
amended Plan).

b) Hockham: Plot south of 8 Little Hockham Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1392/D

33 - 40 

This application was deferred from the February Planning Committee 
as a shadow analysis was received for consideration by the 
neighbouring occupiers. A deferral was deemed necessary in order to 
properly assess this and allow the applicant a chance to view and 
provide a rebuttal if necessary.

9. SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
To consider the Schedule of Planning Applications:

a) Ashill: Dunnetts Close: Reference: 3PL/2018/1089/O 41 - 49

b) Beetley: Flint Cottage, Fakenham Road, East Bilney: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1143/D

50 - 59

c) Besthorpe: Land at 1 Rookery Cottages, Silver Street: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0157/F

60 - 64



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Page(s)
herewith

d) Besthorpe: White House Farm, White House Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1105/F

65 - 75

e) Besthorpe: Cherry Tree Barn, Norwich Road: Reference:  
3PL/2019/0229/F

76 - 84

f) Bridgham: Land South of Corner House, Chapel Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0284/F

85 - 92

g) Colkirk: Proposed Development Site, Jarvis Drive: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0192/F

93 - 99

h) Dereham: Land to the rear of 35-61 Westfield Road: Reference: 
3OB/2019/0010/OB

100 - 102

i) Fransham: Land Off Station Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0371/D 103 - 108

j) Garboldisham: The Grange, The Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0428/O 109 - 116

k) Garvestone: Thorncroft, Clematis Nursery, The Lings: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0019/O

117 - 125

l) Griston: Caston Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0245/F 126 - 133

m) Little Dunham: Land adjacent Westcliffe House, Barrows Hole Lane: 
Reference: 3PL/2019/0114/F

134 - 144

n) Old Buckenham:  Land to the north of Fen Street: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0231/O

145 - 154

o) Roudham Larling: Land Opposite Barkers Farm Watton Road, Larling: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/1260/F

155 - 164

p) Scarning: Oak Manor: Reference: 3PL/2018/1289/O 165 - 180

q) Scoulton: Cherry Trees, Ellingham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0139/F

181 - 190

r) Stow Bedon/Breckles: Wayland Farms Ltd, Cherry Tree Farm: 
Reference: 3PL/2017/0878/F

191 - 200

s) Swaffham: Land at Princes Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/1199/O 199 - 212



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Page(s)
herewith

t) Swaffham: Site Adjacent to Tower View Princes Street: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1437/O

213 - 221

u) Swaffham: Land to the West of Brandon Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1487/O

222 - 245

v) Watton: Land at Thetford Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0952/O 246 - 265

w) Weeting: 1 Cromwell Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1413/F 266 - 274

x) Whinburgh&Westfield: Chapel Farm, Dereham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0015/O

275 - 285

10. APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE 

286 - 306

Report of the Executive Director of Place.

Members are requested to raise any questions at least two working days 
before the meeting to allow information to be provided to the Committee.

11. APPEALS (FOR INFO) 307 - 314



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 8 April 2019 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mrs J. Hollis

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)
Mr J.P. Cowen (Ward 
Representative)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou (Ward 
Representative)

Mr W.H.C. Smith (Ward Representative)
Mrs L.S. Turner (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Simon Wood Director of Planning & Building Control
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Rebecca Collins Head of Major Projects
Carl Griffiths Principal Development Management Planner
Fiona Hunter Principal Development Management Planner
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner
Mark Simmonds Principal Development Management Planner
Natalie Wicks Planning Assistant
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 

Action By
40/19MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

(a) 11 March 2019  

The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 March 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman, subject to the following corrections to the 
Schedule of Applications:

Dereham: Yaxham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1556/F (Minute No. 31/19(g)

REASONS: whilst the Committee understood the concerns highlighted in the 
report, the designs would have a positive impact and were in line with Paragraph 
12 of the NPPF and DC16 of the Council’s Core Strategy.

(b) 15 March 2019  

Councillor Joel congratulated the clerk for the very detailed and comprehensive 
Minutes taken at the Planning Committee meeting in Attleborough.

8

Agenda Item 1b



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

The Minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

41/19APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Claire Bowes and 
Councillor Harry Clarke.

Councillor Paul Darby was in attendance as substitute for Councillor Bowes.
42/19DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Agenda item 9(c): Bawdeswell: Dereham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1111/O

Members had received direct correspondence in respect of this application.

Agenda item 9(s): Shropham: Land off Hargham Rd: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1071/F

Councillor Joel declared an interest by virtue of him being a friend of the 
applicant.  Councillor Joel took no part in the discussions and did not vote on the 
application (see Minute No. 49/19(s) below).

43/19CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman thanked the Members for attending the recent site visit in North 
Pickenham and also for attending the Planning Committee meeting in 
Attleborough.  He had been very pleased with the amount of people who had 
given up their time to attend this meeting.

As this was the last Planning Committee meeting before the Elections, the 
Chairman conveyed his thanks to those Members who were standing down, 
including Jenny Hollis, long standing Member Adrian Joel, and Frank Sharpe a 
former Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee.  He thanked them for all their 
help and wished them all well for the future.  Breckland Council was also losing 
William Smith, and he thanked him for his input over the years.

44/19REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The following applications had been deferred for further information:

1. Beeston: Syers Lane: Reference: Reference: 3PL/2018/1338/O (Agenda 
item 10(f))

2. Watton: Rear of 121A Brandon Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1087/F 
(Agenda item 10(v)).

45/19URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

46/19LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Jon Berry, the Head of Development Management reported that the consultation 
period for the main modifications had been extended until 15 May 2019 and he 

9



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

encouraged anyone with an interest in the Local Plan to view the consultation 
portal on the Council’s website and put forward any comments.  Councillor Joel 
asked if these were additional changes.  Members were informed that most of the 
main modifications had been out to consultation and that consultation period 
ended on the 1 April 2019.  However, there had been a slight issue with the 
formatting of three of the modifications in particular, Policy HOU5 which was 
about small villages and hamlets outside of settlement boundaries, the Breckland 
Special Protection Area and Health Impact Assessments. These were the only 
three items out for further consultation. Councillor Duigan asked if this extension 
would have an effect on the whole process going forward.  Members were 
assured that there should not be any significant delay as a result of this extra 
consultation.  At best, a report should be prepared around June/July with a view 
to adopting the Local Plan in August or September 2019.

47/19REVISIONS TO THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Simon Wood, the Director of Planning & Building Control presented the report.

Members were asked to consider the revisions to the delegation scheme in 
relation to the determination of planning applications.

In 2018, the Council went through a Peer Review of the Planning Committee 
undertaken by the Local Government Association (LGA) and Planning Advisory 
Service (PAS).  The Action Plan that arose from the Peer Review set out a 
requirement for the Scheme of Delegation to be reviewed and the suggestion of 
high, medium and low delegation models.

The main drivers for the review (as set out in Section 1 of the report) related to 
the transparency of the call-in process, and a review to seek the right balance in 
terms of officer delegation and Committee consideration.

As part of the common changes which had been included in all options was the 
adoption of the standardised Councillor call-in form [attached at Appendix 1 of 
the report]. The introduction of this form, together with operational changes would 
ensure that officers, included within their committee reports, details of the call-in 
and its reasoning, in order to fully address the need to improve the transparency 
of the process. 

The introduction of a Chairman’s Panel was another common change identified 
for all options as highlighted in the report. This Panel would possibly remove the 
need for some applications to be referred to the Planning Committee. It would 
also (when used as a consultative body) provide a safety net to ensure that 
proposals that had the scope to trigger wider issues were sent to the Planning 
Committee to be dealt with in the most transparent manner, if considered 
appropriate. 

Of the three options (A, B and C), Option A, a high delegation model, would have 
the best outcome in terms of reducing the size of planning committee agendas 
and ensuring that only controversial or sensitive matters were dealt with in this 
manner. Option A would put more pressure on local Councillors to call-in 
applications within their Wards that ultimately would then have to be considered 
by the Planning Committee. It was noted that a future workshop would be 
arranged to discuss these matters.  

The Chairman’s Panel, loosely based on a similar scheme in operation at South 
Holland DC, would not be a planning application decision making body.  Its role 
would be limited to confirming which applications should be heard at the 

10



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

Committee and identifying those that should not.

As a long term Committee Member, Councillor Sharpe mentioned certain 
applications that, in his opinion, were not worthy of being included on the 
Planning Agenda.  Members were informed that all applications would be 
considered by the Panel, which would then decide the route the application 
should take.

The Chairman gave examples of the applications that had been discussed earlier 
in the meeting that would be eliminated from the agenda in future; however, the 
responsibility would be on the Ward Member.  The Director of Planning & 
Building Control said that the process of whether the application was delegated 
or put forward to the Planning Committee was working well in South Holland.  He 
also assured Members that the Overview & Scrutiny Commission could review 
this revised procedure if necessary.

In response to a concern, the Solicitor advised that nothing concerning the merits 
or demerits of individual Planning applications should be discussed at Group 
meetings.

Councillor Duigan asked if the decisions made by the Panel would be made 
accessible.  The Solicitor explained that a record would have to be kept of the 
decisions made.  The Chairman and the Director of Planning & Building Control 
stated that Democratic Services would keep a record of the decisions.  

It was noted that the Panel would have a rolling membership.

Following further discussion Members’ favoured Option A – the high delegation 
model (see appendix 2 of the report).

48/19DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The attached Schedule of Deferred Applications was noted.

(a) North Pickenham: Land adjacent to The Blue Lion, Houghton Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0795/F  

Construction of a single detached dwelling and access to Houghton Lane.

This application had been considered at the Planning Committee meeting on 14 
January 2019 where it was deferred for a site visit to take place. 

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.  

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative : Councillor Frank Sharpe (against the 
application)

Applicant’s Agent: Erica Whettingsteel (EJW Planning 
Ltd)

11



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

Objector: Richard Pyne (publican of The Blue 
Lion)

Objector: John Smith

Objector: Roy Hitching

Members voted 7 x 2 not to accept the Officer’s recommendation of 
approval.

REASON(s) on grounds that the proposal would have a detrimental impact 
on the Grade ll* Listed Church and a potential future noise nuisance on the 
proposed dwelling from the Blue Lion Public House

DECISION Members voted 7 x 2 to refuse the application.

49/19SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

(a) Attleborough: Academy 9, Norwich Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0159/F  

The demolition of 4 existing mobile teaching blocks and replacement 2 storey 
modular block and fencing.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

A verbal update was given by the Case Officer with regard to ecologist comments 
and a further condition was recommended.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further information had been included in the supplementary agenda (see page 
341).

No representations were made in respect of the application in terms of public 
speaking.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to the 
additional ecology condition as recommended.

(b) Attleborough: Land to the South West of Ellingham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0791/O  

Proposed 12 new residential dwellings with access, parking and private gardens.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Head of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further information had been included in the supplementary agenda (see pages 
342 to 343).

12



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Glen Hepburn – Hepburns Planning 
Consultancy Ltd

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to no issues being raised within the remainder of the consultation 
period (10/04/2019) and the awaited revised arboricultural report; and 
subject to:

1. a S106 Agreement to secure 25% affordable housing, the proposed 
open space and its maintenance; and

2. the conditions as listed in the report.

(c) Bawdeswell: Dereham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1111/O  

Development of three detached self-build properties with garages.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Manager Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

All Members had received direct correspondence in respect of this application.

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
pages 344 to 345).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jerry Stone

Parish Council: Bill Cunliffe (Chairman)

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 for refusal as recommended.

(d) Bradenham: Victory Court: Reference: 3PL/2018/1559/VAR  

Variation of condition no. 2 & 14 on 3PL/2010/1333/F (development of 6 open 
market homes & 5 local needs homes including 1 special needs home) – revised 
trod footpath.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Jon Berry, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Melanie Tilley (Clayland Estates Ltd)

13



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.  

It was noted that Norfolk County Council would be approached to maintain the 
trod.

(e) Beeston: Land at Syers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0065/VAR  

Variation of condition nos. 8 and 9 on 3PL/2017/0702/O for the erection of two 
detached dwellings.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Manager.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
pages 346 to 347).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Antony Pettifer (Icon Consulting)

Objector: Suzie Tucker

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for refusal as recommended.

(f) Beeston: Syers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1338/O  

This application had been deferred for further information.

(g) Brettenham: Melton Paddocks, Shadwell: Reference: 3PL/2019/0161/VAR  

Variation of condition no. 2 and removal of condition no. 3 on 3PL/2017/0199/F 
(change of use to equine use and erection of two new yards inc. dwelling & 
garage, barns, horse walker & access roads).

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Head of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 350).

No representations in the form of public speaking were made in respect of the 
application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

14



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

(h) Dereham: Former Malthouse Land South of Norwich Road: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0181/VAR  

Variation of condition no. 7, 3PL/2016/1454/H (to repair and refurbish the 
Maltings and erect 127 dwellings) – Highways provision. 

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Head of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 351).

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jake Lambert (Bidwells LLP)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report and amendments as set out in 
the supplementary agenda;

2. no other material planning considerations being raised in the 
remainder of the consultation period (08/04/2019).

(i) Fransham: Hyde Hall Farm, Main Road, Great Fransham: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0089/F  

Change of use of agricultural land and the erection of an Agricultural Machinery 
Dealership and associated works and infrastructure.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Head of Major Projects.

A verbal update was given by the Case Officer with regards to the ecologist 
comments and a further condition was recommended.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A further representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 352).  

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Richard Vaughan

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and the additional ecology 
condition as recommended.  

It was noted that no material planning objections to the scheme had been raised 
by the ecologist.

15



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

(j) Garvestone: Land off Dereham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1049/O  

Erection of 4 no. dwellings.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: Phil Hardy (Parker Planning Services)

Objector: Robert Rumsey

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 4 for approval contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): the site was in a sustainable location, it did not intrude into 
the open countryside – nor would its appearance be at odds with the 
character and appearance of the site and surrounding rural area - and the 
proposal would make a small contribution to the Council’s 5 year housing 
land supply.

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 5 for approval.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose suitable conditions.

(k) Great Ellingham: Mill Farm Fisheries, Church Street: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1404/F  

Erection of 5 no. new dwellings and 1 no. replacement dwelling with associated 
landscaping and parking.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A further representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 353).  

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Phil Hardy (Parker Planning Services)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.  

16



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

(l) Great Ellingham: Development Site at Attleborough Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0712/D  

Reserved Matters application for the erection of 9 dwellings, parking, garages, 
road design and soft landscaping following approval under 3PL/2018/0713/VAR.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Carl Griffiths, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.  

(m) Great Ellingham: Hollytree House, 80 Long Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0090/F  

Proposed single dwelling.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Head of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jason Barber (Studio 35)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.  

(n) Ickburgh: The Old Rectory, Ashburton Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1215/VAR  

Variation of condition 2 on 3PL/2017/1165/VAR in respect of minor revisions to 
the design of the dwellings and layout & conditions 7, 8, 9 & 10 and removal of 
conditions 3, 4, 14 & 16 as details have been submitted with this application.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Carl Griffiths, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: David Futter (David Futter 
Associates Ltd)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to a review by Environmental Health of the contaminated land 
information submitted and subject to the conditions as listed in the report.  

17



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

It was noted that additional information had been submitted with regards to 
contamination which required review by Environmental Health.

(o) Larling: Land adjacent The Chapel, Watton Road:  Roudham/Larling: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0135/F  

Proposed dwelling.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 354).  The recommendation in the supplementary report was incorrect and 
was highlighted accordingly.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Thomas Parker

Applicant’s Agent: Stuart Clancy

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for approval contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): the proposal would not cause demonstrable harm to the 
landscape, not intrude into the open countryside and would make a small 
contribution to the Council’s 5 year housing land supply.

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for approval.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose suitable conditions 
including a condition that tied the annex to the dwelling.

(p) Mattishall: Part of the field to the west of Gregs Close: (605242,310862) 
Reference: 3PL/2018/1409/O  

Development site for six self/custom build residential properties.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A further representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 355).  

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Mr R Hill

18



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

Applicant’s Agent: Ashley Wyatt (BD+M (UK) Ltd

Objector: Anne Salmon

Objector: Sue Walton

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and in the supplementary 
agenda.  

(q) Shipdham: Land at Swan Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0162/VAR  

Variation of condition no. 11 and removal of condition no. 12 on pp no. 
3PL/2018/0228/O (outline application for up to 7 dwellings and provision of 
footpath) – remove footpath provision.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A further representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
pages 356 to 357).  

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Lynda Turner (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: Chris Tilley (Clayland Estates Ltd)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and in the supplementary 
agenda.  

(r) Shropham: Foxes Barn, Watton Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0088/F  

Four dwellings and garages.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Phil Cowen (against the 
application)

Ward Representative: Councillor William Smith (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: John Barbuk (Patterson Design)

Parish Council: David Napier (Chairman)
19



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

Objectors: Mark & Ruth Wallis

DECISION: The vote was tied 5 x 5.  The Chairman was entitled to his 
casting vote and voted that the application be refused as recommended.

(s) Shropham: Land off Hargham Rd: Reference: 3PL/2018/1071/F  

New housing scheme comprising six-self build dwellings and associated works.

Councillor Joel declared an interest in this application due to him being a friend of 
the applicant.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Head of Major Projects.  It was noted that the consent was for 6 dwellings not 8 
as highlighted under the description of development.
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
pages 358 to 359).  

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Phil Cowen (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: Evert Amador (CAM Architects (Norwich) 
Ltd)

Parish Council: David Napier (Chairman)

Objector: Judith Clutton

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended + 1 
abstention subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to 
no new materially different issues being raised within the remainder of the 
consultation period (10/04/2019).  

(t) Snetterton: Snetterton Park, Heath Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0099/VAR  

Variation of condition no. 2 on planning permission 3PL/2018/0279/F – (petrol 
filling station, drive through coffee shop & restaurant).

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Fiona Hunter, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Additional representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 360).  

No representations were made in respect of the application in terms of public 
speaking.

20



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and in the supplementary 
agenda; and subject to no adverse comments being received from Cadent 
Gas.  

(u) Swaffham: Rlmh Development, Turbine Way: Reference: 3PL/2017/0860/F  

Resubmission of proposal for a proposed new office building previously approved 
under 3PL/2016/1060/F, including details to address previously attached 
Condition nos. 4, 5, 6, 7 9, & 10.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Fiona Hunter, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application in terms of public 
speaking.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.  

In terms of the bin store proposals, and the possible encroachment onto Council 
owned land, Members requested that Officer’s visit the site in 6 months’ time. 

(v) Watton: Rear of 121A Brandon Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1087/F  

This application had been deferred for further information.

(w) Wretham: Site adjacent to No10 Manor Cottages, Church Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1498/F  

Proposed semi-detached dwellings (2no.)

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further information had been included in the supplementary agenda (see page 
361).  

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Phil Cowen (in support)

Applicant: Ann Schofield

Applicant’s Agent: David Cumming (CSA Design Studios)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.  

21



Planning Committee
8 April 2019

Action By

50/19APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

51/19APPEALS (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 3.55 pm

CHAIRMAN

22



BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE – 28 May 2019: SCHEDULE OF DEFERRED APPLICATIONS

REFERENCE AND DETAILS OF APPLICATIONS MEETING 
FIRST 
REPORTED TO

RECOMMENDATION REASON FOR 
DEFERMENT

DATE 
EXPECTED 
TO RETURN 
TO 
COMMITTEE

3PL/2010/1361/F: DEREHAM: Land East of 
Yaxham Road, South of Dumpling Green: Erection 
of 255 dwellings with associated open space 

01/09/2014 Approval For further information tbc

23

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1338/O CASE OFFICER Naomi Minto

LOCATION: BEESTON APPNTYPE: Outline
Syers Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Beeston ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Miss T Townshend
Herne Hill Farm Beeston

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Planning and Development Consultancy
(Mr Jerry Stone) 4 Redisham Close

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed 2 no dwellings & garages

DEFERRED REASON

This application was deferred at Planning Committee in April, pending statutory consultee comments from
the Local Highway Authority and the Tree and Countryside Consultant, following additional information
submitted by the applicant (a Tree Survey and amended Plan).

Local Highway Authority Comments
Following the submission of amended plans, the Local Highway Authority have advised that on the basis of
the extract of the un-numbered drawing posted on the Council's website on 27 March 2019, the applicant
indicates that they intend widening the carriageway to 4.8 metres across the site frontage and can achieve
visibility splays measuring 2.4 metres by 43 metres within the application site.

The carriageway widening will require alterations to the existing ditch and the Council are advised that it is
intended to divert the course of the ditch in this respect.  Whilst Highways appreciate that the application is
submitted in Outline with all matters reserved, they have previously requested that the applicant contacts the
Lead local Flood Authority to ascertain whether the principal of such alterations are acceptable.  No such
information has been supplied for further consideration.  However, the Highway Authority advise that if the
Council is content that this can be conditioned for consideration at Reserved Matters stage, they would not
wish to raise a highway objection, subject to the inclusion of conditions.

Tree and Countryside Officer's Comments
Following the submission of a Tree Survey, the Tree and Countryside Officer advised that the provided
hedgerow survey has only taken into account the section of hedge directly in front of the application site.  The
hedgerow extends east and north along Syers Lane for approximately 360m.  Whilst there are some gaps,
primarily for gateways, it is advised that the entire hedgerow should have been taken into consideration as
per Annex B of The Hedgerow Regulations 1997 a guide to the law and good practice.  Under the survey
guidelines the hedgerow contains sufficient woody species and associated features for it to qualify as an
important Hedgerow.

Following inspection, the Tree and Countryside Officer observed in excess of the required 7 woody species
with numerous associated features, including a ditch, standard trees, a bank, parallel hedge, less than 10%
gaps and links with at least 1 pond and other hedgerows.  The Tree Officer considers that even if the section

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 24

Agenda Item 8a



 

 

 

 

 

of hedgerow in front of the application site (approximately 40m) was to be considered in isolation the number
of woody species (7) and associated features would qualify the hedge to be important under the 1997
regulations.  The hedge is a species rich and valuable ecological feature.  It is clearly very old (well in excess
of the required 30 years) even without any further investigation into the historical value of the hedge, it is
clear that under paragraph 7 of the regulations alone, the hedgerow qualifies as important.  It was therefore
concluded that the hedgerow should remain intact.

Assessment
In light of the above comments, the application as it is will require the removal of hedgerow, which is
considered to be important, in accordance with The Hedgerow Regulations.  It's loss, albeit a partial loss, is
considered contrary to Policy DC12 of the adopted Core Strategy, which seeks to retain protected
hedgerows.

The application therefore remains recommended for refusal, with an additional reason for refusal relating to
the loss of part of an important hedgerow.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to Planning Committee at the request of a Councillor.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of Sustainable Development
- Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the area
- Amenity Impact
- Highway Impact
- Impact on Trees / hedgerows
- Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This application seeks Outline planning permission for the erection of two detached, four bedroom dwellings
with detached double garages, parking provision and external amenity space on land currently used to graze
horses.  The Outline application is for all Matters Reserved, although the supporting documents do provide
details for illustrative purposes so are indicative but the details would be for the Reserved Matters stage.
Submitted Plans indicate that the existing site access would be closed off and a revised site access provided
onto Syers Lane.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site relates to a 0.18 hectare site and is roughly square in shape.  It is located outside of the
defined Settlement Boundary of Beeston.  Residential properties are located to the west and east of the site,
with agricultural land to the north.  Syers Lane is to the south of the site with residential development
(existing and approved under reference 3PL/2017/0702/O) beyond that.  The site itself is bounded by mature
trees and hedging at varying heights on the north, east and south boundary, whilst to the west is low level
fencing.

EIA REQUIRED

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 25



 

 

 

 

 

 

Not required.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant history.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable.

CONSULTATIONS

BEESTON P C
No objection.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Objection - The provided hedgerow survey has only taken into account the section of hedge directly in front
of the application site. The hedgerow extends east and north along Syers Lane for approximately 360m.
Whilst there are some gaps, primarily for gateways the entire hedgerow should have been taken into
consideration as per Annex B of The Hedgerow Regulations 1997 A guide to the law and good practice.
Under the survey guidelines the hedgerow contains sufficient woody species and associated features for it to
qualify as an important Hedgerow. From a brief inspection I have seen in excess of the required 7 woody
species with numerous associated features, including a ditch, standard trees, a bank, parallel hedge, less
than 10% gaps and links with at least 1 pond and other hedgerows. Even if the section of hedgerow in front
of the application site (approximately 40m) was to be considered in isolation the number of woody species (7)

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 26



 

 

 

 

and associated features would qualify the hedge to be important under the 1997 regulations. The hedge is a
species rich and valuable ecological feature. It is clearly very old (well in excess of the required 30 years)
even without any further investigation into the historical value of the hedge, it is clear that under paragraph 7
of the regulations alone, the hedgerow qualifies as important. The hedgerow should remain intact.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection, subject to conditions.

ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice was erected on 29 November 2019 and three neighbours consulted.  Twelve responses were
received, which included eight objections and four letters of support.  The main points raised during the
consultation process are noted below;

Objection
- Surface water drainage issues
- Adverse impact upon amenity - overbearing, loss of privacy
- Adverse impact on character and appearance of immediate area
- Adverse impact on ecology
- Adverse impact on trees / hedgerows
- Insufficient infrastructure (services and facilities) in Beeston to cope with additional development
- Adverse impact on highway safety - unlit / unpaved road
- Outside settlement boundary
- Greenfield site

Support
- Ideal location - infill site
- Walking distance to primary school which has capacity to take on new pupils.
- Will support local facilities and services, including those in Litcham
- Contributes to housing shortfall
- Precedent set opposite the site with two dwellings approved
- Sustainable location

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of Development

1.1  This application seeks Outline planning permission for the erection of two detached, four bedroom
dwellings with detached double garages, parking provision and external amenity space on land outside of
any defined Settlement Boundary (although it is in close proximity to Beetson Settlement Boundary).  For this
reason, the proposal conflicts, in principle, with Policies SS1, DC2 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing
within defined Settlement Boundaries.

1.2  However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 27



referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3  The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2017 was published in July 2017.
This outlined that the District did not benefit from having a five year supply of housing land (it could only
demonstrate a 4.6 years housing land supply).  A further update on the Council's 5 year housing land supply
was issued on 30 July 2018 advising that the Council could demonstrate a 4.77 year housing land supply.
However, this still falls below the required 5 years.  In these cases the NPPF makes provision, in principle,
for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within defined Settlement Boundaries.
This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including securing sustainable
development, protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4  The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision-takers and is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development.  The
Government outlines three overarching objectives to sustainable development: economic, social and
environmental (paragraph 8).  These are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive
ways:

- an economic objective - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring
that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

- a social objective - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number
and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a
well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and

- an environmental objective - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic
environment; including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources
prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving
to a low carbon economy.

1.5  Paragraph 9 of the NPPF (2019) states that these objectives should be delivered through the preparation
and implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the NPPF.  Planning policies and decisions
should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area.

1.6  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide two new dwellings and would
therefore make a positive, albeit small contribution to the housing supply.  The proposal would provide limited
short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during construction.
However, given the small scale nature of the development these benefits are not considered to be significant
and not definitive in this instance.

1.7  The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a
high quality built environment with accessible local services.  Policy SS1 of the adopted Core Strategy
describes seven types of place and their potential to accommodate new development.  Beeston is a rural
settlement for the purposes of the policy, and has only nominal allocated housing growth due to its minimal
local services.  The site is not located within a defined settlement boundary and is therefore in the
countryside.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 28



1.8  It is however noted that the settlement boundary of Beeston is located nearby.  Beeston has minimal
services and facilities available, including a bus stop (offering a very limited service), school, church, a village
hall and green.  Occupants of the development may provide a level of support to the limited services and
facilities available in Beeston, however this would be minimal given the proposal is only for two dwellings.
Furthermore, the route from the site to the services and facilities available within the village, whilst not too far
away, would still involve navigating along an unpaved, unlit and narrow country lane.  In addition, the
services and facilities available would not meet day-to-day needs of future occupants of the proposed
dwellings.

1.9  It is acknowledged that the neighbouring village of Litcham has more services and facilities.  However,
the route from the site is predominantly along narrow, unlit and unpaved roads.  Given these elements and
the distance involved (approximately 2.5 miles between the site and Litcham), future occupants are unlikely
to regularly walk or cycle and would therefore more likely rely on the use of the private car to meet daily
needs.  In this respect the proposed residential development would not be in a suitable location.

1.10  Furthermore, whilst it is acknowledged that planning permission was granted for two dwellings almost
directly opposite the site in October 2017 (planning reference 3PL/2017/0702/O), since then a number of
planning Appeals in relation to development in Beeston have been dismissed consistently siting that Beeston
is not a sustainable location for development.

1.11  In an Appeal decision (APP/F2605/W/17/3182476, 28th November 2017), the Inspector dismissed an
Appeal for two dwellings in Beeston, stating that:

"Beeston village ... has a limited range of services, including a school and public house.  The distances from
the Appeal site to these services, along mainly unlit roads without pavements, would not make these
conveniently accessible by means other than private car."

1.12  In a further Appeal decision (APP/F2605/W/18/3201174, dismissed for 2 new dwellings in Beeston,
dated 28th January 2019), the Inspector considered the proximity of the development to services.  The
Inspector acknowledged that the NPPF indicates that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport
solutions will vary between urban and rural areas.  However, it also states that the planning system should
actively manage patterns of growth in support of sustainable transport objectives.  The Inspector concluded
that the proposal failed to provide a suitable site for housing, having regard to the proximity of services that
could realistically meet daily needs of future occupants.

1.13  It is concluded that the development would not be in a sustainable location in the context of recent
Appeal decisions, as well as relevant local planning policy, including Policies SS1, CP14 and DC2 of the
adopted Core Strategy.  It also conflicts with the sustainable development objectives of the NPPF (2019).

2.0 Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment.  Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design.  As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area.  Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/ townscape effect of any increased
density.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 29



2.3  The design and landscaping is not for consideration at this stage and is for the Reserved Matters stage.
The submitted plans show an indicative layout, which has been amended during the course of the application
process.

2.4  The space that surrounds buildings is just as important as the buildings themselves.  Given the nature of
the area with residential development being located in fairly large plots of land, the siting and plot size for the
new dwellings, as indicated on the indicative plan, is considered acceptable and appropriate to the
surrounding area and in accordance with Policy DC16.

3.0 Impact on amenity

3.1  Policy DC1 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to protect residential amenity and requires all new
development to have regard to amenity considerations.  It states that development will not be permitted
where there are unacceptable effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  The indicative plan details how the site could be developed which is considered broadly acceptable from
a residential amenity viewpoint.  Further details would be necessary at a reserved matters stage.  However,
amenity concerns could likely be successfully controlled by condition.  The proposal therefore, is considered
to comply with Policy DC1 of the adopted Core Strategy, subject to detailed design reserved for future
consideration.

4.0 Highways Impact

4.1  The NPPF requires new developments to provide safe and suitable access to the site for all people.
Policy CP4 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in
new developments.

4.2  The Highway Authority has advised that whilst it is accepted that the application is submitted in Outline
with all matters reserved for future consideration, there has to be a realistic opportunity of it being deliverable.
With that in mind, the Highway Authority requested the applicant to obtain approval from the Lead Local
Flood Authority in relation to the principle of piping the ditch along the site frontage to facilitate road widening.

4.3  In addition, the Highway Authority noted that the site is located on the inside of a bend on Syers Lane
and therefore in order to achieve the required visibility splay of 2.4 metres by 43 metres, the established
hedgerow on the southern boundary would likely be adversely affected as a significant proportion would
need to be removed.

4.4  It is noted that the applicant has submitted an amended plan (Road Frontage Works and Site Layout
Plan, Drg. no: 1190/3) to address the Highway Authority's comments.  This information was received at the
latter end of March 2019 and as such, the Council awaits further comment from the Highway Authority.  That
said, it is accepted that this is an Outline application, with all matters reserved and therefore the Highway
points mentioned above would need to be satisfactorily dealt with at reserved matters stage.

5.0 Impact on trees / hedgerows

5.1  Policy DC12 of the adopted Core Strategy states that any development that would result in the loss of, or
the deterioration in the quality of an important natural feature(s), including protected trees and hedgerows will
not normally be permitted.  Following consultation, the Tree and Countryside Officer advised that the
proposal is heavily reliant on highway requirements and whether or not the hedgerow on the site frontage

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 30



 

 

can be retained.  The Tree and Countryside Officer states that if the hedgerow requires removal it will be
necessary to provide details in order to establish if the hedge would be classed as being important.

5.2  Following the Tree and Countryside Officer's comments, the applicant submitted a Hedgerow Appraisal
in support of the application.  Whilst it is noted that the assessment concludes that the hedgerow is not
legally protected under The Hedgerow Regulations 1997, the Appraisal was submitted in the latter part of
March 2019 and therefore the Council is currently awaiting further comment from the Tree and Countryside
Officer on the latest material received.

5.3  Therefore, at this moment in time, it is not clear whether the application accords with Policy DC12 of the
adopted Core Strategy and the requirements of the revised NPPF (2019).  Members will be updated at
Committee with the Tree and Countryside Officer's response.

6.0 Other issues

6.1  Policy CP9 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to ensure that development minimises any unavoidable
polluting effects and the development's design should actively seek to minimise or mitigate against all forms
of pollution.  The Contaminated Land Officer was consulted on this application and raised no objections,
subject to conditions relating to ground gas protection measures and unexpected contamination.  In addition,
an informative relating to extensions is also recommended.  In light of the above, the application is
considered to accord with Policy CP9.

7.0 Conclusion

7.1  The proposal is for Outline permission for two dwellings with all matters reserved.  The Council does not
have a five-year housing land supply as required under paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019).  Paragraph 11
states that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important
for determining the application are out-of-date, on the basis that the local planing authority cannot
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites, the presumption in favour of sustainable
development, as set out in paragraph 8 of the NPPF, should be applied.  This means granting planning
permission, unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  Paragraphs 7 and 8 of the NPPF
establishes that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development, based upon it performing economic, social and environmental objectives, which are
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways.

7.2  The proposal would provide limited social benefit in helping to boost the supply of housing and help
redress the Council's five year deficit.  There would be limited economic benefit through the construction and
maintenance of the houses and the expenditure of future occupants in terms of supporting services.  These
limited benefits would be significantly and demonstrably outweighed by the adverse impact of the proposal in
respect of a high dependence upon private car use to meet daily needs.  The proposal, therefore, would not
gain support through the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in paragraph 11 of the
NPPF (2019).  The proposal would conflict with the aims of Policies SS1, CP14 and DC2 and paragraphs 8
and 11 of the NPPF (2019).

7.3  Accordingly, the application is recommended for refusal for the reasons outlined above.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 31



 

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1 Non-std reason for refusal
The site is situated in an unsustainable location and thus residents would be highly reliant on
the motor vehicle to access all facilities required to meet day-to-day needs.  This would be
contrary to Policies SS1, CP14 and DC2 of the adopted Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and the three dimensions of
sustainable development outlined in the NPPF (2019), having particular regard to
paragraphs 8 and 11.

2 Non-std reason for refusal
The loss of the protected hedgerow, which has been identified as an important natural
feature, is considered unacceptable in this instance.  The presumption is in favour of
protecting and retaining important hedgerows, having regard to Policy DC12 of the adopted
Core Strategy and The Hedgerow Regulations 1997.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 32



 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1392/D CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: HOCKHAM APPNTYPE: Reserved Matters
Plot south of 8 Little Hockham Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Barry Tredgett
13 hall Moor Road Hingham

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Mr Andrew Mathews
Flint Cottage Shropham Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of house & garage following outline permission 3PL/2016/0862/O

DEFERRED REASON

The application was deferred from the February Planning Committee as a shadow analysis was received for
consideration by the neighbouring occupiers.  A deferral was deemed necessary in order to properly assess
this and allow the applicant a chance to view and provide a rebuttal if necessary.

The applicant took the opportunity to a) reduce the scheme by hipping the two-storey projecting rear element
(reducing the bulk) and amending the single storey element to incorporate a flat roof as opposed to a pitched
roof, again to reduce the bulk; and b) to provide their own shadow analysis on the revised scheme.

It is acknowledged that the shadow analysis shows that there will be shadow across the rear of the
neighbouring dwelling, however this will be at it's peak in December between 12.00 noon and almost none by
2pm and at no time will all of the rear windows/doors be completely covered.  It also shows that the shadow
will be reduced as a result of the amended scheme.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the dwelling will result in
some overshadowing, the level and length of this overshadowing is not considered to be at a level that would
justify a refusal of the scheme given the allowed proposal at appeal.

During the deferred period, a speed survey was submitted in order to challenge the level of accepted visibility
by NCC Highways as well as raising additional highway safety concerns, including the presence of a
drainage gully at the access. Norfolk County Council was consulted on this and advised that:

"It is understood that Access has already been approved as part of the Appeal but we have now been
provided with more detailed plans and, for the avoidance of doubt, I would comment as follows.

The details include that the gully cover will be in accordance with a specification to be agreed with this
Authority. It may well be that given the limited use of the access, as it only serves a single dwelling, the
existing cover may be acceptable but that can be addressed when the access is constructed.

The southern side of the access is close to the speed limit sign however it would be rare for vehicles to need
to turn left into the access give that Little Hockham Lane is a no through road.

The Drawing indicates that visibility of 2.4m x 90m can be achieved to the south and 2.4m x 43m to the north

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 33

Agenda Item 8b



 

 

 

 

 

 

- more if the boundary hedge which, I have been advised is in the ownership of the applicant, is trimmed
back.

The traffic data we have been supplied with appears to have recorded speed with a single counter some
30metres to the south of the access. A further counter should have been laid to the north of the access within
the 30mph to assess south bound traffic.  Notwithstanding this, the 90m available would comply with
standards for traffic travelling at 37mph. The additional dwelling will reinforce that traffic is entering a built up
area and should assist in containing traffic speed.

Given the limited use of Little Hockham Lane, and that it is a no through road serving a farm, it should be
easy to identify speeding drivers and pass the information to the police/parish council for appropriate action."

The objections received as a result of the amended scheme are largely as per those already submitted and
assessed.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Planning Committee at the request of the Ward Representative.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway impact
Impact on trees

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks approval of the following reserved matters: appearance; landscaping; layout and scale
following outline approval for the erection of a dwelling and carport which was granted following an appeal.

The dwelling proposed is a 2 and a half storey, 5 bed dwelling with attached double garage comprising of a
mixture of brick, flint panels and weatherboarding with a clay pantile roof.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is an irregular shaped plot that lies to the south of existing residential development.  The
site is bounded to the front and side by established hedging, trees and vegetation.  The site is laid to grass.
Beyond the site site to the south, west and east (opposite side of the road) lies agricultural land.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2018/0760/D - Erection of house and garage following outline approval ref 3PL/2016/0862/O -
Withdrawn

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 34



 

 

 

 

 

3PL/2016/0862/O - Erection of new dwelling and carport - Allowed on appeal

3PL/2005/0049/O: Construction of five holiday cabins, Land to the rear of Beechwood House, Wretham Road
- Refused March 2005.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

PARISH COUNCIL
The Parish Council strongly object to this application and previous comments with regards to the first
application (3PL/2016/0862) still stand in relation to this application. The original application that was refused
and then appealed in 2016, was an outline application for a 2 storey house with 4 bedrooms and car port.
This was considerably smaller in scale than the new application. The Parish Council made comments on the
application 3PL/2018/0760/D which was withdrawn. The majority of the objections have not been addressed.
This new application is for a 3 storey property, with effectively 5 bedrooms and with a large double garage.
This new application now takes up the full width of the plot and extends dramatically behind the neighbouring
property, taking away all the natural light. The height of the roof for both the Garage and the Garden-room is
at the same height as the top of the second floor level. All the mature trees should be maintained. Several
large and established trees have already been cut down and removed from the site all without any prior
notice to Breckland Council, or indeed any consent being given by Breckland's tree officer. The Parish
Council have concerns for the remaining trees particularly given Highways requirements for off-street parking
for all construction vehicles, a site compound and a site delivery area, all of which will have to be
accommodated in the small area to the front of the proposed property, outside the Tree Protection Area. The
Parish Council strongly object to any more trees being cut down, especially in the front of the site. It seems

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 35



 

 

 

 

very odd that the existing Hedges on both boundaries' seem to not have any protection from the
development of this New Build.  The hedges should be fully protected and maintained and not damaged or
be removed. The plans show an air source heat pump, sited only feet from the neighbouring property's
lounge and bedroom windows, this unit will be a constant disturbance if sited in this location. The style of the
proposal is not in sympathy with the adjacent properties. The proposed Roof Tiles for the New Build will not
be in keeping to the properties in Little Hockham Lane, all of which have Red Pantiles. They should be the
same or very similar in type.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
There are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the
development proceeds in line with the application details.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection subject to condition.

ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 30-11-2018
Consultations issued: 28-11-2018

17 representations were received raising the following concerns and objections:
- Inappropriate scale
- Impact on the character and appearance of the area
- Development out of scale for plot
- Materials inappropriate
- Result in loss of light and overshadowing to neighbouring property
- Concern regarding position of air source heat pump/ potential noise
- New property will not be in keeping with other properties
- Impact on adjoining neighbour at No8 size and proximity of dwelling overshadows their property
- House too large for plot out of keeping
- Loss of light due to size of property
- Impact on trees
- Outside settlement boundary location
- Loss of trees
- Noise during construction
- Parking and storage of materials during construction
- Loss of views

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Background

1.1  The application is the re-submission of a previously withdrawn reserved matters scheme.  The following
amendments have been made as part of this re-submission:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 36



- Floor area reduction of 6% at ground floor and 14% at first floor which has enabled a slight re-positioning of
the dwelling.
- Arboricultural report submitted.
- Surface water from the garage and majority of the front roof to be discharged to an attenuation soakaway,
not the existing road boundary ditch as previously proposed.

2.0  Principle

2.1  The application seeks approval of reserved matters following outline permission being granted on appeal
for the erection of a dwelling and carport.  This outline consent expires in March 2020, therefore the principle
of a dwelling in this location has therefore been accepted.

3.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

3.1  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

3.2  The application proposes a two and half storey dwelling with an attached garage which will be situated
forward of the princpal elevation of the main dwelling.  The dwelling will consist of a typical, roof pitch design
with two projecting two storey elements facing the road (front elevation).  Materials proposed (dark pantiles
and flint panelling above a brick plinth, with weatherboarding to the garage element) are considered
acceptable and in keeping with those within the vicinity, which are varied.  The positioning within the site is
also considered acceptable and in keeping with the road fronting development adjoining.  The plot is
spacious and there will be adequate circulation space around the dwelling, again, in keeping with the form
and character of existing development.  In light of these factors, the proposal considered to accord with
Policy DC16 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

4.0  Amenity impact

4.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

4.2  The dwelling proposed has been positioned within the plot so that it retains a good separation distance
between it and the nearest neighbour at No.8, this alongside the internal layout in terms of first floor window
positioning and the distances and oblique angles from views within the rear first floor windows, the proposal
is not considered likely to cause any adverse impact in terms of overlooking or loss of privacy.  The proposal
relates to a single dwelling only therefore the impact in terms of noise and disturbance will also be minimal,
plus the outline permission for one dwelling remains a material consideration.  The proposal also provides
the future occupiers with a good amount of private rear amenity space.  Comments made in respect of loss of
views is not a material planning consideration.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to accord
with Policy DC1.

4.3  It is noted that there has been concern and objection in respect of the scale of the dwelling proposed.
Whilst these comments have been considered the dwelling is considered acceptable.  The dwellings
immediately adjoining the site are large dwellings set within spacious plots.  This proposal is considered to
reflect this character.  Whilst the dwelling has been designed over two and half storeys, a drawing has been

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 37



provided which indicates the adjoining dwelling and its ridge line.  This shows that the dwelling will have a
lower ridge height than the dwelling at No.8 Little Hockham Lane, on this basis, it is considered difficult to
substantiate a refusal on this point.

4.4  The positioning of the air source heat pump has also been considered.  The Environmental Health Team
has been consulted and raised no objection.  In addition, a material consideration in this regard is that
dwellings have a permitted development allowance for air source heat pumps and subject to the heat pump
being MCS (Microgeneration Certification Scheme/or eqivalent) compliant, the siting of the heat pump would
meet these tolerances.  As such, a refusal on this basis would not be considered reasonable.

4.5  In terms of the comments made in respect of noise during construction, this would be covered by
Environmental Health legislation however a note can be attached to any permission given in this regard.  A
condition will be added requiring a scheme for the provision of on-site parking and a delivery area for
construction workers to ensure that highway safety is not compromised during the construction phase.

5.0  Highway safety

5.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.  Sufficient parking and
turning space has been accommodated within the site.  Norfolk County Council Highways Team was
consulted and advised that outline approval was granted at Appeal and access was considered at that time.
However we are aware that concern has been expressed that the visibility indicated on the submitted
drawing measures 2m x 33m rather than the 2.4m x 33m which was a condition of the appeal decision. In
this location it would be difficult to prove the harm of a reduction  to the north of the access from 2.4m to
2.0m.

5.2  It is also noted that the applicant proposes to culvert an existing ditch and they should be made aware
that this will require the approval of the County Council's Flood Water Management Team.

5.3  Given that conditions relating to access were imposed when outline permission was granted, and that
these conditions remain in full force and effect, the applicant will need to apply to vary this outline condition to
implement this consent (they have been made aware and a note will be added to the permission to this
effect).  Additional highway conditions relating to means of obstruction; the access, parking and turning area
and parking for construction workers should be imposed if you are minded to grant permission for the
reserved matters.  In light of this advice, and subject to conditions, the application is considered to have due
regard to highway safety and a note will be imposed advising the applicant of the need to gain further
consent in respect of the work to the ditch.

6.0  Impact on trees

6.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

6.2  Whilst none of the trees on or near to the site are the subject of protection orders, there are several
category B trees  within the site.  As such, the application was supported by an Arboricultural Implications
Assessment and Preliminary Method Statement which concludes that as long as the protection methods are
adhered to as described the proposal will have no material effect upon health of those trees shown to be
retained or to their contribution to amenity and landscape values.  The Tree and Countryside Officer raised
no objection on this basis and subject to condition.  The proposal is therefore considered to have due regard
to Policy DC12.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 38



 

 

7.0  Conclusion

7.1  The plot has outline permission for a dwelling.  The dwelling proposed is considered acceptable for the
reasons outlined in the above assessment and on that basis, the application is recommended for approval
subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

Recommendation: That Planning Permission be Granted subject to conditions:

CONDITIONS

1 Reserved Matters - time limit
This approval is granted following the grant of Outline Planning Permission Reference
3PL/2016/0862/O Dated 06/03/2017.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun
either before the expiration of FIVE YEARS from the date of the Outline Planning
Permission, or before the expiration of TWO YEARS from the date of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved, whichever is the later.
The development shall comply with all the conditions attached to the outline permission
unless varied by this approval of reserved matters.
Reason for condition:-
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development accords with conditions
attached to the outline planning permission for the proposal, including time limits specified
for commencement, resulting in appropriate development of the site.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External wall and roof materials to be agreed
The materials to be used in the external elevations shall be as set out on the submitted
application form and approved plans, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the colour, tone, texture and appearance of
the materials used to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, as required by
Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access,
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
The access shall be designed in accordance with a scheme to be first agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 39



 

To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Construction traffic (parking)
Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing provision for on-site parking, site
compound and delivery area for construction workers for the duration of the construction
period has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be implemented throughout the construction period.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure adequate off-street parking during construction in the interests of highway safety.
This needs to be a pre-commencement condition as it deals with the construction period of
the development.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Implementation of submitted boundary treatment
The boundary treatment shown on the plans and particulars hereby approved shall be
constructed in the manner shown and completed before the dwelling hereby approved is first
occupied.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy
DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 40



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1089/O CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: ASHILL APPNTYPE: Outline
Dunnetts Close POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Ashill ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Chris Howell
Green Farm Ashill

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parker Planning Services Ltd
Orchard House Hall Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: outline application for 8 no. dwellings on land north of Dunnetts Close. All matters are
reserved except for access.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Impact on trees
Ecological Implications
Other issues

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks outline approval will all matters reserved except for access, for residential
development on land north of Dunnetts Close for 8 dwellings.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is currently a section of a larger grassed field and measures 0.49 hectares and is located to the
north-east of the village of Ashill. The site currently comprises what can be described as arable land and is
bound on its southern limit by a highway and on its western limit by residential development. There is further
open farmland to the north and east of the site. Access would be created off Dunnetts Close.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 41

Agenda Item 9a



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

ASHILL PARISH COUNCIL
Ashill Parish Council object to this application on grounds of Highway problems. The access to the site is
through the already congested Dunnetts Close/Common Road having just had the additional traffic from 28
new dwellings. The roadway is used by very large farm vehicles and these are already having to use the
verge to get round parked cars so the addition of a further 8 dwellings is going to make this a very dangerous
area. If this application is granted the Parish Council would like to see a contribution to the Parish to widen
the roadway through Dunnetts Close to allow safe parking and better access. The Councillors are also
concerned that this site was never included for consideration in Local Plan and by the time the Local Plan is
adopted, Ashill will have already exceeded the figure that was agreed for development to 2036 if this
application is granted.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The planning application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Parker Planning Services;

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 42



 

 

 

 

January 2018) and a water vole survey & great crested newt survey report (Parker Planning Services; July
2018). The reports are fit for purpose. We agree with the report that there is a minor risk that construction
activities on site could create suitable refuge opportunities within the site which may subsequently be
discovered by great crested newts and place them at risk of disturbance or harm during the construction
phase and this may lead to an offence under the wildlife legislation. As such a precautionary approach will be
required to ensure that great crested newts cannot access the site during construction.The NPPF requires
that planning decisions should enhance the natural environment by providing net gains for
nature(paragraph 170). I would suggest that the applicant is required to provide enhancement measures
outlined in the reports. Recommend conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection. Works should be in accordance with the Arboricultural impact assessment and tree protection
plan submitted by Ace of Spades.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections subject to condition:
Unexpected Contamination In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with
details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Where remediation is necessary, a
remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason for condition: To ensure that
risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together
with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
Informative note (Extensions) Where remediation of contaminated land is required, the developer is advised
to put in place measures to ensure that any future alterations/extensions to the development do not
undermine completed remediation works and, if appropriate, that the future alterations/extension include the
same scheme of remediation as that included in the original development.
NATIONAL GRID
Don't object in principle.

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

One objection received raising the following points:
-highways issues if volume of traffic increased - large farm vehicles use track
-Sewerage system is totally inadequate and regularly fails.
-field with pond regularly floods
-Concerns with wildlife.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Background

1.1  The application is an outline for 8 dwellings, the indicative plans of which have been submitted with the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 43



applications. The arrangement of the dwellings is in a small development with one access road with the
dwellings facing each other with a garage for each and driveways providing on site parking.

2.0  Principle

2.1  The application seeks outline consent for residential development with all matters reserved, except
access, on land just outside the Ashill Settlement Boundary.  For this reason the proposal conflicts in
principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.

The proposed site is located just outside of the Settlement Boundary as designated by the adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this reason the
proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document which seeks to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as
referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2018 was confirmed at the Planning
Committee on the 30th July 2018. The five year supply is not being currently met, although the council will
prioritise work on establishing a five year housing land supply target. The emerging new local plan is
currently at examination and when adopted, new policies and allocations will be able to be included within
the five year housing land supply, which will ensure the Council is able to meet this. In these cases the NPPF
makes provision, in principle, for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within
defined Settlement Boundaries. This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including
securing sustainable development, protecting the countryside, and good design

The application is therefore assessed against the benefits provided in relation to the sustainable
development tests as set out in the NPPF.

2.2  The NPPF identifies three dimensions of sustainable development:

-  Economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land is of the
right type and is available in the right places.
-  Social, by supporting, strong and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required to meet
future need in a high quality environment with accessible local services and
-  Environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

2.3  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF also stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because
they are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these three roles is required.

2.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide new development and would
provide some short-term economic benefits through its construction, and longer-term economic benefits
through additional household spend within the surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of
the dwellings.

2.5  In terms of the social role, the site lies outside but is closely related to the Ashill Settlement Boundary.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 44



Whilst not a service centre village currently, it is proposed as such in the emerging local plan.  Ashill benefits
from community facilities such as a public house, a community centre, Ashill Fruit Farm and Food and Wine
most of which are within an easy walking distance from the site.

2.6  Ashill also benefits from a regular bus service linking the village to both Watton and Swaffham with the
nearest stop adjacent to the site.  Whilst it is appreciated that there would be a reliance on the use of a car to
access wider day-to-day services i.e Doctors provision and bigger provision needs which does weigh against
the proposal, given the size of the site, it is considered that the harm caused to sustainability would be small
and there are other sustainable forms of transport readily available for use.  The NPPF recognises that
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary from urban to rural areas.

2.7  In light of the above, the proposal is considered to meet the economic and social aims of sustainable
development.

3.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

3.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

3.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

3.3  The application has been submitted in outline with all matters reserved, except access, therefore design
and layout etc will be fully considered at the reserved matters stage.  Notwithstanding this, an indicative
layout plan has been provided which indicates that at least eight dwellings can be suitably designed to be
accommodated within the site which provides a small development accessed by one road as well as
providing a sufficient plot size for future occupants.

4.0  Amenity impact

4.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

4.2  As stated above, the application has been submitted in outline, therefore amenity impact will be fully
assessed at the reserved matters stage.  An indicative plan has however been submitted which indicates that
at least eight dwellings can be accommodated within the site whilst retaining good separation distances from
existing dwellings. It also demonstrates that each plot will be afforded a good degree of private rear amenity
space, garages and off road parking.

5.0  Highway safety

5.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

5.2 An alteration to the watercourse is proposed to allow for the access, the Lead Local Flood Authority

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 45



(LLFA) will require an application and evidence to support an alteration to an Ordinary Watercourse.
A culvert will be required beneath the new access so that flows through the ditch.

5.3 Informal discussion with the Highway officer has indicated that the amendments to the scheme to
address the access and culvert issues are sufficient in conjunction with the culvert works and any material
response from Highways will be presented in a supplemental report. A condition is considered sufficient at
this outline stage to ensure that the highway works are agreed in writing prior to any works beginning

6.0  Impact on trees

6.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.  No
objection has been received from the Tree and Countryside officer, however works should be in accordance
with the arboricultural impact assessment and tree protection plan submitted by Ace of Spades.

6.2  Accordingly the proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy DC12.

7.0  Ecological implications

7.1  Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  Proposals need to
ensure that the ecological network and protected species are not harmed or detrimentally impacted and
mitigation measures are put in place where appropriate.

7.2  The planning application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Parker Planning
Services; January 2018) and a water vole survey & great crested newt survey report (Parker Planning
Services; July 2018). The Ecology officer concludes that they are fit for purpose and agrees with the
conclusions that there is a minor risk that construction activities on site could create suitable refuge
opportunities within the site which may subsequently be discovered by great crested newts and place them
at risk of disturbance or harm during the construction phase and this may lead to an offence under the wildlife
legislation. As such a precautionary approach will be required to ensure that great crested newts cannot
access the site during construction.

7.3 The NPPF requires that planning decisions should enhance the natural environment by providing net
gains for nature (paragraph 170). The enhancements measures suggested in the submitted reports should
be required to provide the enhancement measures and conditions are recommend.

7.4  In light of this, the proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy CP10.

8.0  Other issues

8.1  In terms of the drainage, a condition will be attached to any approval given requiring the reserved
matters to include details of the foul water drainage.  It should be noted that the site does not fall inside a
Flood Zone 2 or 3.

8.2  Contaminated land conditions have been attached to the approval, this also includes an advisor note
relating to the removal of asbestos.

9.0  Conclusion

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 46



 

 

9.1  When applying the tilted planning balance, the site is considered to be a sustainable location which can
accommodate a level of residential development without having an adverse impact on the character and
appearance of the area, the amenity of the existing dwellings near to the site and/or highway safety.
It is considered that any ecological implications can be adequately addressed at a later stage as well as the
highway access work and culvert issues. The proposal is therefore unlikely to lead to any significant or
demonstrable harm to any interests of acknowledged importance and is therefore recommended for
approval.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions:

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Parking and Turning plan
The applicant shall provide an appropriate design at a reserved matters stage to
address the following points in accordance with the adopted standards:
i) Parking provision in accordance with adopted standard.
ii) Turning

Reason for condition:-
 In the interests of highway safety.

5 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access /
crossing over the verge shall be constructed in accordance with the highways specification

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 47



TRAD 4 and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan. All details
should be approved by the Highway Authority and the Local Lead Flood Authority.
Arrangement shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposal of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby a scheme for the visibility splays
shall be provided and agreed in writing by the Highway Authority. The splays shall thereafter
be maintained at all times free from any obstruction as specified by the Highways Authority
above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Highway improvements - off-site
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works above slab level
shall commence on site unless otherwise first agreed in writing until detailed drawings for the
off-site highway improvement works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the off-site highway
improvement works referred to in this condition shall be completed.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.

8 Ecology
The planning application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Parker
Planning Services; January 2018) and a water vole survey & great crested newt survey
report (Parker Planning Services; July 2018) and the mitigation measures shall be
implemented as outlined.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of bio-diversity in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF.

9 Trees and hedges
All works shall accord with the Arboricultural impact assessment and tree protection plan
submitted by Ace of Spades dated 15th June 2018.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development and the protections of
trees on site having regard to policy DC12 of the Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations, precise details of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 48



 

the means of surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection
with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations, precise details of
the means of foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Only such approved details shall be used in the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 49



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1143/D CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: BEETLEY APPNTYPE: Full
Flint Cottage Fakenham Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
East Bilney ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Stuart Harris
30 Blakestone Drive Norwich

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Architectural Design and Plann
73 Yarmouth Road Thorpe St Andrew

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Details of Erection 1 dwelling with integral garage following Outline Application Approval
3PL/2017/1452/O

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is being referred to Committee as a significant application due to the history of the application
and public interest.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of development
- Layout, scale and appearance
- Impact upon amenity
- Landscaping
- Highway safety and Access

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This application seeks approval of the reserved matters following Outline permission 3PL/2017/1452/O,
which granted planning permission (Outline) to demolish an existing garage structure and for the erection of
a single detached four bedroom dwelling, with integral garage, on land to the east of Fakenham Road, East
Bilney.

All matters were reserved at Outline stage.  Details for consideration include access, appearance,
landscaping,  layout and scale.

Indicative plans were submitted at the Outline stage.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is located on the east side of Fakenham Road (B1146) which is the main road running through the
village of East Bilney. The site area size is 0.053ha.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 50

Agenda Item 9b



 

 

 

 

 

The site is located in East Bilney which Policy SS 1 defines as a rural settlement.

Bus stops are located 200m to the south of the site along Fakenham Road. No other services or facilities are
available in the village.

The larger settlements of Whissonett and Beetley are located 3.2 miles to the north and 4 miles to the south,
respectively. These are also rural settlements, however, have a few facilities and services.  Whissonett  has
a village hall, church and post office. Beetley has a primary school, church and village hall.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2017/1452/O
Outline planning permission was granted on this site for one detached dwelling.

The applicant initially submitted a full planning application following the outline application, however, due to
issues with access it was advised by the council to change the application to a Reserved Matters application
to help to overcome the issues.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 51



 

 

Not applicable

CONSULTATIONS

BRYAN LEIGH
The Parish Council objects to this application.
Due to the detailed response received from the Parish Council their comments have been summarised
below.
- The Parish Council feels that this development would be contrary to Policy DC1
- The revised design is far too big for the plot and is over development of a narrow plot.
- The proposed dwelling is too tall which will dominate the adjacent property.     - This application is a one
and half storey dwelling the height of the roof appears to be a two storey dwelling.
- The proposed dwelling would dominate, overshadow and cause loss of light to neighbouring properties.
- The new plans show an extended garage and the plans indicate a four bedroom dwelling which is not as
per the outline permission granted which was for a three bed dwelling.
- A four bedroom property is  not the correct size of dwelling needed for the village.
- The Parish Council still feels that if permission is to be granted then by moving the dwelling further to the
front of the site in line with Flint Cottage would mean that there would be less intrusion onto the adjacent
property.
- The garage should be sited to the rear of the property which would be possible if the dwelling is sited further
to the front of the site.
- Concerns over highway safety.
- There is an adequate turning area where the oil tank is currently positioned and by moving this tank an area
would be created which would be used.
- The Community Speed Watch Team has confirmed that there is excessive speeding at this point as
vehicles enter East Bilney despite it being a 30 mph limit.
- A condition should be placed on any permission granted that there is no gate sited at the front of the drive
of the property and that there is no fence at this point to ensure that vehicles can access the property without
stopping on the main road and there is adequate visibility.
- The dwelling should not be built in red brick but have flint which would integrate with the dwelling to the
south.
- The access is proposed to be widened, this would mean that an area of the trod that was partly funded by
the Parish Council will be removed and a condition should be placed on any permission for this to be
reinstated to its current standard.
- Connection should be to the mains drainage as there is a high water table and
there could be pollution.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
You have confirmed that the highway conditions requested at the time of the Outline application, and which
related to replacement parking and turning facilities for Flint Cottage, were not imposed and that these details
cannot form part of this application. You have also previously confirmed that the building plot has been sold
away from Flint Cottage and is in separate ownership. Whilst the design detailed on Drawing 0002 Rev F is
far from ideal, and would take more than 2 changes of gear to turn a vehicle within the site, I think it likely that
any residents would make the effort rather than reversing out into the highway. A vehicle could not turn from
the garage into the space immediately adjacent to the house (the 2.5m draw out distance has not been
provided) but it could utilise the remaining room to turn.
If permission is to be granted then conditions have been specified.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 52



 

 

 

Based on the information provided to me at this time; there are no objections or comments on the grounds of
Environmental Protection, providing the development proceeds in line with the application details.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No comments.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
I have looked at the application submitted and, based on the information provided to me at this time; there
are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development
proceeds in line with the application details.
NATIONAL GRID
Thank you for consulting Cadent Gas for this application. We do not object to the proposal in principle.

PRINCIPAL PLANNER MINERAL & WASTE POLICY No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The Site notice was displayed from 20-10-2018 to 10-11-2018.

Six residents were directly notified.
Three local representations were received for this application, objecting to the proposals.

The comments are summarised below;

- The design is too large for the plot.
- The increase in the number of bedrooms from the outline permission is not acceptable.
- The garage should be sited to the rear of the property as the site is long and narrow and would
accommodate the garage to the rear.
- This would also allow vehicles to have a larger parking and turning area than at present. The turning circle
for the existing Flint Cottage is now shown to the rear of the property. At present this is separated from the
existing drive by a fence so I can not see how vehicles from Flint Cottage would access this. There is a
perfectly acceptable turning area to the front of the property if the oil tank is resited to the rear.
- The new dwelling should be constructed with flint as well as brick to make it more in keeping with the
adjacent Flint Cottage as this site is the original garden for Flint Cottage.
-  The outline planning permission should not have been granted as the oil tank to Flint Cottage was
'forgotten' and shown as a turning place for that property despite our objections to the council. We have
already had serious accidents on the Fakenham Road.
- Last week permission was granted for a new house to loom over our bungalow at the front on the Hall Farm
site and now you want us to live looking out of our lounge window at a 20foot plus brick wall which will be the
side of this dwelling, this really is intolerable.
- I object most strongly to the overdevelopment of this narrow garden site that up till now has only had a
single garage on.
- The builder wants to build it in red brick which is totally out of keeping with the quaint nature of other
buildings and the neighbourhood. It has grown by one bedroom since the outline planning to be a four
bedroom house so there are bound to be at least 2 or 3 cars with very little space to manoeuvre.
- The front of the building is not in Line with Flint Cottage.
- Why are they building a sceptic tank when we have been pressured to go onto the local sewerage system
by Anglian Water?

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 53



 

- The height of the new Building will cause much of my garden and patio area to be in shade from
approximately 11am to 3pm every day. ( see the recent ruling about the London Football Club Stadium
development dwarfing a local resident and their right to daylight)
- The side wall of the new dwelling will block or be about 1 metre from 2 windows in my current spare garage
which I was going to have as an artists studio in my retirement.
- The new dwelling will be built a metre away from  oil tank- is this allowed?
- Power and telephone cables will have to be re-routed as the new building occupies their current route.
- I do believe this site is on or very near the route of the high pressure gas mains, has this been checked out.
- The outline planning permission was granted following the owner of Flint Cottage and this site agreeing to
move the oil tank from the front of Flint cottage to enable vehicles to turn on that site. This did not happen.
The new owner of the potential site/proposed new house tells me that he is not responsible for this now as it
is not on his newly acquired property area.
- The proposed plans site the new house less than a metre from a 2000 litres oil tank, that can't be safe. The
proposed new site will block daylight from patio and a 20 foot plus wall will be less than a metre from
windows on property and only 6 metres away from  main lounge window and source of light in main living
area. You cannot do this to residents and active members of the local community.
- Access between the property and the B1146 is unsafe.
- There have been serious accidents on this stretch of road and (despite the local speedwatch and police
presence) cars still exceed the speed limit and pose a risk to those joining/leaving the B1146. Especially
joining as the property slopes away from the road making visibility that much more difficult.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  The site was granted outline permission on 14-02-2018.  The principle of developing this site for a
residential property has therefore been established.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design.  As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area.  Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density. The NPPF (2019) highlights, in paragraph 124, that "The creation of high quality buildings and
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities. Being clear about design expectations, and how these will be
tested, is essential for achieving this. So too is effective engagement between applicants, communities, local
planning authorities and other interests throughout the process.''

2.2  The scheme has been submitted generally in line with the indicative layout provided via the outline
approval which was deemed acceptable, the property has been moved back in the site to allow for parking to
the frontage of the new dwelling. A minor change to the plans include an additional bedroom over the integral
garage which results in the roof line being in line with the next property to the south- Flint Cottage. The
indicative Outline plan showed three bedrooms but this was indicative only and no conditions were imposed
to limit the Reserved Matters in this way.

2.3  The application proposes a modest, four bed dwelling with an integral garage. The scale at two storey is
considered appropriate in this location.  The materials are considered appropriate for the area and the layout

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 54



provides a spacious form of development.

2.4  The design concept is for a four bedroom dwelling to reflect the surrounding architectural styles, with a
site area measuring 455 sq. metres. The house and garage is to be built using handmade multi finish facing
bricks (Audley Antique or similar) with light mortar for the walls. Multi finish pantile profile tiles for the roof and
traditional stone 'flat' profile capping stones for the extruded parapets. Windows to be  upvc vertical 'tryptic'
style and doors in painted timber. These are considered acceptable materials given the wider character of
the area.

In light of the above factors the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DC16 as well as having regard
to paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

3.0  Impact upon amenity

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants. The application site comprises a
narrow rectangular plot of 0.053ha.

3.2 The plans shows a 2 storey dwelling, which is generally in line with the building line created by the
adjacent neighbours to the south. This results in very limited overshadowing to neighbours. The property to
the north is a bungalow, however, the property has a double garage directly adjacent to the proposed
dwelling, therefore there would be no material or unacceptable loss of light to the main property.

3.3 There are no windows proposed to the side elevations-south and north, therefore no unacceptable levels
of overlooking will be caused.

3.4 In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DC1.

4.0  Trees, Landscaping and boundary treatments

4.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

4.2 The Tree consultant has been consulted and they have no comments in respect of this application. There
are no existing trees or hedgerow to the front of the proposed site, the only trees within the proposed plot are
to the rear boundary which will not be effected by the development.

4.3 The Design and access statement confirms that patio decking will be installed to the rear of the property
with a new lawn to extend towards the rear boundary. Supplementary shrub planting and soft landscaping
will be implemented to the northern and southern boundaries of the rear garden area in order to provide
additional screening to adjacent properties. A new lawn will be laid in the front garden (west) interspersed
with vehicle driveway and hard standing. Supplementary shrub planting and soft landscaping will be
implemented to the northern, southern and western boundaries of the front garden area in order to  provide
additional screening to adjacent properties and Fakenham road.

4.4  In light of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with the aims of Policy DC12 of the adopted
Core Strategy.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 55



5.0 Highways Safety

5.1 The NPPF (2019) requires new developments to provide safe and suitable access to the site for all
people.  Policy CP4 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are
resolved in new developments.

5.2 The Highways officer has been consulted and confirms that whilst the design detailed on Drawing 0002
Rev F is far from ideal, and would take more than two changes of gear to turn a vehicle within the site, they
think it likely that any residents would make the effort rather than reversing out into the highway. A vehicle
could not turn from the garage into the space immediately adjacent to the house (the 2.5m draw out distance
has not been provided) but it could utilise the remaining room to turn.

5.3  Policy DC19 requires in rural locations new housing to have a minimum of 2 car parking spaces and 1
cycle space per dwelling where there is no garage or private gardens. The plans show this can be achieved.

5.4 Therefore, the application is considered to accord with Policy CP4 of the adopted Core Strategy and the
NPPF (2019) in respect of highway safety, subject to conditions.

5.5 The visibility from the site is restricted by features within the ownership of Flint Cottage to the South and
this has led to concerns from Highways who commented at the Outline Stage that the parking and access
arrangements for this plot and for Flint Cottage should be arranged in such a way as to facilitate safe parking
and access to both properties.

5.6 Whilst the proposed arrangement is not ideal and there is not the necessary visibility to the South it must
be noted that Outline planning permission HAS been granted and it may be unreasonable of the Local
Planning Authority to seek to deny that permission.

5.7 It should be noted that as the 'blue edged land' as set out on the Outline is now severed from this
development plot by way of sale this is within the relevant parties legal rights to do so and the Local Planning
Authority still has a valid Outline Planning Permission to honour and to administer the Reserved Matters for.

6.0 Ecology

6.1  The site is kept grass land and previously developed land and is considered to have little ecological
potential. The existing trees bordering the eastern part of the site can be retained. No negative impact is
anticipated in respect of ecology and therefore the proposal accords with Policy CP 10.

7.0 Conclusion

7.1 Taking into account the principle of development at this site has been established, it is considered that
the proposal represents a suitable form of development.  Whilst the proposed access and parking are not
considered ideal, there is Outline Planning Permission on the site and this is a significant and weighty
material planning consideration.

7.2 In terms of its appearance, layout and scale, these are considered acceptable and the Landscaping is
suitable .

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 56



 

 

7.3 The application is therefore considered to be compliant with existing national and local adopted policy
and is therefore recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION

Approval recommended, subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Reserved Matters - time limit
This approval is granted following the grant of Outline Planning Permission reference
3PL/2017/1452/O  dated 14-02-2018. The timescales for implementation of the development
are set out at condition 1 of the Outline Planning Permission.

Reason for condition:-
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development accords with conditions
attached to the outline planning permission for the proposal, including time limits specified
for commencement, resulting in appropriate development of the site.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority in accordance with the highways specification TRAD 1 and thereafter
retained at the position shown on the approved plan.The access shall be designed to be
paired with that of Flint Cottage and arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage
to be intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the
highway.
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous
material or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Access gates - restriction
Notwithstanding the provision of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order (2015), (or any Order revoking, amending or re-enacting that Order) no
gates/bollard/chain/other means of obstruction shall be erected across the approved access
unless details have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.

5 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 57



Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted a 2.4 metre wide
parallel visibility splay (as measured back from the near edge of the adjacent highway
carriageway) shall be provided across the whole of the site's roadside frontage. The splay
shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding 0.6metres
above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the
NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Fencing/walls - details and implementation
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the boundary
treatment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Such scheme as may be agreed shall be completed prior to the occupation of the
development hereby permitted and thereafter retained.
Reason for condition:-
To safeguard the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and to ensure the
satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Landscaping - details and implementation
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted a scheme of landscaping which
shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the site, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried
out during the planting season November/March immediately following the commencement
of the development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall take account of the Council's leaflet "Tree pack"
(Landscaping advice for applicants).  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five)
years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of the
same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 12
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 External materials and samples to be approved

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 58



 

Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level details and samples of all external
materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters
which have been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used
in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Fencing protection for existing trees
Prior to the commencement of any work on the site, all existing trees shall be protected by
the erection of Tree Protection Fencing.   This fencing shall be retained throughout the
period of the development and at all times when works (as defined below) are being carried
out on the site.
For the purposes of this condition "work" shall include the storage of plant, materials, site
huts or the use of any machinery either for preparatory site work or construction itself.
"Trees" shall refer to all trees both on and adjacent to the site.
Protective fencing shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with BS5837:2012
and the Council's document Practice Note: Construction and Maintenance of Tree Protection
Fencing, which is available to download from the Council's website.
Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009

12 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 59



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0157/F CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: BESTHORPE APPNTYPE: Full
Land at 1 Rookery Cottages POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Silver Street, Besthorpe ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Ben Watling
Portwood House Norwich Road

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Mr Michael Rayner
22 Rectory Close Long Stratton

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of new dwelling

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Planning Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact upon character and appearance of area
Impact upon amenity
Highway safety
Trees

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks permission for a single dwelling with integral garage on land to the north-west of 1
Rookery Cottages.

The dwelling proposed is two storeys with a lower, one and half storey element to the side with a garage
below.  The dwelling will be sited to the north-west of No.1 Rookery Cottages and has been positioned so it
faces the access.

SITE AND LOCATION

1 Rookery Cottage is a semi-detached two storey residential dwelling outside of the Besthorpe Settlement
Boundary, which has been significantly extended. To the north of the building is the proposed site, which has
a screening boundary of high level trees/hedging between the edge of the site and the A11; to the east
agricultural land; to the south is further residential dwellings; and to the west is Silver Street. The site is
currently the amenity/garden space associated with 1 Rookery Cottages. The site is outside of the Besthorpe
Settlement Boundary.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 60

Agenda Item 9c



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2018/0006/O - Subdivision of property to provide for the erection of 1 No. dwelling on land adjacent to 1
Rookery Cottages - Allowed on Appeal

3PL/2016/0536/O - Subdivision of property to form residential site for new dwelling - Refused

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

BESTHORPE P C
No objections
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
I have considered the application and would not raise any contaminated land comments based on both the
accuracy of the information provided and the current records of contaminated land issues we hold to date.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 61



 

 

 

 

TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection. Adjacent road side trees are unlikely to be affected.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
No objection.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 12-03-2019
Consultations issued: 08-03-2019

No representations received

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle

1.1  Permission was recently given on this site at appeal for outline permission for the erection of one
dwelling, this decision was dated 21st August 2018 (reference: 3PL/2018/0006/O) and requires the reserved
matters to be submitted within 2 years of this date.  The principle of residential development here is therefore
accepted.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.2  The proposed dwelling has been positioned within the plot so that it is set forward of the existing semi-
detached dwellings to the rear.  It faces the front access track and front garden area of the existing dwellings.
The size of the dwelling is large, however it is considered to fit the plot size whilst also providing good
circulation space around the dwelling and rear amenity area.  The design of the dwelling is considered
acceptable given the traditional form of the nearby dwellings and the wide ranging size of surrounding
dwellings.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy DC16 and
paragraph 127 of the NPPF (February 2019).

3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  As stated above, the dwelling has been positioned within the plot so that it faces the access track and
front, less sensitive amenity area of the existing dwellings.  The dwelling is a sufficient distance from the
existing dwellings and has been orientated to ensure that overlooking will not be an adverse issue and the
small scale of development and positioning forward of the existing dwellings will ensure that noise and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 62



 

 

disturbance is not significant to the existing neighbouring occupiers.  Environmental Health has raised
comment in respect of the proximity of the proposed dwelling to the A11 and the agent subsequently
submitted a plan indicating the use of acoustic fencing in order to help mitigate this.  The Environmental
Health Team were content with this as a solution.   In light of the above, the proposal is considered to accord
with Policy DC1, subject to a condition with regard to the acoustic fence.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

4.2  The proposal provides sufficient parking and turning within the site to accommodate the development.
Norfolk County Council as Highways has been consulted and advised that the site is located at the end of a
no through road which currently serves 4 properties. It is not considered that the additional traffic movements
associated with a single dwelling would be detrimental to highway safety in this location and consider the
shared use of the existing access acceptable.

5.0  Implications to trees on site

5.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

5.2  There is a row of trees along the northern boundary which help to screen the site from the A11.  The
Tree and Countryside Officer has been consulted and advised that these trees are unlikely to be affected as
a result of the proposed dwelling.

6.0  Conclusion

6.1  The principle of residential development has been established and accepted at appeal.  The dwelling
proposed is considered acceptable within the plot and the design proposed is considered in keeping with the
other dwellings in the vicinity.  There are no adverse highway or amenity issues raised and as such, the
application is considered acceptable and is therefore recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION

Approval with conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 63



 

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

4 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted the proposed
access/on-site car and cycle parking/servicing/loading/unloading/turning/waiting area shall
be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved
plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Implementation of submitted boundary treatment
The acoustic fencing as shown on the plans and particulars hereby approved shall be
constructed in the manner shown and completed before the building(s) is first occupied.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the amenity of the future occupiers, in accordance with Policy DC1 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 64



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1105/F CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: BESTHORPE APPNTYPE: Full
White House Farm, White House Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Besthorpe ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Peerless Properties(Norfolk)Ltd
Rose Cottage Swamp Lane

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: John Spencer Drawing Services
Magnum House Deopham Green

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of four detached dwellings on garden plot demolition of small range of outbuildings

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The planning application is referred to by Planning Committee as the proposal is a departure from Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Impact on Character and Appearance of the area
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity
Highway Safety
Affordable Housing
Contamination
Flood Risk
Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The proposal seeks full permission for the erection of 4 new dwellings and garages, including one new
access point to all dwellings via White House Lane and a private road. The proposal also includes the
demolition of the existing outbuildings.

SITE AND LOCATION

The subject site is located on the north side of a private road and the west side of White House Lane,
Besthorpe.

A section of the site fronting the private road, is currently occupied by delapidated outbuildings which are to
be demolished as part of the proposal.

The railway line runs to the north of the site and the route into the village includes navigating the railway

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 65

Agenda Item 9d



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

crossing but this site is in close proximity to the main body of the village.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NP Neighbourhood Plan
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

BESTHORPE PARISH COUNCIL
No objections
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No comments
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
Recommends approval providing the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 66



 

 

 

 

conditions to alleviate environmental concerns.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected and displayed 26.10.2018 - 16.11.2018

Two letters of support were received from residents, summarised as follows:

- Provides more security.
- Improve the existing set up.
- The proposal is in keeping with Attleborough Neighborhood Plan
- The proposals are in keeping with the refurbished existing farmhouse
- Provide the much sought after residential accommodation needed in the area.
- The existing barns and out-buildings are very dilapidated and have become an eye sore and the area
needs to be developed.
- The existing buildings could pose a danger to anyone venturing on site.

One letter received with concerns from existing residents adjacent to the proposed site for the potential for
asbestos and whether this is a cause for concern, particularly since high winds recently caused further
damage to the existing buildings proposed for demolition.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1. Principle of Development

1.1 This application seeks permission for the erection of four dwellings, separate garages and associated
parking and access. The proposed site is located just outside of the Settlement Boundary as designated by
the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this
reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document which seeks to focus new housing within defined
Settlement Boundaries.

1.2  However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as
referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3 The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2018 was confirmed at the Planning
Committee on the 30th July 2018. The five year supply is not being currently met, although the council will
prioritise work on establishing a five year housing land supply target. The emerging new local plan is
currently at examination and when adopted, new policies and allocations will be able to be included within
the five year housing land supply, which will ensure the Council is able to meet this. In these cases the NPPF
makes provision, in principle, for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within
defined Settlement Boundaries. This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including
securing sustainable development, protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4 The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision-takers and is a material

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 67



consideration in the determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development. The
Government outlines three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental
(paragraph 8). These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

- an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that
sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

- a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and
range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a
well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and

- an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.5 Paragraph 9 states that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually
dependent and that the planning system should play an active role in guiding development to sustainable
solutions. A balanced assessment against these roles is, therefore, required.

1.6 In terms of the economic criteria, the proposals would provide four additional dwellings and would
therefore make a limited but positive contribution to the housing supply and longer-term economic benefits
through the additional household spend within the wider area that would be generated.

1.7 The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a
high quality built environment with accessible local services. The site is just outside of the defined settlement
boundary of Attleborough, however, the site is in close proximity of Attleborough (a Market Town), which
does benefit from an extensive provision of services and facilities (public houses, schools, shops, dentist /
doctors surgeries etc) and as such would make a positive contribution in this regard. In addition, the town
benefits from 15 bus and coach services and a train station, all of which link Attleborough to Wymondham,
Norwich, Diss and further afield.  These services and facilities help to reduce the reliance on the private car
in respect of meeting day to day needs.

1.8  The proposal seeks to provide 4 detached dwellings on the application site.  In determining this
application the Officers noted that although outside the defined settlement limit, it's important to note it falls
only just outside the settlement boundary. The proposed development would therefore not result in an
isolated development in the countryside and would be within close proximity to a wide variety and number of
facilities in Attleborough, and would help maintain the viability of the rural community.

1.9  Taking these matters into account, it is concluded that the proposal would be broadly consistent with the
NPPF principle that housing should be located where it will help to maintain or enhance the vitality of existing
communities and that on balance the adverse effects of the additional dwellings would not outweigh its
benefits.

1.10  With respect to environmental aspect of sustainable development further discussion of the
environmental implications and the effects of the proposed additional dwelling on the character and
appearance of the area are considered in detail below.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 68



2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  Both local and national planning policies require careful consideration to be given to the impact of new
development on the character of its surroundings.  Core Strategy Policy CP11 says, amongst other things,
that the countryside will be protected for its intrinsic beauty and rural character, and that the design of new
development should be sympathetic to landscape character, informed by the Council's Landscape Character
Assessment, (LCA).  Core Policy DC02 deals with housing mix and density, whilst Policy DC16 promotes
good design.  The NPPF indicates that planning should contribute to the protection and enhancement of
valued rural landscapes and that the design of new development should respond to local character and use
streetscapes and buildings to create attractive places to live.

2.2  It is noted that a scheme of 4 dwellings in the proposed arrangement would be sympathetic with the
scale and character of the neighbouring farm house and would sit comfortably within the rural street scene.
The plot sizes, design and materials of the proposed dwellings are also considered sympathetic to those
used within the surrounding streetscene. The scale of the proposed dwellings is set to match the scale of  the
neighbouring property, White House Farm House. Given the existing outbuildings are already in a
deteriorating condition, the proposal would be an improvement to the existing arrangement.

2.3  Having regard to the above, the proposal is not considered to cause any significant harm to the
character and appearance of the area and is of a design appropriate for its context, and therefore accords
with the requirements of Core Strategy Policy DC16 as well as paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

3.0  Residential Amenity

3.1  Policy DC01 of the Core Strategy requires that all new development have regard to amenity
considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable effects on the
amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  The proposed scheme as shown on the site plan demonstrates that a development of four dwellings
could be provided whilst retaining adequate separation distances between them and the the adjacent farm
house.

3.3  With regard to the amenity of future occupants it is considered that each dwelling would provide for
adequate light, outlook and private indoor and outdoor amenity space for the future occupants.  The
proposed scheme of 4 dwellings would not cause significant harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents,
in accordance with policy DC01.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient Parking for all new development.

4.2  The application initially proposed four new accesses to serve the development, however, following
concerns from the Highways Officer an amended scheme has been submitted with one access off White
House Lane to all the proposed dwellings and a passing place at the access point. This is considered to
overcome any issues of Highway safety at he access point and although Highways have concerns regarding
the intensification of traffic on this narrow rural lane officers feel the benefits outweigh the negatives in this
case. The final formal comments have not yet been received from the Highways officer, however, a
supplementary report will be completed for the Planning Committee to include their formal comments if they
are material to the determination of the application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 69



5.0  Affordable Housing

5.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (July 2019) (NPPF) sets out new thresholds of when
affordable housing should be sought at pages 64 and 68. The new definition when determining whether
affordable housing would be required as follows:
-          Residential sites of 0.5ha or more; or
-          10 or more dwellings.

5.2 The subject site area measures 0.3ha, therefore, no affordable housing would be required and therefore
complies with the above Policy.

6.0 Trees/hedgerows

6.1 Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

6.2 The Councils Tree officer has advised that the established trees and hedges have been removed prior to
submission therefore there are no objections to the proposal.

7.0 Contamination

7.1 The Contaminated Land Officer confirms based on the information provided at this time, namely the sites
past agricultural use and the proximity of a railway line, that there are no objections subject to the
development proceeding in line with the application details and subject to conditions to alleviate
environmental concerns.

7.2 Therefore, the application is in accordance with policy CP09 on pollution and waste, subject to conditions.

8.0 Flood Risk and Drainage

8.1  Policy DC13 relates to flood risk and paragraph 163 of the NPPF (2019) stipulates that when
determining planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased
elsewhere and development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this
assessment (and the sequential and exception tests, as appropriate) it can be demonstrated that:

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, unless there are
overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;

c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be
inappropriate;

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and

e) safe access an escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed emergency plan.

8.2  The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 and is, therefore, within an area at lowest risk of
flooding from various sources including that from rivers, surface water, tidal, reservoir and canal sources.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 70



8.3 Therefore, the proposals comply with Policy DC13 and paragraph 163 of the NPPF (2019).

9.0 Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036

9.1 The Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan was approved at the referendum in November 2017 and is a
made Neighbourhood Plan.  as such the Neighbourhood Plan should be given significant weight in the
planning balance.

9.2  The proposed site is within the Neighbourhood Plan area.

9.3 The plan sets out their vision and at paragraph 3.3.3 states 'new housing of mixed tenure and type, and
incorporating sustainable design and construction to meet the needs of the community, will be integrated with
new and existing facilities. The town will be supported by sufficient infrastructure improvements, with first
class education, health, social, leisure and community facilities.'

9.5 Two of the core objectives set out in the Plan, C0 05 and C0 06 state  'integrate the new housing with
facilities in the town with the necessary footpath and cycle ways and addressing traffic congestion in the town
centre, and sustainable connections to the rest of the region and to provide housing which meets the needs
of all, with a range of housing including affordable, 'older living' residences and housing types which will
encourage entrepreneurs and professional people to live in the community.'

9.6 Within the plan Policy ESD.P3  says that all new development should seek to be of the highest
sustainable and innovative design quality in terms of both architecture and landscape.

9.7 Whilst the Attleborough NP is a material consideration and is acknowledged, the lack of a five year
supply of housing at district level engages the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development and, as the
Attleborough NP does not specifically allocate housing sites the NPPF guidance is clear that the exemption
to paragraph 11d is not brought in to effect:

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) Paragraph 14:

"In situations where the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of
housing, the adverse impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply
:
a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less
before the date on which the decision is made;
b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified
housing requirement;
c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of deliverable
housing sites (against its five year housing supply requirement, including the
appropriate buffer as set out in paragraph 73); and
d) the local planning authority's housing delivery was at least 45% of that required9
over the previous three years".

9.8 Therefore, the exemption against the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the
footnote to paragraph 11 does not come into the determination and on this occasion when considering the
proposals in this location they are considered, on balance, to be sustainable development which is supported
by the guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 71



 

 

9.0  Planning Balance and Conclusion

9.1 In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme it is considered that the proposals would constitute
a sustainable form of development as defined in the NPPF, which would help to support the local rural
community, would not compromise local amenity, would not adversely impact the character and appearance
of the surrounding area or present any other, significant impact. Additionally, the proposals are considered to
improve the site as the existing buildings are in a poor state of disrepair. The application is therefore
recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning permission subject to conditions:

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (3 years)
The development must be begun not later that the expiration of THREE YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for Condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External wall and roof materials to be agreed
No development beyond slab level shall take place until precise details, (including samples
where required), of the materials used in the construction of the external walls and roof(s) of
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  This condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to
these matters that have been given in the current application.  The materials to be used in
the development shall be in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the colour, tone, texture and appearance of
the materials used to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, as required by
Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Landscaping - details and implementation
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted a scheme of landscaping which
shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the site, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried
out during the planting season November/March immediately following the commencement
of the development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall take account of the Council's leaflet "Tree pack"
(Landscaping advice for applicants).  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five)

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 72



years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of the
same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 12
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Provision of parking and servicing - when shown
on plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access,
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking / manoeuvring area, in the interests of
highway safety.

6 No P.D. rights for garages
Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 1, Classes A and E of Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order
revoking and re-enacting that Order) (with or without modification), express permission will
be required in respect of any garage, car port or similar structure for garaging a motor
vehicle, or for the alteration of an existing garage facility to any other form of
accommodation.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that off-street car parking is retained and in a visually satisfactory manner.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Breckland Adopted Core
Strategy.

7 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision,

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 73



implementation, ownership and maintenance of the foul water drainage shall be submitted
and agreed in writing with the Local Authority. The works/scheme shall be constructed and
completed in accordance with the approved plans/specification at such time(s) as may be
specified in the approved scheme.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Fencing protection for existing trees
Prior to the commencement of any work on the site, all existing trees shall be protected by
the erection of Tree Protection Fencing.   This fencing shall be retained throughout the
period of the development and at all times when works (as defined below) are being carried
out on the site.
For the purposes of this condition "work" shall include the storage of plant, materials, site
huts or the use of any machinery either for preparatory site work or construction itself.
"Trees" shall refer to all trees both on and adjacent to the site.Protective fencing shall be
constructed and maintained in accordance with BS5837:2012 and the Council's document
Practice Note: Construction and Maintenance of Tree Protection Fencing, which is available
to download from the Council's website.
Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009

10 Trees and hedges
No trees on the site shall be lopped, topped, cut down, uprooted, felled, wilfully damaged or
destroyed, without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority for a period of
five years from the first occupation of the development hereby approved.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development having regard to Policy
DC12 of the Core Strategy
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Boundary treatment/screening to be agreed
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted a plan indicating the positions,
design, materials and type of boundary treatment/screening to be erected shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include the access
track to the site. The boundary treatment/screening shall be completed before the building(s)
are first occupied.  Development shall be carried out in its entirety in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

13 Variation of approved plans

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 74



 

Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 75



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0229/F CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: BESTHORPE APPNTYPE: Full
Cherry Tree Barn Norwich Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Besthorpe ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs  Panter
C/O One Planning Ltd

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: One Planning Ltd
Gateway (Unit 3) 83-87 Pottergate

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of two detached three-bedroom dwellings including new vehicular access and
garages

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to the Planning Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Tree implications

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks permission for the erection of two, three bed dwellings on land to the south of Norwich
Road, Besthorpe.  Plot 1 is proposed to have a full road frontage with plot 2 sitting gable end facing the road.
A shared garage is proposed between the dwellings.  Plot 1 is proposed at one and half storeys with plot 2 at
two storeys.  A shared access is proposed leading off Norwich Road.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site currently comprises of 0.09ha of meadowland which is currently well screened from the road by an
established hedge and mature planting.  Cherry House lies to the south-west of the site and the land to the
east has permission for the erection of 6 dwellings.  Opposite lies a Plant Centre, Farm shop and fish farm.
The site lies outside of the Besthorpe Settlement Boundary.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 76

Agenda Item 9e



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2016/0644/F - Two detached houses & double garages - Refused and dismissed at appeal

Adj Site (east)

3PL/2018/1220/VAR - Variation of condition 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7 on 3PL/2017/0002/F - Permission

3PL/2017/0002/F - Residential Development of 6 dwellings together with access road, driveway, parking and
amenity space - Allowed on appeal

3PL/2016/1064/F - Residential Development for 6no. dwellings together with access road, driveway, parking
and amenity space. - Refused

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

BESTHORPE P C
No Objections
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The site is located in a village which is remote from shops, schools, employment and other amenities and it is
considered that any residents would have a high dependency on travelling by car. However in view of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 77



 

 

 

 

previous permissions granted in the vicinity I consider it would be difficult to substantiate a highway objection
on transport sustainability grounds.

The site is located within the 30mph speed restriction and I can confirm that the applicant is able to provide a
level of visibility appropriate to the traffic speed. I can also confirm that the parking provision indicated meets
adopted guidelines.

No objection subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to a condition.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection subject to a condition.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
There are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the
development proceeds in line with the application details.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
We were not consulted on the previous application on this plot (3PL/2016/0644/F which was refused,
appealed, and dismissed). No ecological information has been provided with the current application (or the
previous). I am not sure we can make any comments.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 12-03-2019
Consultations issued: 7th, 8th and 12th March 2019.

No representations received.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle

1.1 The application seeks permission for the erection of two dwellings on land outside of the Besthorpe
settlement boundary.  For this reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus
new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.  However, as the Council cannot currently demonstrate a
5 year supply of housing land, policies in respect of the supply of housing cannot be considered to be up-to-
date and can be given little weight.  The application is therefore assessed against the benefits provided in
relation to the sustainable development tests as set out in the NPPF.

1.2 The NPPF identifies three dimensions of sustainable development:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 78



-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.3 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF also stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because
they are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these three roles is required.

1.5  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide two new dwellings and would
provide some short-term economic benefits through construction, and longer-term economic benefits through
additional household spend within the surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of the
dwellings.

1.6 Socially, the site is situated in very close proximity to the Market Town of Attleborough, approximately 2
miles away, and Besthorpe has many employment opportunities with various businesses in close proximity
and public transport links are available further along Norwich Road to the north-east, linking the village to
Attleborough.

1.7 Additionally, the site immediate adjacent to the site (north-east) was allowed on appeal, the Inspector
concluding that:

"In light of my conclusions about the level of accessibility that the development would have to employment,
shops and other services I find that it would not result in an unsustainable pattern of development and would
cause no material harm in this respect."

1.8  This conclusion was based on the site's proximity to Attleborough, a Market Town, accessible
approximately 2 miles to the south-west of the site.

1.9  In light of these conclusions, and the presence of other residential uses to the south-west, the principle
of residential development in this location has been established.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy CP11 seeks the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty
and benefit to the rural character.  Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic
and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of
individual or groups of natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers,
streams or other topographical features.

2.3  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 79



given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.4  The site is currently laid to grass/meadow land which is bounded by established hedgerows and planting
to the front and side/east boundary.  To the south lies garden sheds and outbuildings which belong to the
adjoining property (Cherry House).  Given the screening and adjoining, associated residential garden use,
the development of the land will not appear as isolated and will not result in an adverse character impact
given the presence of associated, ancillary buildings and the adjacent dwelling known as Cherry House.

2.5  The layout and design of the dwellings is considered appropriate for the site, having regard to the varied
mix of dwellings to the south-west as well as the proposed development to the east and a good degree of
separation exists between the proposed and existing dwellings.  In light of these factors, the proposal is
considered to accord with the environmental role of sustainable development, Policies CP11 and DC16 of
the adopted Core Strategy as well as paragraph 127 of the NPPF (February 2019).

3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  The siting of the dwellings and internal layout has been carefully considered so that first floor side
windows serve non-habitable rooms and the separation distances between the dwellings help to ensure that
overlooking will not be an adverse problem.  Overshadowing will not be a significant issue and the site and
dwellings have been well spaced within the plot, with a good degree of circulation space around each so as
not to appear overbearing.  The small number of dwellings alongside the central access point will also ensure
that noise and disturbance will not be a concern.  In addition, each dwelling has been afforded a generous
private amenity area.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DC1 of the
adopted Local Plan and paragraph 127 (f) of the NPPF (February 2019).

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

4.2  The proposal provides sufficient parking and turning space within the site for the two dwellings.  Norfolk
County Council Highways Department was consulted and advised that the site is located in a village which is
remote from shops, schools, employment and other amenities and it is considered that any residents would
have a high dependency on travelling by car. However, in view of previous permissions granted in the vicinity
it is considered difficult to substantiate a highway objection on transport sustainability grounds.

4.3  The site is located within the 30mph speed restriction and it is confirmed that the applicant is able to
provide a level of visibility appropriate to the traffic speed. It is confirmed that the parking provision indicated
meets adopted guidelines.

4.4  In light of the above, the proposal is considered acceptable in highway safety terms subject to
conditions.

5.0  Tree implications

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 80



 

 

5.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.  None of the
trees on or near to the site are the subject of a TPO and the site is not part of a conservation area.

5.2  The application was accompanied by an Arboricultural Implications Assessment, Tree Protection Plan
and Method Statement as a result of there being several trees and a hedgerow surrounding the site.  No
trees are proposed for removal as a result of the development and the dwellings have been positioned so as
to reduce the impact on two high value oak trees to the front of the site whilst allowing room for growth.

5.3  The Tree and Countryside Officer was consulted and raised no objection subject to operations on site
taking place in accordance with the approved Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan
(TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS.  This can be adequately conditioned and on this basis the
application is considered to have due regard to Policy DC12.

6.0  Conclusion

6.1  When applying the planning balance, it is considered that the proposal would constitute a sustainable
form of development as defined in Paragraph 8 of the NPPF, which would help to support the local rural
community, would not compromise local amenity, would not adversely impact the character and appearance
of the surrounding area or present any other, significant impact.

6.2  In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore the grant of planning permission is recommended.

RECOMMENDATION

That the application be approved subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External wall and roof materials to be agreed
No development beyond slab level shall take place until precise details, (including samples
where required), of the materials used in the construction of the external walls and roof(s) of
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  This condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to
these matters that have been given in the current application.  The materials to be used in
the development shall be in accordance with the approved details.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 81



Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the colour, tone, texture and appearance of
the materials used to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, as required by
Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Landscaping scheme to be submitted - hard and
soft
No development beyond slab level shall take place on site until full details of both hard and
soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved.  These details shall include:
-hard surfacing materials;
-means of enclosure;
Soft landscaping shall include:
-Planting plans;
-Written specifications ( including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and
grass establishment);
-Schedules of planting, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate;
-Implementation programme
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan in
accordance with the highway specification Dwg. No. TRAD 4. Arrangements shall be made
for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not
discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous material or
surface water from or onto the highway.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Means of obstruction - highways
Notwithstanding the provision of Class A of Schedule 2, Part 2 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, (or any Order revoking, amending
or re-enacting that Order) no gates, bollard, chain or other means of obstruction shall be
erected across the approved access unless details have first been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 82



plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay measuring
2.4. x 59. metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the highway
and such splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction
exceeding 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access,
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking / manoeuvring area, in the interests of
highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Tree protection
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS) prepared by C J Yardley February 2019. No other operations shall commence on site
in connection with the development until the tree protection works and any
pre-emptive tree works required by the approved AIA or AMS have been carried out and all
tree protection barriers are in place as indicated on the TPP.

The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition for the duration of
the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or
otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and
surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the local planning
authority has been sought and obtained.
Reason for condition:-
In order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in
accordance with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

10 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 83



 

unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

13 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 84



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0284/F CASE OFFICER Joe Barrow

LOCATION: BRIDGHAM APPNTYPE: Full
Land South of Corner House Chapel
Lane

POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

Bridgham ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Ashley Barham
Abdon House Fen Lane

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Jon Venning
Hardwick House Ipswich Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed Erection of two storey dwelling with detached garage

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to committee as it is contrary to Policy and recommended for approval.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development & previous appeal decision
Character & appearance
Residential amenity
Parking & access

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This proposal is for the erection of a two storey dwelling and detached garage on land south of Corner
House, Chapel Lane, Bridgham. The dwelling's overall height would be 7.7m, with a stepped roof design and
three pitched-roof dormer windows in both the front and rear elevations. The proposed detached garage
would have an overall height of approximately 4.6m, and be sited in the north west corner of the plot.

Planning permission for a one & half storey dwelling was allowed on appeal on 20th June 2018 and still
remains a valid permission.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is sited to the west of Chapel Lane, in between two dwellings, in the parish of Bridgham.
The site falls outside of any settlement boundary as defined by Policy SS1 - Spatial Strategy of the Local
Planning Authority (LPA)'s Adopted Core Strategy.

EIA REQUIRED

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 85

Agenda Item 9f



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2012/0646/O - Erection of one & half storey dwelling - Refused 26/07/2012

3PL/2017/0719/F - Proposed new one and a half storey dwelling - Refused 02/08/2017 - Allowed on appeal
20/06/2018

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

BRIDGHAM P C
No objections.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objections subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No comments.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections subject to conditions.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 86



 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS

1 letter of objection received raising the following main points:
- Increased scale of the dwelling
- Amenity concerns based on proximity to boundary and overdominance.
- Construction traffic harming the road surface of Chapel Lane.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of development

1.1 The site for this proposed new dwelling falls outside of the settlement boundaries as defined by Policy
SS1, and therefore contrary to Policies CP14 and DC2 of the LPA's Adopted Core Strategy.  However,the
principle of residential development on the site has already been established by an appeal allowed under
reference 3PL/2017/0719/F, granted on 20/06/2018. This permission allowed a one and a half storey
dwelling with attached garage. This permission remains extant, and is therefore a significant material
planning consideration in this assessment.

1.2 The Inspector, in allowing the appeal, had regard to the LPA's lack of a five year housing land supply and
the adverse impacts of the development not demonstrably outweighing the benefits of the proposal in
accordance with paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF (2019).

1.3 The principle of residential development is therefore established and the key issues are the difference in
the design of the dwelling compared with the previous allowed appeal. These key differences are:

- Provision of additional accommodation at first floor level, above the previously approved single storey side
element.
- An increase in overall ridge height of the dwelling by approximately 50cm.
- Relocation of the access to the northernmost point of the site.
- Provision of a detached garage rather than an integral one, allowing for more living space at ground floor
level.

2.0 Character & appearance

2.1 The overall main ridge height of the proposed dwelling is approximately 50cm higher than the the 2017
scheme with a single storey attached garage replaced by a subservient two storey element providing living
accommodation. This element sits flush with the main front and rear elevations, as opposed to a small step
in, which was present on garage of the 2017 scheme. As such the proposed ground floor area is
approximately 4 square metres larger than the previous scheme. The siting of the dwelling is the same as the
2017 application.

2.2 The proposal still includes dormer windows at first floor level (six in total) which help to break the massing
of the proposal, and allow the dwelling to provide usable space at first floor level. The new two storey
element to the north is also set down from the ridge of the main dwelling by approximately 50cm, at both
eaves and ridge level.

2.3 The materials proposed include facing brickwork to the walls of the dwelling, and black clay pantiles for

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 87



the roof, with uPVC windows. The garage would be clad with black Hardie Plank cladding. This contrasts with
the 2017 application which included cream render for the external walls, and red pantiles for the roof. In any
case the materials palette is deemed acceptable, and in keeping with the wider area having regard to Policy
DC16 of the LPA's Adopted Core Strategy.

2.4 In streetscene terms, neither the dwelling or the proposed detached garage would read as unduly
prominent within the streetscene, sat further away from the highway than both Corner House to the north,
and Cherry Tree Cottage to the south. The additional 50cm overall roof height, compared with the 2017
scheme, is not considered unduly harmful to the streetscene either.

2.5 Overall, the siting, scale and design of the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of impact on
character & appearance of the area, having regard to Policy DC16 of the LPA's Adopted Core Strategy and
paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0 Residential amenity

3.1 Again comparing with the 2017 scheme, this application maintains three dormer windows at first floor
level in the rear elevation of the proposed dwelling. In the previous scheme these windows served a
bedroom, a bathroom and an en-suite, whereas in this application they serve two separate bedrooms and a
bathroom. It is not considered that the current scheme would result in any greater overlooking  than the
previous scheme.

3.2 There are no windows proposed in the side elevations at first floor level of the proposed dwelling which
directly face the immediate neighbours to the north and south. A new ground floor en-suite window is
proposed in the north elevation, which is not considered to have any significant impact on amenity.

3.3 The height, scale and massing of the proposed dwelling, given the previous approval, are not considered
to result in any significantly greater impact in amenity terms.

3.4 In terms of the proposed detached garage is sited in the north west corner of the plot, with a dual-pitch
roof that slopes away from Corner House to the north. At the scale proposed, the boundary fence would
provide a good level of screening, and the single storey scale, along with the separation distances present, is
not considered to adversely impact the level of amenity for Corner House, or any other nearby property.

3.5 Overall, the siting, scale and design of the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of impact on
residential amenity, having regard to Policy DC1 of the LPA's Adopted Core Strategy.

4.0 Parking & access

4.1 This proposal also involves the repositioning of the access onto Chapel Lane to the northernmost point
along the site's frontage, allowing for increased visibility in the direction of approaching traffic. The previously
approved access was more centrally placed.

4.2 The local highway authority do not object to the revised access plans, subject to conditions, and the
additional parking space, required by the proposed dwelling having four bedrooms, can be accommodated
on site, having regard to Policy DC19 of the LPA's Adopted Core Strategy.

4.3 Overall, based on the adequate parking provision, and the improved access location within the site
frontage, the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of impact on highway safety, having regard to Policy
DC19 of the LPA's Adopted Core Strategy, Norfolk County Council Parking Standards and paragraphs 108 &

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 88



 

 

109 of the NPPF (2019).

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme, and having appropriate regard to the previous,
extant permission, the siting, scale and design of the proposed dwelling and garage are considered
acceptable in terms of  streetscene appearance, residential amenity and highway safety, having regard to the
NPPF (2019), Norfolk County Council Parking Standards, and Policies CP14, DC1, DC2, DC16 & DC19 of
the LPA's Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Document.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission, subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (3 years)
The development must be begun not later that the expiration of THREE YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for Condition:
As required by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

4 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access over
the verge shall be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the highways specification TRAD 5 and
thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan.  Arrangement shall be made
for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not
discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Access gates - restriction

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 89



Notwithstanding the provision of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order (2015), (or any Order revoking, amending or re-enacting that Order) no
gates/bollard/chain/other means of obstruction shall be erected across the approved access
unless details have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.

6 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a 2.4 metre wide parallel
visibility splay (as measured back from the near edge of the adjacent highway carriageway)
shall be provided across the whole of the site's roadside frontage.
The splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding
1.05 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed on-site car
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/ manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety having regard to Policies CP4 and DC19 of the
Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Garage - ancillary only
The garage building hereby approved shall be used for purposes ancillary to the residential
use of the site and shall at no time be used for any commercial or business purposes
whatsoever.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of residential amenity.

9 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 90



Policy CP9 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 No additional windows at first floor
Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A & C of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order
revoking and re-enacting that Order)(with or without modification), there shall be no
additional window or other opening constructed at first floor level or above in the north and
south elevations of the dwelling hereby approved without the prior written permission of the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To help safeguard the privacy and amenity of the occupiers of adjacent properties in
accordance with Policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

11 No PD for classes A B C D & E
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order)
(with or without modification), no extensions, roof alterations, porches or ancillary buildings
as defined within Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of that Order shall be
erected or brought onto the land unless an appropriate planning application is first submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development and/or the amenities of
adjoining residents in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

14 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

15 Inf 2
It is an OFFENCE to carry out any works within the Public Highway, which includes a Public
Right of Way, without the permission of the Highway Authority.  This development involves
work to the public highway that can only be undertaken within the scope of a legal
Agreement between the applicant and the County Council.  Please note that it is the
applicant's responsibility to ensure that, in addition to planning permission, any necessary
Agreements under the Highways Act 1980 are also obtained.  Advice on this matter can be
obtained from the County Council's Highway Development Control Group based at County
Hall in Norwich.  Please contact Graham Worsfold tel 01362 656211.
Public Utility apparatus may be affected by this proposal.  Contact the appropriate utility
service to reach agreement on any necessary alterations, which have to be carried out at the
expense of the developer.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 91



 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 92



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0192/F CASE OFFICER Tom Donnelly

LOCATION: COLKIRK APPNTYPE: Full
Proposed Development Site Jarvis Drive POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Colkirk ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Charlie Haller
Roshpinna Fakenham Road

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Claxton-Hall Architectural Ltd
1 Vine House 3 Oak Street

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of Two Dwellings

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to planning committee as it is contrary to the development plan.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact on character and appearance
Impact on amenities
Impact on trees and landscaping
Impact on parking provision and highway safety

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the erection of 2no. two storey residential properties with a
shared access and parking.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is land to the north of Jarvis Drive in Colkirk. The site sits outside of the Colkirk
settlement boundary but is immediately adjacent. The site has previously had outline approval for two
dwellings granted on it. The site is bounded by other residential development to the east, west and south with
an open field to the north.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 93

Agenda Item 9g



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3PL/2017/0535/O Permission 02-08-17
Formation of 2no. plots for the proposed construction of 2no. dwelling houses

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable

CONSULTATIONS

TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objections subject to conditions
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions
COLKIRK P C
The parish council has no objection to this application provided that condition 5 of outline permission
3PL/2017/0535/O is enforced specifically with the retention of the existing hedgerow that fronts Jarvis Drive

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 94



 

REPRESENTATIONS

13 neighbours were consulted with the 21 days expiring on 01-05-19.
Additionally, a site notice and press notice were posted which expired on 01-04-19 and 01-04-19
respectively.

Two letters of representation were received with the key points raised being that there should be provisions
for swifts nest as part of the proposal. It was also raised that some existing trees are too close to the mains
sewers and should be removed.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  This application seeks planning permission for 2no. two storey residential dwellings. The site lies outside
of any defined Settlement Boundary and therefore the application is contrary to Policies SS1, DC2 and CP14
of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009. However, outline
planning permission has already been allowed for two dwellings under reference 3PL/2017/0535/O and this
permission still remains extant. The principle of residential development on the site has therefore already
been established. This current application seeks full permission for two dwellings.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

1.3  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document relating to housing land supply are not considered up-to-date
and therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragrapgh 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide two residential dwellings for market
sale, which would make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply. The proposal would
provide limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction. However, given the small scale nature of the development these benefits are not considered to
be significant and not definitive in this instance.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 95



1.5 Environmentally, the area is currently an unused paddock surrounded by mature tree planting and
hedges. It is not subject to any nationally recognised landscape or wildlife designations. The site is adjacent
to the existing settlement boundary and within the built up part of the village with existing built form to the
west, east and south.

1.6 Whilst the proposal would involve the development of an existing area of open land, the harm caused to
the rural setting of the village would not be significant and would not outweigh the benefits of the proposal.
The scheme is, therefore, considered to represent sustainable development.

1.7 Footnote 11 of the NPPF confirms that the site should be in a suitable location, available now, and have a
realistic prospect of being developed within five years. The application is in outline form. Normally it is
expected that applications being considered having regard to the five year supply would be full applications
to provide the confidence that the site would be delivered within five years. It is considered appropriate to
impose a two year period for commencement of development in order to reaffirm the deliverability of the
development.

1.8 In regard to whether this is a suitable location, Colkirk is classified as a rural settlement through Policy
SS1 (Spatial Strategy) of the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document. These villages contain limited services and facilities and the spatial strategy states that these
villages are not capable of supporting consequential growth as they rely on higher order settlements for the
majority of these services and facilities.

1.9 The village has a number of amenities comprising the village hall (including pre-school); primary school;
village pub and church. Given there are no shopping facilities in the village it is recognised that the occupants
will have to rely on the private car or public transport in order to undertake shopping trips for their daily and
other needs.

1.10 Whilst this need to travel for some services is recognised, Para 55 of the NPPF states that housing
should be located where it will enhance and maintain the vitality of existing rural communities and help
sustain facilities in the surrounding settlements.

2.0  Amenity Impact

2.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

2.2  Whilst the proposed dwellings are fairly substantial in terms of their scale, they have been positioned
well within the site so that adverse amenity impact, particularly in terms overlooking, loss of light and over
dominance will not be a significant issue. The plots also provide the existing and proposed dwellings with a
good amount of private amenity space for future occupiers.

2.3  Given the size of the proposed dwelling and relationship to the existing dwellings around the site, it is
considered that the proposal accords with Policy DC1 in terms of the impact on neighbour amenity.

3.0  Impact on trees and landscaping

3.1  The impact on trees and landscaping was considered with regard to Policy DC12 and in consultation
with the Tree and Countryside Officer. He has raised no objections to the proposal subject to the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 96



 

 

development being carried in accordance with the submitted AIA, TPP and AMS. It is considered that these
details can be secured by way of condition to ensure that the development does not have an adverse effect
on the existing trees on site.

3.2  In addition to this, additional planting is proposed along the site frontage. The proposed scheme of
additional planting is considered to be appropriate and in keeping with the existing landscaping on the site
and surrounding areas. It is overall considered that the proposal has appropriate regard to the requirements
of Policy DC12 in terms of the impact on trees and the landscape.

4.0  Impact on parking provision and highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

4.2  The highways officer has raised no objections to the proposal subject to conditions relating to  the
creation of the new access, visibility splay and parking provision. Subject to the imposition of these
conditions, it is not considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on highway safety and has
a sufficient level of parking provision to be acceptable in highway safety terms.

5.0  Planning Balance

5.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls out any settlement
boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the NPPF and
this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. There is the
additional material consideration of the previously granted outline approval which has already established the
principle and still remains extant.  On this basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal must
be assessed and are whether the site is a sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the
countryside.

5.2  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 14 of the NPPF, the small negative harm
created by the site's location away from services and facilities for two dwellings, is considered to be
outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and the nature of residential
development in close proximity to the site prevents any harm to the street scene or character and
appearance of the countryside.

5.3  In accordance with paragraph 14 of the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore, approval of planning permission is recommended subject
to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 97



The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

4 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed first submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the highways
specification Trad 4. Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be
intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the
highway.
Reason:
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Non-standard condition
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS) prepared by C J Yardley Rev C 2019.  No tree which has been shown to be retained
shall be removed during construction or following occupation unless written consent is
obtained from the LPA.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the development has appropriate regard to Policy DC12 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009 in terms of
the impact on trees and the landscape.

6 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason:
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 98



 

accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 99



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: Allowed
REF NO: 3OB/2019/0010/OB CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: DEREHAM APPNTYPE: Planning Obligation
Land to the rear of 35-61 Westfield Road POLICY: In Settlemnt Bndry
Dereham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Persimmon Homes Limited
Persimmon House Bankside 100
Peachman Way

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Laura Townes, Persimmon Homes
Limited
Persimmon House Bankside 100
Peachman Way

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Modification of S106 - 3PL/2017/0563/O - Schedule 2: 'Affordable Housing Provision' is the
construction & provision of Affordable Dwellings on the site equating to 40% of the total
number of dwellings (or such other lower percentage as the Council may agree in its absolute
discretion)

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

Variation to a S106 for a major development, as defined by the Council's scheme of delegation.

KEY ISSUES

Whether the variation is acceptable.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Modification of S106 dated 27/10/2017 in connection with planning permission reference: 3PL/2017/0563/O
to reduce affordable housing requirement from 40% to 25%. This would be via amending Schedule 2 of the
S106.

This would be in connection with the development for: "Outline planning application for residential
development up to 100 dwellings including details of access".

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is located within the Dereham Settlement Boundary, approximately 1.8 km to the south of
the town centre in Toftwood.  The site is situated within an area of mixed development, including housing,
commercial and educational uses.  The main body of the site comprises an area of open grassland and
extends to around 3.6 hectares.  The land is bounded to the south and west by housing and to the north and
east by commercial development forming part of the Rash's Green Industrial Estate.  The site is separated

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 100

Agenda Item 9h



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

from the Rash's Green by established trees and hedging; remaining boundaries are mainly delineated by
fencing.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2017/0563/O Permission 15-12-17
Outline planning application for residential development up to 100 dwellings including details of access

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

HOUSING OFFICER
The site already has a Resolution to Grant of 40%, and we believe there is sufficient need within the district
for affordable housing to be met by this.

However should members be minded to resolve to grant at 25% in line with current policies, we would expect
to see a mix of 70/30 in favour of rented, in line with current policies. The intermediate housing should be
provided as shared ownership or shared equity as these are the types which best meet the housing need of
the district.

REPRESENTATIONS

One local representation was received and raised objection due to the rescinding of the original offered and
agreed 40%, and the dishonestly and disadvantage to the public and Council.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 101



 

 

 

 

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Assessment

1.1 The applicant seeks a reduction of affordable housing from 40% to 25% from that agreed under the S106
dated 27/10/2017 in connection with planning permission reference: 3PL/2017/0563/O for up to 100
dwellings. This reduced requirement would be in accordance with emerging Policy HOU 7. Whilst this
emerging Policy is not yet adopted, it has been through Examination in Public, and the 25% requirement has
not been amended as part of the current Main Modifications consultation. Whilst the Council contends that
the emerging Policies have limited weight at this stage, this particular requirement has been underpinned by
Council's Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment, 2017. Furthermore, it is consistent with the NPPF 2019
and has no unresolved objections where paragraph 49 of the NPPF 2019 advised that weight should be
given to the emerging policy.

1.2 The reduction in affordable housing does not affect the overall planning balance and it's acceptability.
Having referred to the committee report for Outline application, this did not state that 40% affordable housing
was essential to making an otherwise unacceptable development acceptable. Furthermore, it notes that the
site was well located in relation to local services and facilities and would be compatible with the established
character of the area. Furthermore, that the prospect of the site coming for employment use was limited.

1.3 Based on the foregoing, with consideration to paragraph 48 of the NPPF 2019, it is considered 25%
affordable housing is acceptable and the modification should be allowed.

RECOMMENDATION

Application for modification of planning obligation should be allowed.

CONDITIONS

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 102



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0371/D CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: FRANSHAM APPNTYPE: Reserved Matters
Land Off Station Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Fransham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: R.W.Duffield Limited
R W Duffield Limited C/O Agent

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Jonathan W Burton
12 Park Road Dereham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Reserved matters for erection of 4 dwellings with associated garages following outline
approval 3PL/2017/0902/O

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the applicant is the Chairman of the Council.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Tree implications

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks approval of the reserved matters following outline permission for the erection of 4no.
dwellings and associated garages which was granted 22nd November 2017.

The application proposes the following:

Plot 1: 4 bed two storey dwelling
Plot 2: 5 bed two stoey dwelling
Plot 3: 5 bed two storey dwelling
Plot 4: 4 bed single storey dwelling

All properties will be served by detached garages.  Garages for plots 1, 2 and 3 will comprise of a three bay
garage/carport and plot 4 by two bay garage.

SITE AND LOCATION

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 103

Agenda Item 9i



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The site is located in a predominantly residential location in the village of Little Fransham. The surrounding
area is particularly dense with residential development, and the proposal would generate a more uniform
settlement pattern by developing the vacant area of grassland, previously utilised for agricultural uses to
which the proposal would be sited. There are a variety of trees and hedges surrounding the proposed site
which would provide an element of screening and privacy in relation to surrounding occupiers.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2017/0902/O - The erection of 4 no. dwellings with associated garages with all matters reserved bar
access - Permission

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
I have considered the application and would not raise any further contaminated land comments based on
both the accuracy of the information provided and the current records of contaminated land issues we hold to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 104



 

 

 

 

date.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection subject to condition.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
I have looked at the application submitted and based on the information provided to me at this time; there are
no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development proceeds
in line with the application details.

FRANSHAM P C No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 18-04-2019
Consultations issued: 12th and 16th April 2019

One representation received asking if the access could be revised.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle

1.1  The application seeks approval for the reserved matters following the grant of outline permission which
included access.  As a result, the principle of residential development in this location has been accepted.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.2  The application proposes four dwellings, all road facing accessed from a long driveway off the main
Station Road.  Plot 4, nearest to Flint Barn is proposed at single storey with all other dwellings comprising of
two storeys.  The dwellings are sizeable however this is consistent with the prevailing character of
development in the area and given the distance from the main public realm their street scene impact will be
minimal.  The design of the dwellings again, have due regard to the existing dwellings in the vicinity.  As a
result of these factors, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DC16 and paragraph 127 of the
NPPF.

3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  The dwellings have been sited within the site so as to provide significant separation distance between

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 105



 

 

existing and proposed dwellings.  The orientation of the site and the dwellings within it will ensure that loss of
light and overshadowing will not be a significant issue and the spacious nature of the development and
distance from the main road will ensure that the development does not appear overbearing.  Each plot has
been provided with a good amount of private rear amenity space.  The distance between the access road
and the side elevations of the nearest adjoining dwellings is also considered sufficient in order that noise and
disturbance is unlikely to be significant, plus access has already been agreed at the outline stage.  As a
result of these factors, the proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy DC1 and paragraph 127 (f) of
the NPPF.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1 Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

4.2  Access was agreed at the time of the Outline permission and the access is therefore submitted as per
the approved plans.  Each plot has sufficient parking and turning is available.  Norfolk County Council
Highways was consulted and advised that the site is served by a private road which will not be considered for
adoption, no objections are raised subject to conditions.

5.0  Tree implications

5.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

5.2 The application was supported by a Tree Protection Plan.  The Tree and Countryside Officer was
consulted and raised no objection subject to a condition.

6.0  Other issues

6.1 The comment raised by a third party in respect of the access were considered however, as stated,access
was agreed at outline stage and the reserved matters has to in line with the approved details.  The access
therefore cannot be amended.

7.0  Conclusion

7.1  In terms of the overall planning balance the application for the approval of the reserved matters is
considered acceptable and in keeping with the character and appearance of existing development in the
area. having regard to Policy DC16 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF ( 2019). No significant adverse amenity
issues will arise as a result of the proposal and highway safety will also be largely unaffected.  The
application is recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission  subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Reserved Matters - time limit
This approval is granted following the grant of Outline Planning Permission reference

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 106



3PL/2017/0902/O dated 22nd November 2017. The timescales for implementation of the
development are set out at condition 1 of the Outline Planning Permission.
Reason for condition:-
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development accords with conditions
attached to the outline planning permission for the proposal, including time limits specified
for commencement, resulting in appropriate development of the site.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

4 Standard estate road conditions
No dwelling shall be occupied until details of the proposed arrangements for future
management and maintenance of the proposed private access within the development have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The streets shall
thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved management and maintenance
details.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure safe, suitable and satisfactory development of the site and to ensure the private
roads are managed and maintained thereafter to a suitable standard
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access,
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development .
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Tree protection fencing
No operations shall commence on site in connection with the development until all tree
protection barriers are in place as indicated on the submitted TPP.  Works shall not
commence until it is confirmed that fencing is in place as specified.
The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition for the duration of
the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or
otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and
surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the local planning
authority has been sought and obtained.
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 107



 

The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of work on the site in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

7 Implementation of submitted boundary treatment
The boundary treatment shown on the plans and particulars hereby approved shall be
constructed in the manner shown and completed before the building(s) are first occupied.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy
DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 108



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0428/O CASE OFFICER Tom Donnelly

LOCATION: GARBOLDISHAM APPNTYPE: Outline
The Grange The Street POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Garboldisham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mrs K Colborn
The Grange, The Street Garboldisham

LB GRADE: Adjacent Grade 2

AGENT: Locus Planning Ltd
11 Charing Cross Norwich

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of Four Dwellings and Creation of New Vehicular Access (Re-submission of
Previously Approved Development - 3PL/2016/0818/O)

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to planning committee as it is contrary to the development plan.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development/ Previous appeal
Impact on character and appearance
Impact on amenities
Impact on character and setting of adjacent Listed Building
Impact on parking provision and highway safety

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The proposal seeks outline planning permission for the erection of 4 residential dwellings and the creation of
a new vehicular access. The proposal is a re-submission of a previous application (3PL/2016/0818/O) which
was initially refused but allowed at appeal on 17th August 2017 and still remains extant. All matters are
reserved apart from access which forms part of the outline application, although an indicative layout is
indicated showing the siting of 4 dwellings.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is located outside but adjacent to the Settlement Boundary for Garboldisham and is
currently a grassed area with mature trees and vegetation to the boundaries. The site is bounded to the north
by Chapel Close, to the west by residential dwellings and to the south and east by agricultural land.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 109

Agenda Item 9j



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2016/0818/0-  Outline application for the erection of 4 dwellings- Allowed on appeal 17th August 2017

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.19 Parking Provision
LBC Planning(Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection in principle. Updated tree survey and tree protection plan required if layout is amended at
reserved matters stage.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 110



 

 

 

 

GARBOLDISHAM P C No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

12 neighbours were consulted with the 21 days expiring on 12-05-19.
A site notice and press notice were posted which expired on 18-05-19 and 21-05-19 respectively.

1 letter of objection was received with the key points raised being:

- The traffic movements that would occur as a result of the development
- The amenity impact during the course of the development.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  This application seeks outline planning permission for 4no. residential dwellings. The site lies outside of
any defined Settlement Boundary and therefore the application is contrary to Policies SS1, DC2 and CP14 of
the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009. However, outline
planning permission has already been allowed on appeal for 4 dwellings on 17th August 2017 and this
permission still remains extant. The principle of development has therefore been established.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

1.3  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document relating to housing land supply are not considered up-to-date
and therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragrapgh 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide four residential dwellings for market

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 111



sale, which would make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply. The proposal would
provide limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction. However, given the small scale nature of the development these benefits are not considered to
be significant and not definitive in this instance.

1.5  Garboldisham is identified as a rural settlement within Policy SS1 of the Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document Adopted 2009. This states that nominal housing growth will be
provided where local capacity allows. Policy CP14 of the DPD states that the type and scale of development
will reflect the need to maintain the viability of these communities. The relevant criterion in relation to housing
identifies that residential development will only be permitted where there are suitable sites available inside
the limits of a defined settlement boundary.

1.6  In allowing the appeal the inspector found that there was no harm in terms of its relationship to the main
built up area of the village. The inspector determined that the application site was sustainable and, given the
previously allowed proposal which still remains a valid permission, the principle of development is considered
to be acceptable.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute towards protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a proposals impact on the character
and appearance of the area within which it is situated is therefore, integral to the environmental dimension of
sustainable development, as is design. Core Strategy Policy CP11 says, amongst other things, that the
countryside will be protected for its intrinsic beauty and rural character and that the design of new
development should be sympathetic to landscape character, informed by the Council's Landscape Character
Assessment (LCA).

2.2  The site lies outside of any defined Settlement Boundary but is immediately adjacent to the settlement
boundary. Additionally, the site is adjacent to a considerable level of other residential development  and the
proposal would therefore the proposal would not appear at odds with the prevailing character and
appearance of the area.

2.3  It is considered that the erection of a dwelling on the site would not result in a form of development out of
keeping with the existing pattern of development and is therefore considered to accord with Policies CP11,
DC1, DC16 and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0  Amenity Impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  Whilst the currently provided block plan is only indicative, it demonstrates that the site can comfortably
accommodate 4 dwellings whilst retaining a good degree of amenity provision for both the existing and
proposed dwellings.

3.3  Given the modest size and scale of the proposed dwelling and the relationship to the existing dwellings
around the site, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy DC1 in terms of the impact on
neighbour amenity.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 112



 

 

4.0  Impact on character and setting of adjacent Listed Building

4.1  Any decisions relating to listed buildings and their settings and conservation areas must address the
statutory considerations of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (see in
particular sections 16, 66 and 72) as well as satisfying the relevant policies within the National Planning
Policy Framework and the development plan.  National policy states that when considering the impact of a
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to
the asset's conservation.  Core Strategy Policy DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and
enhances the character, appearance and setting of conservation areas and listed buildings.

4.2  The Historic Buildings Officer has raised no objections to the proposal. It is not considered that the
proposal would have a significant impact on the character and setting of the adjacent Listed Building.

4.3  Overall, the proposal is considered to satisfy the requirements of Policy DC17 and Section 66 of the
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 in terms of the impact on the character and
setting of the adjacent Listed Building given that the proposal is considered to preserve these aspects.

5.0  Impact on parking provision and highway safety

5.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

5.2  The highways officer has raised no objections to the proposal subject to conditions relating to  the
creation of the new access, visibility splay and parking provision. Subject to the imposition of these
conditions, it is not considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on highway safety and has
a sufficient level of parking provision to be acceptable in highway safety terms.

6.0  Planning Balance

6.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls out any settlement
boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the NPPF and
this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. There is the
additional material consideration of the previously granted outline approval which has already established the
principle and remains a valid consent.  On this basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal
must be assessed and are whether the site is a sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the
countryside.

6.2  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 14 of the NPPF, the small negative harm
created by the site's location away from services and facilities for a single dwelling, is considered to be
outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and the nature of residential
development in close proximity to the site prevents any harm to the street scene or character and
appearance of the countryside.

6.3  In accordance with paragraph 14 of the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore, approval of planning permission is recommended subject
to conditions.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 113



CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

4 Desk study/ site investigation
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development
hereby approved:
A.  Desk Study
A desk study and risk assessment to determine the risk of any contamination on the site,
whether or not it originates on the site.  The desk study and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced.
The report of the findings must include an assessment of the potential risks to human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
B.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include (i) the same details as in part A
above (ii) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and (iii) an appraisal of
remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
C.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 114



contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
D Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be undertaken in accordance with Defra and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP 9 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Control Document 2009 and Planning Policy
Statement No 23.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority and where it lies within the highway boundary in accordance with the
highways specification TRAD 1 and thereafter retained at the position shown on the
approved plan. Arrangement shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and
disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 NOTE NCC Inf 2 When Vehicular access works
required
This development involves works within the public highway that can only be carried out by
Norfolk County Council as Highway Authority unless otherwise agreed in writing.
It is an OFFENCE to carry out any works within the Public Highway, which includes a Public
Right of Way, without the permission of the Highway Authority. Please note that it is the
Applicants' responsibility to ensure that, in addition to planning permission, any necessary
consents or approvals under the Highways Act 1980 and the New Roads and Street Works
Act 1991 are also obtained from the County Council. Advice on this matter can be obtained
from the County Council's Highway Development Management Group.
Please contact Kay Gordon 01362 656211.
If required, street furniture will need to be repositioned at the Applicants own expense.
Public Utility apparatus may be affected by this proposal. Contact the appropriate utility
service to reach agreement on any necessary alterations, which have to be carried out at the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 115



 

expense of the developer.
Please be aware it is the applicants responsibility to clarify the boundary with the public
highway. Private structures such as fences or walls will not be permitted on highway land.
The highway boundary may not match the applicants title plan. Please contact the highway
research team at highway.boundaries@norfolk.gov.uk for further details.

7 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 116



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0019/O CASE OFFICER Naomi Minto

LOCATION: GARVESTONE APPNTYPE: Outline
Thorncroft Clematis Nursery The Lings POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Garvestone ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs J Gooch
Netherley, The Lings Garvestone

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parsons + Whittley Ltd
1 London Street Swaffham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed Self-Build Residential Development (3 Dwellings)

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to Planning Committee at the request of the Ward Member and because it is a
departure from the adopted development plan and recommended for approval.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of development
- Impact upon highway safety
- Impact upon amenity
- Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks Outline planning permission for the construction of three self build dwellings.
Indicative plans submitted in support of the application indicate that the dwellings would be detached with
double garages and parking provision and served by the existing access off the B1135.  Only access is being
sought at Outline stage, with all other matters reserved.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is located outside of any defined Settlement Boundary.  The site is bounded to the north
by the B1135 highway, to the east and west by existing residential dwellings and to the south by agricultural
land.  In the past the site has been used as a nursery.  However, the business is no longer operational.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 117

Agenda Item 9k



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.06 Green Infrastructure
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
DC.20 Conversion of buildings in the countryside
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

GARVESTONE P C

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 118



 

 

 

 

No objection, subject to conditions.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection, subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection, subject to conditions.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection, subject to conditions.

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice was erected on 24 January 2019 and five neighbours consulted.  Four letters of representation
were received, one in support of the proposal, one objection and two letters providing comments.  The main
points raised are;

Comments
- Pleased that existing access point is proposed to be retained;
- The bus services mentioned within the supporting material is very restricted (one service, three days per
week).  No bus stop near site and no pavement to the nearest bus stop in Hardingham;
- Pleased that trees on site are to be retained;
- Land which was originally agricultural is likely to be lost to residential development now.
- Careful consideration should be given to foul and surface water drainage with any future application.
- Numerous priority and protected species have been recorded adjacent to the site.  Increased light pollution
from additional properties would have a detrimental effect on wildlife and neighbouring dwellings and should
therefore be minimised.
- If permitted, construction vehicles should park on site during works.
- Would like to see speed reduced to 40mph.

Support
- Proposal will contribute towards 5 year housing land supply shortfall in the District.

Objection
- Not in settlement boundary;
- Increased traffic on busy highway - detrimental to highway safety;
- Sets a precedent for residential development on nursery land;
- Concerns in respect of overlooking and loss of privacy.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  This application seeks Outline planning permission for the construction of three self build detached
dwellings with details of access only and all other matters reserved, on land at The Lings, Garvestone.  The

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 119



site is located outside of any defined Settlement Boundary and is therefore contrary to Policies SS1, DC2,
CP1 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy.

1.2  However, the district cannot currently demonstrate a five year housing land supply.  Paragraph 11(d) of
the NPPF (2019) states that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted.  This
includes applications involving the provision of housing, where the Local Planning Authority cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. Planning permission should not be granted
where policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed.  In addition, planning permission should not be granted where any
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed
against the NPPF as a whole.

1.3  The NPPF constitutes guidance for LPAs and decision takers and is a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development.  The government outlines three
objectives to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental (paragraph 8).  Paragraph 9
states that these objectives should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of plans and the
application of the policies in the NPPF.  Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to
reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area.

1.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposed dwellings would provide three additional
houses and would therefore make a positive, albeit small contribution to the housing supply.  Annex 2:
Glossary of the NPPF (2019) states that for sites which do not involve major development and have planning
permission, and all sites with detailed planning permission, should be considered deliverable until permission
expires, unless there is clear evidence that homes will not be delivered within five years.  If permission was
granted it can therefore be assumed to be deliverable within 5 years and contribute to the council's housing
land supply.

1.5  The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a
high quality built environment with accessible local services.  Policy SS1 of the adopted Core Strategy
describes seven types of place and their potential to accommodate new development.  The application site is
remote from services and facilities to meet day-to-day requirements.  The nearest settlement is at
Garvestone (approximately 1 mile north west of the site), which is a rural settlement for the purposes of the
policy, and has only nominal allocated housing growth due to its minimal local services.  The site is not
located within a defined settlement boundary and is therefore in the countryside.

1.6  Garvestone has some services and facilities available, including a bus stop (offering a limited service),
church, village hall, play area and primary school.  The next nearest settlements are Hingham (approximately
3.6 miles away), Mattishall (approximately 4.5 miles away) and Dereham (approximately 5.2 miles away).
These settlements provide additional facilities including, education, employment, leisure and healthcare
services.  However, given the distances to these villages and town, along predominantly unpaved and unlit
highway with varying speed limits, the development will give rise to the need to travel by private car, which is
a negative of the scheme.

1.7  Paragraph 78 of the revised NPPF encourages housing in rural areas where it will enhance or maintain
the vitality of rural communities, for example, development in one village may support the services of a
nearby village.  As discussed above, these villages/town have a wider range of services and facilities and
would require relatively short car trips to access.  Furthermore, the NPPF aims to avoid isolated homes in the
countryside and recognises that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary from

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 120



urban to rural areas.  Whilst it is acknowledged that future residents would likely rely on the use of private car
for their daily needs, it is considered that the proposal would not result in isolated new homes.  The proposal
would represent infill on a brownfield site and would provide potential for future occupants to support services
and facilities in nearby villages, therefore enabling rural communities to prosper.

1.8  In terms of the environmental objective, the site is located outside of any defined settlement boundary on
a plot of previously development land with residential neighbours on either side.  It is considered that the site
represents an infill plot and if developed sensitively would not appear out of character with the area, having
regard to Policy CP11 of the adopted Core Strategy.

1.9  The development would involve the loss of an employment / commercial site outside of a protected area.
There are no adopted policies which seek to prevent this, but it is a material consideration.  The site is
relatively small for the type of operation and ceased to operate as a nursery in January 2017, over two years
ago.  Other new uses such as general industrial would not be acceptable due to existing residential
neighbours.  It is considered it's loss is acceptable on this basis.

1.10  Due to the sites previous use, it is considered to be previously developed land / brownfield land and
paragraph 121 of the NPPF advises that Local planning authorities should also take a positive approach to
applications for alternative uses of land, which is currently developed but not allocated for a specific purpose
in plans, where this would help to meet identified development needs.  This site is previously developed, not
covered by any land designation and there is a housing need in the district, therefore it is supported by
paragraph 121 of the NPPF (2019).

2.0  Impact upon highway safety

2.1  Norfolk County Council Highways advised that the site is located remotely from services and amenities,
which residents would require on a daily basis and therefore the occupants of the proposed dwellings would
have a high dependency on travelling by car.  The site has an existing retail use, which is open to the public
and therefore capable of generating both commercial and domestic traffic.  On that basis, the Highway
Authority consider that it would be difficult to raise an objection on highway safety grounds.

2.2  The Highway Authority acknowledged that the application is submitted in Outline only, with details of
access included for consideration as part of this proposal.  They advised that any future reserved matters
application will need to include a communal size 3 turning head (to prevent delivery vehicles waiting in the
highway) and parking in accordance with the adopted guidelines.  In addition, they recommend that details of
contractor parking and measures to prevent mud and surface water being carried out onto the highway will
also need to be submitted for approval.  On this basis, no objection was raised subject to the inclusion of
conditions.

3.0  Impact upon amenity

3.1  Policy DC1 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to protect residential amenity.  It states that all new
development must have regard to amenity considerations.  Development will not be permitted where there
are unacceptable effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  The application is supported by an indicative plan which shows that three dwellings could fit on site with
sufficient external amenity space, parking provision and vehicle turning.  Concern has been raised in respect
of loss of privacy, however, the units can be orientated to prevent unacceptable levels of overlooking.

3.3  This is an Outline application, with details of access only for consideration.  If the application is

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 121



approved, details relating to the actual design of the dwellings and boundary treatment would be dealt with at
reserved matters stage.  Further consideration would be given at that stage in relation to protecting the
amenity of existing residents and future occupants of the dwellings.  The proposal is therefore considered to
comply with the requirements of Policy DC1 of the adopted Core Strategy.

4.0  Other matters

4.1  Policy CP9 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to ensure that development minimises any unavoidable
polluting effects and the development's design should actively seek to minimise or mitigate against all forms
of pollution.  The Contaminated Land Officer raised no objection to the proposal, subject to the inclusion of a
pre-commencement condition relating to ground gas site investigation / protection measures and two
informative notes relating to extensions and guidance on gas protection measures.  The proposal is therefore
considered to be in accordance with Policy CP9.

4.2  The Tree and Countryside Officer raised no objection to the proposal.  The application is therefore
considered to accord with Policy DC12 of the adopted Core Strategy, which seeks to protect trees,
hedgerows and other natural features.

4.3  The Natural Environment Team raised no objection to the proposal, subject to the inclusion of a
condition relating to development proceeding in line with the mitigation and enhancement measures outlined
in paragraphs 8.4 - 8.40 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Greenlight Environmental Consultancy
Limited, dated April 2019).  The application is therefore compliant with the requirements of Policy CP10 of the
adopted Core Strategy, which seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.

4.4  Under paragraph 61 of the NPPF (2019) this requires Councils to plan for people wishing to build their
own homes. This can be a material planning consideration for this application as self-build has been
identified as the method of delivering the site.  Whilst an indication of self-build has been given by the
applicant it should also be noted that at this stage it cannot be certain that the method of delivering this site
will be self-build.  The only way to secure this would be via a section 106 agreement, this has not been
volunteered by the applicant.  In the instance of this application, the other material planning considerations
detailed above are of greater significance and only limited weight is given to this part of the proposal due to
the absence of a means of securing the site as self-build.

5.0  Conclusion

5.1 In consideration of the overall planning balance of the scheme, whilst it is acknowledged that the
application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any settlement
boundary and is not in a sustainable location, the proposal would result in the re-development of a brownfield
site and would contribute to the Council's lack of a five year housing land supply.  In addition, it is considered
to be infill development, with neighbouring residential dwellings on either side.  Furthermore, the impact on
the character and appearance of the countryside has been found to be acceptable.

5.2  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019), the moderate harm
created by the site's location away from a wide variety of services and facilities for three dwellings would not
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore, grant of Outline planning permission
subject to conditions, is recommended.

5.3  To secure the properties as self build, a legal agreement would be required.  The NPPF advises that
planning obligations should only be required where they are necessary to make the development acceptable.
On this occasion, it is not considered to be necessary and therefore, if approved as recommended, it would

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 122



 

 

not need to be self-build units.

RECOMMENDATION

Approval subject to conditions with no requirement for self-build.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of all Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration
of TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

4 Non-standard condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular and
pedestrian access shall be constructed to a minimum width of 4.8m for its first 10 metres as
measured from the nearside carriageway edge,and shall additionally be constructed
perpendicular to the highway over this length, in accordance with a detailed scheme to be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority and thereafter retained at the position
shown on the approved plan. Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be
intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the
highway.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.

5 Non-standard condition
There shall be no direct pedestrian access to the dwellings from or onto B1135 The Lings.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety and traffic movement.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 123



6 Ground Gas Protection Measures
The development shall include ground gas protection measures, or a site investigation may
be undertaken to provide site specific assessment which would need to be acted on
accordingly. The Local Planning Authority shall approve the proposals in either case before
development on the site commences. The scheme shall be constructed and completed in
accordance with the approved specification at such times as may be specified in the
approved scheme.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure a safe development.

Informative: The developer is referred to the BRE report 414, CIRIA 665 / C149 or similar for
guidance on gas protection measures, or CLR11 or similar for guidance on site investigation.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Full details of external lighting
No external lighting shall be installed without prior written approval from the Local Planning
Authority. Only such approved lighting shall be installed.  Such lighting shall be kept to a
minimum for the purposes of security and site safety, and shall prevent illumination of
mature trees and boundary hedges, and shall be:

1) fully shielded (enclosed in full cut-off flat glass fitments)
2) directed downwards (mounted horizontally to the ground and not tilted upwards)
3) be sensor operated
4) white light low-energy lamps (LED, metal halide or fluorescent) and not orange or pink
sodium sources

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of amenity and reduce disruption to commuting/ foraging bats and  to limit
light pollution, having regard to paragraph 180 of the NPPF (2019).
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Non-standard condition
The proposed development must proceed in-line with the mitigation and enhancement
measures outlined in paragraphs 8.4 - 8.40 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Greenlight Environmental Consultancy Limited; dated April 2019).  The enhancement
measures outlined in paragraphs 8.4 - 8.40 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Greenlight Environmental Consultancy Limited; April 2019) shall be incorporated into the
site's design.
Reason:- In accordance with Policy CP10 of the adopted Core Strategy.

10 Any drainage conditions
No development above slab level nor construction of any drains will take place until a
surface water drainage scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme.

Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to works above ground level to prevent flooding by ensuring the
satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from the site for the lifetime of the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 124



 

development and to protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters from potential
pollutants associated with current and previous land uses in line with National Planning
Policy Framework (2019) and Environment Agency Groundwater Protection: Principles and
Practice.

11 Non-standard drainage condition
Prior to any development commencing above ground level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved details shall be implemented prior to first occupation.

Reason for condition:-
Details are required at an early stage in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 125



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0245/F CASE OFFICER Tom Donnelly

LOCATION: GRISTON APPNTYPE: Full
Caston Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Griston ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: RSLC Developments Ltd
Woodland House Norwich Road

LB GRADE: Adjacent Grade 1

AGENT: NKF Planning Consultancy Limited
34 Queen Elizabeth Avenue Gaywood

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed New Detached Bungalow and Garage

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to planning committee as it is contrary to the development plan.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact on character and appearance
Impact on amenities
Impact on ecology
Impact on character and setting of adjacent Grade I Listed Building
Impact on parking provision and highway safety

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The proposal seeks the erection of a detached bungalow and garage on a site at Caston Road in Griston.
The proposed palette of materials are red brick and black stained cladding on the walls, clay pantiles on the
roof with grey fenestration.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is land at Caston Road in Griston. The site is adjacent other residential properties and a
Grade I Listed Church. The land at the front of the site already benefits from planning permission for 2
dwellings that are currently under construction.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 126

Agenda Item 9l



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2016/0050/F Permission 02-08-16
Erection of 2 dwellings with garages, access drive and external works

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.19 Parking Provision
LBC Planning(Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable

CONSULTATIONS

GRISTON P C
Potential over development of this site. The provision of two garages for a four bedroom property, raises
concerns that there is a potential for parking issues.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions
HISTORIC ENGLAND
No objection

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 127



 

 

 

 

HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
Due to the time that has elapsed, the previous ecology survey is considered out of date. This information
should be updated and re-submitted.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection following revisions

REPRESENTATIONS

3 neighbours were consulted with the 21 days expiring on 02-05-19.
Additionally, a site notice and press notice were posted which expired on 20-04-19 and 29-04-19
respectively.

No responses were received.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  This application seeks planning permission for a single storey residential dwelling. The site lies outside
of any defined Settlement Boundary and therefore the application is contrary to Policies SS1, DC2 and CP14
of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009. The principle of
the proposal is therefore not accepted.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

1.3  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document relating to housing land supply are not considered up-to-date
and therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragrapgh 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 128



future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide one residential dwelling for market
sale, which would make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply. The proposal would
provide limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction. However, given the small scale nature of the development these benefits are not considered to
be significant and not definitive in this instance.

1.5  Griston is classified as a rural settlement through Policy SS1, (Spatial Strategy), of the adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document.  The spatial strategy states that
these villages are not capable of supporting consequential growth as they rely on higher order settlements
for the majority of these services and facilities.  However, Griston is served by a choice of local primary
schools, an established industrial and business park and is relatively close to the town of Watton.  There is
also a 10-15 minute traffic free Sustrans cycle and walking route directly to Watton.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute towards protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a proposals impact on the character
and appearance of the area within which it is situated is therefore, integral to the environmental dimension of
sustainable development, as is design. Core Strategy Policy CP11 says, amongst other things, that the
countryside will be protected for its intrinsic beauty and rural character and that the design of new
development should be sympathetic to landscape character, informed by the Council's Landscape Character
Assessment (LCA).

2.2  The site lies outside of any defined Settlement Boundary and it currently has two dwellings under
construction on the land immediately adjacent the highway. Given that the site is already subject to the
construction of residential dwellings, it is not considered that the proposal would appear at odds with the
existing character of the area.

2.3  Development within the vicinity of the site consists of existing residential development of a modest size
and scale. Again, the proposal is considered to be in keeping with the character and appearance of the
dwelling on this basis.

2.4  It is considered that the erection of a dwelling on the site would not result in a form of development out of
keeping with the existing pattern of development and is therefore considered to accord with Policies CP11,
DC1, DC16 and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  The dwelling proposed are modest in terms of their scale and have been positioned well within the site
so that adverse amenity impact, particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of light and over dominance will not

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 129



be a significant issue.  The plot also provide the existing and proposed dwellings with a good amount of
private amenity space for future occupiers.

3.3  Given the modest size and scale of the proposed dwelling and the relationship to the existing dwellings
around the site, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy DC1 in terms of the impact on
neighbour amenity.

4.0  Impact on Ecology

4.1  The ecological impact of the proposal was considered in consultation with the ecologist at Norfolk
County Council. In their initial comment, they stated that due to the time that had elapsed since the original
Ecology Survey had been written, its contents could no longer be considered as valid. They therefore
requested that the survey be updated and re-submitted to confirm whether circumstances on site had
changed since the original survey was written.

4.2  The ecologist has confirmed that, subject to the original survey and suggested mitigation measures still
being accurate, that they would have no objections to the scheme. On this basis, it is considered that the
scheme is likely to be acceptable in ecology terms, but this will be dealt with further by way of a
supplementary report prior to the committee meeting.

5.0  Impact on character and setting of adjacent Listed Building

5.1  Any decisions relating to listed buildings and their settings and conservation areas must address the
statutory considerations of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (see in
particular sections 16, 66 and 72) as well as satisfying the relevant policies within the National Planning
Policy Framework and the development plan.  National policy states that when considering the impact of a
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to
the asset's conservation.  Core Strategy Policy DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and
enhances the character, appearance and setting of conservation areas and listed buildings.

5.2  Both the Historic Buildings Officer and Historic England were consulted on the proposal and raised no
objections. Given that the proposed dwelling is of a modest size and scale, being single storey in nature, it is
not considered that the proposal would have a significant impact on the significance or setting of the adjacent
Grade I Listed Church.

5.3  It is considered that the previous permission for two dwellings at the front of the site has set the
precedent for residential development on this site in terms of the impact on the Listed Building. Given the low
height of the proposed dwelling and that it is set behind the already approved dwellings, it is not considered
that the views of the Listed Building would be detrimentally impacted by the proposal.

5.4  Overall, the proposal is considered to satisfy the requirements of Policy DC17 and Section 66 of the
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 in terms of the impact on the character and
setting of the adjacent Listed Building given that the proposal is considered to preserve these aspects.

6.0  Impact on parking provision and highway safety

6.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

6.2  The highways officer has raised no objections to the proposal subject to conditions relating to  the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 130



 

 

creation of the new access, visibility splay and parking provision. Subject to the imposition of these
conditions, it is not considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on highway safety and has
a sufficient level of parking provision to be acceptable in highway safety terms.

7.0  Planning Balance

7.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls out any settlement
boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the NPPF and
this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. There is the
additional material consideration of the previously granted outline approval which has already established the
principle.  On this basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and are
whether the site is a sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the countryside.

7.2  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 14 of the NPPF, the small negative harm
created by the site's location away from services and facilities for a single dwelling, is considered to be
outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and the nature of residential
development in close proximity to the site prevents any harm to the street scene or character and
appearance of the countryside.

7.3  In accordance with paragraph 14 of the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore, approval of planning permission is recommended subject
to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

4 Existing access - widened or improved
Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted the vehicular access indicated for
improvement on Drawing No.15_021122 B shall be upgraded/widened in accordance with

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 131



the Norfolk County Council residential access construction specification Trad 5 where it
crosses the highway verge and thereafter in accordance with details to be agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to
be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the
highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and traffic
movement.

5 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay
measuring 2.4 metres x 43 metres shall be provided to each the east of the access where it
meets the highway.The splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any
obstruction exceeding 1.05 metres above the level of the adjacent highway
carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/ manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 NOTE NCC Inf 2 When Vehicular access works
required
This development involves works within the public highway that can only be carried out by
Norfolk County Council as Highway Authority unless otherwise agreed in writing.
It is an OFFENCE to carry out any works within the Public Highway, which includes a Public
Right of Way, without the permission of the Highway Authority. Please note that it is the
Applicants' responsibility to ensure that, in addition to planning permission, any necessary
consents or approvals under the Highways Act 1980 and the New Roads and Street Works
Act 1991 are also obtained from the County Council. Advice on this matter can be obtained
from the County Council's Highway Development Management Group.
Please contact Kay Gordon 01362 656211.
If required, street furniture will need to be repositioned at the Applicants own expense.
Public Utility apparatus may be affected by this proposal. Contact the appropriate utility
service to reach agreement on any necessary alterations, which have to be carried out at the
expense of the developer.
Please be aware it is the applicants responsibility to clarify the boundary with the public
highway. Private structures such as fences or walls will not be permitted on highway land.
The highway boundary may not match the applicants title plan. Please contact the highway
research team at highway.boundaries@norfolk.gov.uk for further details.

8 Variation of approved plans

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 132



 

Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 133



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0114/F CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: LITTLE DUNHAM APPNTYPE: Full
Land adjacent Westcliffe House POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Barrows Hole Lane, Little Dunham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr  Kilvert
c/o Agent

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: David Futter
Arkitech House 35 Whiffler Road
Norwich

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Construction of 5 dwellings with associated access drive, parking and amenity space

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

Application is outside any settlement boundary and is contrary to policy, however the application has been
'called-in' to Committee by a Councillor.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact upon character and appearance of area
Impact on amenity
Impact upon Highway safety
Impact upon hedgerow
Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The proposal seeks full permission the construction of 5 dwellings with associated access, amenity space,
parking and garaging.

A layout plan showing how the development shall be arranged within the plot along with details of house
types has been submitted.

Access to the dwellings shall be via Barrows Hole Lane, Little Dunham with on-site parking is proposed
within the detail.

The site is outside of the defined settlement boundary, where there are limited services and facilities within
the immediate locality.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 134

Agenda Item 9m



 

 

 

 

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is currently an agricultural field located at the edge of Little Dunham. Little Dunham is a
small village with a generally flat landscape and surrounding agricultural fields, small woodland areas and
hedgerows.

The site is bounded by hedging which the Tree and Countryside officer has commented upon.

There are a variety of styles and sizes of dwellings in this area of the village and some recent development
has been permitted in Little Dunham on the western side of Barrow Holes Lane.

The plot itself can be described as an agricultural field that falls outside of the settlement boundary and is
considered to be part of the open countryside.  The plot is stated as being 0.76 hectares and therefore
affordable housing provision is also be required.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

Refusal of planning permission under reference 3PL/2015/0894/F.

Appeal dismissed under reference APP/F2605/W/16/3144628

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 135



 

 

 

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Affordable Housing

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The site is located in a village with few services and amenities and any residents of the development will
have a high dependency on travelling by car to access these on a daily basis. You will be aware that this
Authority has, in the past, raised concerns regarding the suitability of Barrows Hole Lane to cater for
additional development based on the restricted width and substandard alignment of its carriageway. However
development was permitted to the south east of this site, by your Authority,on the basis that localised
widening formed part of the submissions and that visibility at the junction of Necton Road and Barrows Hole
Lane was to be improved. The latter of which assisted in outweighing my concerns concerning transport
accessibility. The submitted proposal includes localised widening along the site frontage which will be of
benefit to the wider community. This will ,however, involve the alterations to the existing ditch system which
would need to receive the approval of the Lead Local Flood Authority and I cannot see any evidence that the
applicant has approached the LLFA in this respect. Consequently there is no certainty that the ditch could be
piped as indicated and you may wish to pursue this at this stage or include an informative note in this
respect.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Comments raised during the application process but has now confirmed no further survey work is required.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
Our records indicate that the above site is in the vicinity of a potentially backfilled quarry/pit from which there
is the potential for gas migration.
Conditions are recommended.
LITTLE DUNHAM P C
Little Dunham Parish Council acknowledges that the applicant has taken note of the parish council's previous
comments, however, we have the following observations:-
Since the Village Development Envelope was removed, supposedly making it very difficult to obtain planning
permission for new residential units, permission has been given for twelve new properties. If permission is
granted for a further five residential properties then the size of the Village will have grown by approx. 15%.
Surely this is not in accordance with the principles of good planning.
This proposed development is on agricultural land and the Council does not support this change of use.
Many of the new properties that have been built in the Village front on to Barrows Hole Lane. This Lane is a
narrow roadway which struggles to cope with the existing level of traffic. Highways need carefully to consider
the effect of the proposed increase in traffic.
Although the applicant has dealt in part with drainage issues, the construction of many new houses along this
Lane has resulted in a significant increase in the runoff from both surface and roof drains and also water from
the new sewerage treatment plants into the inadequate watercourse that passes along the south side of the
Lane. In periods of wet weather the north eastern end of the Lane is prone to flooding. An inspection by
Highways a year ago with members of the Parish Council resulted in an agreement that the part of the
drainage ditch that had been put in a culvert should be rodded and the rest of the ditch should be deepened
and upgraded by Highways. To date nothing has happened. The Council feel that this work should be carried
out before any new building work is allowed.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 136



 

 

 

HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
The proposed development site is located on the southern edge the historic core of the village. Little Dunham
has the characteristics of a common edge settlement. A potentially significant concentration of pottery and
other artefacts, mostly of medieval date have been found within or adjacent to the application area. There is
potential for previously unidentified heritage assets with archaeological interest (buried archaeological
remains of medieval date)
to be present within the current application site and that their significance would be affected by the proposed
development. Conditions are recommended

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice posted & neighbours consulted.

8 letters of objection and one which stated itself as 'not objecting' but raised a number of concerns. The main
points of the objections can be summarised as follows:
* building is proposed over a substantial rural plot.
* adverse effect of residential amenity.
* adverse affect on the character of the neighbourhood.
* increase traffic and adversely impact highway safety.
* inadequate space left for parking, turning and loading.
* flooding issues.
* lack of existing infrastructure and no benefit to village.
* small narrow lane, no footpaths or lighting.
* dangerous for walkers.
* recent development of 7 new houses has increased vehicles.
* grass verges have been destroyed.
* road often floods.
* Lane now at saturation point.
* burden on an already over-stretched village.
* hedgerow already cut right back.
* no services, schools, doctors or pharmacies.
* erode the biodiversity of the area.
* construction vehicles will destroy the verges.
* will considerably change the character and appearance of the village.
* no amenities in village - everyone will be using cars.
* loss of the hedgerow will destroy the habitat of birds, animals and insects.

*The amendments do not alter the theme of the numerous objections in any way. The
number of times this application has resurfaced does hint at achieving planning by
wearing everyone down. A war of attrition maybe!!

*1. We are concerned about the exact position of the site entrance. Not only is it
adjacent to  high hedge and pedestrian gate entrance, which is right on
the edge of the road boundary, but the speed of vehicles that come upto and around
the bend is very worrying. With the extra number of vehicle exiting at this point and
with cars parking outside there could be a serious accident. Our
suggestion is that both proposed entrances be used to alleviate possible problems.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 137



 

2. I had a number of issues getting to my father when he had a stroke because the road
was blocked by lorries delivering to the new houses being built recently. We request
that any lorries which are loading/unloading do so on site rather than parked outside
- We have had to have an ambulance attending in the past and don't wont the
worry that there could be a delay.
 -lived here for almost 30 years - no issue with the houses but very concerned about the amount of extra
traffic and the safety implications.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of development

1.1 The application seeks outline planning permission for the development of 5 dwellings. The application
site is not within a defined Settlement Boundary. The proposal would therefore conflict in principle with
policies SS1, DC2 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.

1.2 However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as
referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3 The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2018 was confirmed at the Planning
Committee on the 30th July 2018. The five year supply is not being currently met, although the council will
prioritise work on establishing a five year housing land supply target. The emerging new local plan is
currently at examination and when adopted, new policies and allocations will be able to be included within
the five year housing land supply, which will ensure the Council is able to meet this. In these cases the NPPF
makes provision, in principle, for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within
defined Settlement Boundaries. This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including
securing sustainable development, protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4 The NPPF constitutes guidance for LPAs and decision takers, and is a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development. The NPPF identifies three
objectives of sustainable development:

- Economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land of the
right type is available in the right places
- Social, by supporting, strong vibrant and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required
to meet future need in a high quality environment with accessible local services and
- Environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

1.5 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF also stresses that these objectives are interdependent and need to be pursued
in mutually supportive ways; therefore, a balanced assessment against these three roles is required.

1.6 In terms of the economic criteria, the proposal would provide five additional dwelling's and would
therefore make a positive contribution to the housing supply and longer-term economic benefits through the
additional household spend within the wider area that would be generated.

1.7 The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 138



high quality built environment with accessible local services. The site is outside of the defined settlement
boundary which has very limited services and facilities within the immediate locality, poor footpath links and
very limited bus service. The writer is mindful that development has been permitted within this village,
however each application must be considered on its own merits and this site due to its particular location fails
on a number of comparable reasons to the development permitted nearby.

1.8 The sustainability of Little Dunham is a major planning consideration in this case, as although it is fully
accepted that this district is largely rural and reliance on the car is an expectation and some development on
balance has been permitted, Little Dunham has very little in the way of facilities. This site was dismissed on
appeal under reference APP/F2605/W/16/3144628 in 2016 and Inspector Dowsett addressed the
sustainability of Little Dunham as follows in paras 24 and 25:

"Little Dunham has very little in the way of services and public transport accessibility is also very limited.
There are services, including a food shop in Necton, approximately 3.5 kilometres to the south and the town
of Swaffam approximately 8 kilometres to the south west has a wide range of shops and services. Necton
would be accessible by bicycle on lightly trafficked roads, although I note that these are narrow and unlit and
this may deter some cyclists, particularly during winter months. Due to the distance involved and the need to
cross the busy A47, I consider that it is unlikely that many residents would cycle to Swaffam. Consequently,
the proposal would not, in my opinion, promote sustainable modes of travel or reduce the need to travel. As a
result, the proposal would not wholly meet the environmental dimension of sustainable development. The
proposal would fail to represent sustainable development in accordance with the Framework as the three
dimensions of sustainable development are mutually dependent and I have found that the proposal would not
meet the environmental dimension."

The inspectors decision is a significant material planning consideration in the determination of this
application.

1.9 On this basis it is considered that the site and village are unsustainable; little has changed since this
appeal consideration in 2016 and the national guidance, although revised, still has the concept of
sustainability at its core. The village has no core facilitates, the bus services are infrequent and unlikely to
support the regular activities of a family on a daily basis, safe cycle routes are limited and the roads narrow in
part and the main service centre of Swaffham is 8 kilometres away. It is acknowledged that some
development has been permitted in this village, however this is an application for 5 dwellings which will
propose a considerable increase in the number of residents and cars in a location which has very little to
offer in the way of local facilities. Therefore, in what is a balanced consideration, the village is not considered
to be sustainable for this development and is contrary to National Policy requirements.

1.10 The applicant has made some late submissions specifically regarding the sustainability of the site and
these can be summarised as follows:

* Furthermore, despite a lack of some facilities the village of Little Dunham offers several community assets,
as outlined in the attached document written by my father. It should be noted that a number of the occupiers
of the 7 recent dwellings have become actively involved in village life. This small-scale development would
continue to create a "support a strong, vibrant and healthy community," which is consistent with Paragraph
8b of the NPPF.
* comparable were drawn from the sustainability assessment of the officer in the Willow Acre Cottage,
Barrows Hole Lane (3PL/2015/0329/F) application which commented that "the harm caused to sustainability
would be small."
* the 'community assets' as mentioned was stated as being The Village Playing Field, The Conservation Area
and the Village Circular Walk.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 139



1.10 These additional comments have been thoroughly considered, however with regards to sustainability
the addition of 5 dwellings would be a considerable increase in residents and family members. The 2016
appeal decision as stated above, follows the case assessment mentioned by the applicant and as an
Inspectors decision and appraisal is a material planning consideration that should be given substantial weight
in the decision, therefore the conclusion in this regard is that Little Dunham is not a sustainable location.

2.0 Character and Appearance

2.1 The application site lies outside of any defined Settlement Boundary, on the edge of the small village of
Little Dunham . The site forms part of a large agricultural field and overall is distinguished as being in the
open countryside. The village sits in generally flat countryside, with a pattern of
large fields interspersed with blocks of woodland planting. The Council's Landscape Character Assessment
notes that large scale agricultural fields are a characteristic of the area. Barrows Hole Lane is a narrow lane
looping off the main road to join Sporle Road. The east side of Barrows Hole Lane is largely built up,
comprising two storey houses and bungalows of a range of ages and architectural styles with an informal
relationship to the road. This application proposes five dwelling set within the plot and accessed by one
access point into what can be described as a small estate set back from the main road but largely resembling
a linear development. This on balance would not  reflect the typical built form of the village and due to its
sting on the edge of the village, would not be an acceptable form of development . The proposal would on
balance not reflect the prevailing form and character of the village, as required of policy DC16 on design. The
development would not fulfil the environmental role of sustainable development.  It is also noted that the site
sits higher than the land the houses opposite sit on and this raised height would exacerbate the adverse
impact on the character and appearance of the area.

2.2 The plot is historically an agricultural field with a variety of trees and vegetation to the boundaries. The
proposal would require the removal of some of the front hedgerow in order to allow the access arrangements
to the proposal and even with replanting mitigate the loss, this built form on what is an open vacant
landscape would undoubtedly alter the character of the site. The introduction of five dwellings on a site which
has been open and laid to agricultural use would likely erode the rural character. The proposal is not
considered to be an infill plot or a 'rounding off' of the village and would introduce new residential
development outside a settlement boundary and result in the intrusion of built development into the open
countryside.

2.3 The comments made by the previous appeal Inspector is considered to be relevant within the
consideration of this site and the following evaluation at paragraph 5 and 6 is worthy of consideration as it still
appears to be very relevant to this application:

"5. In contrast, the appeal site is part of a much larger agricultural field and provides an open aspect between
the high trees surrounding the paddocks to the north and the built up section on the west and south side of
Barrows Hole Lane. The closure of this gap by the proposed development would significantly alter the
character of the area by removing the visual relief that it provides and by far more noticeably encroaching on
the open countryside than the
development that has been permitted on other sites nearby. It would also increase the extent of built
development to approximately half the length of the lane which would be a significant increase within the
context of the overall size of the village.

6. In addition, although it is proposed to provide hedgerow planting to the new rear boundary of the site, this
would necessarily take some years to become properly established and in the interim, due to the flat nature
of the landscape, the rear of the properties would be plainly visible from the public right of way that runs to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 140



the north and west of the site. Policy CP11 of the Breckland Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Document 2009 (DPD) states that the landscape of the District
will be protected for the sake of its own intrinsic beauty and benefit to the rural character of the area. The
introduction of further built development on the west side of Barrows Hole Lane would erode the rural
character of the village in the surrounding landscape."

2.4 The above comments regarding the closure of the gap with the development which would significantly
alter the character of the area by removing what can be considered 'visual relief' and the impact on the public
right of way to the north and west of the site, the development as proposed would still have the same
detrimental impact and would erode the rural character of this village. Screening and landscaping mitigation
does very little to lessen this impact as it is the openness of this site which provides the visual benefit and
enhances the rural character. Any built form or screening with hedgerow and planting degrades this open
view and the development on balance would be contrary to both national policy and specifically Local Plan
Policy CP11 which seeks to protect the landscape for the sake of its own intrinsic beauty and the benefit to
the rural character of the village edge.

2.5 The applicant has submitted some last minute commentary on the impact on the rural landscape which
can be summarised as follows:

* Concerning impact on the rural character, the  Officer preceding over the 2015 application at Willow Acre
Cottage stated that this proposal "would not be out of keeping" with the "built up appearance" of this part of
Barrows Hole. They also stated that the proposal would be well screened with "established boundary hedges
and neighbouring properties," and as a result of the proposal would have a "limited impact on the landscape
setting of the village and would not intrude into the open countryside." Furthermore, they noted that it would
continue the "linear development"  and that it would form a "logical addition to existing development on this
part of the village." This scheme was found to be consistent with Core Strategy Policy DC16. The Officer's
assessment on the rural character should further act as a material consideration when assessing this
application. Our proposed development would be well screened on all sides by established hedgerows and
neighbouring properties, and it would lead to a logical completion of the linear development in this part of the
village. Notwithstanding, we would be prepared to undertake a Landscape Visual Assessment (LVA) if this
would provide you with a greater level of reassurance.

2.6 The additional comments have been thoroughly considered and again the officer assessment in the 2015
Barrows Hole case has been superseded by the 2016 appeal refusal on this site. As it is the relief from the
'rural gap' that is the concern and the detrimental harm the development of this gap that this would cause, an
additional Landscape Visual Assessment is not considered conducive as it is felt that this assessment could
not overcome this harm. The screening of the development is not the issue here but the importance of this
area of the village in providing a visual area of 'undeveloped' land which is so important in this visual
landscape vista. Again the officer would note the assessment of the Inspector in the appeal on this site which
carries significant weight in the planning balance.

Design
2.7 As this is a full application the design of the dwellings have been submitted for consideration and on
balance the styles and materials proposed are not out of keeping for this area and a village location which
has a mix of styles and designs.

3.0 Impact upon amenity

3.1 Policy DC1 sets out that for all new development, consideration will need to be given to the impact upon
amenity. Development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable effects on the amenities of the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 141



area or the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants, or future occupants of the development site.

3.2 The siting of the proposed dwellings are on the edge of the village,  however due to the size of the plot
and the proposed orientation of the dwellings this would not result in any issues with regards to over
dominance, overshadowing or affect on privacy of neighbours having regard to Policy DC1.

3.3 An adequately sized garden area would be provided for the proposed dwellings for the amenities of
future occupiers.

3.4 The presence of five additional dwellings in this location would  increase the density of development
along this Lane and will generate the general noise and traffic movement expected with 5 additional
dwellings. It is considered that due to the additional dwellings permitted recently along the Lane, these
effects would not have an overall adverse impact upon existing residents.

4.0 Contaminated land

4.1 The Contaminated Land Officer has no comments and is content with the proposal, they recommend
approval providing the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to conditions to
alleviate environmental concerns.

4.2 The application is therefore considered in accordance with policy CP09 on pollution and waste.

5.0 Drainage issues

5.1 A number of representations have raised concerns about flooding issues. The application site is not
within an area at risk of flooding or within the proximity of a major water course, however the proposal does
involve the widening of the carriageway which may affect the existing ditch which would need addressing.
Amended plans and proof of addressing the Lead Local Flood Authority issue has been provided and
amended plans submitted.

5.2 Given the concerns set out in representations and to ensure the development would be in accordance
with policy DC13 on flood risk, it would be reasonable to include conditions on any grant of planning
permission that would require full details on the proposed surface and foul water disposal.

6.0 Impact upon highways

6.1 The Highways Development Management Officer has considered the proposal and makes comment on
the sustainability of the location, in particular that the site is located in a village with limited amenities and
residents of this dwelling would be reliant on travelling by car to access the full range of services and
amenities required on a daily basis. The proposal as submitted proposes a widening of the Lane which can
be considered a benefit, the Highway Officer comments on this with the following:

'The submitted proposal includes localised widening along the site frontage which will be of
benefit to the wider community. This will ,however, involve the alterations to the existing
ditch system which would need to receive the approval of the Lead Local Flood Authority
and I cannot see any evidence that the applicant has approached the LLFA in this respect.
Consequently there is no certainty that the ditch could be piped as indicated and you may
wish to pursue this at this stage or include an informative note in this respect.'

'Access conditions with an informative would be need to be imposed if permitted.'

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 142



7.0 Impact upon Ecology

7.1 The County Ecology team at the time of writing had not commented, however there does not seem to be
any particular issue with any particularly sensitive ecological receptors. It is noted that a number of residents
have concerns with the adverse impact upon local wildlife and bird species posed by the development,
however these concerns are not substantiated sufficiently to form a ground for refusal at this stage and the
ecology survey submitted by the applicant appears to address any sensitive receptors.

8.0 Impact upon trees and hedges

8.1 The Tree and Countryside consultant had originally raised concerns with regard to the loss of the
hedgerow for the access and the likelihood that the hedge would fall under the protection of the hedgerow
regulations. However the Tree and Countryside Officer has subsequently confirmed they do not require any
further survey work and the proposals are not considered to be contrary to policy DC12.

9.0 Other Matters

9.1 As the proposed development site exceeds 0.5 hectares, an Affordable Housing contribution would be
required in line with national policy requirements. A contribution of 25% affordable would be required in this
instance.

10.0 Conclusion

10.1 In terms of the overall planning balance of the proposal, the site is outside of a designated Settlement
Boundary and as the Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply, the relevant policies for
the supply of housing cannot be considered up to date. In these cases, the tilted balance would be applied
with the presumption in favour of sustainable development unless any adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the Framework as a whole.

9.2 The proposal would contribute five additional dwellings to the District's housing supply. However, the
proposed dwellings would have a detrimental effect upon the character of the area and would erode its rural
character. The proposals would introduce new residential development outside a settlement boundary and
result in the intrusion of built development into the open countryside on a site which is particularly valued for
its openness and relief from built form.

9.3 The distance to services and amenities would mean that residents of this proposed dwelling would be
reliant on a private vehicle to meet their needs. There are very limited services and facilities within the
immediate locality and public transport is very limited. It is acknowledged that some development has been
allowed in the village, however this matter has been determined on its own merits and the negative impacts
on the character of the village has weighed heavily in the balance, however the unsustainability of the
location is a negative which cannot add any benefit in the balance.  The proposed highway works would have
a modest benefit to the locale, however this would be insufficient to override the significant and demonstrable
harm already identified.

9.5 To conclude, based on the above considerations, the permanent and lasting harm that the development
would cause to the character of the village and its countryside setting would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the small scale benefits that would result from the proposed
development. Refusal is therefore recommended.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 143



 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION

The proposal is recommended for refusal for the following reasons:

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1 Policy not met outside settlement
The proposed development would be remote from local services and facilities, and in the
absence of convenient and safe walking and cycling routes to larger settlements, future
occupants would be largely dependant on transport by car for access to work, shopping,
leisure and other purposes.  It would also conflict with the principle that new development
should make the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling.  For these
reasons, the Local Planning Authority is of the view that the proposal would not represent a
sustainable form of development, contrary to Policies DC2 and CP14 of the adopted
Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2009) and paragraphs 8 and 11
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018).

2 Unwarranted intrusion into landscape
The erection of the proposed building on this site would in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority be likely to result in an unwarranted intrusion into this rural landscape to the
detriment of the character and visual amenities of the village, contrary to Policies DC16 and
CP14 of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2009) and
paragraphs 8 and 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 144



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0231/O CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: OLD BUCKENHAM APPNTYPE: Outline
Land to the north of Fen Street POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Old Buckenham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Askew & Partners
The Barn Scales Farm

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Brown & Co
The Atrium St Georges Street

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of four detached dwellings

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Ecological implications
Tree impact

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks outline consent with access only as a matter for approval for the erection of four
detached dwellings on land to the north of Fen Street, Old Buckenham.  Although in outline, an indicative
layout plan has been provided which indicates four dwellings in a row, following the same building line.

All plots are shown indicatively as two storey dwellings.  Two accesses are proposed, one serving plots 1
and 2 and the other 3 and 4.

SITE AND LOCATION

The land currently comprises of 0.4ha of agricultural land situated to the north of Fen Street.  To the north-
west and south of the site with agrciltural land to the rear of the site (north) and a parcel agiricultural land to
the south-east however residential development carries on past this land.  Whilst the site lies outside of the
settlement boundary it lies immediately adjacent to it which is split into two sections in this location.  The
main settlement being situated to the south-east and the second section starting along the north-western side
boundary of the application site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 145

Agenda Item 9n



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2015/1498/F - Erection of eight dwellings - Withdrawn

3PL/2012/0253/O - Five new homes - Refused

3PL/2012/1159/O - Outline application for 5 houses - Refused

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Summary
The existence of Fen Street and its substandard junction with Hargham Road is historic and a matter of fact
and it is accepted that some degree of conflict already exists.  However the increase in vehicular and
pedestrian activity which would result, if the development under consideration were permitted, would
unacceptably increase this conflict.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 146



 

 

 

Any increase in the use of Fen Street would give rise to the potential for pedestrians to be struck by passing
vehicular traffic and for vehicles to collide when trying to pass or negotiate the junction with Hargham Road.
The potential for collision and personal injury accident in this location leave me with no alternative than the
recommend the proposal be refused for the following reasons.

The proposed development does not adequately provide off-site facilities for pedestrians
or people with disabilities (those confined to a wheelchair or others with mobility
difficulties)to link with existing provision and / or local services.

The unclassified road serving the site is considered to be inadequate to serve the development proposed, by
reason of its poor alignment / restricted width / lack of passing provision / restricted visibility at adjacent road
junctions. The proposal, if permitted, would be likely to give rise to conditions detrimental to highway safety.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
I have considered the application and would not raise any contaminated land comments based on both the
accuracy of the information provided and the current records of contaminated land issues we hold to date.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection subject to condition.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection. Hedgerow at the back of the plot should be retained as shown on the layout plan
OLD BUCKENHAM P C
Fen Street is a very small and narrow road which already suffers with some issues. Firstly, the
speeding of vehicles is a large problem as well as the weight of traffic. Both the Parish Council and Fen St
residents have questioned its ability to cope with more vehicles, including large construction lorries. The
dangerous nature of this road is not helped by the difficult junctions in which visibility can be poor. This in turn
makes it a very hazardous road for all road user including drivers, cyclists and walkers, including children
making their way to/from school.

Secondly, some utilities in the area struggle with the current number of dwellings, specifically water and
sewerage. This can be frustrating for residents and there is concern about whether these problems will
become exaggerated with the construction of 4 additional dwellings.

However, if these issues can be addressed by Breckland Council and the Applicants, then we do feel we
could support the application. Specifically, we would like to see the 30mph zone extended to cover the
entirety of Fen St and visibility at junctions improved where possible with the aim of improving safety for all
road users. Additionally, we would like clarification on how the utilities will be improved for existing residents
and whether they will be able to cope with an increase in population.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
There are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the
development proceeds in line with the application details.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 12-03-2019

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 147



 

Consultations issued: 07-03-2019

18 representations received, 4 in support and the remaining raising objections relating to:

- Highway safety
- Outside Settlement Boundary location
- Surface water drainage issues
- Previous refusals on the site.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle

1.1  The application site is located outside of the Old Buckeham Settlement Boundary, as designated by the
adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this
reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC 2 and CP 14, which seek to focus new housing
within defined Settlement Boundaries.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

1.3  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document relating to housing supply are not considered up-to-date and
therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragrapgh 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide four new dwellings and would
provide some short-term economic benefits through construction, and longer-term economic benefits through
additional household spend within the surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of the
dwellings.

1.5  In terms of the social element, the site lies between the existing settlement boundary of Old Buckenham.
The main settlement hub lies approximately 0.6 mile from the application site.  Old Buckenham benefits from

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 148



two public houses, a primary school and High School, shop and post office with public transport links linking
the village to Norwich, Monday to Friday via KonectBus service No 37A.  Whilst Fen Street itself is unpaved,
Hargham Road lies approximately a 0.1 of a mile from the site and here there is a footpath link to the village
centre.  It is considered that this is an acceptable route for walking and cycling, albeit unlikely in inclement
weather.

1.6  On balance, given the the proximity of the existing settlement boundary and the existing development in
the area, the relatively short distance between the site and the services and facilities within the village that
the site meets the economic and social roles of sustainable development.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy CP11 seeks the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty
and benefit to the rural character.  Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic
and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of
individual or groups of natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers,
streams or other topographical features.

2.3  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.4  The site itself is an open parcel of agricultural land with views beyond of the same.  Other residential
uses are situated to the south, west and east.  The application has been submitted in outline with approval
sought for access only at this stage.  Therefore design, siting, appearance and scale will all be fully
considered in the event that approval is given.  Notwithstanding that, indicative plans have been submitted
which indicates four, two storey dwellings which are largely comparable to the development in the vicinity.
Concern was raised with the Agent in respect of the forward garages shown for plots 1 and 2 and the
preference for these to be omitted, an amended indicative plan was submitted omitting these.  On balance, it
is considered that four dwellings can be accommodated within the site whilst providing ample plots with
sufficient circulation space, parking and private amenity areas.  In light of these factors, the proposal is
considered to have due regard to policies CP11, DC16 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  As stated, the application has been submitted in outline only therefore the full amenity impact of the
development will be fully assessed as part of any subsequent reserved matters submission.  However, the
indicative plans submitted show that four dwellings can be located within the plot whilst retaining a good
degree of separation between each property as well as the existing neighboiuring dwellings so as not to
cause an adverse impact in terms of overlooking or loss of privacy.  Each plot can be provided with a

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 149



sufficient amount of private rear amenity space for any future occupiers, as a result, the proposal is
considered to accord with Policy DC1 and paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

4.2  Norfolk County Council Highways Authority was consulted on the proposal and recommends refusal on
the the basis that Fen Street's substandard junction with Hargham Road is historic and a matter of fact and it
is accepted that some degree of conflict already exists.  However the increase in vehicular and pedestrian
activity which would result, if the development were permitted, would unacceptably increase this conflict. Any
increase in the use of Fen Street would give rise to the potential for pedestrians to be struck by passing
vehicular traffic and for vehicles to collide when trying to pass or negotiate the junction with Hargham Road.
The potential for collision and personal injury accident in this location leaves no alternative than to
recommend the proposal be refused.

4.3  These highway safety concerns have been carefully considered and whilst it is accepted that the junction
with Hargham Road is not ideal, the level of housing already present along Fen Street is high.  The Council
do not have a 5 year housing land supply at present and therefore it has to be demonstrated that there is a
significant and demonstrable harm resulting from a proposal in order to justify a refusal.  In this instance, the
addition of four dwellings along a road that serves 100+ residential dwelling is not considered to cause a
significant increase in traffic in order to warrant a refusal on highway safety grounds in this instance.

5.0  Ecological implications

5.1  Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  There is an
expectation that development will incorporate biodiversity or geological features where opportunities exist.

5.2  The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment by Hopkins Ecology which was sent to the
Ecology Team for assessment.  It was concluded that the report conforms to industry best practice and is fit
for purpose.  The northern boundary hedge is the most significant ecological feature is to be retained
('avoidance mitigation'), and the report recommends that site clearance should have regard for the possibility
of nesting birds, and ideally be outside of the nesting bird season or otherwise under a watching brief.
Therefore, if permission is granted, it is recommended that this be subject to a condition in relation to nesting
birds.

5.3  In line with the NPPF, some enhancements for biodiversity should be provided ('net gain').  The Ecology
assessment includes measures in paragraphs 6.9 to 6.16 and the applicant will be committed to these via a
condition on any subsequent approval.

5.4  In light of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy CP10 and paragraph 175 of the
NPPF.

6.0  Tree implications

6.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

6.2  Other than an established hedgerow tot he rear of the site, the site is open with no trees present.  The

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 150



 

 

Tree and Countryside Officer was consulted and advised that there were no objections subject to the
hedgerow being retained as shown.  On this basis, the application is considered to have due regard to Policy
DC12.

7.0  Other issues

7.1 The comments made in respect of drainage on the site have been considered, however, having checked
the Government's flooding maps, the site does not fall within a flood zone 2 or 3 and has a small portion of
the site is at 'low risk' of surface water drainage.  As a result, we can ask that surface water drainage details
are included within any reserved matters submission.

7.2 The comments in respect of the previous refusals are also noted, however these refusals were in 2012,
therefore a lot has changed in that time in terms of the NPPF steer.  In addition, the Council has received
several appeal decisions which have overturned refusals in similar areas, i.e. adjoining existing development,
near to a sustainable village.  In light of these changes and decisions, it is considered difficult to warrant a
refusal in this instance.

8.0  Conclusion

8.1  The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any
settlement boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the
NPPF and this development would provide a contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this basis,
the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and whether the site is a
sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the countryside.

8.2  The site is in close proximity to other dwellings.  The plans indicate that the site can be developed and
due to the presence of dwellings to the south and north-west, the impact will be limited. On this basis, the
development of the site would not negatively impact the character and appearance of the countryside and
therefore complies with Policy CP 11.

8.3  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the nature of the site and its
proximity to the existing settlement boundary and existing development when weighed against the the small
negative harm created by the site's location outside of the settlement boundary and highway issues, is
considered to be outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and due to the
aforementioned reasons within the report that the development will not cause significant and demonstrable
harm to the street scene or character and appearance of the countryside or highway safety given the number
of dwellings proposed and already accommodated along Fen Street.

8.4  In accordance with the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, and therefore the granting of planning permission is recommended.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant planning permission subject to conditions:

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 151



TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Highway improvements - off-site
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works above slab level
shall commence on site unless otherwise agreed in writing until detailed drawings for the off-
site highway improvement works as indicated within the Access Strategy by Create
Consulting Engineers Ltd - dated 12th March 2019, have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.

5 Highway improvements - off-site
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the off-site highway
improvement works (including Public Rights of Way works) referred to in Part A (condition 4)
of this condition shall be completed to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway network is adequate to cater for the development proposed.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority in accordance with  highways specification  and thereafter retained at the
position shown on the approved plan.  Arrangements shall be made for surface water
drainage to be intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or
onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 152



This condition will require to be discharged
7 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved

plan
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted visibility splays shall be
provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved plan.  The splays shall
thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres above
the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Nesting birds - timing
No removal, in full or in part, of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st
March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful,
detailed check of vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before the vegetation is
cleared and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are
appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site.  Any such written
confirmation should be submitted to the local planning authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

9 Ecology - enhancements
The measures detailed within paragraphs 6.9 - 6.16 of the Ecological Assessment by
Hopkins Ecology dated 05 February 2019 shall be incorporated within the design and
landscaping of any subsequent reserved matters scheme.
Reason for condition:-
NPPF paragraph 170 states that planning policies and decisions should minimise impacts on
and provide net gains for biodiversity; paragraph 174 requires plans to pursue opportunities
for securing measurable net gains; paragraph 175 requires planning decisions to encourage
biodiversity improvements in and around developments; and paragraph 118 states that the
planning system should take opportunities to secure net environmental gains.

10 Drainage strategy
The reserved matters submission shall include a surface water drainage strategy.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to commencement in order to ensure that the development
does not increase surface water run-off/exacerbate surface water flooding in the locality.

12 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 153



 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 154



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1260/F CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: ROUDHAM/LARLING APPNTYPE: Full
Land Opposite Barkers Farm Watton
Road

POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

Larling ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr S Lewin
c/o Agent

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Roberts Molloy Architects & Co
3 Church Lane Bressingham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of 3 new dwellings with parking and turning and construction of new highways
access

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Ecology Implications
Impact on trees

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of three dwellings with parking and turning and
construction of a new access from Watton Road.

SITE AND LOCATION

The land is currently agricultural meadowland adjacent to Barkers Farm.  There are open views of the land
from the front elevation and boundary screening is provided to the northern boundary by established hedging
and vegetation.  A row of trees lines the south-eastern boundary.  The land is surrounded by farm buildings,
agricultural land with residential uses opposite.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 155

Agenda Item 9o



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2018/0359/O
Outline application for the erection of 2no. dwellings, shared cartlodge and new highways
entrance. Planning permission approved 05-06-2018.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The Highway Authority considers that the site is located in a village with limited services and amenities and
consequently any residents will have a high dependency on travelling by car.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections or further comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development
proceeds in line with the application details. Subject to conditions.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
No objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development
proceeds in line with the application details.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 156



 

 

 

 

TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
It appears that the changes will result in fewer arboricultural implications, removing the requirement for root
pruning and no-dig surfacing. For clarity and to fully assess the implications the impact assessment and tree
protection plan should be updated. Also subject to conditions.
ROUDHAM & LARLING P C
We advised you on 15 March that the plans for the revised Plot 3 do not appear on your website, but this has
not been acknowledged nor corrected. As a result you are asking my Council (and other members of the
public) to comment sight unseen. However, it has been possible to discover some details of the proposed
property from facts provided in the revised Planning Statement, and subject to the proposed plans (when and
if they are eventually made available) not revealing anything untoward, my Council is much happier with the
revised layout, and has no objections to what is now proposed.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 24-10-2018 to 14-11-2018

10 neighbours have been directly notified, no representations have been received.

An amended highways plan has been submitted, Officers are happy that  the neighbours and Parish Council
and any other parties have had the relevant time to consider the amended plans, only Highways are affected
by the latest changes.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of development

1.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the development of three dwellings. The application
site is not within a defined Settlement Boundary. The proposal would  therefore conflict in principle with
policies SS1, DC2 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.

1.2 However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as
referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3 The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2018 was confirmed at the Planning
Committee on the 30th July 2018. The five year supply is not being currently met, although the council will
prioritise work on establishing a five year housing land supply target. The emerging new local plan is
currently at examination and when adopted, new policies and allocations will be able to be included within
the five year housing land supply, which will ensure the Council is able to meet this. In these cases the NPPF
makes provision, in principle, for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within
defined Settlement Boundaries. This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including
securing sustainable development, protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4 The NPPF constitutes guidance for LPAs and decision takers, and is a material consideration in the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 157



determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development. The NPPF identifies three
objectives of sustainable development:

- Economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land of the
right type is available in the right places
- Social, by supporting, strong vibrant and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required
to meet future need in a high quality environment with accessible local services and
- Environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

1.5 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF also stresses that these objectives are interdependent and need to be pursued
in mutually supportive ways; therefore, a balanced assessment against these three roles is required.

1.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide three new dwellings and would
therefore make a minimal contribution to the housing supply shortfall. The proposal would also provide some
limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during construction,
and longer-term economic benefits through the additional household spend within the surrounding area that
would be generated by the provision of three dwellings.

1.5  The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a
high quality built environment with accessible local services. Roudham/Larling is classified as a rural
settlement through Policy SS1 (Spatial Strategy) of the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document. These villages contain limited services and facilities and the spatial
strategy states that these villages are not capable of supporting consequential growth as they rely on higher
order settlements for the majority of these services and facilities.

1.6  Roudham village contains no services, facilities or regular public transport options and therefore there
would be a high reliance on higher order settlements for everyday needs which would likely result in higher
car dependency.   The nearest service centre, East Harling, is approximately 3 miles away, which is primarily
accessed from unlit, unpaved roads, Attleborough, the nearest Market Town is approximately 8 miles away
and is accessed via unlit, unpaved roads or via the main A11 which is unsafe for travel by any other means
than by care, therefore increasing this need.  Therefore the proposal is inconsistent with the social
dimensions of sustainable development.

1.7  For these reasons highlighted above the proposal would not accord with the core planning principles in
terms of ensuring the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes will be
maximised.  This consideration weighs against the proposal.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3 The initial submission proposed the erection of 4 dwellings, however, this was not considered acceptable

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 158



in this location as it was considered to be overdevelopment of this  plot. Following discussions with the
applicants/Agent a revised scheme was submitted for 3 dwellings.

2.4 The revised scheme includes a pair of semi-detached 3 bedroom dwellings fronting Watton Road with
their parking to the rear and a one and a half storey dwelling to the rear. This revised scheme is considered
acceptable as it reflects the traditional character of the locality.

2.5 Environmentally, although outside the Settlement Boundary, the site is in a semi-rural location.  There are
other residential uses immediately to the west and the dwellings will be seen against a backdrop of other
buildings used as part of the wider farm use adjacent, therefore will not appear as a further encroachment.
Whilst this will result in some loss of character, the harm would be limited given the established boundary
hedging and the proportions of the site will maintain a spacious character. The development would not
intrude into the open countryside and it is considered that the proposals would not cause material harm to the
character and appearance of the area. This is considered to satisfy the environmental role of sustainable
development.

2.6 The amended planning statement proposes the following materials:

Plots 1 & 2 - Red clay brick, Terca Cholesbury (or similar) with Imerys Panne S Burnt red rustic clay pantiles
(or similar) for the roof and white windows with heritage grey timberwork.

Plot 3 -  Render painted Heritage light cream. Plinth and chimney in red brick, terca multi (or
similar) with Imerys Panne S Burnt Red (Rustic) clay pantiles (or similar) for the roof and heritage grey
timberwork for the windows.

Carport - Black composite weatherboard with Imerys Panne S Burnt Red (Rustic) clay pantiles (or similar) for
the roof and black windows.

2.7 The design and layout are considered acceptable and to be in keeping with the character of the
surrounding area, therefore, compliant with Policy DC16 of The Adopted Core Strategy and Paragraph 79 of
The NPPF (2019).

3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2 An environmental noise assessment has been completed and submitted with the application to assess
the impact of existing farm related noise sources on the proposed development. The farmyard is to the south
of the development and is screened from the site by farm buildings. The assessment shows that suitable
internal noise levels at the houses as a result of nearby farming activities can be met with standard double
glazing and trickle vents. All windows could be open whilst still meeting WHO criteria. External noise levels
from farm activities will meet WHO criteria for amenity spaces.

3.3 The assessment summarised that there are no special measures that are needed to control farm noise. It
was noted that some farm machinery (tractor pulled items) is stored on the land between the farmyard and
the proposed development site. Whilst this is unlikely to cause any annoyance any opportunity to relocate the
machinery away from the houses could only be beneficial.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 159



3.4 Due to the separation distances and generous private amenity space for each of the proposed dwellings,
it is considered that three dwellings can be accommodated on the site without causing any significant
amenity impact for existing and future residents. The application is therefore considered to have due regard
to Policy DC1.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments. Policy DC19 requires sufficient Parking for all new development. The Highway Authority
considers that the site is located in a village with limited services and amenities and consequently any
residents will have a high dependency on travelling by car.

4.2 There has been correspondence with The Highways Officer and an amended Block Plan (drawing
LWR/03J) has been received on the 7th May 2019 and this was to address the Highway Officers  comments
regarding access. The block plan has been amended to include the following details:

-        The pedestrian access to Plots 1 & 2 has been moved further into the site and a fence is now proposed
along the frontage so that there is no access to the properties directly off the highway.
-        The access is now 4.8m for the first 10m.

A supplementary report will be completed if necessary for the Planning Committee with the Highway Officers
formal comments as soon as they have been received if material to the determination, but Officers consider
the issues to be resolved with the amended plan.

5.0  Ecological implications

5.1  Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  Proposals need to
ensure that the ecological network and protected species are not harmed or detrimentally impacted and
mitigation measures are put in place where appropriate.

5.2  The Ecology consultant was consulted on the previous application in May 2018 and at that time it was
proposed to remove 4 apple trees for the proposed development. The Ecology consultant requested further
surveys which were submitted at that time which verified the suitability of one of the trees for bats and
therefore further surveys were necessary due to impacts on the roost feature and potentially bats using it
were predicted.

5.3 This application has been revised and the layout now proposes to retain all the trees, therefore no further
details are required in this respect.

5.5  In light of this the application is considered to have had due regard to Policy CP10.

6.0  Impact on trees

6.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

6.2  The application proposes new hedge and tree planting all around, to provide screening and enhanced
wildlife habitat. Under the previous Outline Permission for two semi-detached houses fronting the road, the
fruit trees were to be removed, however, this amended scheme will retain the trees.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 160



 

6.3 The Council's Tree and Countryside Officer has commented that it appears that the changes will result in
fewer arboricultural implications, removing the requirement for root pruning and no-dig
surfacing. For clarity and to fully assess the implications the impact assessment and tree protection plan
should be updated.

6.4 This can be adequately conditioned and the proposal is therefore considered to have due regard to
Policy DC12.

7.0 Environmental health officers have been consulted and advised that based on the information provided at
this time; there are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the
development proceeds in line with the application details.

8.0 The Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted and advised that based on the information provided
at this time, there are no objections providing the development proceeds in line with the application details
and subject to conditions to alleviate environmental concerns.

9.0 Planning Balance

7.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any
settlement boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the
NPPF and this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this
basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and are whether the site is a
sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the countryside.

7.2 The site is in close proximity to other dwellings and is in close proximity to an application site given
permission for 2 dwellings at Planning Committee in 2018, Ref : 3PL/2017/1124/O. The applicant has
submitted revised plans to overcome previous concerns, and the previous outline permission granted on this
site for 2 dwellings in 2018 is a material consideration. It is considered that the development of the site would
not negatively impact the character and appearance of the countryside and therefore complies with Policy CP
11.

7.3 The site is not in a sustainable location with good access to services and facilities. This is a negative
aspect of the proposal, and does not accord with policies SS01 and CP14.

7.4 However - it is a material consideration of great weight that there is an extant permission for two
dwellings on this site. The additional benefits of the extra dwelling are considered to counterbalance any
additional harms from the one extra dwelling.

7.5 In this context, when applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 14 of the NPPF, the small
negative harm created by one additional dwelling to that already approved, with the site's location away from
services and facilities, is considered to be outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the
district and due to the aforementioned reasons the development will not cause significant harm to the street
scene or character and appearance of the countryside.

7.5 In accordance with paragraph 14 of the NPPF, no material additional or new harm has been identified
which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the acknowledged benefits, and therefore this
application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 161



 

Approval recommended, subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (3 years)
The development must be begun not later that the expiration of THREE YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for Condition:
As required by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 Indicated landscaping to be implemented
The landscaping shown on the plan accompanying the application shall be carried out during
the first planting season October/March immediately following the commencement of works
on site. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the
landscaping die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced
during the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development.

4 Non-standard landscaping condition
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS) prepared by A T Coombes dated 15th January 2019. (to be completed in line with the
amended scheme)

No other operations shall commence on site in connection with the development until the
tree protection works and any pre-emptive tree works required by the approved AIA or AMS
have been carried out and all tree protection barriers are in place as indicated on the TPP.
Works shall not commence until written confirmation has been obtained from the appointed
arboriculturalist to confirm that fencing is in place as specified. The protective fencing shall
be retained in a good and effective condition for the duration of the construction of the
development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all site
works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from site, unless the prior written approval of the local planning authority has been sought
and obtained. Given that the development contains works within the root protection areas of
retained trees additional site supervision will be required. There are four key stages where
on-site arboricultural advice will be needed: Prior to commencement, to review the contents
of the AMS, and deal with any queries the main contractor may have. To confirm that the
protective fencing and ground protection is in place. To ensure the No-Dig surface is put in
place satisfactorily. To supervise pre-emptive root pruning. A note of the date of each visit
and a summary of the findings will be forwarded to both the Tree Officer and the Main
Contractor to provide an audit trail enabling the proper implementation of the tree protection

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 162



measures to be checked and verified.
5 Precise details of foul water disposal

Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Ecology 1
Given the nature and size of this development the following working practices will be
adhered to:
- No piles of loose sand or other granular materials into which  could bury themselves should
be left around the site. All such materials should be delivered in bags and kept on pallets or
hardstanding until required for use;
- Should any waste be generated from the development, this should be placed straight into
skips or rubble sacks, or immediately removed and not left lying around the site;
- No bonfires should be made or lit on site. Amphibians and/or reptiles often use piles of
timber as a place of refuge;
- All trenches should be left covered at night. They must be checked in the morning before
they are filled in.
- The development footprint and any working areas should be maintained in its current
condition by regular mowing to ground level at weekly intervals until construction
commences.
- Works should preferably be restricted to daylight hours only to prevent disturbance or
accidental harm to nocturnal animals such as hedgehogs. Ideally night lighting of the site
should be minimised to reduce disturbance to other nocturnal animals such as bats.

In addition if any protected species are identified at any stage during the development, work
must immediately cease and a suitably qualified ecologist contacted for further advice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

7 Ecology 2
No removal, in full or in part, of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st
March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful,
detailed check of vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before the vegetation is
cleared and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are
appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such written
confirmation should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 163



 

and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

8 Ecology-Lighting
Any site lighting schemes for the new development should be unobtrusive, hooded/shielded
and directional away from features that may be used by commuting/ foraging bats, such as
hedgerows and mature trees. Further guidance on lighting is available on the Bat
Conservation Trust website (Interim Guidance: Artificial lighting and wildlife -
Recommendations to help minimise the impact of artificial lighting; 2014. Available at:
http://www.bats.org.uk/pages/bats_and_lighting.html).
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

9 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 164



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1289/O CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: SCARNING APPNTYPE: Outline
Oak Manor POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Scarning ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Caring Homes Group
Bradbury House 830 The Crescent

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Caring Homes Group
Caring Homes Group Bradbury House

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Permission is sought for the development of 24 assisted care units within the grounds of Oak
Manor Care Home.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is a major as defined by the Council's scheme of delegation and therefore must be
determined by planning committee.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Impact Upon the Countryside and Setting of the Village
Density
Highways
Trees
Ecology
Design, Scale and Residential Amenity
Contamination
Flooding and Drainage
Housing Mix and Tenure
Open Space and Infrastructure

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Outline Planning Permission with all matters reserved, apart from details of access, for the erection of 24
assisted care residential units, of upto 1 ½ storeys.

SITE AND LOCATION

0.6ha site comprising overgrown meadow land to the east of Oak Manner Care Home, Scarning. The site is
adjacent to the Care Homes car park and access is via the existing private drive which connects to Dereham
Road.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 165

Agenda Item 9p



 

 

 

 

 

To the north, east and south of the site is agricultural land.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3OB/2007/0001/OB Withdrawn 04-03-13
Modification of agreement to accept that the ownership of dwellings may be separate from ownership of
nursing home

3PL/2007/1110/F Permission 10-09-07
Erection of 20 bedroom single storey extension to existing care home

3PL/2008/0347/F Permission 08-05-08
Erection of 20 bedroom single storey extension to existing care home (amendments to approved
3PL/2007/1110)

3PL/2008/1505/F Permission 08-12-08
Addition of 3 single storey extensions to create day spaces, with landscaping to provide enclosed garden
space

3PL/2009/0501/F Permission 04-08-09
Construction of an entrance porch

3PL/2010/0035/O Permission 16-02-11
24 assisted care bungalows

3PL/2015/1078/F Permission 23-11-15
Erection of entrance porch/draft lobby to front of building

3TL/2010/0036/TL Permission 26-08-10
Extension of time limit on pp 3PL/2007/1110/F - extension to existing care home

3TL/2011/0014/TL Permission 06-05-11
Ext. of time on pp 3PL/2008/ 1505/F - add 3 single storey exts to create day spaces with landscaping to
provide garden

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 166



 

 

 

CP.03 Employment
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.06 Green Infrastructure
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

A S106 would be necessary to secure the units use persons with assisted living requirements. The
household of each unit would be required to purchase a minimum of 2.5 hours of care per week from the
Care Home. The units would be secured as rental tenure. The S106 would allow for the over 65s or other
persons in need of care.

In addition, it would include a contribution requirement of £75 index linked per unit for library services.

CONSULTATIONS

SCARNING P C
The Parish Council agrees to this application, subject to a restriction being imposed that the properties
cannot be sold as private residences. The Council would object if this condition was not imposed.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
No formal comment to make on this application.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Dereham-Rushmeadow Rd Water Recycling
Centre that will have capacity.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 167



 

 

 

 

The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the planning application relevant to Anglian
Water is unacceptable. No evidence has been provided to show that the surface water hierarchy has been
followed as stipulated in Building Regulations Part H. This encompasses the trial pit logs from the infiltration
tests and the investigations in to discharging to a watercourse. If these methods are deemed to be unfeasible
for the site, we require confirmation of the intended manhole connection point and discharge rate proposed
before a connection to the public surface water sewer is permitted. We would therefore recommend that the
applicant needs to consult with Anglian Water and the Environment Agency. We request that the agreed
strategy is reflected in the planning approval.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection recommend parking condition.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection subject to condition.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections subject to conditions.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
In the event these units are confirmed to fall within planning class C2, no affordable housing would be
required. In the event they do not fall within C2, affordable housing would be required in line with policy, and
please reconsult the team in that event.
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL
Contributions required for fire hydrants and library.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT OFFICER
No archaeological works or conditions recommended.

REPRESENTATIONS

Neighbours were consulted on 13th December 2018 and again on 23rd January 2019. A site notice was
erected on 17th December 2018.

One local representation has been received from a neighbour raising concern about the increased traffic and
the associated increase in noise. In addition, they raised concern in respect of highway safety with specific
mention of the bus stop opposite the care home entrance and speeding.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 This application seeks Outline planning permission with access details for the development of 24 assisted
care units associated and adjacent to Oak Manor Care Home in Scarning. The site falls outside the
settlement boundary for the rural settlement as catergorised by Policy SS1, which contains few or no
services and facilities to meet the day-to-day requirement of their existing residents. Policies SS1, DC2 and
CP14 direct new housing within existing settlement boundaries. There are no specific policies for housing for

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 168



older person or those with care needs.

1.2 The Council does not currently have a published 5 year land housing supply as required by the NPPF,
currently reporting 4.77 years as of 31st March 2018. The NPPF is a strong material consideration in the
determination of planning applications and paragraph 11 states that where an authority does not have an up-
to-date five year housing land supply the relevant local policies, should not be considered up-to-date.
Furthermore, housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits or specific policies in the Framework indicate that development should be restricted.
On the aforementioned basis, other principle planning issues for the application are considered below.

1.3  The site is immediately adjacent to the built up part of Scarning which has few or no services apart from
a good bus service (No. 10, 20 and XL).

1.4 The development would be well related to the existing care home and it would enable staff to work
between the existing premises and to provide care for the new properties.

1.5 A planning balance exercise will therefore need to be undertaken due to the unsustainable location. This
is done at the end of the report to consider all relevant matters.

2.0 Impact Upon the Countryside and Setting of the Village

2.1  The site is 0.6ha and is located within the countryside, however, is immediately adjacent to the built up
part of Scarning. The site is set away from the adopted highway and has existing screening to the north, east
and southern boundaries by existing mature trees and hedges. Due to these aspects and features of the site,
it will only be part visible from a small number of local or medium viewpoints including from the PRoW to the
south (Scarning BOAT 8). The site is not in or near or Conversation Area or any Listed Buildings. In addition
to these existing features, the development is proposed by the applicant to be limited to 1 1/2 storeys
maximum which would be controlled by condition. Based on the foregoing, the harm in this respect is
considered minimal and would only result in a very minor conflict with Policy CP 11.

3.0 Density

3.1 In relation to density, the proposal equates to 40 dwellings per hectare. Policy DC2 stipulates that a
density of 22-30 dwellings per hectare are appropriate in rural locations. This is therefore a non-compliance,
however, given the C2 housing with care use, it not considered that this is a reason for refusal. For example,
many of the units will be terraced, shared gardens are appropriate as it reduces maintenance responsibilities
for the residents and less stretches of road will be required.

3.2 A further consideration is paragraph 123 of the NPPF which advises that where there is a housing land
supply shortfall, decisions should avoid homes being built at low densities and developments should make
the optimal use of sites. On this basis, the density of development is considered appropriate and is an
efficient use of land.

4.0 Highways

4.1 NCC Highways have not objected to application and have recommended a condition relating to the
delivery of turning and parking areas. The access arrangements and parking at not suitable as currently
submitted due to issues including lack of pedestrian access. The applicant has removed details of site layout,
appearance and scale from the application so that an appropriate layout can be agreed at the reserved

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 169



matters stage.

4.2 A neighbour has raised concern in respect of highways safety due to the increased traffic in context of
existing speeding and the site entrance being opposite a bus stop. Highways have not objected on this basis,
and it is noted that the Care Home benefits from existing visibility splays onto Dereham Road. Furthermore
the government mapping system shows no recorded incidents outside the care home, with only 1 incident in
the vicinity from 2014 which was categorized as "slight". It is therefore considered that the increased in traffic
in this location is acceptable.

4.3 The private access track is narrow and does not allow for vehicles to pass. To prevent vehicles having to
back up including onto Dereham Road, the applicant has agreed to provide 3 passing places. This is
considered to successfully deal with this matter and the tree officer has not objected to these proposals
which were supported by a Arboricultral Impact Assessment. Whilst these passing places are outside the
redline, they are within the applicant ownership and therefore are deliverable and should be required prior to
first occupation.

4.4 Parking will be reserved for future consideration, however, it is likely that 1 space per dwelling would be
acceptable for an extra car scheme. With a density of 40 dwellings per hectare delivering 1 car parking space
per dwelling is achievable.

4.6 Based on the foregoing, the proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policy CP 4 and paragraph
108(b) of the NPPF.

5.0 Trees

5.1 Trees and hedges border the site and a revised indicative layout has demonstrated that the site can be
developed whilst retaining the only category B tree on site (no category A).  The proposal complies with
Policy DC 12.

6.0 Ecology

6.1 The application has been supported by a Ecology Report. The reports sets out that their is potential for
reptiles on site. The Council's ecology consultant has not objected to the application subject to conditions to
protect reptiles from the development works and enhancement and mitigation measures.  Subject to
application of the recommended conditions, the ecological impact is acceptable and complies with Policy
CP10.

7.0 Design, Scale and Residential Amenity

7.1 Design will be reserved for future determination. In relation to scale, up to 1 and half storey is proposed.
This is considered acceptable in the context of the care home and will reduce visual impact upon close and
medium viewpoints.

7.2 The new units are away from any existing neighbours bar the on-site bungalow. There is sufficient space
to protect the amenity for this bungalow and for the new residents. Three existing neighbours are adjacent to
the private track entrance for the development connecting to Dereham Road. The track will have additional
traffic from the development and associated vehicle noise. However, the vehicles will be driving at low speed
and the introduction of passing places will enable users to quietly and quickly pass other site users. The
increase is noise is considered within acceptable parameters and accords with Policy DC 1.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 170



8.0 Contamination

8.1 The Council's Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the submitted information and have raised no
objection subject to a condition for pre-commencement site investigation and remediation if necessary
together with unexpected contamination. On this basis, the development is acceptable in relation to
contamination and compiled with Policy CP 9.

9.0 Flooding and Drainage

9.1 The site is within Flood Zone Risk 1 which has the lowest risk of flooding from rivers and sea as identified
by the governments mapping system. The risk of ground water flooding is identified by the same system as
very low with the northern site boundary as low to high.

9.2 The submitted Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment details an indicative drainage strategy of discharging
water to the existing ditch network. Further works must be done to determine that drainage cannot be dealt
with on site (as raised by Anglian Water), however, it is considered there is at least one way the surface
water can be dealt with  without causing risk of flooding on site or off-site. The information is insufficiently
detailed to approve the drainage strategy at this stage, and it recommended that a detailed drainage strategy
is required to be submitted with the reserved matters application as it likely to affect the site layout.

9.3 The LLFA have not commented on the application due to it falling under their threshold for comment.

9.4 The development is acceptable in respect of flooding and drainage and accords with Policy DC 13.

10.0 Housing Mix and Tenure

10.1 The development proposes assisted care residential units, which fall within Use Class C2.  The
household of each unit would be required to purchase a minimum of 2.5 hours of care per week (or
equivalent scaled up) from the Care Home. The units would be secured as rental tenure.

10.2 The development would provide for a specific need, and Care Home operators are well placed to
understand demand in this location from applicants and enquirers they have received. The applicant has
submitted a Demographic Research & Needs Analysis Report which details that within a 30 minute drive
catchment area the population of over 65s in the area is expected to rise by 35.2% equating to 9,005 people
by 2032. This in turn would result in a need for 759 enhanced extra care units. They further detail a limited
number of existing extra care facilities in the catchment area.

10.3 The analysis does not appear to be correct, given that for the whole of Breckland the council are only
expecting a need for 15,298 new homes between 2011 and 2036, and it is highly unlikely 9,005 of these are
for older persons in a 30 minute drive from Scarning. Looking at other sources of information, the Norfolk
County Council's Living Well, Homes for Norfolk document (July 2018) advises that Breckland has 1,042
extra care/ sheltered units as of 2015, however, has a need for 2,519 units. Looking forward to 2036 there is
an estimated need of 4,562. The report specifically references Dereham as a location in particular need of
extra care homes. As aforementioned, the site is 5 minutes drive from Dereham and would therefore would
be within the catchment to serve the market town. On this basis, there is a demonstrable and strong need
which is a strong material consideration and the development would serve a useful and pressing purpose.

10.4 The affordable housing would not be required for Use Class C2 Housing, as recently confirmed by the
Planning Inspectorate via their decision reference: APP/J0405/W/17/3181140 for a 72 unit extra care
proposal in Aylesbury Vale District Council. Housing have responded to this application and advised no

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 171



 

 

affordable would be required if falling within use Class C2. It is therefore confirmed no affordable housing
could be required for the proposal and does not conflict with Policy DC  4.

11.0 Open Space and Infrastructure

11.1 No public open space is proposed, however, shared or private gardens can be agreed at reserved
matters stage. Policy DC 11 does not provide guidance on open space requirements for extra care housing,
and it is considered unreasonable to impose a requirement for childrens play space or off-site sports as the
residents are unlikely to give rise to any substantial need/ demand for these types of facility. On this basis, no
obligation for open space is considered appropriate.

11.2 Norfolk County Council have requested 1 fire hydrant and library contributions. These are considered
reasonably related and should be secured by planning condition and S106 as appropriate.

12.0 Conclusion/ Planning Balance

12.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of the
settlement boundary of Scarning. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as
required by the NPPF and this development would provide a reasonable contribution towards
Breckland's Housing supply. Furthermore, it would provide extra care housing for which there is a strong and
demonstrable unmet need, and is in proximity of Dereham which has been identified at most need within
Breckland.

12.2 The site would be well related to an existing care home, which has economic and sustainability benefits
due to the ability to share facilities and staff from this existing business and home. For example, shared office
facilities, staff break rooms and staff. This reduces the need for vehicle moments for example, when a carer
needs to visit a resident as they can walk across from the care home.

12.3 The site is not in a very sustainable location, however, is within 5 minute drive of the market town of
Dereham and the village benefits from a regular bus service. As such, the location is considered a minor
negative of the proposal.

12.4 The development is set back from the road and benefits from screening. It may be visible from some
vantage points such as the PRoW, however, the intrusion will be minor due to the screening and low height
of the development.

12.5 On balance, the harm arising from the development is not significant nor demonstrable, and as per
guidance provided by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, should be approved subject to conditions and S106
agreement.

RECOMMENDATION

Approval subject to conditions and S106 legal agreement.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of all Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration
of TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 172



begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.

Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.

Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Maximum Height
No dwelling shall exceed 1½ storeys in height.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policies DC16
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.

5 Construction Method Statement
No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:

i.             the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
ii.            loading and unloading of plant and materials
iii.           storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iv.           wheel washing facilities
v.            measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
vi.           a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works

Reason for condition:
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development in the interests of
the amenity of the area and to ensure a safe development from the outset of the
development.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 External materials and samples to be approved

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 173



Prior to any construction works above slab level details and samples of all external materials
to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Only such agreed materials shall be used in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Hardlandscaping - details and completion
Prior to any construction works above slab level details of  the hard landscaping shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such approved works
shall be completed in all respects before the occupation of the development hereby
permitted and thereafter retained.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance, drainage and usability of the development, in
accordance with Policy DC01 and DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Tree Protection Plan
The first reserved matters shall include the submission of an updated Tree Protection Plan
and Arboricultural Impact Assessment.

No commencement of development shall take place until the tree protection works and any
pre-emptive tree works required by the reserved matters approved Arboricultural Impact
Assessment or Arboricultural Method Statement have been carried out and all tree
protection barriers are in place as indicated on the Tree Protection Plan.  Works shall not
commence until written confirmation has been obtained from the appointed arboriculturalist
to confirm that tree protection is in place as specified.

The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition for the duration of
the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or
otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and
surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the local planning
authority has been sought and obtained.

Reason:-
In order to safeguard trees, in accordance with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009

9 Landscaping - details and implementation
The reserved matters as specified by Condition 2 of this decision, shall include details of a
landscaping and tree planting scheme, which shall take account of any existing trees or
hedges on the site. The landscaping and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance
with the scheme as approved during the planting season of the November/March
immediately following the commencement of the development, or within such longer period
as may be agreed in writing, with the Local Planning Authority, and in accordance with the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 174



Council's leaflet "Tree pack" (Landscaping advice for applicants).

Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the
landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced during the next planting season with others of the same size and species unless
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission and having regards to Policy DC 16
and DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Precise details of surface water disposal
As part of the first reserved matters application a surface water drainage scheme shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved
scheme will be implemented and made available for use prior to first occupation of the
development and shall be maintained in perpetuity.

1. Dimensioned plans and drawings of all aspects of the surface water drainage system;

2. Infiltration testing on the site in accordance with BRE 365, and the use of infiltration as the
means of drainage if the infiltration rates and groundwater levels show it to be possible;

3. If the use of infiltration is not possible then modelling shall be submitted to demonstrate
that the surface water runoff will be restricted to greenfield rate equivalent 1 in 1 year, 1 in
30 year and 1 in 100 year rainfall events plus climate change.

4. Modelling of the surface water drainage scheme to show that the attenuation/infiltration
features will contain the 1 in 100 year rainfall event including climate change;

5. Modelling of the pipe network in the 1 in 30 year rainfall event to show no above ground
flooding, and modelling of the volumes of any above ground flooding from the pipe network
in a 1 in 100 year climate change rainfall event, along with topographic plans showing where
the water will flow and be stored to ensure no flooding of buildings or offsite flows;

6. Details of who will maintain each element of the surface water system for the lifetime of
the development, and submission of a maintenance schedule. The scheme shall be fully
implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the timing / phasing
arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently
be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority;

7. Infiltration systems shall only be used where it can be demonstrated that they will not
pose a risk to groundwater quality.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development. This condition is
imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 175



This condition will require to be discharged
11 Passing Places

Prior to first occupation of the development the three passing places shown on approved
plan reference 19 1641 TPP 01, titled Tree Protection Plan within the submitted
Arboricultural Planning Report dated 07/03/2019 shall be provided in full and thereafter
maintained in perpetuity.

Reason for condition:-
To facilitate the safe and free-flowing traffic entering and leaving the site from the adopted
highway, and within the site, having regards to Policy CP 4 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

12 Internal Road Surfacing
Prior to commencement of works above slab level, details of surfacing of the internal road
and car park to serve the development and which connects from the development site to the
adopted highway will be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
The approved details will be implemented in full prior to first occupation of the development
and thereafter retained in perpetuity.

Reason for condition:-
Details required at an early stage to ensure that an appropriately surfaced internal road and
car park is provided to serve the permitted 24 assisted care units for the benefit of the
occupants, staff and visitors having regards to Policies CP 4 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

13 Parking and turning areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed parking and
turning areas shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance
with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.

Reason: -
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas having regard to
Policy CP 4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.

14 Contaminated Land - Desk Study/Site
Investigation
Unless otherwise first agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the
development hereby approved:

A. Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 176



and proposal of the preferred option(s).

B. Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.

C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. Following completion of
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report (referred to in
PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried
out must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. This condition has
regard to Policy CP 9 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process. During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks. Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed. In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met..
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Reptiles Method Statement
No development shall take place (including any demolition or ground works or site
clearance) until a method statement for reptiles has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance
with the approved detail.

Reason: -
Details are required prior to commencement in the interests of safeguarding protected
species and protecting and enhancing biodiversity  in accordance with Policy CP10 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 177



2009.
16 CEMP: Biodiversity

No development shall take place (including demolition ground works, vegetation clearance)
until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP shall include
the following:

· Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;
· Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones';
· Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction;
· The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features;
· The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to
oversee works;
· Responsible persons and lines of communication;
· The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person;
· Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

The approved CEMP: Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented through the
construction works strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:-
Details are required prior to commencement in the interests of safeguarding protected
species and protecting and enhancing biodiversity  in accordance with Policy CP10 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

17 Biodiversity Enhancement Plan
Prior to development above slab level, a biodiversity enhancement plan shall be submitted
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, detailing the enhancement
measures for biodiversity on site. The biodiversity enhancement plan should include details
and locations of the enhancement measures outlined in principle in section 5 of the
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Waterman Infrastructure & Environment Limited;
September 2018). The measures shall be carried out strictly in accordance of the approved
scheme and delivered in full prior to first occupation of the development.

Reason:-
In the interests of safeguarding protected species and protecting and enhancing biodiversity
in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

18 Ecology Report Compliance
The development must proceed in full accordance with the mitigation measures outlined in
section 5 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Waterman Infrastructure &
Environment Limited; September 2018).

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding protected species and protecting and enhancing
biodiversity  in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 178



Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
19 External Lights

No external lighting shall be installed without prior written approval from the Local Planning
Authority. Only such approved lighting shall be installed.  Such lighting shall be kept to a
minimum for the purposes of security and site safety, and shall prevent illumination of
mature trees and boundary hedges, and shall be:

1) fully shielded (enclosed in full cut-off flat glass fitments)
2) directed downwards (mounted horizontally to the ground and not tilted upwards)
3) be sensor operated
4) white light low-energy lamps (LED, metal halide or fluorescent) and not orange or pink
sodium sources

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of amenity and reduce disruption to commuting/ foraging bats and  to limit
light pollution having regard to Policies CP 9 and CP 10 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and paragraph 180 of
the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

20 Fire Hydrants
No development above slab level shall take place until a scheme has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the provision of a fire hydrant (served
by mains water supply) serving the development.  No dwelling shall be occupied until the
approved hydrant(s) for that Phase have been provided in accordance with the approved
scheme.

Reason for condition:-
In order to secure the provision of fire hydrants to serve the development.
This condition will require to be discharged

21 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 179



 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 180



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0139/F CASE OFFICER Naomi Minto

LOCATION: SCOULTON APPNTYPE: Full
Cherry Trees Ellingham Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Scoulton ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Mark & Margaret Brown
Cherry Trees, Ellingham Road Scoulton

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: ADM Architectural Services Ltd
Flint Cottage Shropham Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: One new bungalow with garage and a self contained annexe to the existing dwelling

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to Planning Committee as the proposal is a departure from Policy.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of development
- Design and impact on character and appearance of the area
- Impact upon amenity
- Highway safety
- Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks consent for the construction of a two bedroom detached single storey annexe and
parking provision, ancillary to the existing host dwelling (Cherry Trees) and one new detached single storey
four bedroom dwelling with detached single storey double garage on garden land to the north of the Cherry
Trees.  Access to the annexe and dwelling would be via an existing access onto Ellingham Road.  Materials
proposed to be used in the construction of the annexe and dwelling include facing brick (bungalow),
featheredge weatherboard (annexe), clay pantiles (bungalow and annexe) and white UPVC windows and
doors (bungalow and annexe).

SITE AND LOCATION

The site extends to approximately 0.14 hectares and is rectangular in shape.  It is currently used partly as
garden land and partly for the storage of caravans, cars and other material.  There is also a storage shed on
site.  The site is characterised by Ellingham Road to the east with open agriculturlal land beyond, the host
dwelling (Cheery Trees) to the south, a single storey dwelling to the north and open agricultural land to the
west.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 181

Agenda Item 9q



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2012/0587/O Refusal 22-08-12
Erection of two 3 bedroom bungalows

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable

CONSULTATIONS

SCOULTON P C
No objection.  In support of.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection, subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 182



 

 

 

 

No objection, subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection.

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice was erected on 18 March 2019 and three neighbours were consulted.  No representations were
received.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  This application seeks consent for the construction of a two bedroom detached single storey annexe and
parking provision, ancillary to the existing host dwelling (Cherry Trees) and one new detached single storey
four bedroom dwelling with detached single storey double garage on garden land to the north of the Cherry
Trees, Ellingham Road, Scoulton.  The Design and Access Statement submitted in support of the application,
indicates that the annexe would be used to provide essential independent supported living for the applicant's
daughter who has a number of serious ongoing medical conditions and currently resides in the static caravan
on the application site.  It also indicates that the purpose of the proposed new dwelling is to sell it and fund
the building of the annexe.  The site sits outside of any defined settlement boundary.  Therefore, the proposal
is contrary to Policies SS1, DC2, CP1 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

1.2  However, paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019) states that where an
authority does not have an up-to-date Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local
policies for the supply of housing, as referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3  The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2017 was published in July 2017.
This outlined that the District did not benefit from having a five year supply of housing land (it could only
demonstrate a 4.6 years housing land supply).  A further update on the Council's 5 year housing land supply
was issued on 30 July 2018 advising that the Council could demonstrate a 4.77 year housing land supply.
However, this still falls slightly below the required 5 years.  In these cases the NPPF makes provision, in
principle, for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within defined Settlement
Boundaries.  This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including securing
sustainable development, protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4  The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision-takers and is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development.  The
Government outlines three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental
(paragraph 8).  These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

- an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that
sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 183



innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

- a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and
range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a
well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and

- an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.5  Paragraph 9 of the NPPF (2019) states that these objectives should be delivered through the preparation
and implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the NPPF.  Planning policies and decisions
should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area.

1.6  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide one new dwelling and an
annexe to the existing dwelling and would therefore make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing
supply.  The proposal would provide limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain
demand required during construction.  However, given the small scale nature of the development these
benefits are not considered to be significant and not definitive in this instance.

1.7  The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a
high quality built environment with accessible local services.  The application site is located away from
services and facilities required to meet day-to-day needs.  The nearest bus stop is approximately 0.2 miles
walk from the site and serves four different bus routes, with regular services connecting the site to the wider
area, including Norwich.  The nearest settlement is Hingham (approximately 3 miles to the east of the site),
which provides some services and facilities to meet daily requirements.  The site is not located within a
defined settlement boundary and is therefore in the countryside.

1.8  The next nearest settlements are the market town of Watton (approximately 4 miles away) and Griston
(approximately 4.5 miles away).  These settlements provide additional facilities, including education,
employment, leisure and healthcare services.  However, given the distances to these villages and town,
along predominantly unpaved and unlit highway with varying speed limits, the development will give rise to
the need to travel by private vehicle, which is a negative of the scheme.

1.9  Paragraph 78 of the revised NPPF encourages housing in rural areas where it will enhance or maintain
the vitality of rural communities, for example, development in one village may support the services of a
nearby village.  As discussed above, these villages/town have a wider range of services and facilities and
would require relatively short car/bus trips to access.  Furthermore, the NPPF aims to avoid isolated homes
in the countryside and recognises that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary
from urban to rural areas.  Whilst it is acknowledged that future residents would likely rely on the use of
private vehicles to meet their daily needs, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an isolated
new home.  In addition, the proposal would represent infill, using garden land and would provide potential for
future occupants to support services and facilities in nearby villages and towns, therefore enabling rural
communities to prosper.

1.10  In terms of the environmental objective, the site is located outside of any defined settlement boundary
on garden land with residential neighbours on either side.  It is considered that the site represents an infill

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 184



plot and if developed sensitively would not appear out of character with the immediate area, having regard to
Policy CP11 of the adopted Core Strategy.

1.11  In light of the above considerations, the annexe element of the proposal is considered acceptable, in
accordance with Policy DC2 and subject to the provision of a condition restricting its use to an annexe only.
In respect of the proposed new dwelling, it is accepted that this element of the proposal is not compliant with
Policies DC2, CP1 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy.  However, the moderate harm caused by the
site's location, away from services and facilities for a single dwelling would not significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, having regard to the infill nature of the proposal on garden land and the contribution it
would make to the Council's lack of a five year housing land supply.

2.0  Design and impact on character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural built and historic environment.  Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable development.  Policy DC16 of the adopted Core Strategy requires all new
development to achieve the highest standard of design.  As part of this, all design proposals must preserve
or enhance the existing character of an area.  Consideration will also be given to the density of buildings in a
particular area and the landscape / townscape effect of any increased density.

2.2  As already stated, the application proposes the erection of a detached single storey, two bedroom
annexe and one detached single storey four bedroom dwelling and detached single storey double garage on
land to the north of the host dwelling, known as Cherry Trees.  Materials proposed to be used in the
construction of the annexe and dwelling include facing brick (bungalow), featheredge weatherboard
(annexe), clay pantiles (bungalow and annexe) and white UPVC windows and doors (bungalow and annexe).
It is noted that the application form does not include details of the proposed colours of external materials.
However, in general, the materials proposed are considered to be in keeping with the adjacent dwellings as
well as other properties in the vicinity.  Furthermore, it is considered that the scale and form of the proposed
annexe and dwelling are sympathetic to the area.  The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance
with Policy DC16 of the adopted Core Strategy, subject to a condition restricting the dwelling and annexe to
single storey only.

3.0  Impact upon amenity

3.1  Policy DC1 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to protect residential amenity and states that all new
development must have regard to amenity considerations.  Development will not be permitted where there
are unacceptable effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  Given the single storey nature of the scheme, the relationship of the proposed annexe and dwelling to
neighbouring dwellings and private open space is such that visual dominance, loss of light, overlooking and
overshadowing impacts all fall within acceptable parameters.  The small scale nature of the development will
ensure that the proposal does not give rise to any undue noise, odour or other form of disturbance.  It is
therefore concluded that the proposal will maintain an acceptable level of residential amenity for existing
residents and future occupants, consistent with Policy DC1.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  The Local Highway Authority advises that the site lies in a location with extremely limited services and
amenities and any residents of the new dwelling would be highly reliant on travelling by private car to access

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 185



 

 

services and amenities on an everyday basis.  It also acknowledges that the site is congested with vehicles
and a caravan, of which we are advised is occupied by the applicant's daughter.

4.2  In addition, the Local Highway Authority has considered a revised plan submitted by the applicant, which
includes additional parking and turning arrangements for the existing dwelling, as well as the proposed
dwelling and annexe.  Proposed parking provision for the existing dwelling is considered to be an
improvement on the existing situation.  On that basis, the Highway Authority has not raised an objection to
the proposal, subject to the inclusion of conditions.

5.0  Other matters

5.1  The Tree and Countryside Officer raised no objection to the proposal.  It is therefore considered to be in
accordance with Policy DC12 of the adopted Core Strategy, which seeks to preserve the District's trees,
hedgerows and other natural features.

5.2  Policy CP9 of the adopted Core Strategy seeks to ensure that development minimises any unavoidable
polluting effects and the development's design should actively seek to minimise or mitigate against all forms
of pollution.  The Contaminated Land Officer raised no objection to the proposal, subject to the inclusion of
conditions.  The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy CP9.

6.0  Conclusion

6.1  When considering the overall planning balance of the scheme, whilst it is acknowledged that the
application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any defined
settlement boundary and is not in a sustainable location, the proposal would contribute to the District's
shortfall in housing land supply and represent an infill plot on garden land, with neighbouring residential
development either side of the site.  Furthermore, the impact on the character and appearance of the
countryside is considered acceptable in this instance.  Accordingly, the application is recommended for
approval, subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

The application is recommended for approval, subject to the conditions listed below.

CONDITIONS

2 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 One dwelling only

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 186



This permission shall relate to the construction of one single storey dwelling and one single
storey annexe only.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the development of the site is compatible with the character of the
surrounding area.

5 Use as ancillary accommodation only
The annexe hereby permitted shall not be occupied at any time other than for purposes
ancillary to the residential use of the principal dwelling, known as Cherry Trees. At no time
shall the development be used, sold, leased or occupied independently from the principal
dwelling nor shall the common ownership or occupation of the development and principal
dwelling be severed.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development which has
been permitted, in accordance with policy DC 2 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009, to meet a specific
personal need and where the occupation of the annexe as a separate dwelling would be in
conflict with the settlement policy and/or result in a sub-standard layout of land, contrary to
policies CP 14 and/or DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

6 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Contaminated Land - Desk Study/Site
Investigation
Prior to the commencement of the development, the following details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
A.  Desk Study
A desk study and risk assessment to determine the risk of any contamination on the site,
whether or not it originates on the site.  The desk study and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 187



The report of the findings must include an assessment of the potential risks to human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
B.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include (i) the same details as in part A
above (ii) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and (iii) an appraisal of
remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
C.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
D Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development to ensure that risks
from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised,
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors from the outset of the development.
INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 188



accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access crossing over
the verge shall be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be first agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the highways specification
TRAD 5 and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan.  Arrangement
shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposal of separately so
that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Access - combined, configuration and
gates/bollards
Any access gates/bollard/chain/other means of obstruction shall be hung to open inwards,
set back, and thereafter retained a minimum distance of 5 metres from the near channel
edge of the adjacent carriageway. Any sidewalls/fences/hedges adjacent to the access shall
be splayed at an angle of 45 degrees from each of the outside gateposts to the front
boundary of the site.
Reason for condition:-
 In the interests of highway safety enabling vehicles to safely draw off the highway before
the gates/obstruction is opened.
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

13 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 189



 

Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

14 External colour to be agreed
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level details of the external colour
finish to the roof and walls shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

19 No PD for classes A B C D & E
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order)
(with or without modification), no extensions, roof alterations, porches or ancillary buildings
as defined within Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of that Order shall be
erected or brought onto the land unless an appropriate planning application is first submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development and/or the amenities of
adjoining residents in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 190



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2017/0878/F CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: STOW BEDON/BRECKLES APPNTYPE: Full
Wayland Farms Ltd POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Cherry Tree Farm, Stow Bedon ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Wayland Farms Ltd
Cherry Tree Farm Stow Bedon

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Clayland Architects
The Glass House Lynford Gardens

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Expand Pig Production to 6990 pigs. Demolish some existing buildings (10 no) & erect 7 new
pig sheds with roof fan ventilation, new roof covering over existing manure store

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is a major as defined by the Council's scheme of delegation. In addition, the application has
been called in by the request of a ward member if recommended for approval.

KEY ISSUES

Principal of Development
Highways
Ecology and Biodiversity
Air Emissions
Contamination and Drainage
Landscape and Character and Appearance of Area
Residential Amenity

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Full planning permission for the demolition of 10 existing buildings and erection of 7 new pig sheds to
accommodate 6990 pigs together with ventilation equipment and new roof for existing manure store. The
development would be for the finishing of pigs, with no breeding or piglets or slaughter on site.

Total building to be demolished have a cumulative floor area of 1,577sqm. The new buildings have a total
floor area of 6,386sqm.

The new buildings would be: 15m in height, 61m in lengh, 4.2m to eave and 7.3. to ridge. The walls are
proposed of metal siding and the roof corrugated metal. There will be new hard standing around the
buildings.

The development constitutes Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) development, as it falls within

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 191

Agenda Item 9r



 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 1, article 17(b) of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017. The application has therefore been accompanied by EIA and EIA Non-Technical
Summary. The Non-Technical Summary details the process and conclusions of how the likely significant
environmental effects have been identified, assessed and mitigated in respect of: Ecology, Surface Water,
Groundwater, Flood Risk, Air Quality, Odour, Noise, Waste,Compliance with Nitrate Vulnerable Zone
Regulations.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is an existing sow farm producing piglets with a capacity of 600 sows. The farm comprises 13
buildings of various sizes and design and hardstanding, extending to 2.9ha. Access to the farm is via a track,
which connects to the Stowlay Lane to the north. Adjacent to the site entrance is numbers 1 and 2 Cherry
Tree Farm Bungalows which are owned by the applicant.

The surrounding land uses are arable agriculture land. The nearest settlement is Stow Bedon 843m to the
north of the main part of the site. The site is not covered by any planning policy designations.

The following are located within the vicinity of the site:

- A Corridor of Movement (840m to the west)
- Ancient Woodland (900m to north)
- The River Thet (200m to east)
- A Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (1,500m
to the west)
- A Special Protection Area Buffer for Stone Curlews (Stone Curlew SPA) (1,900m to west)
- A number of County Wildlife Sites (CWS) the closest of which is 'South-East of Stow Bedon Hall' (340m to
east)
- Grade II* St Botolph's Church (500m to east) & Grade II Listed Stow Bedon House (400m to north)

EIA REQUIRED

The proposed development falls within Schedule 1, article 17(b) of the Regulations, Installations for the
intensive rearing of pigs with more than 3,000 places for production pigs (over 30 kg). The development
therefore is EIA development, where an Environment Impact Assessment is required and has been duly
submitted.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No recent relevant site history.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 192



 

 

 

CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.21 Farm Diversification
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

A legal agreement is required to tie the bungalows at the site entrance to the business or business owner.

CONSULTATIONS

STOW BEDON & BRECKLES P C
Objects to this application on the following grounds:

1. This is a massive increase in the size of the operation. The proximity of the Upper Thet watercourse gives
great concern, and possibly this is why roofing the existing manure store is proposed.

2. These units are situated upwind (SW prevailing) of residential areas. Some residents frequently have to
endure odour issues, although it may be that this is partly due to other (e.g. duck) units in the area, plus the
constant drone from the fans. If these residents already have a problem, then the increase in size is likely to
make matters worse.

3. Breckland Council has recently refused permission for a residential application partly because of the
inadequacy of the access road (Cherry Tree Lane/Sandy Lane) and this refusal was upheld by the Planning
Inspector on appeal. This development will increase traffic on the same road.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions including off-site works.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
No object subject to compliance with the most recent noise and odour management plans that have been
submitted to the Environment Agency.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
We have no objection to the proposed development in principle. Our requirements for the operation of this

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 193



 

 

 

 

proposal will be met through an Environmental Permit (EP).
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection subject to conditions.
NATURAL ENGLAND
We provided the Environment Agency with detailed comments on the Environmental Permit for this
application and are therefore satisfied that, with the permit in place, the application is not likely to lead to a
significant effect on any of the components of Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA), Breckland Special
Area of Conservation (SAC) or the Norfolk Valley Fens Special Area of Conservation (SAC) due to changes
in air quality.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER
No objection.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
No comment.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
No objection no recommended conditions.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER - AIR QUALITY
No objection.

AIR QUALITY OFFICER No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The application was found to be EIA development and following receipt of the Environmental Statement (ES)
that application was re-advertised and neighbours re-consulted on 7th March 2019. As the ES has been
submitted after validation of the application, the applicant erected a site notice and advertised in the Diss
Mercury in February 2019.

4 local representations have been received raising the following:

- Concern in regards to the additional large vehicle movements with particular regard to pedestrian safety.
- Can the vehicles not use the lane and roads to the east of the farm.
- Development should pay for or towards passing places along Sandy Lane required via 3PL/2017/1309/F,
as the development will increase use of this road .

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principal of Development

1.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of dated piggery buildings and the
erection of 7 modern building which would increase the sites capacity to 6,990 pigs. The application thus
comprises the intensification and expansion of an existing agricultural business.

1.2 Core Strategy Policy SS 1 advises that minimal development predominantly comprising the diversification
of rural enterprises will be accommodated in the countryside. Policy CP 14 sets out that the diversification of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 194



existing rural enterprises and the development of new enterprises where a rural location is either
environmentally or operationally justified will be supported, provided there are no significant detrimental
environmental, landscape, conservation or highway impacts. Policy DC 7 permits employment uses outside
General Employment Areas where they relate to an expansion of an existing business based on agriculture.
Finally, the NPPF 2019 states that planning decision should support  development of under-utilised land and
buildings (para 118) and development of agricultural businesses (para 83).

1.3 The principal of development would therefore comply with all of the Policies listed above together with
paragraph 83 and 118 of the NPPF, and is thus found to be acceptable in principle.

2.0 Highways

2.1 It is understood that the development would result in an average lorry movement of 9.6 per week
(counting in and out separately and summer hay deliveries). However, due to how this type of business
operates, certain weeks in the business cycle would have noticeably more movements than others. In week
14 there would be 15 lorry movements, whereas Week 4 there would only be 4 lorry movements. On top of
these movements, during harvest usually mid July to mid September (i.e. 2 months) there would be an
additional 18 lorry movements per week. Both the average and the busiest week needs to be considered,
with the busiest week being 33 movements which would occur 1 to 2 times a year.

2.2 NCC Highways have not objected to the application and associated uplift in vehicle movements, subject
to conditions including those to secure the widening of Cherry Tree Lane to 5.5m for its first 15m to enable
two large vehicles to pass, together with two passing places along the same road further towards the site.
The applicant has agreed to these and they should be translated into conditions.

2.3 Local residents have raised whether a new access could be created westwards direct to the B1111 or
A1075. This has been considered, but would not be reasonable as the land to facilitate this is not in the
applicants ownership, nor is considered necessary or relateable in scale in context of the number of traffic
movements. Local residents have also asked that certain roads are not used by the vehicles going to and
from the site. Most vehicles will head directly westward to the B1111 or A1075 rather than rural roads to the
east, and therefore a vehicle routing strategy is not considered necessary.

2.4 The site's impact on local junctions and the highways network is considered to be acceptable having
regard to Policy CP 4 and paragraphs 108(b) and 109 of the NPPF.

3.0 Ecology and Biodiversity

3.1 As detailed in the Site and Location section of this report, the site is near to a number of sensitive
ecology/ biodiversity areas including CWSs, an SSSI, SPA Buffer and the River Thet. As such, the
development if uncontrolled could potentially cause harm to these areas as well as any wildlife on or near to
the site.

3.2 The Environment Agency have not objected to the application and have advised that they have liaised
with the site operator in respect of obtaining an Environmental Permit (EP). The supporting EIA document
advised this has now been granted (reference: EPR/UP3936RLN002). The EP includes requirements and
details of:

-  Environment Management system and compliance with published Best Available Techniques (BAT) for
intensive farming operations
-  Noise Management Plan

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 195



-  Odour Management Plan
-  Site drainage
-  Manure Management Plan

3.3 Natural England were consulted and provided detailed advice and requirements for the associated, but
non-planning, Environmental Permit. They advised that subject to this Environmental Permit in Place, that the
application is not likely to lead to a significant effect on any of the components of Breckland Special
Protection Area (SPA), Breckland Special Area of Conservation (SAC) or the Norfolk Valley Fens Special
Area of Conservation (SAC) due to changes in air quality.  They had no further comment to make on the
application.

3.4 The Natural Environment Team have reviewed the application and the EIA and have advised that site
management and pollution control measures, including ammonia reduction measures and water run-off
control measures, should ensure avoidance of adverse impacts on nearby designated sites or local priority
habitats both during construction and operation.  The necessary permits issued by the Environment Agency
provide the confidence in these matters. They further advised that no protected species were identified on
site but old swallow nests were present.  As such, a timing requirement for demolition of the building(s)
supporting old swallow nests is recommended in the EIA (paragraph 4.5.13).  In respect of enhancement,
they noted that some enhancements for biodiversity ('net gains') are required in line with the requirements of
the NPPF. The EIA includes some enhancements for biodiversity in paragraph 4.5.14.  NET considered
these are appropriate and should be conditioned as follows:  10x Schweglar artificial, 10x Swallow nest, 2x
barn owl boxes, 10x other bird boxes, and 10x bat boxes.

3.5 The site must operate in compliance with the Environmental Permit and any subsequent agreed
variations. In addition, it is recommended the NET/ ecology conditions are also included if consent is granted.
On this basis, the development has not been found to give rise to harm to ecology or biodiversity on or off
site in accordance with the requirements of Policy CP 10.

4.0 Air Emissions

4.1 The increased operation of the site will increase green house gas omissions from increased vehicle
movements and the increase in number and types of pigs.

4.2 Paragraph 3.3.32-35 of the EIA advises that the average large vehicle movements per week would be
28.4 (inward and outward bound) or 4 per day. This would be an increase of 25.56 movements per week as
the existing large vehicles movements is 2.84 per week.

4.3 In respect of amonia, these have been assessed via computer modelling, and it has been concluded that
there would not be adverse impacts to sensitive ecological sites.

4.4 As under Section 3.0 of this report, Natural England have raised no objection and have advised that the
Environmental Permit will prevent any significant effect on any of the components of Breckland Special
Protection Area (SPA), Breckland Special Area of Conservation (SAC) or the Norfolk Valley Fens Special
Area of Conservation (SAC) due to changes in air quality. The impact from air emissions is therefore
considered to be acceptable having regards to Policies CP 9 and CP 10.

5.0 Contamination and Drainage

5.1 The Contaminated Land Officer has considered the application and raised no objection or requests for
conditions, noting that applicant will be required to submit a closure report regarding the condition of the land

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 196



upon cessation of the activity under the requirements of the Environmental Permit.

5.2 In relation to the drainage proposal, this will also be controlled via the Environmental Permit. The EIA
details that the dirty water from the piggery building will be directed to a dirty water tank which will be taken
off site by vehicle. Clean water will be directed to the River. The LLFA have advised they have no comments
to make on the application.

5.3 The proposal has been found acceptable in respect of contamination and drainage in accordance with
Policies CP 9 and DC 13.

6.0 Landscape and Character and Appearance of Area

6.1 The buildings would have a functional appearance which is considered appropriate for their use. Due to
the existing site being majority brownfield with dated buildings, the visual character will remain similar, albeit
with greater building massing.

6.2 The site is set back from the adopted Highway (B1111 & Cherry Tree Lane) and as currently existing is
only visible from a few vantage points. Due to the set-back from the road, it has very limited visual presence.
The development if granted and built, would also have limited visual presence due to the grouping of the
building and the expansion area being the the rear of the existing further away from the roads again.

6.3 The development would also be visible from the PRoW to the east of the site. However, given the existing
buildings, the difference is not  considered significant.

6.4 On the foregoing basis, the development is considered compliant with Policy CP 11.

7.0 Residential Amenity

7.1 The nearest neighbours are numbers 1 and 2 Cherry Tree Farm Bungalows which are located to the west
of the site access where it meets the adopted highway. These properties gardens are 500m away from the
main site where the pigs will be houses and the delivery area. The bungalows are owned by the applicant
and one of them is let to a member of staff.

7.2 To the north-east is Breckles House (also known as Manor Farm) which garden is 272m away from the
main part of the site, with its rear elevation 390m distant. Between the development and Breckles House is a
poultry/ bird farm which has associated noise and odour. Stow Bedon House (also known as Manor Farm
Cottages) is 411m distant to garden boundary and 451m to rear elevation. Beyond these properties to the
north of Cherry Tree Lane is Prince of Wales Lodge (also residential), this property has two planning
applications which were dismissed at appeal for housing. There are no houses to the west of the site along
Cherry Tree Land where the additional vehicles will travel along.

7.3 Given the separation distances, the sites existing use and dated buildings, and the other livestock farm,
the impact on residential amenity is considered acceptable. To prevent the situation becoming unacceptable
in the future, it is recommended that a S106 agreement is prepared, preventing the 2 bungalows at the site
entrance being sold off to persons not related to the business. This is because future non connected
residents may raise a nuisance objection to the development which may affect its ability to function.

7.4 No objections have been raised in respect on vibrations.

7.5 The development has therefore found to not give rise to harm to residential amenity to unacceptable

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 197



 

 

levels, and is therefore compliant with Policy DC 1.

8.0 Conclusion and Planning Balance

8.1 The development is for expansion of an existing pig farm business which is supported by Policies SS1,
CP14, DC 7 and paragraph 83 and 118 of the NPPF. The principle of development considered to be
acceptable.

8.2 Due to it's remote location away from the highway and limited neighbours, it's existence is not expected
to cause harm to the landscape or neighbours.

8.3 The rigorous EA Environmental Permit process has dealt with the technical matters including impact on
biodiversity area, water systems, contamination and air emissions. As such, the statutory consultees have
not raised an objection.

8.4 The development has found to be policy compliant and no material considerations have been raised
which indicate that the application should be refused. On the foregoing basis, it is recommended the
application is approved subject to conditions and a legal agreement.

RECOMMENDATION

Having taken into account the Environmental Information contained in the EIA and EIA Non-Technical
Summary, together with the application supporting information, in the context of no statutory consultee
objections, approval is recommended subject to conditions and legal agreement.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (3 years)
The development must be begun not later that the expiration of THREE YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.

Reason for Condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 Non-standard condition
No more than 6990 pigs of 30kg or over shall be kept on site, as defined by the redline
shown on the approved Location and Site Block Plan reference 01 Rev B, at any one time.

Reason for condition:-
To prevent unacceptable environmental impacts including to biodiversity and residential
amenity. The development has only been assessed to allow for 6990 pigs, and any increase
would need further consultation with statutory consultees including the Environment Agency.

4 Access Improvements

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 198



Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted the vehicular access indicated for
improvement on drawing number 1717 09 Rev D shall be upgraded / widened in accordance
with the Norfolk County Council Field Type 1 access construction specification for the first 15
metres as measured back from the near channel edge of the adjacent carriageway.
Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.

Reason for condition:-
In the interest of highway safety and traffic movement.

5 Off-Site Highways Works Details
A. Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works shall
commence on site above slab level, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority, until a detailed scheme for the off-site highway improvement works as
indicated on drawing number 1717 09 Rev D have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

B. Prior to first use of the development hereby permitted, the approved off-site highway
improvement works referred to in Part A of this condition shall be completed.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.

6 Nesting Birds
No removal or demolition of buildings, shall take place between 1st March and 30th
September inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check
of vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before the buildings are removed and
provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are appropriate
measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site.  Any such written confirmation
should be submitted to the local planning authority.

Reason for condition:-
For the protection of local wildlife and near to the site having regard to Policy CP 10 of the
Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

7 Ecology Mitigation and Enhancement
The development wishall take place in accordance with paragraph 4.5.14 of the Environment
Impact Assessment dated January 2019. This shall include the erection of the following
either on site, or on adjacent land, prior to first occupation and there after retained in
perpetuity:

- 10 Schweglar artificial
- 10 Swallow nest
- 2 barn owl boxes
- 10 other bird boxes
- 10 bat boxes

Reason for condition:-
For the deliver of net biodivertsity gains and mitigation as required by paragraphs 118, 170

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 199



 

and 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, together with having regards to
Policy CP 10 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 200



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1199/O CASE OFFICER Carl Griffiths

LOCATION: SWAFFHAM APPNTYPE: Outline
Land at Princes Street POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Swaffham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Haut Ltd
c/o Agent

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Woods Hardwick Planning Ltd
15-17  Goldington Road Bedford

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of up to 60 dwellings with all matter reserved except access

REASON FOR COMMITEE CONSIDERAT

The application is being reported to committee as it represents a major application by virtue of the site area
and the number of dwellings proposed.

KEY ISSUES

The key issues for consideration in the determination of the application are as follows:

- The principle of development
- Highways
- Character and appearance
- Amenity
- Trees and Ecology
- Land Contamination
- Drainage and Flood Risk
- Affordable Housing

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Outline consent is sought for the redevelopment of the site to provide up to 60 residential dwellings with all
matters reserved except access.

Submitted plans show that a new access would be created with Princes Road being redirected to give a
curved turning into the site. A new priority junction would then be created to allow further access to the west
on Princes Street.

Indicative layout plans show that the residential dwellings would be laid out around an internal site estate
road with an area of open space to the north-west boundary of the site, a surface water attenuation area
adjacent to the south west boundary of the site and a locally equipped area of play (LEAP) adjacent to the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 201

Agenda Item 9s



 

 

 

 

 

south east boundary of the site.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises a plot of land to the south of Princes Road within Swaffham. The land consists
of open grassland with some areas of foliage and tree cover located on the west, south and east boundaries.

To the east of the site is a residential development laid out in a cul-de-sac whilst to the west of the site is
private allotment land which incorporates a historic water tower. To the south of the site is Swaffham Town
Football Club, a bowling green and a cricket pitch.

The land is accessed from Princes Street which runs parallel to the northern boundary of the site with a
number of single storey residential dwellings to the northern side of Princes Street.

The site lies outside of the settlement boundary of Swaffham and the land is designated as a playing field on
the Breckland policies map.

EIA REQUIRED

N/A

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

None

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.05 Affordable Housing on Exception Sites
DC.12 Trees and Landscape

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 202



 

 

 

DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NP Neighbourhood Plan
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

If permission were to be granted, planning obligations would be sought in respect of the following and
secured through a Section 106 Agreement:

- Affordable housing (24 units to be secured)
- Libraries
- Education
- Open Space

CONSULTATIONS

SWAFFHAM TOWN COUNCIL
Swaffham Town Council object to the Outline Application on the following grounds:
1. It is a designated Green Space, identified in the Breckland Local Plan, and forms part of a larger green
space: it is acknowledged there is a shortage of open space in Swaffham.
2. The proposed development is outside the settlement boundary and the current housing needs will be met
by the Local Plan.
3. Strong concerns were raised regarding access restraints on the network of surrounding roads leading to
and from the proposed development
4. At the end of Princes St this is currently designated as a restricted by-way and the Council raise the
question of the legality and ability to amend the privately maintained access road.
5. Additional development would add to the air pollution with more traffic.
6. Access is restrictive to one way traffic due to the width of the current access route
7. Potential ownership of the land at the entrance to the development site is in question.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
Development located above a principal aquifier and appropriate consideration should be given.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
No objection subject to appropriate conditions.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
We endorse the comments made by Norfolk County Council, expressing concern for the impact of the
proposed development on Swaffham RB66, which forms an extension to Princes Road and runs on to join
Shouldham Lane, which leads to a whole network of routes west of Swaffham. We are therefore very
concerned that this development could make the use of this route less attractive to walkers. We also agree
that, should the development get approval, we too would like to see a new Public Footpath created to link the
development to the existing Swaffham Footpath 20.
NATURAL ENGLAND

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 203



No objections.
CRIME REDUCTION & ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER
No objection subject to appropriate conditions.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
With reference to the application relating to the above development, in relation to highways issues only, the
County Council has previously advised that estate scale residential development at this location would not be
considered acceptable due to the sub-standard nature of the local highway network. Princes Street,
Whitsands Road and Cley Road are subject to limited carriageway width for a development of this scale and
nearby road junctions likely to be used by vehicular traffic from this development have sub-standard visibility
to the detriment of highway safety.

Furthermore the proposed site access shown on drawing 17388-SWAF-5-500A does not maintain an
acceptable means of access to 9 Princes Street or indicate whether it is possible to connect the re-aligned
carriageway to the existing kerb line in an acceptable manner, without creating an unacceptable kink in the
carriageway or an unacceptable junction with King Street. As a consequence, notice is hereby given that
Norfolk County Council recommends that permission be refused.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Officers have screened this application and it falls below our current threshold for providing detailed
comment.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection to the principal provided that all category A and B trees as identified within the supplied tree
survey are retained within any layout with foundations outside identified RPA's and with sufficient space
between trees and buildings for there to be no future pressure for either heavy pruning or removal. A impact
assessment, tree protection plan and method statement will be required as part of a reserved matters
application.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
At present a 40% provision is required on sites capable of accommodating 5 or more dwellings and/or
0.17ha. This is then further split into 65% being made available for rent and 35% for shared ownership,
shared equity or any other intermediate product that meets the intermediate definition within NPPF, meets an
identified need in the District and is agreed by the Council. However, NPPF states that affordable housing
should only be sought on developments of 10 or more dwellings or 0.5ha. In this instance 24 units would be
required, 16 for rent and 8 for intermediate housing. I ve noted the applicant has proposed 24 affordable
dwellings in the application, this meets our policy.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions
ANN CHAMBERS (CLUB SECRETARY)
We have concerns due to the fact that our green costs a great deal in time and money to keep it to the
standard that it is, it is a green renowned in the county. We feel that the development could put the leisure
facilities of Myres Field in jeopardy. We have a 6ft fence on our boundary but feel if the project should go
ahead a gesture of goodwill would be for the developer to erect a fence such as the one round Swaffham
Town Rugby Club, this would ensure the safety of our facilities and the well being of any potential invaders
from harm.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
No objection subject to appropriate conditions.
SPORT ENGLAND

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 204



 

 

 

In accordance with Paragraph 011 of NPPG (Article 22 of the Development Management Procedure
(England) Order 2015), Sport England will respond to this consultation within 21 days of the date of
acceptance.

AIR QUALITY OFFICER No Comments Received
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY
COUNCIL

No Comments Received

ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT No Comments Received
NHS ENGLAND MIDLANDS AND EAST (EAST) No Comments Received
NHS ENGLAND MIDLANDS & EAST (EAST) No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Three letters of objection have been received, their comments are summerised as follows:
- There is already allocated areas for development
- The site is contrary to the Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan.
- There are already enough parcels of land within the emerging Local Plan, to provide 900 dwellings by 2026
and it has already allocated a further 700 dwellings over the remainder of the Draft Plan period up to 2036.
- The density of housing proposed is far greater than the surrounding area of King Street and Princes Street.
- A green field site, originally a school playing field, is to be built on when there are currently other sites
available.
- Access by walkers and allotment holders will be more difficult, if not dangerous.
- The development would have a profound detrimental and devastating effect on increased traffic and the
environment.
- Although Princes Street is a two way road, this is on the narrow side and has been used as single file for
around the last 20 years from everyone. The access to/from this road has never been the best as there are
visibility restrictions turning in and out on to the feeder road (Whitsands Road) made worse this year when
part of the road was take away for a new development between Princes Street and Queen Street.
- The proposal of this new development will cause extra traffic pollution, Noise level, and become a increased
hazard for all pedestrian use, due to access to a supermarket opposite the aforementioned visibility
restrictions.
- Considerable strain on the narrower parts of Whitsands Road with additional traffic to any emanating from
Princes Street itself and the proposed development of the land at Princes Street. The submitted traffic survey
fails to consider the potential for an increase in all kinds of traffic affecting Whitsands Road junctions.
- Cyclists could start to use the pedestrianised Plowright Place as a cut through, causing problems and
danger for pedestrians and, if prevented from using Plowright Place, would then start to use the one way
element at the town centre end of Cley Road - against the flow of traffic - to access the Market Place.
- Any person doing a "weekly" shop from Tesco or Waitrose is likely to go shopping in their vehicle to avoid
carrying home heavy shopping bags.
- Cars may illegally use the one way portion of Cley Road, access to the traffic lights at the George Hotel
would be much quicker.  Such traffic would then proceed to Station Street, where an AQMA has already
been declared by Breckland Council. Alternative routes to Tesco and Waitrose are unlikely to be used as
they have their own hazards from narrowing of the roadway with parked vehicles; main road access is much
the easier route.
- Traffic queues in Station Street are likely to be added to by returning site traffic, hence increasing air
pollution from idling vehicle engines.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 205



 

- Congestion in the Market Place from this returning traffic will increase with a potential for more accidents at
the Buttercross junction.

Swaffham Town Bowls Club have also written in with the following concerns:
Our green costs a great deal in time and money to keep it to the standard that it is, it is a green renowned in
the county. We feel that the development could put the leisure facilities of Myres Field in jeopardy. We have a
6ft fence on our boundary but feel if the project should go ahead a gesture of goodwill would be for the
developer to erect a fence such as the one round Swaffham Town Rugby Club, this would ensure the safety
of our facilities and the well being of any potential invaders from harm.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 For decision making purposes, as required by Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, the Development Plan comprises the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, together with the Site-Specific Allocations DPD. Material considerations in
respect of national planning policy are the NPPF and the recently published National Planning Policy
Guidance.

1.2 The site is located outside  the  Settlement  Boundary of Swaffham in  an  area  of  open  countryside  (as
defined  by  policies  SS1,  DC2,  CP1,  and  CP14  of  the Core  Strategy  and  Development  Control
Policies  Development  Plan  Document  2009),  where  development  is  heavily  restricted.    The application
is clearly contrary to these policies.  Furthermore, the site is not being put forward for 100% affordable
housing under the rural exceptions policy DC5.   The proposal should therefore be refused unless there are
material considerations that dictate otherwise.  The lack of a 5-year housing supply carries weight in the
consideration of the application.

1.3 Paragraphs  47  and  49  of  the  National  Planning Policy  Framework  (NPPF)  state  that  where an
authority  does  not  have  an  up  to  date  five  year housing  land  supply  (at  present  the  District figure  is
3.3  years),  the  relevant  local  policies  for  the  supply  of  housing  as  referred  to  above should  not  be
considered  up-to-date  and  that  housing  applications  should  be  considered  in  the context of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.4 The Government defines sustainable development as having three dimensions. These
dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

-economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land of the right
type is available in the right places;
-social, by supporting, strong vibrant and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required to
meet future need in a high-quality environment with accessible local services, and;
-environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

1.5 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because they
are mutually dependent, therefore a balanced assessment against these three dimensions is required.

1.6 In environmental terms, the site is located outside of the Swaffham settlement boundary however does
adjoin the boundary to the north and east. The settlement boundary to the west of Swaffham does not
comprise of a consistent north to south line and tapers to the east. Nevertheless, the site in question is

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 206



designated open space - listed as a 'playing field' on the Swaffham policies map.

1.7 Policy DC11 states that development that would result in the loss of existing sport, recreational or
amenity open space will only be permitted if:

a)it can be demonstrated (through a local assessment) that there is an excess of recreational or amenity
open space in the settlement and the proposed loss will not result in a current or likely shortfall during the
plan period; and
b)recreational facilities within the open space will be enhanced by the proposed development on an
appropriate portion of the open space; or
c)the community would gain greater benefit from the developer providing a suitable alternative recreational or
amenity open space in an equally accessible and convenient location.

1.8 The application has not demonstrated compliance with any of the above criteria and as such is contrary
to Policy DC11. The loss of designated open space without justification or mitigation serves to demonstrate
the lack of environmental sustainability of the scheme.

1.9 In terms of economic and social sustainability, Swaffham provides a good range of services for resident'
day-to-day needs but have limited capacity for expansion in the centre due to the constraints of heritage
buildings and Conservation Areas. Swaffham suffers from congestion in the town centre, with traffic pollution
a problem for pedestrians. Swaffham will provide some 1,000 houses over the plan period.

1.10 The application site itself lies on the edge of the settlement boundary of Swaffham and the key issue at
hand is the accessibility of the site from a highways perspective. Whilst the site does lie on the edge of the
settlement boundary, there are little or no public transport options in the immediate vicinity of the site and no
walking routes to public transport options in the wider area. On this basis it is considered that future
occupiers would be likely to utilise car as the most realistic transport option. As set out in detail within a
subsequent section of this report, the highways authority consider that  estate scale residential development
at this location would not be acceptable due to the sub-standard nature of the local highway network.

1.11 In addition to the above, The Swaffham Neighbourhood Development Plan went out for referendum for
adoption on 2nd May after having been found sound by the LPA and inspector and as such should be
afforded weight in the assessment of the application. One of the aspirations set out within the Neighbourhood
Plan is for development to be distributed to the east and west of the town rather than the north or south to
ensure accessibility to the town's services. Whilst in locational terms the development of the application site
would accord with this aspiration, in qualitative terms the local highway network is not of a sufficient standard
to allow for safe and efficient access to these local services.

2.0 Highways

2.1 The application site is located directly to the south of Princes Street which is a limited width, single road
which runs west from Whitsands Road to the east of the site. The layout of the surrounding road network
combined with the scale of the development and likely propensity for future occupiers to utilise a car would
mean that there would be a significant and demonstrable uplift in the number of vehicles using Princes
Street, Whitsands Road, Cley Road and Shouldham Lane.

2.2 The highways authority have clearly outlined that all of Princes Street, Whitsands Road and Cley Road
are of a substandard nature, being too narrow for two vehicles to safely pass each other at varying widths of
4 to 4.5 metres wide. Additionally the Princes Street/Whitsands Road junction, Whitsands Road/Cley Road
junction and the Shouldham Lane/Lynn Road junction are all sub-standard in terms of visibility.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 207



2.3 Whilst it is acknowledged that the local highway network is existing and is currently in use, the scale of
the development would result in significantly increased usage of the network and the junctions which would
have a commensurately detrimental impact on the safe and efficient operation of the highway. Furthermore,
there is little or no scope for any mitigation to be provided which would alleviate the objection of the highways
authority as a result of a lack of available land to facilitate such improvements.

2.4 At a technical level, the highways authority have also objected to the proposed site access shown on
drawing 17388-SWAF-5-500A which does not provide an acceptable means of access to 9 Princes Street or
indicate whether it is possible to connect the re-aligned carriageway to the existing kerb line in an acceptable
manner, without creating an unacceptable kink in the carriageway or an unacceptable junction with King
Street.

2.5 In addition to the above, it has been outlined in consultation responses that walking route Swaffham
RB66 runs to the north of the site. The route forms an extension to Princes Road and runs on to join
Shouldham Lane, which leads to a whole network of routes west of Swaffham. The proposed access to the
site does not show any consideration of the need to retain and promote use of this route and as currently
proposed could result in harm to its continued use.

2.6 In light of the above, the road network serving the site is therefore considered to be inadequate and -
together with the visibility splays at local road junctions - would give rise to conditions detrimental to highway
safety and contrary to the provisions of Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009 and Para 109 of the NPPF (2018).

3.0 Character and Appearance

3.1 In accordance with Policy DC16 of the Adopted Local Plan (2009), all new development should achieve
the highest standards of design and in assessing any proposal the criteria laid out thereunder will be taken
into account.

3.2 As an outline application, the details of layout and design remain reserved matters. However, as shown
on the indicative site layout, the development would be laid out around an internal site estate road with an
area of open space to the north-west boundary of the site, a surface water attenuation area adjacent to the
south west boundary of the site and a locally equipped area of play (LEAP) adjacent to the south east
boundary of the site.

3.3 The site adjoins residential development to the north and east, the effect of which would be to offset the
visual impact of the development with views of the development from the south and west being subsumed
within views of the existing built development.

3.4 In terms of density in isolation, it is considered that the density is largely appropriate to its context and an
appropriate mix of dwelling size and type could be accommodated, in accordance with Policy DC2 of the
Adopted Local Plan (2009). Nevertheless, the density of the scheme manifests itself in an unacceptable
impact on the surrounding highway network and as such is considered excessive in this case.

4.0 Amenity

4.1 The indicative layout of the development shows dwellings adjoining the north and east site boundaries,
directly adjacent to neighbouring residential properties on Princes Street and King Street respectively. In both
cases however it is considered that the separation distance would be sufficient to ensure minimal impact on

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 208



the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers in terms of daylight, sunlight, outlook or privacy.

4.2 It is acknowledged that the activity from the presence of these new dwellings and the additional vehicular
and pedestrian movements are likely to be perceptible - with reference to the existing context. However, it is
not considered likely to be so intense as to be unacceptable. Again, opportunities for landscaping would also
have a mitigating effect may also be addressed at the reserved matters stage.

4.3 Details of the internal configuration of the proposed new dwellings will be brought forward at the reserved
matters stage. However, it is considered that adequate Gross Internal Area (GIA) can be achieved and -
notwithstanding any changes to the proposed layout which may be required at the reserved matters stage -
the outline proposal indicates an acceptable minimum level of private amenity space for each dwelling.

4.4 In light of the above, for the purposes of this outline application, the scheme is considered to be
acceptable with regard to Policy DC1 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.

5.0 Trees & Ecology

5.1 Again, the final details of landscaping are reserved however details provided at this stage indicate that all
category A and B trees would be retained. The Council's Arboricultural officer consequently has no objection
to the scheme subject to the retention of these trees and subject to conditions being attached if permission
were granted.

5.2 In terms of ecology, mitigation measures are proposed which would reduce the likelihood of impacts on
ecological receptors whilst enhancement measures would also be incorporated into the site design as set out
within the ecology report. NCC Ecology team were consulted on the application and had no objections
subject to relevant conditions being attached to any permission securing the mitigation and enhancement
measures.

5.3 In light of the above - for the purposes of this outline application - the potential impact on trees and
ecology is considered to be acceptable with regard to Policies CP6, CP10, CP11 and DC12 of the Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

6.0 Land Contamination

6.1 As part of the submission, a Contamination Report Desk Study has been conducted (Phase 1 (P17-
160pra) and Phase 2 (P17-160gi) both carried out by Haut Ltd in December 2017). The Council's
Contaminated Land officer was consulted on the application and had no objection subject to relevant
conditions being attached, specifically in relation to an assessment of the ground gas and volatile
hydrocarbons.

6.2 The Environment Agency, whilst making no formal comment, did note that the site is located above a
principal aquifer and as such, risks to controlled waters from contamination should be addressed in
discharging any details.

7.0 Drainage & Flood Risk

7.1 As part of this submission a Drainage & Flood Risk Assessment was conducted. This confirmed that the
proposed development is located in Fluvial and Tidal Flood Zone 1 - subject to very low risk of flooding from
reservoirs or groundwater - though there is some risk of flooding from pluvial sources. However, development

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 209



of the site will not occupy any critical flood plain storage or cause any obstruction to the natural flow of water.

7.2 In terms of surface water, in order to drain 0.80ha of impermeable surfacing during a 1 in 100 year storm
event (+25% climate change) an infiltration basin within an approximate volume of 468m is required and
would be provided located towards the southern boundary.

7.3 Further, it is proposed that foul water flows from the site will discharge via gravity to the Anglian Water
foul sewer network, and it has been confirmed through Anglian Water's consultation response that the
network has the capacity to accommodate such discharges.

7.4 In light of the above and subject to conditions and the discharge of reserved matters - the proposal is
considered to be acceptable with regard to Policies CP5, CP8 and DC13 of the Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

8.0 Affordable Housing

8.1 At the time of the application being made, 40% provision was required on sites capable of
accommodating 5 or more dwellings and/or 0.17ha. This is then further split into 65% being made available
for rent and 35% for shared ownership, shared equity or any other intermediate product that meets the
intermediate definition within NPPF, meets an identified need in the District and is agreed by the Council.
However, NPPF states that affordable housing should only be sought on developments of 10 or more
dwellings or 0.5ha.

8.2 In this instance the site meets the threshold in terms of site area and number of dwellings and 24
affordable units would be required, 16 for rent and 8 for intermediate housing, in order to be policy compliant.
The applicant has proposed 24 affordable dwellings which is in accordance with the aforementioned
requirements. Appropriate mechanisms to ensure the delivery of the affordable housing would be secured
through a Section 106 if permission were the application to be granted.

9.0 Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan

9.1 The Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan was approved at the referendum stage on 2nd May and as such
should be given significant weight in the planning consideration.

9.2 The Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan does not appear to allocate specific sites but relies on the allocations
proposed in the Breckland emerging Local Plan. The Neighbourhood Plan places great importance on
Housing and other development and the expectation that they should contribute towards improving local
services and infrastructure. Also of importance is a sustainable range of housing types for a vibrant mixed
community and an avoidance of further ribbon style development by concentrating development to the east
and west of the town.  This site lies to the west.

9.3 Whilst the Swaffham NP is a material consideration and is acknowledged, the lack of a five year supply of
housing at district level engages the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development and, as the
Swaffham NP does not specifically allocate housing sites the NPPF guidance is clear that the exemption to
paragraph 11d is not brought in to effect:

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) Paragraph 14:

"In situations where the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of
housing, the adverse impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 210



 

 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply:

a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less before the date on which
the decision is made;
b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified housing requirement;
c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of deliverable housing sites (against its five
year housing supply requirement, including the appropriate buffer as set out in paragraph 73); and
d) the local planning authority's housing delivery was at least 45% of that required over the previous three
years".

9.4 Therefore, the exemption against the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the
footnote to paragraph 11 does not come into the determination and on this occasion.  Relevant additional
considerations include; the development should provide a mix of housing - this is an outline planning
application so although the exact mix of housing is not clear at this stage, an appropriate housing mix could
be provided; development should be well designed - the exact design would (in the event this outline
planning application was to be approved) would be considered at reserved matters stage; traffic, air quality,
flood risk - issues, have been outlined above; matters of parking, detailed design, walking and cycling would
all be addressed at a later stage, if the application were acceptable.  It is considered that the relevant
Neighbourhood Plan policies support the recommendation with regards to this application.

9.5 The site lies close to an important feature/historical building identified by the Neighbourhood Plan.
However, the site is sufficiently distanced so as not to harm its setting or significance in accordance with
Policy HBE4 of the Neighbourhood Plan and Policy 16 of the NPPF.

10.1 Conclusion

10.1 The site is located outside of the settlement boundary of Swaffham and would involve development of a
site which is designated as a 'playing field' in the development plan. No justification has been put forward for
the loss of this open space, contrary to Policy DC11, and its loss would be harmful to the open character of
this part of Swaffham and would be contrary to the aims of sustainable development.

10.2 Furthermore, in respect of the anticipated highway implications, the local road network and the
proposed access to the site is considered to be inadequate and would give rise to conditions detrimental to
highway safety and contrary to the expectations of Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009 and Para 109 of the NPPF (2018).

10.3 Taking all of these matters into account, it is concluded that the adverse impacts of the proposed
development would demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme and consequently the proposal would
not represent sustainable development, as defined in the NPPF, and would conflict with the objectives of
development plan policies.

10.4 On that basis, the outline proposal is therefore recommended for REFUSAL

RECOMMENDATION

The proposal is recommended for refusal, for the following reasons.

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 211



 

1 Any highway reason for refusal
The unclassified road serving the site is considered to be inadequate to serve the
development proposed, by reason of its restricted width and restricted visibility at adjacent
road junctions. The proposal, if permitted, would be likely to give rise to conditions
detrimental to highway safety and contrary to Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009 and Paragraph 109 of the
NPPF (2018).

2 Any highway reason for refusal
The application is not supported by sufficient highways information to demonstrate that the
proposed development will not be prejudicial to the satisfactory functioning of the highway
and highway safety contrary to Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009 and Paragraph 109 of the NPPF (2018).

3 Loss of open area
The development of this site would result in the loss of the open space, to the detriment of
the open character and visual amenities of the area and contrary to Policies CP11, DC11
and DC16 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009 and Policies 8 and 12 of the NPPF.

4 Non-std reason for refusal
A lack of information has been provided to demonstrated that the proposal would result in an
acceptable loss of open space contrary to Policy DC11 of the Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009 and Policy 8 of the NPPF.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 212



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1437/O CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: SWAFFHAM APPNTYPE: Outline
Site Adjacent to Tower View Princes
Street

POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

Swaffham ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: M G Property Developments Ltd
Northwold Hall Little London Road

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parsons + Whittley Ltd
1 London Street Swaffham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed Residential Development

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The proposal is sited on the edge, but outside of, the settlement boundary of Swaffham and is therefore
contrary to policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Amenity
Highway safety
Impact on ecology
Other Matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This application seeks outline permission for a three detached dwellings, with all matters reserved other than
access, which would be gained via a new access onto Princes Street.

Whilst in outline, an indicative site layout has been provided to show the layout of the site, which also
indicates 3 dwellings with garage located within each plot.  This also shows the dwellings positioned more or
less centrally within each of the three plots in a linear style with good size rear gardens.  Parking and turning
space would be provided within each plot within the site.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is currently a vacant overgrown piece of land that was last used as allotments located off
Princes Street. The site is adjacent to residential dwellings on one side and sits adjacent to the Settlement
Boundary of Swaffham. The site reflects the size and orientation of the adjacent built form and consists of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 213

Agenda Item 9t



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

approximately 0.16 hectares.  Some vegetation to the site frontage is proposed to be removed to provide
access visibility splays, however the site is very overgrown and in need of some sympathetic tidying and
replacement planting.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.16 Design
NP Neighbourhood Plan
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The site is served by a Public Right of Way ( Swaffham RB66) which is single track in width and has no
public vehicular rights over it. The PROW connects into the adopted highway network via Princes Street
some 200m to the east.

The junction of Princes Street with Whisands Road is substandard by reason of its current, bifurcated, layout
and extent of visibility obtainable. As part of this proposal the applicant intends improving this junction which

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 214



 

 

 

 

would enhance highway safety for all road users.

Whilst this would still result in the intensification of the single track Restricted Byway, it is considered that this
is outweighed by the benefit of the Princes Street/Whitsands Road junction improvement.  However
Swaffham RB 66 is only maintained to pedestrian standard and there is no obligation on the County Council
to maintain the way for vehicular traffic. You will therefore need to consult the County Councils Public Rights
of Way Team, to establish what form of surfacing would be appropriate. If minded to approve details of
parking, turning and construction traffic management will need to form part of the reserved matters
application as well as other appropriate conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
Recommends conditions

ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT No Comments Received
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER No Comments Received
SWAFFHAM TOWN COUNCIL No Comments Received

Natural Environment Team - confirms the Ecology Report submitted is fit for purpose and recommends
conditions.

REPRESENTATIONS

The site notice was placed on site on 11th January 2019 and all nearby neighbours consulted directly.

One representation received outlining the following concerns:
-Traffic concerns, already issues with allotment users and further concerns with proposed development
opposite this proposal.
- Concern regarding access for emergency services given increase of traffic
- What will happen to the Princess Street restricted Byway status.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of development

1.1 This application seeks outline consent for the erection of a three dwellings on land adjacent to Tower
View on Princes Street, Swaffham.  The site lies adjacent to the Swaffham Settlement Boundary where the
principle of residential development is technically unacceptable as it falls just outside of the settlement
boundary.  For this reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new
housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.  The application is therefore assessed against the benefits
provided in relation to the sustainable development tests as set out in the NPPF. However as the site falls
directly adjacent to the boundary the benefits of the proposal including the density, mix and type of dwellings
and the consideration of any perceived harm will be considered in the planning balance in line with the
NPPF.

1.2  The NPPF identifies three dimensions of sustainable development:

-  Economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land is of the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 215



right type and is available in the right places.
-  Social, by supporting, strong and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required to meet
future need in a high quality environment with accessible local services and
-  Environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

1.3  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF also stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because
they are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these three roles is required.

1.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide new development and would
provide some short-term economic benefits through its construction, and longer-term economic benefits
through additional household spend within the surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of
the dwellings.

1.5  In terms of the social role, the site lies outside but is closely related to the Swaffham Settlement
Boundary.  Swaffham is a mid-size Market Town and has a wide range of amenities ranging from 4
supermarkets, GP's, pharmacies and banks, some of which are within walking distance from the site.

1.6  In light of the above, the proposal is considered to meet the economic and social aims of sustainable
development.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3  The application has been submitted in outline with all matters reserved except for access, therefore
design and layout etc. will be fully considered at the reserved matters stage.  Notwithstanding this, an
indicative layout plan has been provided which indicates that at least three dwellings can be accommodated
within the site which provides a road facing development which is prevalent in the area as well as providing a
sufficient plot size for future occupants. The dwellings will not appear unduly prominent in the streetscene.
The application is therefore considered to have regard to Policies DC1 and DC16 of the Adopted Local Plan
as well as having regard to Paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0 Impact on the character and appearance of the area.

3.1 The application seeks outline permission only, with all matters reserved except for access, which is to be
gained from Princes Street.  The proposed plot's would provide satisfactory space therefore to accommodate
3 new dwellings of appropriate size, with good sized gardens.  The form and scale appears acceptable in the
context of the adjacent dwellings and impact on amenity.

3.2 As stated above, the application is in outline only, with all matters reserved except access, therefore the
full impact on the character of the area would be further assessed at the reserved matters stage.  However,
the proposal and indicative drawing illustrates 3 detached dwellings, which provides similar accommodation

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 216



to the dwellings along Princes Street. In addition, the indicative plan shows the dwellings would be situated
centrally within each plot, providing a good degree of separation to the neighbouring dwelling and
boundaries/side elevations, particularly given the existing boundary screening in place. These factors,
alongside the orientation of the site will ensure that the impact on the amenity currently received by
neighbouring occupiers will be minimal, particularly in respect of overlooking, loss of light and over-
dominance.  In addition, the proposal clearly shows that sufficient private amenity space will be available for
the future occupiers.  The application is therefore considered to have regard to Policy DC1.

4.0 Ecology

4.1 An Ecology Report was submitted and the Ecology officer has confirmed that the assessment is sufficient
and the proposal is unlikely to have impacts on designated sites or on their qualifying features. The ecology
officer recommends that the development must proceed in-line with the mitigation measures outlined in
section 8 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Greenlight Environmental Consultancy Limited; October
2018) and, the Enhancement measures outlined in section 8 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Greenlight Environmental Consultancy Limited; October 2018) need to be incorporated into the site's design
to provide net gains for nature (para 170, NPPF). This would be imposed on the planning permission via a
suitably worded condition.

5.0 Highway safety

5.1 Norfolk County Council Highways were consulted and the applicant submitted a revised plan to address
the concerns of the officer and proposed improvements to the junction of Princes Street with Whisands Road
which would enhance highway safety for all road users. The officer comments that whilst the development
would still result in the intensification of the single track Restricted Byway, it is considered that this is
outweighed by the benefit of the Princes Street/Whitsands Road junction improvement.

5.2 The Highways officer also recommended that the Public Rights of Way team are also consulted, however
no response has been received from the PROW team at the time of writing the report and the date for any
response has long since expired.  Highways are satisfied that an acceptable access can be provided and
that the junction improvements will provide an enhancement.  They have no objection subject to conditions.

6.0 Other Matters

6.1 The Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan was approved at the referendum stage on 2nd May and as such
should be given significant weight in the planning consideration.

6.2 The Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan does not appear to allocate specific sites but relies on the allocations
proposed in the Breckland emerging Local Plan. The Neighbourhood Plan places great importance on
Housing and other development and the expectation that they should contribute towards improving local
services and infrastructure. Also of importance is a sustainable range of housing types for a vibrant mixed
community and an avoidance of further ribbon style development.

6.3 Whilst the Swaffham NP is a material consideration and is acknowledged, the lack of a five year supply of
housing at district level engages the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development and, as the
Swaffham NP does not specifically allocate housing sites the NPPF guidance is clear that the exemption to
paragraph 11d is not brought in to effect:

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) Paragraph 14:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 217



 

 

"In situations where the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of
housing, the adverse impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply:

a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less
before the date on which the decision is made;
b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified
housing requirement;
c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of deliverable
housing sites (against its five year housing supply requirement, including the
appropriate buffer as set out in paragraph 73); and
d) the local planning authority's housing delivery was at least 45% of that required
over the previous three years".

6.4 Therefore, the exemption against the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the
footnote to paragraph 11 does not come into the determination and on this occasion when considering the
proposals in this location they are considered, on balance, to be sustainable development which is supported
by the guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

7.0 Conclusion

7.1 In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme, the site lies just outside of the settlement
boundary where the principle of development would not usually be acceptable. However, the application site
is adjacent to the settlement boundary and is acceptable in planning terms, on balance, in all other regards.
The site is low flood risk and is acceptable in proposed scale and density and would not have an
unacceptable impact on the neighbours. Highways and ecology impacts have been sufficiently mitigated and
the Contaminated land officer is content subject to conditions.

7.2 It is noted that development outside the development boundary is not the preferred focus of new housing,
however it is located close to the boundary and adjacent to the existing built form.  The application is in
outline, therefore specific details in relation to design, character and scale have not been submitted formally,
however, the application indicates that three dwellings can be positioned on site, so as not to have an
adverse impact on the overall character and appearance of the area, or the level of amenity currently
enjoyed by existing neighbouring occupiers.  The Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year housing supply
and this proposal for 3 dwellings would be a positive contribution.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions:

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (3 years)
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
THREE YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 218



As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.
2 Standard Outline Condition

No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale, and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Reserved matters to closely follow outline
The Reserved Matters referred to above shall closely follow the submitted  plan no 3418.02
B hereby permitted.
Reason for condition:-
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the satisfactory development of the site in
accordance with the specified approved plans, as required by policies DC1 & DC16 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

5 Non-standard highways condition
As part of the reserved matters submission details of parking, turning and construction traffic
management shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the provision of satisfactory details are provided  having regard to Policies CP4
and DC19 of the Core Strategy.

6 Vehicular access in accordance with detailed
scheme
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan
3418.02 B. Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and
disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.

7 No gates/bollard/chain/other means of
obstruction
Notwithstanding the provision of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order (2015), (or any Order revoking, amending or re-enacting that Order) no
gates/bollard/chain/other means of obstruction shall be erected across the approved access
unless details have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 219



8 Visibility splays
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay measuring
2.4.metres x 59m metres shall be provided to the southern side of the access where it meets
the highway. The splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction
exceeding 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF.

9 Off-site highway improvement works detailed
scheme
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works above slab level
shall commence on site unless otherwise agreed in writing until detailed drawings for the off-
site highway improvement works for the extension of the existing footway as indicated on
Drawing 3418.02 B have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.

10 Off-site highway improvement works completed
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the off-site highway
improvement works referred to in condition 9 shall be completed to the written satisfaction of
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway network is adequate to cater for the development proposed.

11 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in-line with the mitigation measures outlined in section 8 of
the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Greenlight Environmental Consultancy Limited;
October 2018).
Reason for condition:-
In the intrests of biodiversity of the site having regard to Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy
and paragraph 170 of the NPPF( 2019)

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 220



 

13 Non-standard condition
The Enhancement measures outlined in section 8 of the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal(Greenlight Environmental Consultancy Limited; October 2018) shall be
incorporated into the site's design to provide net gains for nature in accordance with details
to be first submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA and thereafter implemented.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of bio diversity of the site having regard to Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy
and paragraph 170 of the NPPF (2019)

15 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 221



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2017/1487/O CASE OFFICER Carl Griffiths

LOCATION: SWAFFHAM APPNTYPE: Outline
Land to the West of Brandon Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Swaffham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Abel Homes Ltd
C/O Agent

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Savills (UK) Ltd
Unex House 132-134 Hills Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: The erection of up to 64 bed care home (Use Class C2), up to 40 assisted living dwellings
(Use Class C2), 650sqm retail use (Use Class A1-A5), up to 160 dwellings (Use Class C3)
with Open Space, associated infrastructure and the detailed means of access (AMENDED
DESCRIPTION).

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is being presented for committee consideration as it represents a major development by
virtue of both the site area and the scale of development.

KEY ISSUES

It is considered that the key issues in the assessment of the application are as follows:

- Principle of Development
- Housing mix and Tenure
- Commercial development
- Design, Scale and Amenity
- Highways and Transport
- Affordable Housing
- Ecology
- Arboriculture
- Flood risk and Drainage
- Landscape and Visual Impact
- Open Space and Infrastructure
- Air Quality
- Neighbourhood Plan

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of up to a 64 bed Care Home (C2 Use), up
to 40 assisted living dwellings (C2 Use), 650 sqm retail use (A1-A5 Use), up to 160 dwellings (C3 Use) with

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 222

Agenda Item 9u



 

 

 

 

Open Space, associated infrastructure and the detailed means of access on the land to the west of Brandon
Road, Swaffham.

Vehicular, pedestrian and cycle access to the site would be provided via the roundabout on Brandon Road
with existing roundabout being re-engineered and increased in diameter from 36m to 40m, with a new fourth
arm providing access to the site.

The development proposes up to 160 dwellings of a mix of sizes and types, with 2, 3 and 4 bedroom
dwellings. Indicative plans show that the predominant height and scale of the dwellings would be two-story.
A central green area would be provided north of the existing woodland, with an additional green corridor
following the existing pipeline easement.

The assisted living dwellings will comprise of a mixture of 1 and 2 bed properties with a personal care
element provided by an on-site domiciliary care provider. Indicative details outline that these will be a mix of
single and two storey buildings. The care home will be a two-storey building with communal gardens and
ancillary community facilities. Resident and staff parking would be provided for both the assisted living
dwellings and the Care Home.

The development also proposes 650 square metres of flexible use commercial space (A1-A5 use) of which it
is anticipated that 371 square metres would be a convenience store with a parade of 3 smaller units of 93
square metres each.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site comprises of 13.01 hectares of agricultural land situated to the south of Swaffham, to the west of
Brandon Road (A1065). Existing, and under construction residential development is located to the north and
east of the site whilst to the west and south of the site is further open agricultural land.

The site predominately comprises of cultivated arable land with some improved grassland and mixed
woodland beyond the application boundary. The application site is located 240m north of the Breckland SPA
and Breckland Forest SSSI. There are no Listed Buildings on, or near to, the site. The nearest Listed Building
lies approximately 1.1km to the east of the site. The site is located beyond the settlement boundary of
Swaffham in the adopted Swaffham Proposals Map (2012). The site is not subject to any other planning
policy designations.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 223



 

 

 

 

CP.01 Housing
CP.03 Employment
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.06 Green Infrastructure
CP.07 Town Centres
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.09 Proposals for Town Centre Uses
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.19 Parking Provision
NP Neighbourhood Plan
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

If permission were granted, a Section 106 Agreement with the applicant would be secured with the applicant
including the following provisions:

- Affordable housing (scheme to be agreed outlining type, amount, tenure, location within development)
- Open space provision, management and maintenance
- Education - £204,000
- Sports contribution - £200,000
- Library contribution - £12,000
- Use Class C2 accommodation to be secured in perpetuity
- NHS contribution - £77,602

CONSULTATIONS

SWAFFHAM COUNCIL
Swaffham Town Council would like to object to the application on the following grounds.

The Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan has now been examined and accepted by Breckland District Council and
the inspector. The following policies relate directly to this application:

HBE1: Location of development Development should be distributed to the east and west of the town, rather

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 224



than the north or south, avoiding further ribbon development, and ensuring the town centre remains easily
accessible from all parts of the town. Any new development should take account of the potential for a
north/south relief road (see TRA2).

ENV1: Air pollution To address the issue of poor air quality the following should be given high priority: i. New
community facilities and amenities should be located away from areas of poor air quality. ii. All developments
should have high levels of tree planting, with a maintenance plan. iii. All major developments should
demonstrate how they will contribute to improving poor air quality.

TRA1: Traffic volume Measures will be supported to reduce traffic volume through Swaffham Town Centre
and the associated air pollution. New residential or business development should not significantly contribute
to an increase in traffic volume within the town centre. All new developments likely to generate significant
traffic movement, should be supported by a transport statement or assessment, which include: i. Quantifies
the level of traffic movements they are likely to generate. ii. Includes measures to mitigate any negative
impacts of congestion, road safety, parking, pollution and Heavy Goods Vehicles. iii. Demonstrates how
sustainable transport options will be encouraged, for example electric car charging points, car sharing and
new public transport provision.

The Neighbourhood Plan supports the delivery of an appropriate future north/south Relief road for Swaffham.
The Swaffham Transport & Access Focus Group would be invited to comment on the traffic related issued
attached to this application. The Town Council welcomes the lower density housing and contribution towards
a sports facility. We acknowledge the air quality mitigation measures and that the removal of the medical
centre will reduce the number of vehicle journeys but the proposal will still add significantly to traffic volume
through the AQMZ. It is also noted that NP policy BUS3 supports the proposed retail development if the
relevant floor area remains under 280m2.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
No objections subject to conditions.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
No comments.
NATURAL ENGLAND
21/12/17
This application has potential to have a significant effect (and potentially an effect on the integrity) of
Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA). It also has potential to have a significant effect on Breckland
Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  Further information is therefore sought.
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST
We have no argument with the findings of the surveys but are concerned that if the application is approved
these will not be translated into suitable mitigation measures.

If the application is approved, measures should be put in place to mitigate for impacts identified within the
ecology reports.

Measures should be put in place on neighbouring farmland to improve nesting habitat for farmland birds. This
is in order to compensate for loss of breeding habitat for red and amber list birds and should not be seen as
optional enhancement but necessary to allow for the application to proceed. Mitigation measures for bats
should be put in place as recommended in the BB&HS Measures to prevent access to the SPA habitats to
the south of the site.
CRIME REDUCTION & ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 225



No objections subject to conditions.
NATIONAL AIR TRAFFIC SERVICES
The proposed development has been examined from a technical safeguarding aspect and does not conflict
with our safeguarding criteria.
SPORT ENGLAND
Thank you for consulting Sport England on the above application. The proposed development does not fall
within either our statutory remit (Statutory Instrument 2015/595), or non-statutory remit (National Planning
Policy Guidance (PPG) Par. 003 Ref. ID: 37-003-20140306), therefore Sport England has not provided a
detailed response in this case.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER
I would highlight that a Public Right of Way, known as Swaffham Footpath 62 is in the vicinity of the site.
Development should integrate into the existing highway network, be that roads, footways or Public Rights of
Way. Consequently, Norfolk County Council Environment Team may require a contribution, proportionate to
the development, towards the improvement of the right of way in order to facilitate an increase in use
NHS ENGLAND MIDLANDS & EAST (EAST)
NHS England has no objection in principle to the proposed development, subject to an agreement of
appropriate mitigation being secured for primary healthcare.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Notice is hereby given that Norfolk County Council would not wish to object to the principle of the proposed
development, accessed from an enlarged roundabout as shown on drawing 225/15/001.
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL
Obligations sought are set out within the Planning Obligations section of this report.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
No objection following clarifications from applicant and confirmation from Anglian Water; subject to
conditions.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Any arboricultural constraints are located around the edge of the site. The central area of the site can be
developed with no significant implications. Any layout should incorporate the category A and B trees
identified within the A.T Coombes survey, with the default position being that no works will be within the root
protection area or canopy spread of retained trees, layout must also take into account future growth and post
development implications relating to proximity of trees to dwellings. An arboricultural impact assessment and
tree protection plan will be required based on final layout.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
The site area and number of dwellings proposed trigger the thresholds of the Council s affordable housing
policy as per DC4 of the Councils Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document.

Confirmation is also required to determine the classification of the 40, C2 assisted living units. Full details will
be required at reserved matters stage to demonstrate their classification as C2 rather than C3. If a suitable
level of additional care is not offered then these units should be added to the total number of C2 units and will
also be subject to an affordable housing requirement

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 226



 

ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER AIR QUALITY
Approval recommended provided the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to
the following conditions to alleviate environmental concerns. The details in the updated review of air quality
are noted however as it is likely that a number of vehicles will pass from the development through the centre
of Swaffham where there is a declared air quality management area with accompanying plan I would
recommend that the applicant is required to introduce measures to promote the minimisation of air pollution
particularly from house heating systems and motor vehicles which rely on petrol or diesel fuels. Such
measures could include the promotion of active travel walking, cycling and the use of public transport plus
the introduction of electrical vehicle charging points within the proposed houses and development to
encourage the use of cleaner modes of transport.
HEALTH & SAFETY EXECUTIVE
At the time of writing this report, the HSE have lodged an objection to the application based on the location of
the site being within the consultation zone associated with Redland Tiles Ltd. Clarification has been sought
from the HSE in light of the hazard no longer being in situ.
MICHAEL RAYNER - CPRE NORFOLK
We have concerns that the proposed development is located 240m from the Breckland SPA and Breckland
Forest SSSI, as acknowledged within the Bird, Bat and Hedgerow Survey Report (8th November 2017),
making this a material consideration. The conducted surveys were not thorough or extensive enough to
prove that the qualifying species are not present.

Other material considerations to be taken into account when weighing up the factors include: the
impracticalities of expecting residents of the new development to walk into the centre of town; the traffic
issues resulting from the increase in vehicles; detrimental economic effects on town centre businesses.

The intent to build on open greenfield should be resisted while other solutions less harmful to the
environment and countryside are investigated. This should be considered particularly in light of the recent
Housing White Paper, Fixing our broken housing market, with its emphasis on the need to develop brownfield
and surplus public land first, as well as considering other solutions including higher density urban housing.
We urge that a register of brownfield sites within the local authority area is completed promptly, so that any
supposed need for development on greenfield can be weighed up against potential brownfield sites, in
addition to weight being given to the range of existing policies within the local plan which do not allow for
such development as proposed under this application.
R S P B
We have considered the proposal in detail along with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations. Given the
information available, we consider that there would be a Likely Significant Effect on the Breckland SPA given
the proximity and that at present, an adverse effect on the SPA cannot be avoided.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY No Comments Received
CIVIL AVIATION AUTHORITY No Comments Received
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 227



 

 

 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT No Comments Received
NHS ENGLAND MIDLANDS AND EAST (EAST) No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

As part of the consultation exercise, 23 objections were received the substance of which can be summarised
as follows:
- Development will add to air quality issues within Swaffham
- Development will increase congestion on Brandon Road and the wider highway network
- The development would increase strain on local health and education services
- The pipeline that runs through the site would create increased risk to future occupiers and ecological safety
- The ecological surveys undertaken suggest there are no protected species on the site which is inaccurate
- The development would exacerbate current levels of ASBO around the site

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 For decision making purposes, as required by Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, the Development Plan comprises the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, together with the Site-Specific Allocations DPD. Material considerations in
respect of national planning policy are the NPPF and the recently published National Planning Policy
Guidance.

1.2 The site is located outside the Settlement  Boundary  in  an  area  of  open  countryside  (as defined  by
policies  SS1,  DC2,  CP1,  and  CP14  of  the Core  Strategy  and  Development  Control Policies
Development  Plan  Document  2009),  where  development  is  heavily  restricted.    The application is
clearly contrary to these policies.  Furthermore, the site is not being put forward for 100% affordable housing
under the rural exceptions policy DC5.   The proposal should therefore be refused unless there are material
considerations that dictate otherwise.  The lack of a 5-year housing supply carries significant weight in the
consideration of the application.

1.3 Paragraphs  47  and  49  of  the  National  Planning Policy  Framework  (NPPF 2019)  state  that  where
an  authority  does  not  have  an  up  to  date  five  year housing  land  supply  (at  present  the  District
figure  is  3.3  years),  the  relevant  local  policies  for  the  supply  of  housing  as  referred  to  above should
not  be  considered  up-to-date  and  that  housing  applications  should  be  considered  in  the context of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.4 The Government defines sustainable development as having three dimensions. These
dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

-economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land of the right
type is available in the right places;
-social, by supporting, strong vibrant and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required to
meet future need in a high-quality environment with accessible local services, and;
-environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

1.5 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because they

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 228



are mutually dependent, therefore a balanced assessment against these three dimensions is required.

1.6 In terms of economic and social sustainability, the development proposes up to 25 full time job
opportunities within the proposed commercial premises along with approximately 60 full time job
opportunities within the care home facility. In addition, the provision of up to 160 new dwellings would provide
and support and enhance local facilities and service provision in an accessible location on the edge of
Swaffham Town Centre. The development would provide pedestrian and cycle access to Brandon Road and
would allow for sustainable access to the broad range of services and facilities within Swaffham Town
Centre.

1.7 In terms of environmental sustainability, full consideration is given to the impact of the development in the
relevant subsequent sections of this report which set out that officers consider the development does
represent an environmentally sustainable form of development.

1.8 Paragraph 47 of the NPPF (2019) requires new sites for housing development to be deliverable, which is
defined as being available now, be suitable in terms of location, and be achievable in respect of housing
being developed on the site within the next five years.  The site is considered to be fully deliverable in the
short to medium term with minimal site clearance or remediation work necessary. The applicant has also
delivered existing residential development adjacent to the site.

1.9 Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the proposal would represent sustainable development,
as defined in the NPPF, would not conflict with the objectives of development plan policies and would be
suitable for residential development. A full planning balance exercise is set out at the end of this report.

2.0 Housing Mix and Tenure

2.1 The development proposes a 64 bed Care Home and up to 40 assisted living dwellings, both of which fall
within Use Class C2.

2.2 It is considered that this part of the development would provide for a specific need, and Care Home
operators are well placed to understand demand in this location from applicants and enquirers they have
received. It is outlined within the application supporting documents that the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing
Market Assessment (CNSHMA) (2015) establishes that the over 60s population is set to increase by 44%
between 2012 and 2036. In addition, the over 85s population is set to increase by 155%. Therefore the
CNSHMA identifies the need for 4,551 communal places in residential care/communal establishments across
the Central Norfolk Housing Market Area.

2.3 It is clear that part of the abovementioned need could be met through the proposed care home and
assisted living dwellings. The provision of this specialist housing is in accordance with adopted Policy DC 2
and draft Policy HOU 09 'Specialist Housing' which seeks new development to reflect the identified need and
for specialist housing to be located in higher order settlements (sustainable locations) such as the Market
Town of Swaffham as identified at paragraph 3.70 of the Draft Local Plan

2.4 No affordable housing would be required for the Use Class C2 Housing, as recently confirmed by the
Planning Inspectorate via their decision reference: APP/J0405/W/17/3181140 for a 72 unit extra care
proposal in Aylesbury Vale District Council.

2.5 In order to ensure that the care home and assisted living facilities are secured in perpetuity, appropriately
worded obligations would be included within the Section 106 Agreement.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 229



3.0 Commercial Development

3.1 The application proposes 650 square metres of commercial floorspace in an out of centre location and as
such Policy CP7 of the Development Plan is relevant. Policy CP7 (a) states that (the vitality of town centres
within the District will be maintained and enhanced) by Restricting retail development, except extensions
under 200m2 gross floorspace, outside the defined centres, unless it can be demonstrated that there is a
need for the development, there are no sequentially preferable sites and no negative impact on the vitality
and viability of the town centre.

3.2 The application is supported by a Commercial Floorspace Assessment produced by Savills which seeks
to demonstrate compliance with the abovementioned policy. The document sets out that there is a deficiency
of convenience retail stores within the vicinity of the application site to serve existing and future residents.
Irrespective of any deficiency, the document goes on to undertake a sequential assessment of sites within
Swaffham Town Centre. The scope of the assessment and the methodology were agreed in advance with
LPA officers and considers the following sites:

-Norfolk House, Market Place
-51 Lynn Street
-2 London Street
-6-8 London Street
-Post Office and Former Sixth Form Centre site, Lynn Street

3.3 For a site to be considered a genuine alternative to the application site, it must be available, suitable and
viable to accommodate the proposed development.

3.4 In the case of Norfolk House, this comprises of a Grade II listed building which was formerly occupied by
Natwest. The assessment sets out that the site is unsuitable to accommodate the proposed retail
development due to its insufficient size and the limitations provided by the listed status of the building.
Officers consider that these conclusions are reasonable and sound.

3.5 51 Lynn Street is currently available and is being marketed for a retail occupier however, the assessment
sets out that the floorspace of 230 sqm is unsuitable to accommodate the proposer retail development.
Officers consider that these conclusions are reasonable and sound.

3.6 2 London Street is a Grade II listed building that was previously occupied by the White Inn Public House
and the Swaffham Social Club. In addition to the site being unsuitable due to the inadequate floorspace of
270 sqm, the assessment also sets out that the site is currently unavailable.  Officers consider that these
conclusions are reasonable and sound.

3.7 6-8 London Street comprises a ground floor retail unit together with rear warehouse and first floor
ancillary accommodation. Whilst the unit is of a sufficient size to accommodate the proposed development,
the assessment sets out that not meet the specific locational requirements for the new residents to the south
of Swaffham Town Centre. As well as being unsuitable locationally, the site is currently under offer and as
such is unavailable. Officers consider that these conclusions are reasonable and sound.

3.8 The Post Office and Former Sixth Form Centre site on Lynn Street has been identified as a potential
redevelopment site by the LPA for a considerable time, however is not allocated for commercial uses within
the adopted or emerging Local Plans. Part of the site is still in operation as a Post Office Delivery Office
whilst part of the site is currently subject to planning permissions to provide residential development. The site
is therefore concluded to be unavailable which officers consider is a reasonable conclusion.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 230



3.9 The Commercial Floorspace Assessments demonstrates that a sequential approach to site selection has
been adopted by the applicant using a robust methodology which accords with the criteria set out in the
NPPF and the PPG. The results of the assessment clearly show that there are no sites within Swaffham
Town Centre which are suitable, viable and available. On this basis, it is considered that the application is
accordant with Policy CP7.  In addition, a shop in this location will support the sustainability of the site and
help to encourage walking and cycling in accordance with the development and NPPF and the scale of retail
proposed is not considered so significant to warrant refusal in this instance.

4.0 Design, Scale and Residential Amenity

4.1 As an outline application, scale and design will be reserved for future determination. However, indicative
details show the development of a largely two storey height is envisaged with some potential for three storey
heights within the site.

4.2 The indicative masterplan of the proposed development demonstrates that the development could be laid
out in a way which would ensure little or no harmful impact on the residential amenity of neighbouring
occupiers.

5.0 Transport and Highways

5.1 The application site is located to the west of Brandon Road (A1065) where there is an existing
roundabout with three arms, one of which serves the Swans Nest residential development to the east of the
road. The proposed development proposes remodelling of the roundabout to provide a fourth arm along with
an increased in diameter from 36m to 40m.

5.2 Norfolk County Council highways were consulted on the application and were of the view that the
remodelled roundabout, with a new arm and associated provision for pedestrian and cycle would provide a
safe and efficient access to the site. The layout of the internal roads within the site were also considered to
be acceptable from a technical perspective subject to appropriate conditions.

5.3 Whilst it is noted from numerous consultation responses that there is some concern with the potential
impact of additional traffic from the development on the safe and efficient operation of the A1065, the
Highways Authority have undertaken a full assessment of the submitted Transport Assessment and are
content.

5.4 Subject to the highway works being secured through appropriate conditions, officers consider that the
application is in accordance with the provisions of Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009 and Para 109 of the NPPF (2019); and is therefore acceptable
from a highways perspective.

6.0 Affordable Housing

6.1 At the time of the application being made, 40% provision was required on sites capable of
accommodating 5 or more dwellings and/or 0.1ha. This is then further split into 70% being made available for
rent and 30% for shared ownership, shared equity or any other intermediate product that meets the
intermediate definition within NPPF, meets an identified need in the District and is agreed by the Council.
However, NPPF states that affordable housing should only be sought on developments of 10 or more
dwellings or 0.5ha.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 231



6.2 The development proposes 25% affordable housing. This is considered to be an acceptable provision as
it accords with emerging Policy HOU 7. Whilst this emerging Policy is not yet adopted, it has been through
Examination in Public, and the 25% requirement has not been amended as part of the current Main
Modifications consultation. Whilst the Council contends that the emerging Policies have modest weight at this
stage, this particular requirement has been underpinned by Council's Local Plan and CIL Viability
Assessment, 2017. Furthermore, it is consistent with the NPPF 2019 and has no unresolved objections
where paragraph 49 of the NPPF 2019 advised that weight should be given to the emerging policy.

6.3 The current application proposes full compliance with HOU 7 and would provide 25% of the dwellings as
affordable. The affordable housing would be secured through appropriate clauses and mechanisms within
the Section 106 Agreement.

7.0 Ecology

7.1 The application is supported by an Ecology report by AECOM which sets out that the site is located within
240 metres of the Breckland SPA and Breckland Forest SSSI.

7.2 Surveys undertaken as part of the Ecology assessment did not find any evidence of Breckland Special
Protection Area qualifying bird species - nightjar, stone curlew and woodlarks. Surveys also established that
bat activity comprised foraging and commuting activity of common pipistrelle and soprano pipistrelle bats.
Activity was generally low and restricted to hedges, field margins and the mixed woodland plantation. The
site was assessed as of District-to-Local value for commuting/foraging bats.

7.3 Various mitigation and enhancement measures are proposed as part of the Ecology strategy and a full
assessment of all the submitted details was undertaken by Norfolk County Council who confirmed that they
had no objection to the application subject to conditions securing the mitigation and enhancement measures
and an Ecological Management Plan.

8.0 Arboriculture

8.1 A Preliminary Arboricultural Impact Assessment by AT Coombs Associates Ltd was submitted in support
of the application. The report sets out that supporting surveys recorded a total of sixteen individual trees and
ten tree groups were recorded. Groups contain trees forming continuous features or clusters with similar
characteristics. Five trees have been classified as Category A, eight trees and ten tree groups are classified
as Category B and three individual trees have been classified as Category C.

8.2 The indicative layout of the proposed development seeks to retain the majority of the existing trees
however there is acknowledgment that the hedgerow adjacent to Brandon Road would need to be removed
to facilitate the proposed access.

8.3 The Council's Arboricultural officer was consulted on the application and outlined that arboricultural
constraints are located around the edge of the site and that the central area of the site can be developed with
no significant implications.

8.4 The Arboricultural officer went on to state that any layout should incorporate the category A and B trees
identified within the A.T Coombes survey, with the default position being that no works will be within the root
protection area or canopy spread of retained trees, layout must also take into account future growth and post
development implications relating to proximity of trees to dwellings.

8.5 Given the aforementioned response and subject to an arboricultural impact assessment and tree

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 232



protection plan based on final layout being secured by condition, it is considered that the application is in
accordance with Policy DC12 and Paragraph 175 of the NPPF.

9.0 Flood Risk and Drainage

9.1 The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment undertaken by Barter Hill
Consulting Engineers.

9.2 The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) undertook an initial review of the FRA and requested additional
information pertaining to the discharge location for the surface water drainage and confirmation from Anglian
Water that the proposed point of connection is appropriate. The applicant subsequently entered into
discussions with the LLFA and provided all of the outstanding requested items to the satisfaction of the LLFA.

9.3 Upon the reconsultation of the LLFA, it was confirmed that there was no objection to the application
subject to appropriate conditions being attached. Such conditions would be attached if permission were to be
granted.

10.0 Landscape and Visual Impact

10.1 Whilst the application is submitted in outline form, with detailed approval sought only for access, an
indicative site layout has been provided. The application site currently comprises of cultivated arable land
with some improved grassland and mixed woodland beyond the application boundary.

10.2 The indicative layout shows a 64 bed Care Home, 40 assisted living dwellings, a 650 sqm commercial
premises and 160 dwellings located across the site, also incorporating open spaces for the purposes of
amenity and attenuation. Most of the development within the site is envisaged as being of a two storey height
with some potential for three storeys towards the centre of the site.

10.3 In light of the above and the significance of the proposed change to the existing open character of the
site, a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment by The Landscape Partnership was submitted in support of
the application. Whilst it is clear from the assessment that there would be a fundamental change to the open
character of the site, at a site level; in the wider context the development would have little impact on the
landscape character beyond the site boundary, or on any publicly accessible visual receptors or residential
properties.

10.4 Planting of native species is proposed on the site boundaries which would also help to offset the visual
impact of the development.

10.5In light of the above, and the fact that the proposed site is situated at the southern edge of the settlement
with existing development to the north and east, officers consider that the development would not result in
any unacceptable landscape and visual impact within its context.

11.0 Open Space and Infrastructure

11.1 The indicative masterplan fort the development shows that an area of open space would be provided in
a central location within the site. The central green area which has been would be provided to the north of the
existing woodland, with an additional green corridor following the existing pipeline easement.

11.2 Adopted Policy DC 11 'Open Space' outlines requirements for onsite outdoor playing space equivalent
to 2.4 Ha per 1000 population, whilst draft Policy ENV 04 seeks a slightly higher provision. Both policies seek

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 233



a minimum of 1 Local Equipped Area of Play for the scale of this proposal. Indicative details show that the
development could provide this level of provision and appropriate conditions would be added to secure this
provision as necessary.

12.0 Air Quality

12.1 The Council's Air Quality officer was consulted on the application and had no objections to the proposed
development subject to appropriate conditions.

12.2 It was further outlined that the details in the updated review of air quality are noted however as it is likely
that a number of vehicles will pass from the development through the centre of Swaffham where there is a
declared air quality management area with accompanying plan; it is recommended that the applicant is
required to introduce measures to promote the minimisation of air pollution particularly from house heating
systems and motor vehicles which rely on petrol or diesel fuels. Such measures could include the promotion
of active travel walking, cycling and the use of public transport plus the introduction of electrical vehicle
charging points within the proposed houses and development to encourage the use of cleaner modes of
transport. Appropriate conditions would be attached accordingly.

13.0 Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan

13.2 The Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan was approved at the referendum stage on 2nd May and as such
should be given significant weight in the planning consideration.

13.3 The Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan does not appear to allocate specific sites but relies on the
allocations proposed in the Breckland emerging Local Plan. The Neighbourhood Plan places great
importance on Housing and other development and the expectation that they should contribute towards
improving local services and infrastructure. Also of importance is a sustainable range of housing types for a
vibrant mixed community and an avoidance of further ribbon style development by concentrating
development to the east and west of the town.  This site lies to the site lays to the South of Swaffham.  This
is obviously contrary to the aspiration of the NP.  However, it is opposite existing development, it is
considered in character with the existing without significant impact on the landscape and applying the titled
balance with regards to paragraph 11 of the NPPF, it is considered on balance that this is an acceptable form
of development.

13.4 Whilst the Swaffham NP is a material consideration and is acknowledged, the lack of a five year supply
of housing at district level engages the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development and, as the
Swaffham NP does not specifically allocate housing sites the NPPF guidance is clear that the exemption to
paragraph 11d is not brought in to effect:

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) Paragraph 14:

"In situations where the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of
housing, the adverse impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply:

a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less before the date on which
the decision is made;
b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified housing requirement;
c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of deliverable housing sites (against its five
year housing supply requirement, including the appropriate buffer as set out in paragraph 73); and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 234



d) the local planning authority's housing delivery was at least 45% of that required over the previous three
years".

13.5 Therefore, the exemption against the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the
footnote to paragraph 11 does not come into the determination and on this occasion.  Relevant additional
considerations include; the development should provide a mix of housing - this is an outline planning
application so although the exact mix of housing is not clear at this stage, an appropriate housing mix could
be provided; development should be well designed - the exact design would (in the event this outline
planning application was to be approved) would be considered at reserved matters stage; traffic, air quality,
flood risk - issues, have been outlined above; matters of parking, detailed design, walking and cycling would
all be addressed at a later stage, if the application were acceptable.  It is considered that the relevant
Neighbourhood Plan policies support the recommendation with regards to this application.

14.0 Other Issues

15.1 In terms of heritage and conservation, the application site is located outside of the town centre of
Swaffham where there are numerous heritage assets. The considerable separation distance between these
assets and the application site would ensure that the development would not impact on their setting.

15.2 In terms of Archaeology, the proposed development site has moderate potential for previously
unrecorded heritage assets with archaeological interest to be present - in this case buried archaeological
remains of prehistoric and/or Roman date. The significance of any such heritage assets present would be
adversely affected by ground-disturbance associated with the proposed development. Norfolk County
Council have outlined that, based on the currently available information, it is likely that the nature of any
heritage assets would be such that, in this instance, the impact upon them could be satisfactorily managed
through a programme of archaeological mitigatory work. Appropriate conditions would therefore be attached
to any permission.

15.3 In terms of land contamination, a Phase II Contamination Survey was conducted on the application site
in March 2017 and comprised of trial pitting and window sampling. A low or very low contamination risk was
identified to human end-users, controlled waters, buildings and services. The submitted details were
reviewed by the Council's EHO officers who outlined no objection subject to further investigations being
required by condition to ascertain if there is any ground gas through soil sample testing. Appropriate
conditions would therefore be attached to any permission.

15.4 Initially Natural England raised concerns with regards to the information submitted.   The applicants
have submitted further information.  A further response is awaited and will be reported to members of the
committee via the supplementary.

16.0 Conclusion and Planning Balance

16.1 At this point in time, Breckland Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply and as a
result development plan policies relating to the supply of housing are considered to be out of date. As set out
within Section 1.0 of this report, the development is considered to represent a sustainable form of
development in economic, social and environmental terms. In the absence of up to date policy, Paragraph 11
of the NPPF is relevant and states that planning permission should be granted for sustainable development
unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when
assessed against the policies in the Framework.

16.2 In this case, it is considered that the adverse impacts of development would not significantly and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 235



 

 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits. The development would provide up to 160 dwellings which would make
a valuable contribution to the District's housing targets whilst also providing extra care and assisted living
accommodation for which there is a clear and demonstrated need.

16.3 In light of the above, and subject to the conditions and Section 106 obligations set out, the application is
recommended for APPROVAL.

RECOMMENDATION

Application recommended for APPROVAL subject to the following:

- Satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Agreement
- The conditions listed in the report
- Delegated authority be granted to officers to resolve and overcome the issue associated with the HSE
response

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (3 years)
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
THREE YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.

Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.

Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

4 Non-standard condition
No development shall commence above slab level unless and until precise details of the
means of foul water disposal have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall proceed in accordance with the approved details
only.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 236



Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development. This condition is
imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009

5 Non-standard condition
No development shall commence above slab level unless and until precise details of the
means of surface water disposal have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection
with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development. This condition is
imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009

6 Non-standard condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide for a landscaping
and tree planting scheme, which shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the
site. The landscaping and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance with a scheme to
be first submitted to and approved in writing prior to commencement of development.  The
approved landscaping shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details and in
accordance with the Council's leaflet "Tree pack" (Landscaping advice for applicants).

Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the
landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced during the next planting season with others of the same size and species unless
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy
DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.

7 Non-standard condition
No development shall take place until a landscape management plan, including long-term
design
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules within the development
has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as agreed. The management
of the landscaping within the development shall commence immediately after planting in
accordance with the agreed details and shall continue as such thereafter.

Reason for the condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy
DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 237



8 Non-standard condition
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works above slab level
shall
commence on site unless otherwise agreed in writing until detailed drawings for the off-site
highway
improvement works shown indicatively have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local
Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt this shall include the remodeling of the
A1065 roundabout.

Reason for the condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor in
accordance with CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Non-standard condition
No development shall take place, until a Construction Method Statement has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall
provide for:

i.             the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
ii.            loading and unloading of plant and materials
iii.           storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iv.           the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
v.            wheel washing facilities
vi.           measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
vii.        a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works

Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development in the interests of
the amenity of the area and to ensure a safe development from the outset of the
development to protect the amenity of neighbouring properties in accordance with DC1 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

10 Fire Hydrants
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level a scheme shall be submitted for
the provision of 8 fire hydrants (served by mains water supply) serving the development.  No
dwelling shall be occupied until the hydrant(s) have been provided in accordance with the
scheme first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
In order to secure the provision of fire hydrants.
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Non-standard condition
Prior to the commencement of the development precise details of the slab levels of the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 238



dwellings/building hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Such levels as may be agreed shall be used in the construction of
the development.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of the development to
safeguard the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and to ensure the
satisfactory appearance of the development from its outset, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.

12 Non-standard condition
The reserved matters applications shall be accompanied by an Arboricultural Impact
Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement which provides for the retention and
protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site. No development
or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with the approved
Arboricultural Method Statement. In relation to the Statement the following shall apply:

a) No operations shall commence on the site in connection with the development herby
approved
(including any tree felling, tree pruning, soil moving, temporary access construction and/or
widening, or any other operation involving the use of motorised vehicles or construction
machinery) until the tree,shrub and hedgerow protection works required by the 'Method
Statement' are in place on site;

b) No excavations for services, storage of materials, or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit
orexcavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take place inside or
within 10m (or as agreed in writing) of an area fenced off or otherwise protected in the
'Method Statement';

c) The fencing or other works which are part of the Method Statement shall not be moved or
removed,until all works, including external works, have been completed and all equipment,
machinery and surplus materials removed from the site, without the prior consent in writing
of the local planning authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that adequate protection is afforded to the existing vegetation and trees to remain
on site, in the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity. In accordance with policies CP11
and DC12 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DPD.

13 Visibility splays
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay, the
dimensions of which shall be first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, shall be
provided to each side of the access where it meets the highway and such splays shall be
kept free of any obstruction in excess of a height of 0.6. metres above the level of the
adjoining carriageway.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 239



Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
14 Non-standard condition

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be first agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan.
Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposal of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety in accordance
with CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.

15 Non-standard condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the highway improvement
works referred to in Conditions 8, 13 and 14 shall be completed to the written satisfaction of
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway network is adequate to cater for the development in accordance
with CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.

16 Non-standard condition
No trees or hedges within the site shall be cut down, uprooted destroyed, lopped or topped,
other than in accordance with the approved plans, landscaping plans and arboricultural
protection plan approved pursuant to any conditions of this permission, without the prior
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or hedges removed without
consent shall be replaced during the next planting season November/March with trees of
such size and species as first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the trees and hedges are retained in the interests of the visual amenities of
the are andthe satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy DC12
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.

17 Non-standard condition
No works above slab level shall commence on site until detailed drawings for All footway(s)
and cycleway(s) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.  The footways and cycleways shall be fully surfaced in accordance with the
approved details, prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, unless
otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway network is adequate to cater for the development in accordance
with CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.

18 Full details of external lighting

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 240



Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted details of the external lighting to
the site shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and only lighting so
agreed shall be installed on the site.  Such lighting shall be kept to a minimum for the
purposes of security and site safety, and shall prevent upward and outward light radiation.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

19 Non-standard condition
Prior to any works commencing on site, an ecological management plan (EMP) shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by the LPA . The content of the EMP shall include the
following.

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed;
b) Ecological constraints on site that might influence management;
c) Aims and objectives of management;
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives including mitigation
detailed in the Ecological Survey submitted with the application namely that for:

· bats
· birds
· protection and enhancement of bat feeding and commuting corridors
· protection and enhancement of hedgerows, in particular the 'important hedgerow'
· a lighting scheme to minimise the impacts of artificial lighting on wildlife
· bat boxes for bats
· nest boxes for birds

e) Prescriptions for management actions;
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled
forward over a fiveyear period);
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan; and
h) On-going monitoring and remedial measures.

If more than two years have passed since surveys were undertaken then update surveys
may be required at the reserved matters stage and any additional mitigation measures that
need incorporating into the site's design first agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

The EMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanisms by which the long-
term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer. The plan shall also set out
(where the results of monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the EMP are
not being met) how remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so the
development still delivers the fully function biodiversity objectives of the originally approved
scheme.

Reason for condition:-
To protect the biodiversity and ecological value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 241



20 Non-standard condition
The mitigation measures outlined within the submitted Ecological Mitigation Strategy shall be
implemented prior to the commencement of works and enhancement measures shall be
incorporated into the site's design and fully implemented prior to the first occupation of the
development. For the avoidance of doubt this shall include the following:

- The application layout is restructured (as shown in the Ecological Mitigation Strategy
document) so that no housing other than those dwellings connected to the care home and
assisted living dwellings, and no recreational areas associated with the housing, are within
the 400m Breckland Forest/Breckland SPA constraint zone. Note that the care home
communal garden can be within this area but this should not be accessible to residents
not linked to the carehome;
- A cat covenant is attached to the care home/assisted living dwellings;
- High fencing is included to discourage residents from the other dwellings entering the
400m zone, including preventing access to the care home gardens;
Planting of dense, thorny shrubs is put in place to discourage cats from the housing outside
the 400m zone;
Sufficient greenspace and facilities available to support residents. This should be outside of
the 400m zone, to avoid extra disturbance within the 400m zone.

Reason for condition:-
To protect the biodiversity and ecological value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

21 Non-standard condition
No development above slab level shall commence until a scheme for the provision of a
32Amp single phase electrical supply that will allow for the  future inclusion of an individual
electric car charging point for each property with a garage has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved works for each individual
unit shall be implemented on site before that unit is first brought into use.

Reason for condition:-
To promote sustainable modes of transport and protect air quality conditions surrounding the
site.

22 Contaminated Land - Site
Investigation/Remediation
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development
hereby approved:

A.  Site Investigation

A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 242



service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,
and proposal of the preferred option(s).

B.  Remediation Scheme

A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.

C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme

The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with
Policy 15 of the NPPF.

INFORMATIVE:- Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the
course of the risk assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear
that no further work is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the
case the condition may be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being
completed.  In all cases written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming
that the requirements of the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

23 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 243



remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

24 Hours of operation during construction
No demolition, site clearance or construction shall be carried out, no machinery operated nor
deliveries taken at or waste despatched from the site outside the hours of 07:30 - 18:00
Monday to Friday, 08:00 - 13:00 Saturday nor at any time on Sundays, Bank Holidays or
Public Holidays.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DC1 of the Adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Control Document 2009.

25 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

26 Criterion E - Planning Apps Where Approved
Appeals against planning decisions

If you are aggrieved by the decision of your local planning authority to attach any particular
condition/s to this permission, then you can appeal to the Secretary of State under section
78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

If an enforcement notice is served relating to the same or substantially the same land and
development as in your application and if you want to appeal against your local planning
authority's decision on your application, then you must do so within: 28 days of the date of
service of the enforcement notice, or within 6 months (12 weeks in the case of a
householder appeal) of the date of this notice, whichever period expires earlier.

If you want to appeal against your local planning authority's decision then you must do so
within 6 months of the date of this notice.

Appeals must be made using a form which you can get from the Secretary of State at
Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol, BS1 6PN or online at
www.planningportal.co.uk

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 244



 

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal but will not
normally be prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which
excuse the delay in giving notice of appeal.

The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to the Secretary of State that
the local planning authority could not have granted planning permission for the proposed
development or could not have granted it without the conditions they imposed, having regard
to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of any development order and to any
directions given under a development order.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 245



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0952/O CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: WATTON APPNTYPE: Outline
Land at Thetford Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Watton ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Gladman Developments Ltd
Gladman House Alexandria Way

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Gladman Developments Ltd
Gladman House Alexandria Way

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of up to 180 dwellings, the provision of open space and recreational facilities, with
site access and associated highways and infrastructure works

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is a major application as defined by the Council's scheme of delegation and is a deviation
from the adopted development plan.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Impact Upon the Countryside and Setting of the Village
Quantum of Development
Highways
Trees
Ecology
Residential Amenity
Contamination
Flooding and Drainage
Housing Mix and Tenure
Open Space
Infrastructure
Other Matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Outline planning permission with details of access only for up to 180 dwellings, together with open space and
associated highways and infrastructure works on land at Thetford Road, Watton.

The 'Development Framework Plan' details two accesses for which approval is sought. One is access is from
a new roadabout at the south edge of the site, connecting to Thetford Road (A1075) and Watton Road. A
second access is proposed off Thetford Road towards the north-west part of the site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 246

Agenda Item 9v



 

 

 

 

 

The layout is indicative, however, shows how the site could be delivered. It details two areas of housing, one
to the north and one to the south separated by a green/ SUDS corridor. A further green corridor along the
eastern part of the site. In the south-east corner is a public open space with play area. A pedestrian and
cycle route is shown along the east, south and west part of the site.

The site has extant planning permission for 180 homes (reference: 3PL/2014/1253/O). The key difference
between this application and the extant planning permission is the reduction of affordable housing from 40%
as granted to 25% as proposed.

In addition, following comments from consultees including Norfolk Wildlife Trust (NWT), Natural England (NE)
and NCC Natural Environment Team (NET) the ecological and PRoW mitigation proposals have been
amended. Lastly, the proposed limit of storey height at the north of the site, via the Framework Plan, has
been removed.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises approximately 7.4 hectares of agricultural land and lies at the southern edge
of the Watton. The northern boundary of the site backs on to existing residential properties at Canon Close.
The eastern edge of the site is bound by hedges and trees. The southern boundary of the site is adjacent the
A1075 Thetford Road. To the east of the site is a residential estate granted permission under
3PL/2013/0510/F.

The site is wholly outside but adjacent to the Settlement Boundary. The market town of Watton is identified in
the adopted Core Strategy as being of mid-size and providing a good range of services for residents' day-to-
day needs but with limited capacity for expansion.

The site is located approx. 240 metres away from the statutory-designated Wayland Wood Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and 1.89 km from Breckland Special Protected Area (SPA) and Breckland Farmland
SSSI.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2014/1253/O - Residential development of up to 180 dwellings, provision of recreational facilities, site
access & associated works - Refused by LPA on 27th July 2015. Appeal allowed on 20th April 2016.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 247



 

 

 

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.06 Green Infrastructure
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.03 Replacement Dwellings and Extensions in the Countryside
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Draft Heads of Terms have been agreed which will be secured by S106 Agreement if the planning committee
resolve the application is to be approved. The following are proposed to be provided by the development and
included in the S106:

- 25% affordable homes
- Education (infant & junior) - amount subject to final mix
- Fire Hydrants 1 per 50 dwellings rounded up (to be conditioned)
- Library - £75 per dwelling
- NHS - £10,000
- SSSI Mitigation including: funding for community warden/ ranger; ongoing surveys; new signage. The
contribution in total equates to approximately : £92,750
- Travel Plan Monitoring/ Implementation approximately £90,552
- Off-Site Sports Contribution £146,560.00.

CONSULTATIONS

WATTON TOWN COUNCIL
30-08-2018
Watton Town Council objects to this application as it did to previous applications for this site. It was noted the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 248



documents submitted for this application are very much the same as submitted for the original application
with only minor amendment. It was felt the Drainage Report is misleading as it notes there are no issues with
flooding or drainage (Watton Town Council believes past experience has shown the area is prone to
flooding)

28-01-2019
The Council objects to this application on the grounds of its proximity to SSSI Wayland Wood and believes
there are material changes since the original planning permission was granted. Development which has
taken place in the area should suggest housing need be re-assessed and consideration should be given to
the Drainage Report compiled as part of the Watton Neighbourhood Plan supporting documents. The same
conditions should be applied to this application as on the original permission.

Watton Town Council re-iterates former objections to development of this site and endorses the report
submitted by Watton Neighbourhood Plan Drainage Group. There are relevant new material changes since
the initial application that should now be considered.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
We object to the planning application, as submitted, because the proposed development would pose an
unacceptable risk of pollution of groundwater. In accordance with our Groundwater Protection Position
Statements we will maintain our objection until sufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that
the requirements of our Groundwater Protection Position Statements have been met.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption agreement within or close to the
development boundary that may affect the layout of the site. Anglian Water would ask that notification of this
is appended to any approval notice.

The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Watton Water Recycling Centre which
currently does not have capacity to treat the flows the development site. Anglian Water are obligated to
accept the foul flows from the development with the benefit of planning consent and would therefore take the
necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient treatment capacity should the Planning Authority grant
planning permission.

From the details submitted to support the planning application the proposed method of surface water
management does not relate to Anglian Water operated assets. As such, we are unable to provide comments
on the suitability of the surface water management.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
The site has potential that heritage assets with archaeological interest (buried archaeological remains) will be
present at the site and that their significance will be adversely affected by the proposed development. If
planning permission is granted, we therefore ask that this be subject to a programme of archaeological
mitigatory work.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
07-05-2019
The Ramblers fully endorses the comments made by Michelle Sergeant, Green Infrastructure Officer,
attributed to PRoW Officer dated 18-01-19.

02-09-2018
We note and welcome the intention to promote walking and cycling routes through the site and in connection
with existing rights of way. We would suggest that provision is also made to use the site as a link with Watton

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 249



FP7, shown on several of the applicants maps as approaching the site from the west. As it emerges on to
Thetford Road close to the proposed location of a roundabout, we propose that the design here clearly
encourages pedestrians to cross Thetford Road safely and enter the site, using it as access to the town and
also to link to Watton FP13 to the east.
NATURAL ENGLAND
12-03-2019
Natural England notes the concerns of the Norfolk Wildlife Trust about the potential damage to Wayland
Wood, Watton Site of Special Scientific Interest. Consequently we think that further mitigation may be
required in addition to what we suggested previously.

We agree that on-site measures may be necessary and that these may include a visitor
management plan and a community warden.
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST
No objection subject to the SSSI mitigation measures being secured.
MINISTRY OF DEFENCE
No objection.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER
11-03-2019 & 03-05-2019
The proposed new PRoW across third party land is unlikely to be legally achievable as it does not meet the
requirements of section 119 of the Highways Act 1980.  Furthermore, the monies proposed are insufficient.

We would like to suggest, therefore, as this would be a far more effective use of this available sum, that this
is now made available directly to Norfolk Wildlife Trust for additional mitigation measures within Wayland
Wood.

However, we are still concerned that as public footpath 7 leads directly to local schools from opposite the
development on Thetford Road, this footpath would suffer damage from increased footfall and so we would
request that developer undertakes surface improvements themselves, in agreement with the County Council,
to this public footpath as mitigation for this. This should be required by condition.
NHS ENGLAND MIDLANDS & EAST (EAST)
The existing GP practice does not have resource capacity to accommodate the additional growth resulting
from the proposed development. The development could generate approximately 414 residents and
subsequently increase demand upon existing constrained services.

A developer contribution will be required towards the one off cost of recruiting additional clinical personnel for
the benefit of the patients at Watton Medical Practice to mitigate the impacts of this proposal. NHS England
calculates the level of contribution required, in this instance to be 10,000 pounds. Payment should be made
before the development commences.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions. Recommends the north and south area have a vehicle link, and that
development faces Thetford Road to naturally reduce traffic speeds.
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL
Contributions sought for infant and junior education, fire hydrants and libraries due to existing capacity
constraints.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 250



No objection following receipt of additional and amended information.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection. Updated tree reports will be required to support an application for the final layout.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
No further comments, providing the viability assessment has been confirmed via external testing.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection subject to conditions and the agreed mitigation package to manage recreational impacts on
Wayland Wood SSSI needs to be secured through the planning permission.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to condition for contamination investigation and remediation.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
Raise concern in relation to Anglian Water system capacity due to a number of complaints from existing
properties in the area. Recommend conditions requiring Anglian Water that the existing mains sewage
network has sufficient capacity to cope with the additional flow from this development. Where improvements
are necessary to prevent the system from failing these works should be completed prior to the first dwelling
being occupied.
FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
The Council may consider adoption of simple areas of grass but will not adopt drainage features such as
storage lagoons or underground tanks. Consequently the S106 Agreement should provide an opportunity for
BDC to have first refusal of the open space with an option to decline the adoption if it chooses, and for the
developer to then make other arrangements for the management of the land, such as through the Town
Council or a management company.

There was serious flooding in Watton in 2016 and consequently the future maintenance of the ditches and
drainage infrastructure is an important issue.
WATTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN DRAINAGE
The Group objects to this application based on its local knowledge of the area which has been severely
flooded on 15 June 2009 and 23 June 2016. The boulder clay layer close to the surface means that water
does not drain away quickly but accumulates on the surface. Even on days of steady moderate rain the field
floods for this reason.

Disputes the submitted Flood Risk Assessment Report including ownership of ditches.

Existing problems with foul sewer network, including backing up into residents homes.
CPRE NORFOLK
Objects to this application due to:

- Lack of viability evidence
- Site not suitable for housing particularly of this scale
- Flooding issues
- Proposed development would harm the setting and appreciation of Wayland Wood, as well as bringing the
possibility of harm to that valued landscape
- Harm to Waland Wood value as a SSSI / habitat
- Not allocated in adopted development plan
- Emerging plan suggests the housing planned does not include this site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 251



 

 

 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received
BUCKENHAM AVIATION CENTRE LTD No Comments Received
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER No Comments Received
AIR QUALITY OFFICER No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The application was advertised in the press on 10/09/2018 and letters sent to immediate neighbours on
15/08/2018. Three site notices were erected on 12/09/2018. Due to submission of revised information, a
further consultation was issued on 9th April 2019 for immediate neighbours.

Approximately 81 local representations were received raising the following objections:

- Watton is already over developed
- Application based on theories and statistics which bear little relation to the reality of Watton in 2019
- The Council will struggle to service the town if there are extra houses (doctors, schools, jobs etc.)
- Only one supermarket in the town and certain facilities have closed such as the bank and post office,
together with very limited employment
- Public Transport has deteriorated
- Roads at gridlock/ capacity. Can be difficult to get onto the roads due to this and dangerous. This also
causes pollution
- Attention drawn to newspaper article from unspecified newspaper dated 22-09-2018. Article states less
homes are being built despite assistance from the taxpayer. High level of bonuses and profits for house
builders.
- Harm to Wayland Wood which is a SSSI and Ancient Woodland (setting/ environment/ wildlife)
- Sewerage system is inadequate/ at capacity and clean water system pressure too low
- Trees may be cut down for wood burners and rubbish left
- Breckland have a 5 year plan and no longer need this site to meet housing needs
- Affordable homes unlikely to be used/ allocated to local people
- Houses will be too expensive
-  Report have not been updated since 2014/ original application
- Houses are proposed and the site is next to bungalows
- Issues of flooding in the site area and surrounds
- The site is within a flood plain
- Local views should be listened to
- Need more areas for children to play
- Extra pressure on Wayland Wood by the extra houses including the protected bird species which live there
- Proposed access on the bend would be dangerous
- Loss of views

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 This application seeks Outline planning permission with details of access for 180 dwellings with
associated open space and infrastructure at land off Thetford Road, Watton. The site is outside the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 252



settlement boundary falling within the countryside. For this reason, the proposal conflicts, in principle, with
Policies SS01, DC02 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

1.2 The Council does not currently have a published 5 year land housing supply as required by the NPPF,
currently reporting 4.77 years as of 31st March 2018. The NPPF is a strong material consideration in the
determination of planning applications and paragraph 11 states that where an authority does not have an up-
to-date five year housing land supply the relevant local policies, should not be considered up-to-date.
Furthermore, housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits or specific policies in the Framework indicate that development should be restricted.
On the aforementioned basis, other principle planning issues for the application are considered below.

1.3  The site is immediately adjacent to the built up part of Watton which is a mid sized market town which
has a good range of services and facilities to meet the day-to-day needs of existing residents. The site's
northern entrance (proposed) is within 800m easy walking distance of the town centre and the various offer it
provides. Whilst residents concerns are not about lack of facilities, this Market Town is our 4th /5th most
sustainable location. Issues with GP capacity/ lack of GPs is known to be a UK wide issue.  The site is
therefore considered a sustainable location for new housing.

1.4 The site has extant planning permission granted at appeal for up to 180 dwellings on the site, which was
considered under the same adopted development plan. The site has therefore already been found to be
acceptable, and the existing consent could be developed at any time, albeit this is tempered by the question
of whether it is viable given this current application. Whilst NPPF has been updated since the decision was
granted, which represents a change in material consideration, it is considered the changes are not materially
different to have resulted in a different outcome for this application, in terms of the inspectors
recommendation. A further consideration is that the emerging development plan, whilst at this stage only
carrying modest weight, is at an advanced stage, details the site as within the settlement boundary of Watton
and includes the site in it's 5 year land housing supply calculations.

1.5 Based on the foregoing, the principle of development is considered to be acceptable.

2.0 Impact Upon the Countryside and Setting of the Village

2.1  The site is located within the countryside, however, is immediately adjacent to the built up part of Watton
and is to the east of a new housing estate. The site is not a valued landscape as defined by the NPPF.
Clearly, owing to its scale and current undeveloped nature, the proposal would represent a significant
change in the nature and appearance of the land itself.

2.2 The Breckland Landscape Character Assessment (2007) indicates that the site is located within an area
known as the 'Wayland Plateau'.  Land within this area is predominantly farmland interspersed with small
blocks of woodland or farm coverts and occasional paddocks.  Blocks of Ancient Woodland are also a
distinctive feature, e.g. Wayland Wood, approximately 240 metres to the east of the site.  The Settlement
Fringe analysis of Watton highlights the open edge to the town adjacent to Canon Close, but concludes that
the area in general has a low sensitivity to change.  The Character Area Study does however highlight the
need to conserve and continue to manage a functional agricultural landscape to this edge of Watton, and the
aim should be to conserve and enhance Wayland Wood, which is sensitive to further development that would
adjoin or increase recreational pressure within the wood.  Overall, it is suggested that any new development
should seek to create a well integrated settlement edge with the adjacent farmland.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 253



2.3 The Planning Inspector for the previous appeal for the site found that "the proposal would bring
significant change but would not harm the landscape character and appearance of the area, would not
diminish the importance of Wayland Wood within the landscape and would not conflict with adopted Policy
CP11 or the provisions of the NPPF". The indicative layout remains the same and would provide the open
space infrastructure needed to successfully integrate the development with the adjacent fields, and therefore
the Inspectors conclusion remains applicable and the development is therefore found compliant with Policy
CP 11.

3.0 Quantum of Development

3.1 The proposal would provide up to 180 new dwellings in Watton. The emerging plan which is at an
advanced stage allocates 1,130 new dwellings for Watton which comprises a mix of completed, those with
planning permission and new land allocations. This site is included within these calculations and therefore
has found to be acceptable for the town.

3.2 In relation to net density, the proposal equates to 34 dwellings per hectare. Policy DC2 stipulates that a
density of 40 dwellings per hectare is appropriate in sustainable locations with good public transport. The
development is below this.  The latest version of the NPPF, also supports securing optimum densities for
new developments.  However, this application proposes providing a green edge to protect the landscape and
the SSSI and was previously found to be acceptable under the extant planning permission, although resulting
in the lower density, it is considered acceptable for these reasons.

4.0 Access, Highways Network and Parking

4.1 This application seeks approval of details for access and the application proposes two accesses to
Thetford Road. One is access is from a new roundabout at the south edge of the site, connecting to Thetford
Road (A1075) and Watton Road. A second access is proposed off Thetford Road towards the north-west part
of the site.  The Highways Authority have not objected to these access arrangements subject to conditions
for the detailed design of the roundabout to be approved in writing together, with the delivery prior to
occupation. The Planning Inspector for the previous application also commented that the provision of the
roundabout would have some benefit in itself as it would slow traffic on Thetford Road (the A1075).

4.2 In relation to highways network capacity, under the previous appeal decision, the Planning Inspector
reported that the highway authority considered that the existing road network can accommodate the traffic
generated by this proposal, along with that from other committed developments.  Under the current
application the highways authority have not raised an objection, subject to a number of conditions.

4.3 A number of residents have raised objection due to existing traffic congestion and that the extra houses
will exacerbate this problem. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be refused
on highways grounds where their is an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe. Whilst the development will increase traffic, it is not
considered that the impact would be severe which is reflected by no objection from the highways authority
and the granting of the earlier consent.

4.4 The Ramblers Association have requested that the development includes proposals to connect Watton
Footpath 7 to the south-west of the site to the development and then to Watton Footpath 13. The Transport
Statement details a roundabout proposal which includes a pedestrian refuge which would provide this link,
and would be controlled by way of condition.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 254



4.5 The Public Right of Way Officer (PRoW) has asked for a contribution for the improvements of the surface
of Footpaths 7 to mitigate against the development. This has been agreed by the agent and is included as
part of the PRoW contribution.

4.6 Given the proposed density of development there is no reason why each unit could not be provided with
at  least two parking spaces in accordance Policy DC 19.

4.7 In relation to Highways and parking, the development is considered compliant with Policy DC 19, CP 4
and Paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

5.0 Layout

5.1 The layout broadly accords with that previously considered by the Planning Inspectorate and approved at
appeal, and a condition was attached to this permission requiring the layout to broadly accord with the
indicative plan.  The Inspector's conclusion is concurred with, and the layout is considered to be of a good
standard. The reasons for this is that a sizable green open space is shown at the south of the site and along
the eastern border which assists with creating a positive transition from rural landscape to the town.
Furthermore, it provides a buffer to Wayland Wood SSSI. These are considered essential to making the
development acceptable, and results in a recommended condition for the Reserved Matters layout to broadly
accord with the Framework Plan.

5.2 Other positive features include a pedestrian and cycle route around the west, south and east of the site,
which in turn connects to existing off-site public footpaths. This route would go some way to mitigating that
the development is next to a busy highway, giving residents an pleasant alternative route to the town centre.
The site is split into a north and south area, each of which benefit from a "green" space focal point. The
drainage strategy is likely to require a pond feature, which would be designed to enhance the open space
and landscape proposals.

5.3 Highways have requested that the northern parts of the site have an internal vehicle connections. This is
can be reflected in a condition.

5.4 Based on the foregoing, the indicative layout is considered of good quality and assist in creating a sense
of place together with creating sustainable places. The plan therefore would meet the objectives of Policy 16
and paragraphs 91 and 127 of the NPPF.

Residential Amenity

5.5 The development is a sensible density, with immediate neighbours only to the northern boundary.
Therefore there is no reason why a layout cannot be achieved which protects existing and new residents
amenity.  Based on the foregoing the impact to residential amenity is acceptable and complies with DC 1,
DC2 and DC16.

6.0 Trees

6.1 The Tree Officer has advised that the internal area of the site is free from arboricultural constraints. As
shown by the indicative plan, trees and hedges along the site border which are category A or B, should be
retained as part of the final layout. In addition, the density and indicative layout provided opportunity for new
planting.  The proposal therefore complies with Policy DC 12, subject to conditions.

7.0 Ecology

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 255



7.1 The application has been supported by an Ecology Report. The report found no protected species on site
and made a number of recommendations for mitigation and enhancements.

7.2 NWT originally objected to the application in September 2018  due to the addition of human disturbance
on Wayland Wood SSSI which already faces routine damage from antisocial behavior including vandalism,
littering and fly-tipping. Sensitive species at the site include woodcock and Yellow Star-of-Bethlehem
(woodland plant), for which Wayland Wood is the only site in the whole county. In response to this, the
application was amended to include mitigation measures they had requested, and take a propsal for a new
PRoW which was not legally feasible. The proposed mitigation measures is monies for: new signage, a
woodland warden/ ranger and ongoing surveys to monitor the condition of the wood. The developer will also
undertake works to improve existing PRoW FP7 which leads to a school.

7.3  NWT and NCC Natural Environment Team (NET) have following these revised mitigation proposals not
raised an objection. Natural England have objected due to NWT previous objections, however, does not
appear to consider the amended mitigation proposals. Natural England have been emailed to seek clarity.

7.5 The part time on-site warden and new signage will directly mitigate against damage from the new
residents, but will also positively address existing issues as well. This is considered satisfactory and ensure
no significant environmental impact to Wayland Wood.  On the foregoing basis, no conflict with Policy CP10
has been identified.

8.0 Contamination

8.1 The Council's Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the submitted Ground Conditions Desk Study
Report and has not raised an objection subject to a conditions for further site investigation, remediation and
unexpected contamination. On this basis, the development is acceptable in relation to contamination and
compiled with Policy CP 9.

9.0 Flooding and Drainage

9.1 The site is within Flood Zone Risk 1 which has the lowest risk of flooding from rivers and sea as identified
by the governments mapping system. The risk of ground water flooding is identified by the same system as
very low with some areas of low risk.

9.2 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment as updated details an indicative drainage strategy with on-site
infiltration via ponds which drain at a controlled date to deep boreholes. Following the switch from draining to
ditch systems off-site, to draining on-site together with additional information the LLFA have removed their
objection subject to conditions.

9.3 Residents and the Watton Neighborhood Plan Drainage Working Group (WNPDWG) have raised
objection due to existing/ past flooding and this sites development exacerbating this. The WNPDWG raised
specific concerns in relation to the disposal of surface water via the ditch. However, as discussed in
paragraph 9.2 this has now been removed from the drainage strategy in-lieu of on-site deep bore holes.

9.4 Residents and the WNPDWG also raised that existing foul water system is not suitable and also advised
that the foul and surface water sewer for Watton is combined. Anglian Water (AW) as the statutory
undertaker for foul drainage and has a responsibility to provide suitable foul drainage for any new
developments. AW have responded and confirmed that the Watton Water Recycling Centre does not have
capacity to serve the proposal and they would be obliged to upgrade it. On this basis, the foul water system

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 256



will be upgraded as necessary to serve the development. The Environmental Health Officer has
recommended that a condition be applied requiring the necessary improvement to be made to the foul
drainage system before first occupation of the development. Instead, we recommend the foul water disposal
condition is worded to allow the approved system to be fully functional for each unit prior to its occupation.

9.5 The development is acceptable in respect of flooding and drainage and accords with Policy DC 13.

10.0 Housing Mix and Tenure

10.1 The development proposes 25% affordable housing, which if the maximum 180 units were built would
equate to 45 units. This is considered to be an acceptable provision as it accords with emerging Policy HOU
7. Whilst this emerging Policy is not yet adopted, it has been through Examination in Public, and the 25%
requirement has not been amended as part of the current Main Modifications consultation. Whilst the Council
contends that the emerging Policies have modest weight at this stage, this particular requirement has been
underpinned by Council's Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment, 2017. Furthermore, it is consistent with
the NPPF 2019 and has no unresolved objections where paragraph 49 of the NPPF 2019 advised that
weight should be given to the emerging policy.

10.2 In relation to mix, this is reserved for future determination and there are no site constraints which would
prevent an appropriate mix coming forward as part of a reserved matters application.

11.0 Open Space

11.1 Policy DC 11 requires for a proposal of this number of units an mix as indicatively shown in the
supporting information, to provide: 3,840sqm of childrens play space of which there must be a minimum one
LEAP together with a contribution for off-site sports outdoor space contribution of £148,800 or alternatively
on-site provision.

11.2 The layout is indicative, however, it has been demonstrated that it could provide 180 units plus at least
3,840sqm of childrens play space including a LEAP. In addition, the developer has agreed to the financial
contribution towards off-site sports outdoor space. The development is therefore compliant with Policy DC 11
and will provide sufficient facilities to support the new residents.

11.3 Other landscaping areas are shown a green SUDs corridor running east to west and a green corridor
along the eastern part of the site and a green buffer along the eastern edge.

12.0 Infrastructure

12.0 The additional dwellings will create increased demand on local services and facilities.

12.1 Norfolk County Council Infrastructure Team have commented on the application and advised that infant
education/care, junior education, libraries and fire hydrants contributions are required.

12.2 In respect of education the combined amount sought is £690,062 which would go towards a new
classroom at Watton Westfield Infant and Nursery School and Wayland Junior Academy. The developer has
agreed to these contributions together with the fire hydrant provision condition and library contribution of £75
per dwelling.

12.3 The NHS have advised they cannot accommodate the development and are seeking £10,000 to cover
the one off cost of recruiting additional clinical personnel for the benefit of the patients at Watton Medical

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 257



 

 

Practice. The developer has agreed to this obligation.

12.4  Ecological mitigation obligations are discussed in Section 7.0 of this report.

12.5 The proposal does therefore provide for the infrastructure identified as necessary to support the new
residents of the development.

13.0 Other matters

13.1 The site has archaeological potential as evidenced by the supporting reports and confirmed by NCC
Environment Services, whom have not raised an objection subject to a condition for further investigation.

14.0 Conclusion/ Planning Balance

14.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls out any settlement
boundary.  However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the NPPF and
this development would provide a contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this basis, the other
key principle considerations for this proposal must be considered and a planning balance judgement made.

14.2 The Council are currently able to demonstrate a 4.77 year land housing supply as of March 2018. This
equates to deficit of 211 houses. This development would therefore equate to providing 85% of the deficit
which is a strong positive benefit. The additional residents would also support local business in the town and
existing public transport services.

14.3 The site is in a sustainable location adjacent to the built up part of the mid-sized market town of Watton,
and within 800m walking distance of the town centre. The site is also within the development boundary of the
emerging plan and contributes to 5 year land housing supply of the emerging plan.

14.4 The development of the site will change an agricultural field to built development changing the character
of the site, however, there is modern housing development to the west of the site and Watton to the north.
The development would therefore be seen in context of these built up areas, and proposals are included for a
soft green edge. The harm to the landscape and setting of Watton has been found to be minor in nature.

14.5 The PRoW, signage and open space mitigation proposals are considered sufficient to moderate any
harm to Wayland Wood SSSI.

14.6 The development would give rise to no harms which would significantly out-weigh the benefits including
a sizeable contributions towards the Council's 5 year land housing supply and 47 affordable houses. In
accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the application should therefore be approved subject to
conditions and S106 legal agreement.

RECOMMENDATION

Approve subject to conditions and S106.

CONDITIONS

1 Early delivery of Housing Time limit
Valid Application for Approval of all Reserved Matters must be made not later than the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 258



expiration of TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development
must be begun within ONE YEAR of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED
MATTERS or, in the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE
LAST SUCH MATTER to be approved.

Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.

Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
This notice relates to the land identified by drawing number G.0223_06 entitled Site Location
Plan. The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form
and the approved plans and documents listed in at the end of this decision notice.

The reserved matters details shall be broadly in accordance with drawing no. P18-1177_03
Rev A (Development Framework Plan). A Vehicle route must be provided internally within
the development between the two approved accesses.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Footpath 13 Connection
The reserved matters as specified by Condition 2 of this decision, shall show on a plan a
connection to Watton Footpath 13.  The connection shall be delivered prior to first
occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted.

Reason for condition:-
To provide good connectivity and promote walking and cycling in accordance with Sections
8, 9 and 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

5 Standard outline landscaping condition
The reserved matters as specified by Condition 2 of this decision, shall include details of a
landscaping and tree planting scheme, which shall take account of any existing trees or
hedges on the site. The landscaping and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance
with the scheme as approved during the planting season of the November/March
immediately following the commencement of the development, or within such longer period
as may be agreed in writing, with the Local Planning Authority, and in accordance with the
Council's leaflet "Tree pack" (Landscaping advice for applicants).

Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the
landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced during the next planting season with others of the same size and species unless

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 259



the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development having regard to Policy
CP 10 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009).
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Height Restriction
No dwelling shall exceed 2½ storeys in height.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policies DC16
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009 and paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

7 External materials to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level a schedule of materials to be
used in the construction of the external elevations of each dwelling hereby approved, shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Only such agreed
materials shall be used in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies DC1
and DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 In accordance with Arboricultural report
No development whatsoever shall take place until a Tree Protection Plan and Method
Statement, which retains all existing category A and B trees on site, has been submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The construction works shall be carried out in
accordance with the scheme as approved.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to commencement to ensure trees and hedgerows are
protected in accordance with Policy DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Fencing protection for existing trees
Prior to the commencement of any work on the site, all existing trees shall be protected by
the erection of Tree Protection Fencing as per the details approved under Condition 8 of this
notice.   This fencing shall be retained throughout the period of the development and at all
times when works (as defined below) are being carried out on the site.

For the purposes of this condition "work" shall include the storage of plant, materials, site
huts or the use of any machinery either for preparatory site work or construction itself.
"Trees" shall refer to all trees both on and adjacent to the site.

Protective fencing shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with BS5837:2012
and the Council's document Practice Note: Construction and Maintenance of Tree Protection

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 260



Fencing, which is available to download from the Council's website.

Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009

10 Contaminated Land - Site
Investigation/Remediation
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development
hereby approved:

A.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,
and proposal of the preferred option(s).

B.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.

C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement ensure that risks from land contamination to the
future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 261



controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite
receptors. This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core
Strategy.

INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Archaeological work to be agreed
A) No development shall take place until an archaeological written scheme of investigation
has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. The scheme
shall include an assessment of significance and research questions; and 1) The programme
and methodology of site investigation and recording, 2) The programme for post
investigation assessment, 3) Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and
recording, 4) Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and
records of the site investigation, 5) Provision to be made for archive deposition of the
analysis and records of the site investigation and 6) Nomination of a competent person or
persons/organization to undertake the works set out within the written scheme of
investigation; and,

B) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the written scheme of
investigation approved under condition (A); and,

C) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post investigation
assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 262



archaeological written scheme of investigation approved under condition (A) and the
provision to be made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive
deposition has been secured.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of the development to
ensure the potential archaeological interest of the site is investigated and protected from the
outset of the development,  in accordance with Policy DC 17 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

13 Any drainage conditions
Any reserved matters application will be accompanied by a detailed drainage plan(s) and
calculations. The approved drainage system will be completed in full prior to first occupation
or a timetable to be first submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
to prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from
the site for the lifetime of the development and to protect and prevent the pollution of
controlled waters from potential pollutants associated with current and previous land uses in
line with National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

14 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to any development above slab level and the construction of any drains, precise details
of the means of foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved foul water system will be made available and fully
functional for each dwelling prior to their first occupation.

Reason for condition:-
Details are required at an early stage in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Non-standard highways condition
No works shall commence on the site until such time as detailed plans of the roads,
footways, cycleways, foul and surface water drainage have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All construction works shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved plans.

Prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby approved the road(s), footway(s) and cycleway(s)
shall be constructed to binder course surfacing level from the dwelling to the adjoining
County road in accordance with the approved details.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).

16 Non-standard highways condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility splays measuring

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 263



2.4 metres x 59 metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the
highway. The splay(s) shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction
exceeding 0.225 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).

17 Non-standard highways condition
Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing provision for on-site parking for
construction workers for the duration of the construction period has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented
throughout the construction period.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).

18 Non-standard highways condition
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works above slab level
shall commence on site unless otherwise first agreed in writing until detailed drawings for the
off-site highway improvement works as indicated on Drawing 4746/19/02 D have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, the approved off-site
highway improvement works shall be completed unless first otherwise agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).

19 Non-standard highways condition
A. No works above slab level on any of the dwellings hereby approved, shall commence,
unless or until an Interim Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority.

B. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied prior to implementation of
the Interim Travel Plan referred to in Part A of this condition. During the first year of
occupation an approved Full Travel Plan based on the Interim Travel Plan referred to in Part
A of this condition shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved Full Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the
timetable and targets contained therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as any
part of the development is occupied subject to approved modifications agreed by the Local
Planning Authority as part of the annual review.

Reason for condition:-
To create a sustainable form of development in accordance with the National Planning

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 264



 

Policy Framework 2019, specifically paragraph 8 and 9.
20 Construction Method Statement

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction
Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
The Statement shall provide for:

ii.         loading and unloading of plant and materials
ii.         storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iii.         the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
iv.          wheel washing facilities
v.          measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
vi.         a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works
vii.        noise mitigation measures for piling, drilling and powered machinery

Reason for condition:
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development in the interests of
the amenity of the area and to ensure a safe development from the outset of the
development.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 265



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1413/F CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: WEETING APPNTYPE: Full
1 Cromwell Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Weeting ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mrs Jayne Martin
1, Cromwell Road Weeting

LB GRADE: Adjacent Grade 2

AGENT: SKI Property Management
9 Park View Weeting

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed 4 bedroom, one and half storey dwelling at the rear of 1 Cromwell Road, Weeting

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Planning Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Impact on the Listed Building known as Lynn Lodge
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Ecological impact
Tree Implications

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks approval for the erection of a one and half storey, 4 bed dwelling on garden land to the
rear of No.1 Cromwell Road.  It is proposed to construct the dwelling using light brown/buff bricks and clay
pantiles with the majority of the living space being accommodated at ground floor with a guest bedroom and
en-suite within the roof space.

Access was amended during the course of the application process and it is now proposed to use the existing
access rather than creating a new one.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site lies to the rear of No.1 Cromwell Road Weeting, the dwelling and part of the garden lies inside the
Weeting Settlement Boundary.  Other residential uses lie to the east, south and south-west of the site with
more sproradic development to the north-west.  The site lies inside the stone curlew buffer zone but is
surrounded by other development and forms part of a residential garden area.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 266

Agenda Item 9w



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2018/0745/F - Proposed 4 bedroom one & half storey dwelling - Withdrawn

Adjacent sites

3PL/2017/1285/O and 0341/D - Rear of No. 6 Cromwell Road - Erection of one dwelling - Permission

3PL/2018/0650/O - Land east of New Lodge - Construction of 2 new dwellings on land east of New Lodge,
Lynn Road, Weeting - Permission

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 267



 

 

 

 

No objection to the removal of T11 as shown. Please condition: Operations on site shall take place in
complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP)
and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) prepared by Haydens dated 31/10/2018.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection subject to conditions.
NATURAL ENGLAND
No objection, standard advice provided.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
The Ramblers has no objection to this, providing that there is no impact on Weeting-With-Broomhill FP18, or
its use by walkers. This includes ensuring it is kept open throughout any works and any damage to it is
repaired without delay.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection. It is considered that the proposed development will not be harmful to the setting of the adjacent
designated heritage asset.

CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER No Comments Received
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER No Comments Received
WEETING P C No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 07-12-2018
Consultations issued: 10, 11 and 17 December 2018 and 10 January 2019

Two letters of representations received raising the following issues:

- Previous withdrawal and officer's views
- Cramped development
- Poor access arrangement
- Impact on the adjacent Listed Building
- Ecological implications

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  The application site is located outside of the Weeting Settlement Boundary as designated by the adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this reason the
proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC2 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document which seeks to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 268



policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

1.3  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document, relating to housing land supply, are not considered up-to-date
and therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragraph 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide one new dwelling and would
therefore make a very small contribution to the housing supply shortfall. The proposal would also provide
some limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction, and longer-term economic benefits through the additional household spend within the
surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of a single dwelling.

1.5  No. 1 Cromwell Road and part of the garden lies inside the settlement boundary for Weeting, however
the application site lies outside.  Weeting is defined in Policy SS1 as a Service Centre Village which are
defined as villages that contain adequate services and facilities to meet the day-to-day requirement of their
existing residents.  Given its close, adjoining relationship to the existing settlement boundary, the site is
considered close enough to allow any future occupants to walk or cycle to these facilities which are a short
distance away, approximately 600 metres to the south (0.4 mile).   In addition, an improved footpath link is
proposed via the above referenced application (3PL/2015/0551/F - Revised access and pedestrian cycleway
to residential development of land to the north of Cromwell Road) which will enable easier walking links to the
main Village.   However, in terms of the existing situation without any other permissions being implemented
the residents of the new dwelling could access the facilities in the village either via Lynn Road or by using the
public footpath in the other direction which joins up with Angerstein Close.  The proposal is therefore
considered to meet the social objective.

1.6  Environmentally, although outside the Settlement Boundary, the site is immediately adjacent to it and is
adjoined by other residential uses and the B1106 to the west.  The Council's Landscape Character
Assessment indicates that the site falls within the C1: The Brecks of Thetford Forest.  Development
considerations here include: conserve wooded skylines to views and ensure that new development to the
edges of defined settlements does not breach this; conserve historic vernacular and ensure that any potential
future development reflects these styles/use of materials; conserve the predominantly 'remote' and
unsettled/undeveloped character of Thetford Forest; monitor existing pattern of urban edge to development
and growth to settlements; maintain existing rural character of the road network, resisting traffic pressures
and traffic calming measures which could have an urbanising influence and explore opportunities for
enhancing recreational access, particularly to the historic drove road to the west of Weeting.  The proposal

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 269



would consolidate the existing pattern of development.  Whilst this will result in some loss of character given
the current garden use, the harm would be limited given the following factors:

-  site proportions and location will maintain a spacious character and will not affect the appearance of the
existing pattern of development along Cromwell Road;
- the proposal will not appear isolated given the close proximity and relationship to existing residential
development;
-  the proposal would not cause material harm to the character and appearance of the area.

1.8  It is concluded that the proposal would not result in an isolated development in the countryside.  The
scheme would provide one additional dwelling, generate some economic activity and be developed without
causing significant harm to the character and appearance of the area.

2.0  Impact on character and appearance of area

2.1  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.2  The application proposes a relatively modest, four bed dwelling which will face the access road leading
off Lynn Road.  The scale at one and half storeys is considered appropriate in this location given the similar
dwelling types surrounding the site.  The materials are considered appropriate for the area and the layout
provides a spacious form of development.  In light of the above factors the proposal is considered to accord
with Policy DC16.

2.3 Comments were made initially in respect of the application site representing a cramped form of
development.  The site area measures 1306m2.  A site approximately 60 metres to the north-east measures
900m2 and has been granted outline permission for two dwellings and a site approximately 75m to the east
measures approximately 400m2 and has been granted permission for one dwelling.  When making
comparisons between these nearby approvals, the current application site is not considered to represent a
cramped form of development.

3.0  Impact on the Listed Building known as Lynn Lodge

3.1  Any decisions relating to listed buildings and their settings must address the statutory considerations of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in particular section 66, as well as
satisfying the relevant policies within the National Planning Policy Framework and the development plan.
National policy states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation.  Core Strategy Policy
DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and enhances the character, appearance and
setting of conservation areas and listed buildings.

3.2 The significance of the listed building derives principally from its historic fabric and prominent
location/setting.

3.3  The site is located on the opposite side of the access track to that of the listed building, set behind it to
the south-east.  As a result, the proposed dwelling will not impede views of the listed building and will be set
far enough away from it so as not to compromise its setting.  Accordingly, it is considered that the scheme
would preserve the special interest/setting of the listed building and that the proposal is acceptable in these

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 270



terms having regard to the requirements of Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation
Areas) Act 1990.

3.4  The Historic Buildings Officer raised no objection to the scheme.

4.0  Amenity impact

4.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

4.2  In terms of the amenity impact, the proposed dwelling is of a modest scale which is a considerable
distance from neighbouring properties so as not to cause undue impact in terms of overlooking.  The scale
and position of the dwelling within the plot will also ensure that loss of light will not be a significant issue and
noise and disturbance is also unlikely to be significant as a result of one dwelling.  The scale and positioning
will also ensure that the dwelling does not appear over-dominant and the proposal provides the future
occupiers with a good degree of private amenity space.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered
to have due regard to Policy DC1 and paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF.

5.0  Highway safety

5.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

5.2  The proposal was amended during the course of the application process in order to utilise the existing
access and entrance into the site rather than create a new access.  This is considered to be a vast
improvement to the scheme and Norfolk County Council was consulted and advised that they have no
objection on this basis subject to conditions.  The application provides sufficient parking and turning, in light
of these factors, the proposal is considered acceptable having due regard to the above policies and
paragraph 108(b) of the NPPF.

6.0  Ecological impact

6.1  Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  There is an
expectation that development will incorporate biodiversity or geological features where opportunities exist.

6.2 The site is close to Breckland Farmland; Breckland Forest and Weeting Heath which are classified as
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and is within the 1.5km constraint zone of the Breckland Special
Protection Area for the protection of Stone Curlews.  However, it is considered that due to the size of the
application coupled with its location of other development within this zone that the development will not have
a significant impact on the Breckland SPA.  The proposal is a significant enough distance from the
designated SSSIs so as not to damage or destroy these features.  On this basis, a Habitat Regulations
Assessment is not required.

6.3 Natural England was consulted and raised no objection.

6.4 The Ecology Team was consulted and advised that there is no objection subject to conditions: a timing
constraint to protect nesting birds and a check to be carried to any trees for bat roots prior to any work on
them taking place.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 271



 

 

6.5  In light of the above factors, the proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy CP10 and
paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

7.0  Tree implications

7.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

7.2  Some trees near to and adjacent the site are the subject of a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) however
the dwelling has been positioned within the site so as to avoid the root protection areas of these trees.

7.3  The application was accompanied by a tree survey which was updated to accord with the revised access
arrangements.  The Tree and Countryside Officer was consulted and advised that there are no objections in
this regard subject to condition.

8.0  Conclusion

8.1  The proposed site is considered, on balance, to represent a sustainable form of development and will
help toward the lack of five year housing land supply as well as aiding the economy of the local area whilst
not raising significant amenity impact issues, character impact, including impact on the setting of the nearby
listed building or highway safety.  As such, the application is recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION

Approval

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External wall and roof materials to be agreed
No development beyond slab level shall take place until precise details, (including samples
where required), of the materials used in the construction of the external walls and roof(s) of
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  This condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to
these matters that have been given in the current application.  The materials to be used in
the development shall be in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the colour, tone, texture and appearance of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 272



the materials used to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, as required by
Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed parking and
turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with
the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted visibility splays
measuring 2.4 metres x 25 metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it
meets the private track.The splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any
obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Ecology - timing constraint condition
No removal, in full or in part, of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st
March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful,
detailed check of vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before the vegetation is
cleared and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are
appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such written
confirmation should be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

7 Ecology - no works to trees (bat roosts)
No works to trees including removal, pruning or crown reduction shall take place unless a
competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check of the potential for bat roosts
and provided written confirmation that no bat roosts will be harmed and/or that there are
appropriate measures in place to protect bat interest on site. Any such written confirmation
should be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

8 Tree condition
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 273



 

Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS) Rev A prepared by Haydens dated 3rd April 2019. No other operations shall
commence on site in connection with the development until the tree protection works
and any pre-emptive tree works required by the approved AIA or AMS have been carried out
and all tree protection barriers are in place as indicated on the TPP. Works shall not
commence until written confirmation has been obtained from the appointed arboriculturalist
to confirm that tree protection is in place as specified.
The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition for the duration of
the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or
otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and
surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority has been sought and obtained.
Reason for condition:-
In order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in
accordance with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 274



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0015/O CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: WHINBURGH&WESTFIELD APPNTYPE: Outline
Chapel Farm Dereham Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Whinburgh ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr John Manoukian
Chapel Farm, Dereham Road
Whinburgh

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Lanpro Services
Brettingham House 98 Pottergate

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Residential Development (Five dwellings and garages)

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The site is outside of any development boundary and therefore contrary to policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Ecological implications

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks Outline permission for the erection of five dwellings with detached garages on land to
the rear of The Mustard Pot, adjacent to Chapel Farm, Whinburgh.  Access is the only matter for
consideration with all other matters reserved.

Whilst the application is in outline only an indicative plan shows the proposed siting and indicates two-storey
dwellings. Access to the proposed dwellings is shown to the north of the public house.

This application follows the successful appeal of a previously refused application for outline permissions for 3
dwellings (3PL/2017/1150/O) which was allowed by the Planning Inspector (APP/F2605/W/18/3214704).

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is currently laid to grass/agricultural land and is sited to the rear of the public house/adjacent Chapel
Farm.  Residential dwellings are situated forward of the land, fronting Dereham Road with ancillary farm
buildings to the south and agricultural land to the east.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 275

Agenda Item 9x



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

The Site
3PL/2017/0386/O - Residential Development (three dwellings and garages) - Refusal 15/08/2017

Land to the South West of Application Site
3PL/2017/0385/F - Extension to Public House including new access and additional parking area - Approved
28/06/2017.

3PL/2017/1150/O Outline permission (three dwellings and garages)- Refused but allowed on Appeal,
APP/F2605/W/18/3214704

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable.

CONSULTATIONS

WHINBURGH & WESTFIELD P C
My Council objects to this application which once again seems to be an attempt to play the "lack of 5 year
land supply" card. In the previous application Breckland decided that the provision of three dwellings was

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 276



unlikely to have an adequate benefit to offset the negative points. Increasing this to five will make little
difference.
My Council is aware that there have been instances where other applications based on this argument have
been refused permission by Breckland, and subsequently been dismissed on appeal (e.g. 3PL/2016/0360/F,
3PL/2017/0018/F). My Council hopes that Breckland will refuse this application.
1. The site lies outside any defined settlement boundary and would, by virtue of a lack of accessible services
and limited public transport, result in a largely car dependent development that would not constitute a
sustainable form of development, contrary to Breckland Councils policies DC2 and CP14.
2. The form and character of Whinburgh is mainly of properties on largish plots, set off the road. This would
create a mini-housing estate with a single access shared by the Public House, and constitutes back-building
on an unacceptable scale.
3. Access. As with both previous applications made for a smaller development, this would share the access
with the public house. As the agent points out, previously Highways judged that it would be difficult to
substantiate an objection on the shortfall of visibility to the south based on the additional traffic those
developments would have created. My Council hopes that NCC Highways will agree that this crosses the line
at which something must be done to make the access safer for users.
4. Pub car park. As the application says, the pub car park has recently been enlarged. However, the
submitted plans omit to show the agreed extension to the public house itself, virtually doubling its footprint,
which will, if implemented, take up a sizable part of the newly enlarged car park. Quite a number of the
additional spaces recently created would be swallowed up into this new development site. My Council
welcomes the increased popularity of the public house under the new ownership, but is concerned that loss
of a sizable chunk of car park will lead to overcrowding, and pub users being forced to find other places to
park, including on the B1135. The blocking of access feared by Highways in its comment on the previous
application would be inevitable.
5. Emergency vehicle access. My Council has great concern that, in the event of an emergency, it will be
impossible for emergency vehicles to gain access to the dwellings, by virtue of the overcrowded car park.
6. Foul sewage. Whilst this is a matter for the detailed application, in the unfortunate event that outline
permission is granted, my Council is concerned that the sewage systems for neighbouring properties is
hardly adequate, and the occasional smell that there is today will be worsened by the provision of five more
dwellings.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
You will be aware that I previously raised transport sustainability concerns regarding a proposal for three
dwellings on this site submitted under ref 3PL/2017/1150. I note that this application was refused by your
Authority and is currently the subject of an Appeal.
The current proposal seeks to increase the number of dwellings to five and will also result in the reduction of
the size of the existing pub car park.
The site is located in a village which lacks services, amenities and regular public transport provision.
The nearest services and amenities which would meet residents needs, on an everyday basis, are located in
Dereham which lies some 5 Km to the north.
Whilst unmarked bus stops exist near to the site these are only served by Konnectbus 17 which provides one
return trip to Dereham on Tuesdays and Fridays only. Public transport cannot therefore reasonably be
considered a viable alternative to travelling by car.
The nearest primary school is in Yaxham, which lies around 3Km from the site with secondary education in
Dereham. The route to both would involve cycling on an unlit classified highway (B1135) which is designated
as a Main Distributor Route in the County Councils Route Hierarchy. Cycling would require a level of
confidence and proficiency that residents may not possess, in particular those of school age, and therefore
this would not realistically be considered an alternative means of transport.
In the absence of satisfactory public transport and walking and cycling provision the residents of any
dwellings in this location would be primarily dependant on travelling by car which is the least sustainable

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 277



 

 

 

 

travel option and at odds with the aims of the NPPF and Policy 5 of Norfolk 3rd Local Transport Plan, entitled
Connecting Norfolk.
Further the existing pub car park has recently been extended and part of the site lies within this area.
Any reduction in parking would be likely to result in vehicles being parked in B1135 causing danger and
obstruction to the detriment of highway safety.
On the basis of the above I would recommend that permission be refused.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
Recommends conditions
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection to the principal. Aerial pictures show trees on the eastern boundary. Layout should take into
consideration the constraints and ensure that sufficient space between dwellings and trees to ensure that the
trees are retained successfully. A tree protection plan based on a BS5837:2012 survey will be required
based on final layout.

ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice was displayed at the entrance of the site on 15.01.2019 for 21 days. In addition, 5 neighbours
were consulted directly by post.

One local representation from a neighbour has been received twice for this application, raising the following
points of objection:

- Impact on residential amenity
- Impact on countryside
- Mini-urban development
- Would set precedent.
- detrimentally affect the neighbouring property

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1. Principle

1.1 The application submitted is the same as a previously refused application (3PL/2017/1150/O) which was
allowed on Appeal very recently, the only difference is that the outline here is for five dwellings rather than
the appealed three dwellings. The assessment therefore shall be based on the Inspectors judgment as this is
a material planning consideration that should be given considerable weight in the planning balance.

1.2 Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 278



1.3 The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document are not considered up-to-date and therefore the material
considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within paragraph 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4 In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide five new dwellings and would
therefore make a positive, albeit relatively small, contribution to the housing supply shortfall.  The proposal
would provide limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction, and longer-term economic benefits through the additional household spend within the
surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of three dwellings. However, given the small scale
nature of the development these benefits are not considered to be significant and not definitive in this
instance.

1.5 The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a
high quality built environment with accessible local services.  The site is approximately 0.9 miles from the
proposed Service Centre Village of Yaxham to the north.  Dereham, a Market Town, is located approximately
5 miles to the north-west and would provide the majority of the day-to-day services.  It is considered that it is
neither are walkable in terms of distance, given the lack of footpath provision and the high speeds of traffic
travelling along Dereham Road.  The route to local facilities is not therefore safe for pedestrians and relies
heavily on car use.  It is acknowledged that the occupants of the dwellings are likely to use the public house,
however in terms of day-to-day services, i.e. shops, doctors surgery and schools, these are services that
would remain a car journey away.

1.6 Whilst it is appreciated there is a bus stop adjacent to the pub, the service only runs in the morning on a
Tuesday and Friday to Dereham Town.  As a result, the infrequency of this service is unlikely to greatly
reduce the use of car travel.  For this reason occupants of the dwellings would still rely on the use of the
private car to gain access to local facilities.

1.7 However, the Council must take into account the comments of the Planning Inspector (appeal reference
APP/F2605/W/18/3214704) who considered an application on this site for outline permission for 3 dwellings
very recently (26th March 2019) which is a weighty material planning consideration when assessing this only
slightly revised application. In assessing the issue of sustainability of this site the Inspector reasoned the
following:

"4. The spatial strategy for the District is set out in Policy SS1 of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2001-2026 (DPD). The appeal site is within the
small village of Whinburgh, and the Policy says such rural settlements do not represent a sustainable option
for significant expansion; it is said that there will be nominal housing and economic growth during the plan
period where local capacity allows. This spatial strategy therefore does not prohibit development in such

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 279



areas, but seeks to limit it.

5. Policy CP14 provides further guidance on any such development in rural areas to make village and
countryside communities more sustainable. For smaller villages the Policy states the type and scale of
development will need to maintain the vitality of the community. The Policy further explains that the
development strategy is to focus growth in the identified local Service Centre Villages (which does not
include Whinburgh), but will also include appropriate development in suitable rural settlements, and that an
objective is to not perpetuate rural isolation and unsustainable service delivery in settlements with few or no
facilities.

6. The emerging submission Breckland District Local Plan 2011-2036 (DLP) sets out the settlement hierarchy
for new development in the District in Policy GEN03, with Policies HOU02, HOU03, HOU04 and HOU05
providing further detail on the provision of housing within settlements and the rural area of the District. Policy
HOU05 allows for housing in smaller villages and hamlets outside of defined settlement boundaries, provided
certain criteria are satisfied. This spatial strategy therefore again seeks to limit development in such areas,
and as an emerging Plan that has been the subject of Examination and subsequent modifications I attach
moderate weight to these policies.

7. The appeal site is around 1.4 km to the south of Yaxham village, which the Council inform me is a
proposed Service Centre Village and I note has a number of local services, including a shop, cafe, hall, pub,
sports field and primary school. There is not a footpath to this village, but the distance and nature of the road
makes travel by cycle feasible. Any trips by car to this village would be short and, as the appellant points out,
the appeal site adjoins existing housing whose residents can be assumed to already access such services by
cycle or short car journeys.

8. The larger town of Dereham that provides a full range of services is around 4-5 km to the north west
(depending on a measurement to the centre or edge). There is a limited bus service from outside the appeal
site to Dereham which would provide an option for future occupants to travel other than private car, but I
accept the majority of trips to and from the site to Dereham would be by car.

9. The National Planning Policy Framework recognises that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport
solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and states that this should be taken into account in both
plan-making and decision-making (paragraph 103). With regards to sustainable development in rural areas,
the Framework also states that housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of
rural communities, and where there are groups of smaller settlements development in one village may
support services in a village nearby (paragraph 78). The spatial strategy of the District set out in the adopted
and emerging development plan similarly reflects such goals.

10. I consider the location of the appeal site will enable a choice for future occupants to access local shops
and services by means of transport other than the private car. Any journeys made by car to reach the service
centres of Yaxham or Dereham would be the same as the current residents of Whinburgh (and little different
from the residents of nearby Yaxham), and those would only be a short distance. As expressed in the
Framework, this degree of connection by public transport or cycling is suitable for this rural area and,
furthermore, the new dwellings have the opportunity to support the services in Yaxham due to the close
proximity to that village.

11. I therefore consider on the main issue that the proposed development would be consistent with the
limited development in rural settlements envisaged in the spatial strategy of the DPD and DLP and with the
Framework, as set out earlier, as the location of the site would enable suitable adequate access to shops and
services."

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 280



1.8  Therefore, taking into account the Inspectors positive view on the sustainability of this location it would
be difficult to maintain any objections based on sustainability. On this basis the application is considered to
be sustainable and consistent with Local and National Policy requirements.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3  The application has been submitted in outline with only access as a matter for consideration.
Notwithstanding this, an indicative layout and house type have been provided.  Whilst the predominant
character of development here is road facing, it is accepted that the additional farm buildings/outbuildings
represent a built form behind the road fronting development.  In addition, the site is contained by boundary
hedging and would not relate as a further intrusion into the open countryside.  As stated, the design of the
dwellings would be properly considered at the reserved matters stage.  It is therefore considered that the
introduction of 2 further dwellings to the approved three by the Inspector in this location can be achieved
without causing a significant, adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area.  The application
is considered to have due regard to Policy DC16 and the increase in density to five dwellings is considered
acceptable.

3.0 Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  Again, the application is on outline, therefore amenity impact would be properly assessed at the reserved
matters stage.  The indicative scheme proposes five dwellings which although is an increase to the permitted
three dwellings, still provides ample sized plots, with a good degree of separation between them.  This,
alongside the orientation of the site and the positioning indicated would ensure that amenity of the existing
neighbour properties and any future occupiers would not be adversely impacted upon as a result of the
development.  The proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy DC1 and the increase in density on
balance is considered acceptable.

4.  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient Parking for all new development.

4.2  The dwellings will utilise the existing access which serves the Mustard Pot Public House.  Norfolk County
Council Highways Authority was consulted on the proposal.  They subsequently advised of their concerns
with the sustainability of the site and object on these grounds, however as outlined above, the recent Appeal

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 281



decisions and its conclusions on the sustainability of the site is a weighty consideration in this application and
an objection is unlikely to be maintained on these grounds.

4.3  The highway officer also raised concerns and an objection on the increased density of the development
and the loss of car parking space at the Public House and raises the following:
Further the existing pub car park has recently been extended and part of the site lies within this area.
"Any reduction in parking would be likely to result in vehicles being parked in B1135 causing danger and
obstruction to the detriment of highway safety.
On the basis of the above I would recommend that permission be refused."

4.4  The objection from Highways is a material planning consideration, however the writer is mindful that the
Inspector in considering this application assessed the outline application and the number of houses as an
indicative example of what could be achieved on site. It is considered that the principle of development has
been now established by the Appeal decision and that any plans are for indicative purposes only as the only
detail to be agreed is that of access. The reserved matters application would establish the scale, design and
density of the development if permitted, therefore on this basis the concerns of the highways officer is noted
and is considered in the planning balance, however the appeal decision and the principles established are to
be given greater weight in the planning balance.

5.0 Ecology

5.1 Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  Proposals need to
ensure that the ecological network and protected species are not harmed or detrimentally impacted and
mitigation measures are put in place where appropriate.

5.2 The proposal was accompanied by an ecological assessment (BiOME Consultancy; August 2017). The
assessment is fit for purpose and found no ecological constraints at the site. The report recommends some
mitigation for the potential use of the site by badgers, subject to this mitigation being conditioned, there are
no objections in respect of ecological impact and the application is considered to have due regard to Policy
CP10.

6.0 Other issues

6.1 Policy CP9 seeks to ensure that development minimises any unavoidable polluting effects and the
development's design should actively seek to minimise or mitigate against all forms of pollution.

6.2 The Contaminated Land Officer was consulted on this application and raised no objections, subject to
compliance with the submitted details and conditions regarding Site investigation/Remediation, unexpected
contamination and asbestos.

6.3 Disposal of foul and surface water is a recommended condition if approval is given to ensure a
satisfactory solution is agreed at any reserved matters stage.

7.0 Conclusion

When assessing the overall planning balance of the scheme, it is considered that the conclusions of the
Appeal Inspector in that the principle of development on this site is established as the proposal benefits from
the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in paragraph 11 of the Framework and this
is a material consideration that weighs in favour of the scheme. As the Inspector has ruled that the
development of this site is not in conflict with the development plan then planning permission for this outline

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 282



 

 

scheme is recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale, access and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 External wall and roof materials to be agreed
No development beyond slab level shall take place until precise details, (including samples
where required), of the materials used in the construction of the external walls and roof(s) of
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  This condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to
these matters that have been given in the current application.  The materials to be used in
the development shall be in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the colour, tone, texture and appearance of
the materials used to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, as required by
Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Access and car park laid out prior to use
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access shall
be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with details to be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The access as constructed shall

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 283



be retained thereafter.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the orderly development of the site and the satisfactory development of the land.

6 Contaminated Land - Desk Study/Site
Investigation
Prior to the commencement of the development, the following details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
A.  Desk Study
A desk study and risk assessment to determine the risk of any contamination on the site,
whether or not it originates on the site.  The desk study and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced.
The report of the findings must include an assessment of the potential risks to human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
B.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include (i) the same details as in part A
above (ii) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and (iii) an appraisal of
remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
C.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
D Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development to ensure that risks
from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised,
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors from the outset of the development.
INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 284



 

assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations precise details of
the means of surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection
with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations precise details of
the means of foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this
approval.
Reason for condition:-
To minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 285



 
Date of list - 16th May 2019

 

List of decisions made by Breckland Council under the agreed terms of delegation.
 
_______________________________________________________________________________

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE

DOC - COMPLETE

3DC/2019/0075/DOC Harper Developments Ltd ASHILL
Land off Watton
Road
Ashill

Discharge of Conditions nos
3,5,11, 3PL/2018/1250/F
Proposed 2no. detached
dwellings, garaging, access
drive and amenity space.

3DC/2019/0065/DOC Devonshire Solicitors LLP ATTLEBOROUGH
65A-E Halford
Road(formely known
as Land at Halford
Road
Attleborough

Confirmation that all conditions
have been discharged on
3PL/2007/0098

3DC/2019/0061/DOC Abel Homes Ltd BAWDESWELL
Land of Hall Road
Bawdeswell

Discharge of Conditions nos
4,6,12,14,17,18,19,20 on
3PL/2018/0993/F Residential
development of 40no units
(20% aff.)

3DC/2019/0064/DOC Devonshire Solicitors BAWDESWELL
Grace
Cottage&Heywood
Cottage & 15-25
Follard Court
Dereham
Formely known as
land at The Street

Confirmation that all conditions
which require discharging within
planning permission dated
08/10/2008 on Reference
3PL/2007/0606 have been
discharged

3DC/2018/0177/DOC Paul Rackham Ltd BRIDGHAM
Camp Farm
Bridgham

Discharge of Conditions 5, 10,
14 & 16 of 3PL/2015/1262/F

3DC/2019/0034/DOC Westmere Homes Limited CARBROOKE
Land Off Lancaster
Avenue

Discharge of Conditions No
16D on 3PL/2016/0084/F ( Area
1A ).

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 286

Agenda Item 10



Carbrooke

3DC/2019/0085/DOC Scoulton Hall Farms CARBROOKE
Development Plot At
4 The Bungalows
Caston Road
Carbrooke

Discharge of Conditions no 3,5,
on 3PL/2018/0217/F

3DC/2019/0036/DOC Mr & Mrs G Humpheries DEREHAM
Development Site At
Osier Farm
Neatherd Moor
Dereham

Discharge of Conditions No 3
on 3PL/2018/0587/F

3DC/2019/0057/DOC NR20 Developments DEREHAM
Development Site
rear of 149
Shipdham Road
Dereham

Discharge of Condition No 3 on
3PL/2019/0029/D Erection of
two single storey dwellings and
garages

3DC/2019/0063/DOC Mr Colin Leggett DEREHAM
new property at 9a
Brook Grove
Dereham

Discharge of Condition 3.on
3PL/2018/0559/F

3DC/2019/0048/DOC Barconn Homes Ltd FOXLEY
Development Site
Off The Street
Foxley

Discharge of Conditions No
4,11,12,13,& 15
3PL/2018/0931/F (Erection of 7
New Dwellings with associated
garages)

3DC/2019/0077/DOC Mr & Mrs C Howard GOODERSTONE
site adjacent The
Old Bakehouse
Chalk Road
Gooderstone

Discharge of Condition No6 on
3PL/2019/0035/VAR
Conversion and extension of
redundant Mill and outbuilding
to form single dwelling

3DC/2019/0069/DOC GT Bunning & Sons Ltd GRESSENHALL
Smithy House The
Green
Gressenhall

Discharge of Conditions 4 & 8
on 3PL/2018/1126/F

3DC/2019/0056/DOC Mr Noel Copley GUIST
Land West of Bridge
Road
Guist

Discharge of Conditions No
3,4,5,6,7,8,9, on
3PL/2018/0518/F (Construction
of 4no detatched bungalows
with attached garages)

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 287



3DC/2019/0066/DOC Mr Robert Jay HARLING
26 Adjacent to  West
Harling Road
Harling

Discharge of Condition 3 on
3PL/2017/1007/D - Materials

3DC/2019/0067/DOC Dam Green Services Ltd HARLING
Town Farm
Garboldisham Road
Harling

Discharge of Condition 4 on
3PL/2019/0179/VAR

3DC/2019/0039/DOC DR Builders HOCKERING
Land to the West of
Heath Road Heath
Road
Hockering

Discharge of Condition No 15
on 3PL/2017/1534

3DC/2019/0083/DOC Spire Solicitors HOE
Oaklands Gorgate
Road
Hoe

Confirmation of All Conditions
have been discharged

3DC/2019/0004/DOC Mrs  Pearcy ICKBURGH
The Chase 3
Ashburton Road
Ickburgh

Discharge of Condition no 8 on
3PL/2018/0425/F

3DC/2019/0087/DOC Mr & Mrs Paul and Sonia
Reddington

LONGHAM
Meadow Drift 19
Hoe Road
Longham

Discharge of Condition No 4 on
3PL/2018/0654/F Construction
of a one and a half storey
replacement dwelling

3DC/2019/0076/DOC Mr Edward Bales MATTISHALL
Poplar Farm 41
South Green
Mattishall

Discharge of Condition No 8 on
3PL/2016/0395/O

3DC/2017/0087/DOC Pye Holdings Ltd MILEHAM
Residential
Development Site,
The Old Sawmill
Back Lane, Mileham

Discharge of conditions 4, 5, 6,
8 & 9 on 3PL/2016/0534/O

3DC/2019/0071/DOC Hall Contracts Ltd NECTON
Town Farm Chantry
Lane
Necton

Discharge of Conditions 3,4,7,
on 3PL/2018/1340/F Proposed
residential development for 5
dwellings

3DC/2019/0072/DOC Hall Contracts Ltd NECTON Discharge of Conditions nos

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 288



Town Farm Chantry
Lane
Necton

5,16,18,on 3PL/2018/1340/F
Proposed residential
development for 5 dwellings

3DC/2019/0053/DOC E.N. Suiter & Sons Ltd OLD BUCKENHAM
Land South of March
Field Way
Old Buckenham

Discharge of Conditions
3,5,6,9,15,17 on
3PL/2018/0719/F (Residential
development of 12 dwellings
and associated external Works)

3DC/2019/0092/DOC Mr Adrien Annison ROCKLANDS
Development Plot
Off Mill Lane
Rockland All Saints

Discharge of Condition 3 on
3PL/2017/1225/F ( allowed on
appeal) Single storey dwelling

3DC/2019/0090/DOC Mr & Mrs D Hill SHIPDHAM
Old Hall Farm House
Watton Road
Shipdham

Discharge of Condition No3 on
3PL/2018/1566/HOU Garden
Room Extension

3DC/2019/0060/DOC Mr & Mrs  Scott THOMPSON
36 Pockthorpe Lane
Thompson

Discharge of Conditions 3 & 6
on 3PL/2016/1122/F

3DC/2018/0223/DOC Abel Homes Ltd WATTON
Development Site At
592588 300957
Town Green Road
Watton

Discharge of Conditions No5 on
3PL/2015/1191/O

3DC/2019/0050/DOC Mr C Lee
Poplar Farm
Chequers Lane
South Lopham

Discharge of Conditions No 4,&
7 on 3PL/2018/1485/VAR

DOC-Discharge PART

3DC/2019/0047/DOC Ms Kay King THETFORD
15 Raymond Street
Thetford

Discharge of Condition No 3 on
3PL/2018/0426/HOU regarding
Materials

No Prior Approval

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 289



3PN/2019/0013/PNE Mr Graham Clarke MATTISHALL
Long Acre Mill Road
Mattishall

Demolish Existing Conservatory
build new Orangery (Garden
Room)

3BT/2019/0002/BTM Cornerstone Telefonica
Limited

SWANTON
MORLEY
Manns Lane
Swanton Morley

The Installation of a 15m slim
line monopole supporting 3
antennas 1 equipment cabinet
and 1 meter cabinet and
ancillary development

Permission

3PL/2019/0207/HOU Mr & Mrs S Mower ASHILL
Lower Homestead
Farm Watton Road
Ashill

Detached Garage with open
plan living area(Annexe) above

3NM/2019/0034/NMA Taylor Wimpey East Anglia ATTLEBOROUGH
Land at London
Road
Attleborough

Non-Material Amendment -
Rotate plots 148 - 150 of
planning permission
3PL/2012/0958/H

3PL/2019/0133/F Mr James Thurlow ATTLEBOROUGH
11 Maurice Gaymer
Road
Attleborough

Change of use to Sui Generis,
B1a, B1c and B8.  For the
repair of agricultural machinery
with the storage of associated
spare parts.  An expansion of
the operation currently carried
out by the applicant on the
neighbouring premises at 3
Maurice Gaymer Road.

3PL/2019/0185/HOU Mr Chris Webster ATTLEBOROUGH
Corner Farmhouse
West Carr Road
Great Ellingham

Replacement of free standing
pole barn and the siting of an
air sourced heat pump

3PL/2019/0233/VAR Prestantia Properties Ltd ATTLEBOROUGH
15A Mill Lane
Besthorpe

Variation of Condition No 2 & 3
on 3PL/2018/0830/F -
Installation of solar panels to
rear elevation.

3PL/2019/0243/HOU Mrs Ruth East ATTLEBOROUGH
15 & 17 New North
Road

Proposed Single Storey rear
Extensions

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 290



Attleborough

3PL/2019/0256/HOU Mr & Mrs  Cook ATTLEBOROUGH
36 Tantallon Road
Attleborough

Proposed two storey rear
extension & conversion of part
of garage to habitable room

3PL/2019/0315/HOU Mrs Heather White ATTLEBOROUGH
18 Dodds Road
Attleborough

Single Storey Rear Extension

3PL/2019/0322/HOU Ms  Russell ATTLEBOROUGH
6 Chapel Road
Attleborough

Single Storey Rear Extension

3PL/2019/0337/HOU Mr & Mrs Alan Downton ATTLEBOROUGH
Resthaven
146 Besthorpe Road

Single Storey Extension to the
rear of the existing Bungalow

3PL/2019/0339/HOU Mr Ashley Stiff ATTLEBOROUGH
3 Bracken Drive
Attleborough

Front Extension consisting of
porch and extension to living
Room Rear Extension
consisting of Garden Room to
be used as office/Playroom
(Revised Scheme)
(retrospective)

3NM/2019/0029/NMA PW & JW Baker BANHAM
Fen Farm Barn High
Starling
Banham

Amendment to
3PL/2018/0432/F - amendment
to rooflights to rear elevation,
design amendments to carport
and juliet balcony added to
master bedroom

3PL/2019/0169/F Kensington Investments (UK)
Limited

BANHAM
Office Building
Adjacent to Abattoir
Moor Farm Moor
Lane
Banham

Change of use from office
building (B1) to office and part
residential (3 bed flat) (Mixed
Use B1 and C3) (Retrospective
Application)

3PL/2019/0364/HOU Mr Adrian Moore BANHAM
Penbrook House
Winfarthing Road
Banham

Proposed Single Storey
Extension To The Rear &
Internal Alterations

3PL/2019/0370/HOU Mr & Mrs J Style BAWDESWELL
9 Saxon Meadows
Bawdeswell

Installation of Velux Rooflights
to side Elevation to convert
Roof Space over Garage

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 291



3PL/2018/1513/HOU Mr David White BEESTON
Dairy Farmhouse
Rawhall Lane
Bittering

Conversion of garage and shed
to provide additional
accommodation to existing
annexe

3PL/2018/1546/F Mr Gary Rowland BEESTON
Roehampton Syers
Lane
Beeston

Change of use of existing
garage building to form dwelling

3PL/2019/0420/HOU Mr & Mrs  Chisholm BEESTON
Kings Manor The
Street
Beeston

Erect a porch to front of
property to replace existing
canopy

3PL/2019/0252/HOU Mr Karl Rands BEETLEY
The Rectory Church
Road
Old Beetley

Re-build kitchen, new ground
floor extension and new window
to en-suite

3PL/2019/0107/HOU Ms Geraldine Knight-Winhall BINTREE
Lauder Cottage
Fakenham Road,
Bintree

Single Storey Annex (revised
siting and design)

3PL/2019/0317/VAR Mr James Flatman BLO' NORTON
Boundary Farm
Smallworth Common
Blo Norton

Variation of Conditions 2 &3 on
3PL/2017/0980/HOU - change
tiles of west elevation, omit first
floor window north elevation for
ground floor window in south
elevation, change glass roof on
conservatory to tiles

3PL/2019/0326/HOU Ms Diane Murley BLO' NORTON
Corner Farm House
The Street
Blo Norton

Removal of existing single-
storey rear WC extension and
open sided lean to and
construction of new single-
storey rear garden room with
hall and WC, plus new skylights
to existing single storey
element.

3PL/2019/0156/LB Shadwell Estate Company
Limited

BRETTENHAM
Coachmans Cottage
Shadwell Court
Brettenham

Repair and Alteration to
Coachmans Cottage at
Shadwell Court.

3PL/2019/0283/VAR Mr Trevor Howes BRETTENHAM Variation of conditions No2 and

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 292



Plane Tree House
Spaldings Chair Hill
Rushford

No13 on 3PL/2018/0453/F To
replace wide dormer with
reduced width dormer to omit
cat slide roofs and substitute
gable dormer roofs and to
change external cladding to the
dormers from vertically hung to
upvc cladding

3PL/2019/0341/HOU Ms Joanna Naylor CARBROOKE
Sunnyside Church
Street
Carbrooke

Single Storey Rear Infill
Extension

3PL/2019/0034/HOU Mr Peter Lister COLKIRK
The Cottage Crown
Road
Colkirk

Replacement of existing mains
gate and side gate with new
steel gates

3PL/2019/0271/HOU SS Eglington & Son Ltd CRANWORTH
Stallion Barn Letton
Green
Cranworth

Single storey front extension

3OB/2018/0011/OB Hopkins Homes Limited CROXTON
Norwich Road
Croxton

Approval of tenure mix of
affordable housing for Phase 1a
of Kingsfleet.

3PL/2019/0336/HOU Mr & Mrs  Embleton CROXTON
Bats Belfry The
Street
Croxton

Alteration and Extension to
detached domestic garage.

3PL/2019/0086/HOU Mr & Mrs P Bridgham DEREHAM
Garden House,
Stanton Close
Dereham

First floor extension and alter
living accomm. to first floor with
bedrooms at ground floor.  New
roof terrace and juliet balcony.

3PL/2019/0188/F Mr Andrew Pearson DEREHAM
93 Norwich Road
Dereham

Proposed Change of Use
incorporating Class A1 Retail,
Class B1 Office, Class D1
Training Facility and ancillary
storage (retrospective)

3PL/2019/0204/HOU Mr & Mrs D Rowland DEREHAM
Deva Lodge Olney
Road
Dereham

Single Storey Extension to
Front

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 293



3PL/2019/0208/HOU Mr Barry O'Leary DEREHAM
5 Rowan Drive
Dereham

Proposed single storey side
extension to form domestic
workshop

3PL/2019/0244/F Mr Mark Alden DEREHAM
2 Hurn Road
Dereham

Balcony extension to fire
escape staircase at side of unit
and non permanent cedar clad
display portacabin to north side
of entrance

3PL/2019/0260/F Cenor Industrial Supplies DEREHAM
Cenor Industrial
Supplies Moorgate
Road
Dereham

Change of Use from Redundant
land to display and storage of
trailers and erection of
boundary fencing

3PL/2019/0274/F Engenie Ltd DEREHAM
The Greenstone
Napier Way
Dereham

Installation of 2 Electric Vehicle
Charging Points alongside
existing car parking spaces,
with ancillary bollards, signage
posts and power feeder pillar.

3PL/2019/0285/HOU Mr Nico Stewart DEREHAM
Pemberley Lodge
South Green
Dereham

Erection of flat roof extension to
both sides of property and
erection of fence to front
boundary

3PL/2019/0300/F 2nd Dereham Scout Group DEREHAM
Scout Haven South
Green
Dereham

Extension of existing scout hut
building to provide new rooms
and covered open area.
New store building in place of
existing store.

3PL/2019/0310/A Store Easy Limited DEREHAM
The Storage Centre
Hurn Road
East Dereham

2no. 6m x 2m signs diplaying
company name and logo, to be
fixed on a V-shape metal frame
fixed on the top of a self-
storage container unit.

3PL/2018/1174/HOU Mr Marcus Bailey GARBOLDISHAM
Meadowside
Water Lane
Garboldisham

Full height rear extension

3PL/2018/1049/O Mr & Mrs Garrod GARVESTONE
Land off Dereham
Road
Garvestone

Erection of 4 no. dwellings

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 294



3PL/2019/0213/HOU Mr & Mrs  Adams GARVESTONE
Whistlestop
Station Road

Front porch extension and rear
and side extension

3PL/2019/0234/D Mr  Clark GARVESTONE
Sunnydene
Dereham Road
Garvestone

Submission of reserved matters
for the proposed bungalow
following outline approval
3PL/2017/1386/O

3PL/2019/0331/HOU Mr & Mrs  Darnell GRESSENHALL
Rectory Barn
Dereham Road
Gressenhall

Proposed extensions to rear
and side elevation of existing
property with internal
alterations.

3PL/2019/0298/VAR Trell Developments Limited GRISTON
Land at Church
Road
Griston

Variation of Condition No 2 on
3PL/2017/0065/F (Erection 2
dwellings and garage) - addition
of garage to plot 1

3PL/2019/0405/F T R Scott Properties GRISTON
Land Adj The Hollies
Church Road
Griston

Erections of 4 dwellings and
garages including the extension
of existing Vehicular Access

3PL/2019/0376/HOU Mr & Mrs M O'Brien GUIST
The Hops Malthouse
Lane
Guist

Replacement single storey
extension to rear and porch to
front elevation

3PL/2019/0343/HOU Mr & Mrs Trevor & Sandra
Proud Foot

HARDINGHAM
Woodside Cottage
Beeches Lane
Hardingham

Removal of existing
conservatory and erection of
two storey rear extension with
balcony

3PL/2019/0057/HOU Ms Denise Kemp HARLING
1 School Lane
East Harling

Removal of the existing lean-to
roof and erection of first floor
extension above existing
kitchen area to the rear of the
existing dwelling

3PL/2019/0249/F Mr Paul Bird HARLING
Valentines Market
Street
Harling

Change of use from hair salon
to office space (retrospective)

3PL/2019/0190/HOU Paul Kent HILBOROUGH
Swallows Nest 5
Walnut Drive

Installation of eleven solar
panels onto the garage roof.

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 295



Hilborough

3PL/2019/0191/LB Paul Kent HILBOROUGH
Swallows Nest 5
Walnut Drive
Hilborough

Installation of eleven solar
panels onto the garage roof.

3PL/2019/0148/HOU Mr & Mrs  MacDonald HOCKERING
12 Bishop Herbert
Close
Hockering

Demolition of existing garage,
two storey front extension &
single storey side & rear
extensions

3PL/2019/0253/HOU Miss Victoria King HOCKHAM
16 Scotgate Close
Great Hockham

Proposed two storey side
extension, extend above
existing garage & to side of
garage creating extra bedroom
& ensuite facilities, erection of
new garage & snug/playroom

3PL/2019/0255/HOU Mr Kevin Jones HOCKHAM
Rosebank
Shropham Road
Great Hockham

Hip to gable roof extension and
front dormer

3PL/2017/1566/F On Target Norfolk HOE
Corners
Nursery,Fakenham
Road
Hoe Dereham

Air Rifle Range and
embankment (retrospective)

3PL/2019/0407/HOU Mr & Mrs  Smith HOE
Hillside Swanton
Morley Road
Worthing Hoe

Proposed raising of roofline to
incorporate a loft conversion
with a single storey extension to
side/rear of property

3PL/2019/0247/HOU Mr & Mrs  Adie HOLME HALE
4 School Road
Holme Hale

Single Storey Extension to the
rear

3PL/2019/0296/VAR Mr Paul Rogers HOLME HALE
5&7 Cook Road
Holme Hale

Variation of condition 2 on
3PL/2018/1396/VAR - amended
designs to plots 1 & 2

3PL/2019/0358/HOU Mr  Stubbs HOLME HALE
9 Church Lane
Holme Hale

Lean to conservatory on the
side elevation.

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 296



3PL/2018/1376/F Mr & Mrs Mike and Karen
Humphries

KENNINGHALL
Post Office
Market Place

Subdivision of existing dwelling
to create 2 no dwellings (3
bedroom and 4 bedroom) New
external stair access.
Replacement of UPVC
conservatory with garden room.

3PL/2018/1377/LB Mr & Mrs Mike and Karen
Humphries

KENNINGHALL
Post Office Market
Place
Kenninghall

Subdivision of existing dwelling
to create 2 no dwellings (3
bedroom and 4 bedroom) New
external stair access.
Replacement of UPVC
conservatory with garden room.

3PL/2018/0944/HOU Mr & Mrs Crossley LITCHAM
Orchard Cottage
40 Church Street,
Litcham

Demolition of existing UPVC
conservatory and construction
of sun room

3PL/2019/0187/HOU Mr Roy Payne LITCHAM
Woodgate Cottage
Front Street
Litcham

Utility room extension to side of
property

3OB/2019/0006/OB Abel Homes Ltd MATTISHALL
Cedar Rise
Mattishall

Open Space Works
specification & approval of
nominated body -
3PL/2015/0279/O

3PL/2019/0199/HOU Mr & Mrs  Hale MATTISHALL
8 Mill Road
Mattishall

Proposed extensions to front
and side of property.
Replacement garage and
proposed new driveway

3PL/2019/0316/HOU Mr & Mrs Mark Green MILEHAM
Coronation Farm
Litcham Road
Mileham

Two storey side extension and
internal alterations &
refurbishment

3PL/2019/0340/HOU Mr R & Mrs M Bergan MILEHAM
1 Castle Green
Mileham

Proposed Single Storey
Extension to side of dwelling

3NM/2019/0032/NMA Mr Chris Adcock MUNDFORD
14 Malsters Close
Mundford

Amendment to
3PL/2018/0202/HOU - Two
Storey Rear Extension - add
window to existing dining room
wall, larger bifold door opening

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 297



on rear wall

3PL/2019/0223/O Mrs Julie Gibson NECTON
16 Tuns Road
Necton

Erection of dwelling in curtilage

3PL/2019/0268/HOU Mr & Mrs P Surrage NECTON
1 Masons Drive
Necton

Proposed side extension and
internal alterations, replace flat
roof on dormers with catslide
roof

3PL/2019/0182/HOU Mrs Caryn Louis NEW BUCKENHAM
Bakehouse Cottage
King Street
New Buckenham

Existing Studio / Store To Be
Upgraded & Provided With W/C
& French Doors

3PL/2019/0352/HOU Mr & Mrs Darren Bensley NORTH
PICKENHAM
Almada Houghton
Lane
North Pickenham

Proposed front single storey
extension to form porch/boot
room

3PL/2019/0242/HOU Mr Peter McCord NORTH
TUDDENHAM
Orchard Cottage 1
Main Road
North Tuddenham

Erection of detached garage

3PL/2019/0278/F Mr  Frost OLD BUCKENHAM
Downmore Farm
Banham Road
Old Buckenham

Open sided agricultural building
for storage associated with
existing poultry farm

3PL/2019/0282/VAR Mr S Thorley OLD BUCKENHAM
College Barn Cake
Street
Old Buckenham

Variation of condition no 2 on
3PL/2017/0927/F
Reason for change: The roof
has been increased by 500mm
as the existing headroom was
too low once insulation has
been introduced.

3PL/2019/0212/HOU Mr & Mrs T Cassidy OVINGTON
The Old Mill House
Carbrooke Road
Ovington

Single Storey Rear Extension

3PL/2019/0197/LU National Trust OXBOROUGH
Oxburgh Hall Stoke

Urgent repairs, remedial and
preventative works to the roof,

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 298



Ferry Road
Oxborough

dormer windows, chimneys and
Gatehouse, following from the
collapse of one of the dormers
and
subsequent investigations into
the cause of the collapse.
Certificate of Lawfulness

3PL/2019/0281/LB National Trust OXBOROUGH
Oxburgh Hall Stoke
Ferry Road
Oxborough

The works will include urgent
repairs, remedial and
preventative works to the roof,
dormer windows, chimneys and
Gatehouse, following from the
collapse of one of the dormers
and subsequent investigations
into the cause of the collapse.
The project will also include
amendments to the roof access
strategy to facilitate basic
maintenance works

3PL/2019/0294/LB Aurora Eccles School QUIDENHAM
New Eccles Hall
School Harling Road
Quidenham

Full external repairs and
redecoration, roof replacement,
structural roof strengthening
and remedial works to wet and
dry rot. Please refer to
supporting Heritage, Design
and Access Statement for full
details.

3PL/2019/0130/VAR Mr Paul Rutter ROCKLANDS
Yeomans Cottage
1 Low Lane,
Rockland

Variation of condition 2 of
3PL/2018/1139/HOU - change
in roofing material and
fenestration design and
positioning

3PL/2019/0269/LB Paul Rutter ROCKLANDS
Yeomans Cottage 1
Low Lane Rockland
All Saints
Rocklands

Raise roof level of fire damaged
garage to create self-contained
annexe (revised scheme)

3PL/2019/0220/HOU Mr & Mrs Steve & Nicky Tyler SAHAM TONEY
13 Coburg Lane
Saham Hills
Saham Toney

Front and side extensions to
property and creation of new
bedroom in roofspace above
garage including dormer
windows to front and rear

3PL/2019/0240/HOU Mr Steve Morris SAHAM TONEY Installation of Trellis Fencing

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 299



1 Hunts Farm Close
Saham Toney

brick & flint wall garden shed,
metal railings,  greenhouse and
potting shed

3PL/2019/0266/HOU Mr & Mrs J Grant SAHAM TONEY
9 Coburg Lane
Saham Hills

Raise existing roof to garage to
create room in roof demolish
conservatory and construct
single storey extension to rear

3PL/2019/0308/SU UK Power Networks SCARNING
Daffy
Green/Dereham
Road
Scarning

Refurbishment of Existing
Overhead Lines

3PL/2019/0342/HOU Mr C Steward SCARNING
1 Lawrence Farm
Cottages Daffy
Green
Scarning

Two storey side extension,
garden room to rear,  front
entrance porch and alterations

3PL/2018/1156/D Mr Andrew Jackson SHIPDHAM
82 Market Street
Shipdham

Erection of a two Storey
Dwelling

3PL/2019/0193/HOU Mr & Mrs Adrian Hall SHIPDHAM
23 Market Street
Shipdham

Demolition of conservatory and
erection of single storey side &
rear extension

3PL/2019/0194/LB Mr & Mrs Adrian Hall SHIPDHAM
23 Market Street
Shipdham

Demolition of conservatory and
erection of single storey side &
rear extension

3PL/2019/0241/F Mr Kenneth Steward SOUTH LOPHAM
Brookfield Pooley
Street
South Lopham

Erection of general storage
outbuilding.

3NM/2019/0031/NMA Mr & Mrs M Foley SWAFFHAM
Milestone Lynn
Road
Swaffham

Non material amendment to
3PL/2018/0934/HOU Minor
fenestration changes &
proposed flat roof over
hallway/bathroom extension
and roof changes.

3OB/2019/0007/OB Abel Homes Ltd SWAFFHAM
Otter Road
Swaffham

Open Space Works
specification & approval of
nominated body -

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 300



3PL/2012/0576/O

3PL/2019/0075/F All Property Ventures Ltd SWAFFHAM
The Barn 3 Theatre
Street
Swaffham

Following partial collapse,
rebuild of existing building to
create 2 no. 1 bed apartments
and 1 no. 2 bed apartments

3PL/2019/0238/F Zoe Hair Design SWAFFHAM
Zoe Hair Design Ash
Close
Swaffham

Refurbishment, replacement
windows, door and replace roof
covering.

3PL/2019/0259/F NSHI Ltd SWAFFHAM
33 Turbine Way
Swaffham

Change of use of existing
warehouse to mixed office and
warehouse use & 2 no. external
condenser units to rear of the
building (ground floor only)

3PL/2019/0323/F Mrs  Bromley SWAFFHAM
23 Turbine Way
Swaffham

Change of use to D2 for an
indoor, above ground swimming
pool - to provide swimming
lessons and water activities to
all ages, on the lower floor and
indoor recreational activities,
such as baby massage and
yoga on the first floor.

3PL/2019/0198/HOU Mr & Mrs Williams-Smith SWANTON
MORLEY
Boston House 4
Brandon Close
Swanton Morley

Erection of Conservatory to side

3PL/2018/1541/LB Openarch Towerview Limited THETFORD
Central Court 2
Castle Street
Thetford

Repairs to Stepped Vertical
Cracking to rear of main
building removal and rebuilding
of leaning gable chimney
repairs to damaged boundary
wall in car park

3PL/2019/0150/F Mr Martin Watton THETFORD
10 Raymond Street
Thetford

Change of use from Restaurant
to Residential (Retrospective)

3PL/2019/0200/LB Contracts Support Services
Limited

THETFORD
8 White Hart Street
Thetford

Install CCTV & Intruder Alarm
Internal Security Bars on one
rear ground floor window
Fit additional Sliding Bolt to rear

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 301



door and move hinge bolts to
the inside

3PL/2019/0235/F Mr Tomas Rauktys THETFORD
Ashley House, Unit
4a Stephenson Way
Thetford

Change of use from the existing
B1 to a B2 use for a Vehicle
Repair Garage with MOT facility
(retrospective)

3PL/2019/0236/LB Mr Martin Watton THETFORD
10 Raymond Street
Thetford

Change of use of building from
A3 restaurant to C3 residential
property. Internal works include
removal of stud walls and the
re-skimming/Plastering of
internal walls. (Retrospective)

3PL/2019/0276/LU Grafton Support Services,
Unip

THETFORD
Buildbase Wyatt
Way
Thetford

Overclad of existing roof on an
industrial building- essential
maintenance works.
The proposed roof system
replicates adjoining roofs.
Certificate of Lawfulness

3PL/2019/0297/HOU Mr M Cook THETFORD
9 Monksgate
Thetford

Change flat roof over porch
lean to, to a pitched roof

3PL/2019/0348/F British Telecom PLC THETFORD
Telephone
Exchange Raymond
Street
Thetford

Proposed louvre on north east
elevation

3PL/2019/0368/A Specsavers THETFORD
20 Riverside Walk
Thetford

New Corporate Brand Signage -
2 no. fascia signs and 1 no.
hanging sign

3PL/2018/1503/F Mr David Daniels TITTLESHALL
Wicken Farm
Stanfield Road
Tittleshall

Proposed Barn Conversion to
Residential Use (2 dwellings)

3PL/2019/0227/HOU Revd Hilary De Lyon & Mr
Martin Webster

TITTLESHALL
Woodford Lodge
Litcham Road
Tittleshall

Erection of  garden shed

3OB/2019/0005/OB Abel Homes Ltd WATTON
Harvest Road

Open Space Works
specification & approval of

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 302



Watton nominated body -
3PL/2015/1191/O

3PL/2018/0715/CU Mr Rodney Nesbitt WATTON
7 Ventura House
Norwich Road
Watton

Change of use from A1 to Sui-
Generis Tattoo Parlour
(retrospective)

3PL/2018/1504/F The Amari Group WATTON
Dawson House 18 to
22 Thetford Road
Watton

Change of use from vacant
ground floor office/retail units to
3 x 2 bedroom flats

3PL/2019/0175/HOU Mr Keith Rowe WATTON
28 Swaffham Road
Watton

New vehicular access

3PL/2019/0214/HOU Mr & Mrs David Blackwood WATTON
50 Jubilee Road
Watton

Rear extension and garage
conversion to habitable room
and enlargement of vehicular
access.

3PL/2019/0292/HOU MYG WATTON
48 Thetford Road
Watton

Demolition of rear conservatory
to erect single storey rear
kitchen extension and front
garage extension

3PL/2019/0381/HOU Mr & Mrs R Butler WATTON
Redhill Farm Redhill
Lane
Watton

Demolition of Existing
Conservatory and Erection
Garden Room and
Kitchen/Utility Room Extension

3PL/2019/0262/F Mr & Mrs S Lancaster WHISSONSETT
White House High
Street
Whissonsett

Conversion of existing garage
to a one bedroom holiday let
with associated works and
parking

3PL/2019/0273/VAR Mr J Cox WHISSONSETT
Site to the rear of
Queensforth
London Street

Variation of Condition No 2 on
3PL/2018/0235/F - changes to
approved drawings

3NM/2019/0033/NMA Beres Developments Ltd WRETHAM
Stonebridge Camp
Thetford Rd
Stonebridge,
Wretham

Amendment to
3PL/2016/0939/VAR - revisions
to house type B

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 303



3PL/2019/0202/HOU Miss L Watkinson YAXHAM
2 Harvey Cottages
Station Road
Yaxham

Single Storey Extension to rear

Prior Approval Given

3PN/2019/0015/UC SS Eglington & Son Limited CRANWORTH
Long Barn Letton
Cranworth

To change Agricultural Building
to a dwelling (permitted
development)

Prior Approval Refusal

3PN/2019/0016/UC Mr James Ogilvy BEESTON
The Barn Valley
Farm Watery Lane
Beeston

Conversion of agricultural barn
to two dwelling (permitted
development)

3PN/2019/0008/UC Mr Richard Savory BRISLEY
Agricultural Building
at Maltings Farm
Gateley Road,
Brisley

Change of use of agricultural
building to dwelling (permitted
development)

3PN/2019/0006/UC Mr & Mrs Hubbard HOE
Land to the South of
Manor Farm Cottage
& to the East of 2
Manor Farm
Cottages

Change of use of agricultural
building to dwelling (permitted
development)

Refusal

3PL/2019/0049/F Mrs Sally Bailey ATTLEBOROUGH
Land Adjioning 5
Sheppard Way
Attleborough

Proposed New Two storey
Residential Dwelling

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 304



3PL/2018/1111/O Mr Neville Middleton BAWDESWELL
Dereham Road
Bawdeswell

Development of three detached
self-build properties with
garages.

3PL/2019/0221/O Wrights of Brettenham BRIDGHAM
Land off The Street
Bridgham

Erection of four detached
dwellings.

3PL/2018/1441/VAR Mr D Smith COLKIRK
Development Site At
2 Whissonsett Road
Colkirk

Removal of condition 5 on pp
3PL/2016/1284/F
(contaminated land) - Erection
of dwelling

3PL/2019/0210/A Inschool Media Ltd DEREHAM
Yaxham Road
(opposite Walter
Road)
Dereham

Erection of free standing non
illuminated sign (6.3m x 4.2m)

3PL/2019/0383/HOU Mr  Barber GREAT
CRESSINGHAM
12 The Buttlands
Great Cressingham

Two storey side extension with
front and rear single storey
extension and front porch.

3OB/2019/0002/OB Jean Elaine Mooney HOCKERING
Newgate House
Gypsy Lane
Hockering

Removal of Section 106
Agreement in connection with
planning application reference:
3PL/2002/1002/O

3PL/2019/0226/O Mr M E Garner & Mrs BL
Garner

MATTISHALL
Land Adjacent
Moorfield 133
Dereham Road
Mattishall

Erection of Single Storey
Dwelling

3PL/2019/0324/O Mr Gavin Makins MILEHAM
Mimosa 62 Litcham
Road
Mileham

Erection of one and a half
storey dwelling and garage

3PL/2018/0795/F Mr Crossley Eccles NORTH
PICKENHAM
Land adjacent to
The Blue Lion
Houghton Lane
North Pickenham

Construction of single detached
dwelling and access to
Houghton Lane

3PL/2019/0083/HOU Mr Paul Blaver OLD BUCKENHAM Two storey side extension &

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 305



Manor Corner, The
Green
Old Buckenham

internal alterations

3PL/2018/1092/F Mr G de Lotbiniere OXBOROUGH
Stables adjacent
The Old Rectory
Ferry Road
Oxborough

Extension and conversion of
former stables to create single
dwelling unit

3PL/2019/0265/F Mr Neil Parsons SCARNING
Land adjacent 5
Park Lane
Scarning

Proposed dwelling and
associated parking

3PL/2019/0222/HOU Mr Robertas Ralys THETFORD
50 Fulmerston Road
Thetford

Proposed annex in rear garden

3PL/2019/0263/HOU Mr & Mrs M. Lang WATTON
1 Farrier Road
Watton

Re-position existing 1.8m high
boundary fence to edge of
highway

3PL/2018/1299/O Mr & Mrs R O'Neil WENDLING
The Oaks Carr Lane
Wendling

Residential Development

Withdrawn INVALID

3PL/2019/0492/LB Mrs Victoria Kemp BANHAM
Mill Farm
Winfarthing Road
Banham

Erect 2 stables to exactly match
existing stables built in 2007.
The existing stable block
outside the curtilage of Mill
Fam, situated approximately
80m from the house (Grade II
listed)

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 306



APPEALS SUMMARY- MAY 2019

3PL/2018/ 0539/F ( Greenpiece, Attleborough Road, Great Ellingham, NR17 1LQ) 
Erection of 3 detached dwelling houses and associated detached garages

DISMISSED

The Inspector considered that the main issues were (i) The principle of the proposed 
development with regard to its location. (ii) The effect of the proposed development on the 
character and appearance of the area with specific regard to the setting of the Listed 
Building. (iii) The effect of the proposed development on ecology and biodiversity and (iv) 
Whether the proposed development would be at an unacceptable risk of flooding.

In terms of the principle of development. The dwellings would be located between 
Atlleborough and Great Ellingham. Whilst both of the above settlements have sufficient 
facilities to be able to meet the needs of incumbent residents, they are located some 
distance from the appeal site and accessed along an unlit main road that does not have 
segregated footways. The occupiers of the proposed development would rely on the use of a 
private car to access services as well as employment. This is the least sustainable option.

 In terms of impact on the character and appearance of the area and setting of the Listed 
Building. Whilst not finding harm to the setting of the listed building, this would not be 
sufficient to reduce that which would be the case to the character and appearance of the 
area and would conflict with Policies DC1 and Dc16 of the Local Plan.

With regard Ecology and Biodiversity the main issues of concern related to insufficient 
information available to make a judgement on the likely effects of the proposed 
development. The Inspector concluded that the appellant had not responded satisfactorily to 
these concerns, in addition there were concerns regarding the age of the assessments 
which were undertaken in 2016 and may need updating. The proposed development would 
therefore be contrary to Policy CP10 and section 15 of the Framework.

In terms of Flood Risk the Framework sets out that development should be steered towards 
those areas at least risk of flooding. This is through the application of the Sequential Test. 
Paragraph 158 of the Framework states that development should not be allocated or 
permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development at 
a lower risk of flooding. Part of the site falls within Flood Zone 3, land defined as having a 
high probability of flooding. The Inspector reasoned that as a greenfield out of the settlement 
site a proposal for 3 dwellings, and taking both the area and potentially the district as a 
whole, there would more likely than not be sites that could accommodate the proposed 
development on land at lower risk of flooding. The proposed development would fail the 
Sequential Test. The Inspector concluded that the proposed development would be at an 
unacceptable risk of flooding contrary to the Framework and Policy DC13.

The Inspector concluded that the application be dismissed

3PL/2018/0912/F (Land adjacent to the Old Rectory, Longham Dereham) Erection of 
proposed dwelling.

307

Agenda Item 11



DISMISSED

The Inspector considered the main issue was the effect on the character and appearance of 
the rural area. The appeal site comprised part of the garden of the Old Rectory, a large 
house set in the open countryside. The proposed bungalow would be widely visible in the 
rural area due to its siting on an open area of land, particularly with views from the west and 
south. The spread of development into an undeveloped area of land would be intrusive and 
harmful to the character of the area. The existence of a new bungalow on the land would 
also harm the setting of the existing property, due to the proximity of the new single storey 
dwelling situated within the grounds. The Inspector concluded that the proposal would result 
in harmful impact on the currently undeveloped and open area of land contrary to Policies 
CP11 and DC16 of the DPD as well as having regard to paragraph 127 of the NPPF also 
requires development to be sympathetic to the local character and landscape setting. The 
provision of a new dwelling would not be consistent with these objectives. Due to the 
appreciable harm to the open countryside and setting of the Old Rectory in the landscape. In 
addition the location of the dwelling in an area with few facilities. Weighs against the 
proposed development and Policy CP14 which is generally to avoid development in 
settlements with few or no facilities. The Inspector accordingly dismissed the appeal.

3PL/2018/1022/O (Land to rear of 51 Windmill Avenue, Dereham) Erection of 3 
Bungalows and associated access

ALLOWED

The Inspector considered the main issues were the effect of the proposed development on 
the character and appearance of the area and on the living conditions of existing residents. 
In terms of impact on character the Inspector considered that the proposed development 
would cause moderate harm to the character of the area. This would be contrary to Policies 
CP11, DC1 and Dc16 of the Core Strategy which seek to ensure that new development 
preserves or enhances the existing landscape character of the area, and section 12 of the 
NPPF that requires development to be sympathetic to local character. With regards impact 
on living conditions the Inspector concluded the proposed development would not be harmful 
to the living conditions, and so no conflict would occur with Policy DC1 which protects 
amenity.

In terms of the overall planning balance whilst there would be moderate harm to the 
landscape character, the provision of housing on the site would be consistent with the 
Framework’s social objective of seeking to ensure a sufficient number and range of homes 
are provided, and that the built environment has accessible services to which the Inspector 
attached significant weight to. In conclusion although there would be moderate harm to the 
landscape character it was the Inspector’s conclusion that the adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in the Framework as a whole. The appeal was allowed.

308



3PL/2018/0768/F (67 Dereham Road, Watton, Thetford, IP25 6EZ) Erection of new 
dwelling

ALLOWED

The main issues of the appeal were the effect of the proposed development on the character 
and appearance of the area and whether the proposed development would provide a 
satisfactory living conditions for occupants. In terms of impact on the character of 
appearance. The appeal site comprises part of the side garden of 67 Dereham Road, which 
is a bungalow fronting the road. The Inspector noted there is a mixture of housing types and 
sizes in the vicinity of the site and also a variation in the sizes of plots within which those 
dwellings sit. The plot size that would be created as a result of the proposed development 
would appear to be at the lower end of this range, the new dwelling would not appear unduly 
cramped on the plot. The Inspector considered that the new dwelling would therefore fit 
within the established character of the area and would not appear discordant with the 
character and appearance and would have appropriate regard to Policy DC16 of the Core 
Strategy. In terms of living conditions the Inspector considered that the proposed 
development would provide satisfactory living conditions for future occupants having regard 
to Policy DC1. In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme the proposed 
development was considered to be in accordance with the development plan and the appeal 
was allowed.

3PN/2018/0041/UC (Woodland Farm, Holt Road, Hoe, Dereham) Change of Use of 
agricultural Building to Dwelling House (Class Q of the General Permitted 
Development Order) 

DISMISSED

The proposal was made on the basis of class Q of the GPDO. The main issue was whether 
the proposal would be Permitted Development under the terms of Class Q. The Inspector 
noted although titled an agricultural barn, on the basis of the evidence there is little to show 
the building was used solely for agricultural use as part of an established agricultural unit on 
or before the 20th March 2013. The Inspector concluded that the barn would not be permitted 
under Class Q as in addition to not being shown to be used solely on or before the 20th 
March 2013, the submitted plans show the external dimensions of the building extending 
beyond those existing, necessary to accommodate the side windows and doorway, and fail 
to define a curtilage immediately beside or around that is no larger than that occupied by the 
agricultural building. The appeal was accordingly dismissed.

3PL/2018/0203/0 Land adjacent to Thieves Lane, Rockland St Peter, Rocklands, NR17 
1UH (Erection of 6 self-build/ custom dwellings)

DISMISSED

The key issues of consideration were: (i) The extent to which future occupiers of the 
proposed dwellings would have reasonable access to regularly required services and 
facilities (ii) The effect of the housing on the proposed character of the area. In terms of 

309



access to services. Theives Lane marks one edge to the built- up part of Rockland St Peter. 
The wider village of Rocklands as a whole contains a quite limited range of services. Most of 
these are located within the adjacent Rockland All Saints part of the settlement and include a 
primary school, public house and post office/ general stores/ café. Whilst there is a good 
range of services in Watton and Attelborough, there is no bus services connecting Rockland 
St Peter to these towns and so the Inspector considered the proposal to be in a location 
where future occupiers of dwellings would be dependent to a relatively high degree on 
private car use to access regularly required needs. Whilst taking into account that 
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural 
areas. The Inspector found that the proposal would result in significant harm through the 
conflict found with the development plan policy that remains consistent with the Framework, 
over the location of residential development without reasonable access, other than by private 
car journeys. In terms of character and appearance the Inspector reasoned that the 
development of this site would fail to mesh satisfactorily with the physical shape of the 
village and would constitute a very conspicuous and abrupt incursion of suburban ribbon 
development in open countryside, leap frogging the clearly- defined built up area boundary 
provided by Theives Lane. The Council’s emerging Local Plan is reaching an advanced 
stage and he also gives its policies weight, albeit moderate prior to adoption> This does not 
alter the proposal being outside the  defined settlement boundary for Rocklands but Policy 
HOU4 would support development located immediately adjacent to this if certain criteria are 
met. However, the Inspector reasoned that the proposal would not satisfy this policy or 
emerging Policy HOU5.

In weighing up the overall planning balance there would be some moderate social benefits in 
the six dwellings helping to secure the Framework aims to boost housing supply, where 
paragraph 68 recognises such small sized sites can make an important contribution. In 
addition the Government is seeking to increase the number of self-build and custom homes 
completed each year. However, the location of the housing, necessitating the use of green 
field land and where regular needs would depend on a high reliance on private car use, 
would be likely significantly offset any environmental benefits. In addition there would be 
significant environmental harm to the rural character and appearance of the area. The 
appeal was accordingly dismissed.

3PL/2017/0904/F (Building adjacent Alston Farm, Dereham Road, Thetford) 
Conversion of building to a residential dwelling

DISMISSED 

The Inspector considered the main issue in the determination of the appeal is whether or not 
the proposed development would represent the conversion of a building of merit and thus 
whether it would be an appropriate location for a new dwelling. The Inspector concluded that 
the building was of low aesthetic value, a matter on which Policy DC20 is explicit that their 
conversion will be resisted. Whist the building has an element of importance to the function 
of the agricultural landscape in aesthetic terms, it lacks value to the landscape of the district 
and therefore does not accord with Policy DC 20. The appeal was accordingly dismissed.

310



3PL/2018/0111/O (Land adjacent Poppy Fields, Kenninghall Road, Harling) Residential 
development

DISMISSED

The Inspector considered the main issue the effect of the development on the character and 
appearance of the countryside. The appeal site is located adjacent to the existing built form 
of the village, alongside a site which is currently under construction for a new housing estate 
Poppy fields. The appeal site forms a transition between the main part of the village and 
wider countryside. The appellant had carried out a landscape and Visual Appraisal dated 
20th June 2018 (LVA) which considers several viewpoints along Kenninghall Road and within 
the appeal site. The Inspector considered that the proposed development would encroach 
beyond the main built form of Harling and beyond the nearby sporadic developments also. 
Having regard to the LVA and EH3 of the Harling Settlement Fringe Landscape Assessment, 
The Inspector was not persuaded that the visual impacts could be satisfactorily mitigated. 
The development would be prominent within the landscape and would be likely to 
fundamentally alter the rural character of the surroundings and result in the loss of views. 
The Inspector found that the development would have a harmful effect on the character and 
appearance of the countryside and surrounding area and fails to comply with Policies Dc16 
and CP11 of the Core Strategy and provisions of the Framework (2019). The appeal was 
accordingly dismissed.

 3PL/2018/0381/ F  (Barn to rear of Wood View, East Church Street, Kenninghall, NR16 
2EP. (Conversion of barn to two dwellings)

ALLOWED

The main issue is whether the proposed development is consistent with the development 
Plan policy relating to the conversion of buildings in the countryside. Policy DC20 of the 
adopted Breckland Core Strategy permits the re-use of existing buildings in the countryside 
for residential purposes provided four criteria are satisfied. The building is relatively modern 
and built of concrete block walls with asbestos cement sheet roof cladding, and small 
windows. There is no aesthetic value to the building and so it fails to satisfy part d of the 
Policy. Policy HOU 12 of the Emerging submission Breckland District Local Plan 2036 
similarly sets out the circumstances in which the conversion of buildings in the countryside. 
The Inspector reasoned that on the main issue, the building is modern and of no aesthetic 
value and the proposed development would not be consistent with the development policy 
relating to the conversion of buildings in the countryside. In terms of the overall planning 
balance the main parties agree that the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable. Whilst the Inspector found that the proposed development conflicts with the 
development plan solely due to the building not being of aesthetic value. The adverse impact 
is limited to this matter, though and the Inspector attached moderate weight to this conflict 
with the development plan. The location of the appeal site would mean that two dwellings 
are provided in an existing building capable of conversion that are close to a village with a 
choice of shops and services and would help to support those services. The Inspector 
attached significant weight to the benefits arising from the provision of two dwellings through 
the reuse of a building in this location. Although there would be conflict with planning policies 
relating to the re-use of existing buildings, the Inspector concluded that the adverse impact 

311



of granting planning permission would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the  was 
accordingly allowed.

3PL/2018/0278/F ( Pennymeadow Nursery, Podmore Lane Scarning) Two detached  
bungalows

ALLOWED

The Inspector considered the main issues were: (i) Whether the proposed development 
would be in an appropriate location for new housing having regard to the provisions of the 
framework (ii) Whether sufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the 
proposed development would be acceptable in terms of the character and appearance of the 
area and living conditions (iii) The effect on protected species and (iv) the effect on highway 
safety. (i) In terms of being an appropriate location for new development the Inspector noted 
that whilst the appeal site is located outside the main settlement of Scarning, it is set within, 
and well related to, a small cluster of properties and businesses and was an appropriate 
location. (ii)In terms impact on character and appearance of area and living conditions, the 
Inspector considered that the development would not harm the prevailing spaciousness and 
pattern of development and that sufficient information has been provided which 
demonstrates that the proposed development would provide suitable living conditions for 
future occupiers and would not harm the character and appearance of the area (iii)In terms 
of impact on protected species the Inspector concluded that there would be no undue harm 
to biodiversity subject to suitable assessments being undertaken. The proposal therefore 
complies with Policies DC12, CP10 and CP11 Core Strategy.  (iv) With regards highway 
safety taking into account the proposed improvements and the distance to Dereham Road, 
as well as the level of traffic using Podmore Lane and that likely to be generated as a result 
of the development the proposal would not cause undue harm in terms of highway safety 
and complies with CP4 and DC19 of the Core Strategy. The Inspector accordingly allowed 
the Appeal.

3PL/2018/0005/F 1 Beck Cottages, Road from Foulden to Dilington IP25 5AG ( 
Proposed dwelling)

DISMISSED

The Inspector considered the key issues were (i) Whether the development would be in an 
appropriate location for new housing and (ii) The effect on the development on the character 
and appearance of the countryside. In terms of whether an appropriate location for new 
development the appeal site is a detached from the main settlement of Foulden, which lies to 
the North West, and therefore forms part of the open countryside and outside the settlement 
boundary. Foulden has very limited facilities and would not provide a good level of services 
to meet the day to day needs of future occupiers of the proposed development. The 
Inspector reasoned that the proposed development would not be in an appropriate location 
for new housing. With regards character and appearance, whilst the appeal site is outside of 
the settlement boundaries and is therefore classed being in the countryside, the site forms 
existing garden lan. The proposed dwelling would not encroach further into the countryside 
than the buildings to the rear of the site and would be within the existing residential confines. 
The Inspector found the proposed development would not adversely affect the character and 

312



appearance of the country side. However, this would not outweigh the harm identified in 
respect of the location of the site for new housing. The appeal was dismissed.

3PL/2018/1027/F Stable Croft, Roundham Road, Roudham, Norfolk, NR16 2RN  ( 
Proposed Barn conversion) 

DISMISSED

The main is was whether the proposed development is consistent with the development plan 
policy relating to the conversion of buildings in the countryside. The appeal barn lies within 
the countryside, Policy DC20 of the adopted Core Strategy permits the re-use of existing 
buildings in the countryside for residential purposes provided four criteria are satisfied. The 
building in question is a relatively modern building of no aesthetic value, being concrete- 
framed with asbestos sheets to the roof and to the upper walls, with blockwork below. The 
building therefore fails to satisfy Criterion d of the Policy. Policy HOU12 of the emerging 
submission Breckland District Local Plan 2011-2036 ( DLP) similarly sets out the 
circumstances in which the conversion of buildings in the countryside will be permitted. And 
is broadly consistent with the DPD namely that the Policy states that “the building proposed 
to be converted should be substantially intact and capable of conversion without significant 
extension or re- building and of value to the landscape of the District. The residential re-use 
of modern agricultural buildings or industrial buildings considered to be of no aesthetic value, 
regardless of their location, will not be considered appropriate. The Inspector reasoned that 
the proposed development conflicts with the adopted and emerging development plan 
relating to the conversion of buildings in the countryside, and there would be conflict with the 
Framework. The Inspector accordingly dismissed the appeal.

3PL/2017/1150/0- Chapel Farm, Dereham Road, Dereham Road (Proposed residential 
development)

ALLOWED

 The Inspector considered the main issue of the appeal was whether occupants of the 
proposed services would have adequate access to shops and services. The appeal site is 
around 1.4Km to the south of Yaxham village. The larger town of Dereham that provides a 
full range of services is around 4-5 km to the North West. The National Planning Policy 
Framework recognises that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will 
vary between urban and rural areas, The Inspector reasoned that the location of the appeal 
site would enable a choice for future occupants to access local shops and services by 
transport means other than private car. The Inspector concluded that the proposed 
development would be consistent with the limited development in rural settlements 
envisaged in the spatial strategy of the DPD and DLP and with the Framework as the site 
would enable suitable adequate access to shops and services. The appeal was accordingly 
allowed.

313



3PL/2017/1542/F Oaklands, Norwich Road, Besthorpe (Extension of gardens for plots 
1 & 3 ( Change of use from agriculture) and retention of mobile home as office for 
business

ALLOWED

The main issue of consideration is whether the office use would be appropriate in this 
location and the effect on the countryside. The Inspector reasoned that the scale of the 
business would be such that it would not be harmful to have the office located outside the 
main employment areas. In addition, there are advantages to the Appellant having his office 
in proximity to his home in sustainability terms. Accordingly, whilst the development does not 
comply wholly with the requirements of Policies Dc7 and CP14 he concluded that the 
retention of the mobile home for the applicants business would not be harmful to the 
character  of t6he area or be unacceptable in terms of provision of employment uses outside 
of the allocated areas. In terms of effect on the countryside the Inspector concluded that 
whilst the building is positioned to the rear of dwellings, its size, height, materials, colouring 
and positioning does not result in an unacceptable intrusion into the countryside and does 
not therefore harm the rural character and appearance of the surroundings and complies 
with DC1, DC16 and C11 of the Core Strategy. The appeal was accordingly allowed.

3PL/2018/1387/Hou 5 Moorgate Cottages, Southend, Dereham, Norfolk- First floor 
extension to existing garage to form study

DISMISSED

The Inspector the main issues were the effect on the character and appearance of the area, 
and the effect on living conditions. The Inspector noted that the existing double garage was 
larger than most other domestic outbuildings in the surrounding rear gardens and the 
proposed extension would result in a building that would appear unduly prominent, 
incongruous and at odds with the its surroundings, due to its increased height and bulk. .The 
Inspector concluded that the proposal would be harmful to the character and appearance of 
the area and would conflict with Policy DC16 of the Core Strategy. The appeal was 
accordingly dismissed.

3PL/2018/1251/O, New dwelling, 22 Sandy Lane, East Dereham

DISMISSED

The main issues of consideration were (i) The effect of the proposed development on the 
character and appearance of the area, and (ii) The effect of the proposed development on 
highway safety. The Inspector considered that the proposal would result in material harm to 
the character and appearance of the area, contrary to Policies DC1 and DC16 of the Core 
Strategy. In addition additional conflict would exist with the design aims of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. In terms of impact on highway safety the Inspector found the 
scheme acceptable. The Inspector accordingly dismissed the appeal.

314


	Agenda
	1b 8 April 2019
	Minutes

	8 Deferred Applications
	8a Beeston: Syers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1338/O
	8b Hockham: Plot south of 8 Little Hockham Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1392/D
	9a Ashill: Dunnetts Close: Reference: 3PL/2018/1089/O
	9b Beetley: Flint Cottage, Fakenham Road, East Bilney: Reference: 3PL/2018/1143/D
	9c Besthorpe: Land at 1 Rookery Cottages, Silver Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0157/F
	9d Besthorpe: White House Farm, White House Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1105/F
	9e Besthorpe: Cherry Tree Barn, Norwich Road: Reference:  3PL/2019/0229/F
	9f Bridgham: Land South of Corner House, Chapel Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0284/F
	9g Colkirk: Proposed Development Site, Jarvis Drive: Reference: 3PL/2019/0192/F
	9h Dereham: Land to the rear of 35-61 Westfield Road: Reference: 3OB/2019/0010/OB
	9i Fransham: Land Off Station Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0371/D
	9j Garboldisham: The Grange, The Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0428/O
	9k Garvestone: Thorncroft, Clematis Nursery, The Lings: Reference: 3PL/2019/0019/O
	9l Griston: Caston Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0245/F
	9m Little Dunham: Land adjacent Westcliffe House, Barrows Hole Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0114/F
	9n Old Buckenham:  Land to the north of Fen Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0231/O
	9o Roudham Larling: Land Opposite Barkers Farm Watton Road, Larling: Reference: 3PL/2018/1260/F
	9p Scarning: Oak Manor: Reference: 3PL/2018/1289/O
	9q Scoulton: Cherry Trees, Ellingham Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0139/F
	9r Stow Bedon/Breckles: Wayland Farms Ltd, Cherry Tree Farm: Reference: 3PL/2017/0878/F
	9s Swaffham: Land at Princes Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/1199/O
	9t Swaffham: Site Adjacent to Tower View Princes Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/1437/O
	9u Swaffham: Land to the West of Brandon Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1487/O
	9v Watton: Land at Thetford Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0952/O
	9w Weeting: 1 Cromwell Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1413/F
	9x Whinburgh&Westfield: Chapel Farm, Dereham Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0015/O
	10 Applications determined by the Executive Director of Place
	11 Appeals (for info)

